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CELEBRATED TEIALS,

CONNECTED WITH THE AEMT AND NAYY.

ADMIRAL BENBOW
AND HIS TREACHEROUS CAPTAINS.

There was, before tlie time of Rodney and Nelson,

no name more popular among the sailors of the British

navy than that of Admiral Benbow. He had been a

sailor himself, and he was, while living, the sailors^ idol
;

and since his death his memory has been held in much

reverence by the Jack Tars of that and every succeeding

age. The thorough sagacity, honesty, and gallantry

he displayed in his many daring ventures had taken, too,

with the general public ; and " old Benbow,'' as he was

familiarly called (though really never an old man) was

looked on as the model of a rough and real British sea-

man, suited for all weather and aU war. He and his

1
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deeds have been the subject of many a naval song*

and story, and his likeness was formerly a common

sign for public houses throughout the country. More-

over, to this day, the portraits of the admiral' in

the town hall of Shrewsbury, and in Greenwich Hos-

pital, and his stalwart visage still to be seen, here and

there, in front of some rural inn ; and more than aU

that, the many yarns about him, show that even amid

the greater glories of Keppel and Duncan, Rodney and

Nelson, old Benbow is not forgotten. Admiral Benbow,

though he had to make his own way, came, according

to his biographers, from a branch of an ancient and

honourable line,—the Benbows of Newport, in the

county of Salop ; but, singular to say, much obscurity

hangs about his immediate parentage. In the Civil

War his family of Benbow was Cavalier, and sacrificed

life and property in bravely sustaining the royal cause.

Colonel Thomas Benbow and Colonel John Benbow,

generally understood to be,—the former uncle, and the

latter father, of the admiral, were, it is related, both men

* Dibdin uses his name freely : here is a specimen from his " Peter

Pullhaul's Medley."

" When grown a man I soon began

To quit each boyish notion
;

With old Benbow I swoi-e to go',

And tempt the waving ocean.

" Ten years I sarved with him, or nigh,

And saw the gallant hero die j

Yet 'soaped each shot myself, for why ?

" ' There's a sweet little cherub that sits up aloft,

To keep watch for the life of poor Jack.'
"
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of estatCj and botli officers in the army of Charles I.

They were in the military service of the crown prior to

the murder of the king, and afterwards fought at Wor-

cester, and were made prisoners at or shortly after that

engagement. Much discrepancy occurs as to the exact

result of their capture. The usual biographies we find

of Admiral Benbow will have it that the elder, Colonel

Thomas Benbow, was shot at Shrewsbury on the 15th,

17th, or 19th of October, 1651, and that Colonel John

Benbow made his escape. I, however^ on referring to the

State Trials, find that a Captain John Benbow (he may

have never been colonel , or his promotion of colonel might

be looked on as illegal in the eyes of the Commonwealth)

was tried on the 1st of October, 1651, by a Roundhead

court-martial, and had the honour of having, on that

occasion, two important fellow prisoners, viz., the brave

royalist. Sir Timothy Fetherstonhaugh, and the illus-

trious Earl of Derby. The earl and Sir Timothy were

sentenced to be beheaded,—the on^ on the 15th of

October, 1651, at Bolton; and the other on the 32nd

of the same month at Chester ; and Captain John Ben-

bow was sentenced to be shot at Shrewsbury on the 15th

of the same month. The earl and Fetherstonhaugh, as

every one knows, died pursuant to their sentences ; but

I find no statement, in the State Trials at least, that

John Benbow was actually executed. Could it be, if

this account is to be sustained, that Colonel Thomas-

Benbow was shot by sentence of some previous court-

martial, and that John escaped from the judgment to

be put in force at Shrewsbury ? However, whether

from that judgment or not, escape he must have done.
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if the following story refer to him, wMclij however,

is doubtful. He, it is said, lived during the Common-

wealth in concealment, his land being forfeited ; and the

Restoration found him poor and broken down, and glad

to accept a small ordnance post in the Tower of London.

Here he was, when his death is reported to have oc-

curred in a very affecting way. It happened that a

little before the breaking out of the first Dutch war.

King Charles II. came to the Tower to examine the

magazines, and his majesty there cast his eye on the

colonel, whose appearance had become venerable by a

fine head of grey hair. The king, whose memory was

as quick as his eye, knew him at first sight, and imme-

diately came up and embraced him. ''My old friend.

Colonel Benbow," said he, "what do you here?" "I

have," returned the colonel, "a place of fourscore pounds

a year, in which I serve your majesty as cheerfully as if

it brought me ia four thousand." ''Alas!" said the

king, " Is that all that could be found for an old friend

at Worcester? Colonel Legge, bring this gentleman

to me to-morrow, and I will provide for him and his

family as it becomes me." But, short as the time

was, the colonel did not live to receive, or so much as

to claim, the effects of this gracious promise; for the

sense of the king's gratitude and goodness so overcame

his spirits, that, sitting down on a bench, he there

breathed his last, before the king was well out of the

Tower.* John Benbow, the future admiral, was fifteen

* In Owen and Blateway's History of Shrewsbury, the ancient descent

and parentage of the admiral, as above given, are, on very good argu-
ment, altogether denied. They (and what T. Phillips says in his His-.
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years of age^* and was in the mercliant service at the

time this Colonel Benbow's demise thus happened. One

thing is certaiuj that the king's good-natured interview

resulted in no benefit to young Benbow ; but he found

a better friend in his own industry and ability, which

raised him to be owner and commander of the Benbow

frigate, one of the most considerable vessels then em-

toiy of Shrewsbury bears them out) state the admiral to have been the

son of William Benbow, of Cotton HUl, tanner and burgess of Shrews-

bury, and to have had no uncle, Colonel Thomas Benbow, and only an

uncle, Captain John Benbow, who was actually (and no doubt pursuant

to the sentence recorded in the State Trials) shot in the Bowling Green

of Shrewsbury on the 15th of October, 1651, and was buried the follow-

ing day in St. Chad's churchyard in that town ; and a stone erected

over him, which was renewed in 1740, and which gave his name and

the date of his interment. St. Chad's register has further this entry :

" 1651, October 16 ; John Beubowe, captain, who was shott at the

Castle. B." All this being so, what becomes of the story of the Colonel

Benbow of the Tower ? It may be true, but must refer to some other

member of the family.

* Admiral Benbow was born at Cotton HUl, near Shrewsbury, in

1650. In a bedroom belonging to the house of his birth appear the

following lines, written with a diamond on the window :

—

" Then only breathe one prayer for me.

That far away, where'er I go,

The heart that would have bled for thee

May feel through life no other woe.

" I shall look bact, when on the main,

Back to my native isle

;

And almost think I hear again

That voice, and view that smile."

Underneath has been added the following :—

" You go, and round that head, like banners in the air.

Shall float full many a loving hope and many a tender prayer."
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ployed in tlie Mediterranean trade. Captain Benbow

had grown into higli esteem with the merchants of the

Royal Exchange as a brave^ active, and skilful seaman,

when the following singular incident led to his passing

into the royal navy.

In the year 1686, Captain Benbow, in his own vessel,

the Benbow frigate, was attacked in his passage to Cadiz

by a Moorish corsair, from that notorious nest of pirates,

Salee. Captaia Benbow defended himself, though very

unequal in the number of men, with the utmost bravery,

till at last the Moors boarded him; but were quickly

beat out of his ship again with the loss of thirteen men,

whose heads Captain Benbow ordered to be cut off, and

thrown into a tub of brine. When he arrived at Cadiz

he went ashore, and directed a negro servant to follow

him, with the Moors' heads in a sack. He had scarcely

landed before the officers of the revenue inquired of his

servant what he had in his sack. The captain answered,

salt provisions for his own use. That may be, answered

the officers ; but we must insist on seeing them. Cap-

tain Benbow alleged that he was no stranger there ; that

he did not use to run goods, and pretended to take it

very ill that he was suspected. The officers told him

that the magistrates were sitting not far off, and that if

they were satisfied with his word, his servant might carry

the provisions where he pleased; but that otherwise it

was not in their power to grant such dispensation.

The captain consented to the proposal, and awav
they marched to the custom-house. Captain Benbow
in the front, his man in the centre, and the officers

in the rear. The magistrates, when he came before
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them, treated Captain Benhow witli great civility ; told

him they were sorry to make a point of such a trifle,

but that since he had refused to show the contents of

his sack to their officers, the nature of their employ-

ments obliged them to demand a sight of them; and

that, as they doubted not they were salt provisions, the

showing them could be of no great consequence one

way or other. " I told you," says the captain sternly,

"they were salt provisions for my own use. Csesar,

throw them down upon the table ; and, gentlemen, if

you like them, they are at your service." The

Spaniards were astounded at the sight of the Moors'

heads, and no less astonished at the account of the

captain's adventure, who, with so small a force, had

been able to defeat such a number of barbarians. They

sent an account of the whole matter to the court of

Madrid, and Charles II., then king of Spain, was so

much pleased with it, that he would needs see the

English captain, who made a journey to court, where

he was received with great testimonies of respect, and

not only when departing received a handsome present,

but his Catholic Majesty was also pleased to write a

letter in his behalf to King James II., a naval monarch,

weU able to appreciate the captain's daring ; and so it

proved, for the English king, upon the captain's re-

turn, gave him a ship, which was his introduction to

the Royal navy.* There he speedily won high dis-

* This story of the Moors' heads derives considerable countenance

from the following circumstance related in Owen and Blakeway's

"History of Shrewsbury." It appears that a Mr. Kiohard Bidley

married Elizabeth Benbow, a sister of the admiral. Their daughter,
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tinction, but as his career is matter of history^ I pass

over his several daring cruises, his effective convoys,

his bombardment of St. Maloes, his fire-ships, and his

bold attack on Calais, where he was wounded, and his

other numerous acts of gallantry. He became an ad-

miral in 1694, and in 1700 King William III., it is

said, to mark his approbation, granted him an honour-

able augmentation to his arms, " by adding to the three

bent bows which he and his family already bore as many

arrows.^'* On the approach ofthe war ofthe Succession,

King WiUiam wanted a commander for his West India

Sarah Bidley, married Eichard Briscoe, and Helen Briscoe, great

granddaughter of this marriage, married John Powell, of the Castle

Foregate, Shrewsbury ; and in his possession might be seen a curious

kind of cup or punch-bowl edged with silver, on which was engrayed

I 'The First Adventure of Captain John Benbo, and Gift to Eichard

Eidley, 1687." On close inspection this cup was found to consist of

cane very closely matted together, and coated on both sides with

varnish. The vessel was evidently such a covering for the head as is

in use among the Moors, so that it might have been worn by one of

the thirteen pirates who boarded the Senbow frigate.

* My friend, Albert W. Woods, Esq., Lancaster Herald, informs me
that no registry or entiy of these augmented arms is to be found in

the Heralds' College. The only Benbow arms there are those of the

Benbows of Newport, viz., " Sa. two string-bows endorsed in pale or

garnished gu., between two bundles of arrows in fesse, three in each
bundle, gold, barbed and headed arg., and tied up proper. Crest A
harpy close, or, face proper, wreathed round the head with a chaplet of
roses gu." Mr. Woods also kindly furnishes me with a pedigree of
the Benbows of Newport from Vincent's " Collection for the County of
Salop," which nowhere shows oouneotion with the family of the admiral
but in it I find a "Thomas Benbow, setatis 20, 1623." May not this

have been (though no uncle of the admiral) the Colonel Thomas Ben-
bow of the Civil War, who, as nothing proves that he was shot after

the Battle of Worcester, may have lived to be the old cavalier whom
Charles II. discovered in poverty in the Tower ?
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fleets but hesitated summoning Benbow^ as he had abeady

worked him so hard. Some other officers sent for

seemed not to like undertaking the heavy duty pro-

posed, upon which the king is reported to have said,

" I will not have these beaux, but must get a beau of

another sort, honest Benbow." The admiral accord-

ingly arrived, and when the king excused himself for

exacting what he thought too much, Benbow said, " he

knew no difference of climates, 'and, for his part, he

thought no officer had a right to choose his station,

that he himself should be, at all times, ready to go to

any part of the world to which his majesty thought

proper to send him/'

Benbow sailed with the fleet to the West Indies ; he

there did all he could to carry out the object of his

government to force the Spanish colonies not ' to re-

cognise Philip v., Louis XIV/s grandson, as king of

Spain; and the moment he received official informa-

tion of war being declared. May, 4, 1703, against

France, he prepared, with his usual daring, to attack

with a far inferior force the squadron under the com-

mand of the French admiral, Du Casse. This brought

on the afl'air, which redounded so to his own honour

and to the disgrace of the captains under him. Mr.

C. J. Yonge, in his recent able " History of the British

Navy," to which I shall have to refer more than once

in this volume, gives the following clear and spirited

account of the memorable engagement :

—

" In the autum of 1701 Benbow had been sent to the

Antilles, where it was known that the French admiral,

Du Casse, was also cruising. Benbow was a resolute

1 *
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and skilful ofiScer, but a man of a somewhat rough and

stern temper, which had excited a feeling of insubor-

dination and hostility against him in the breasts of

some of his officers. Though peace still subsisted when

he quitted England, his instructions were warlike ; and

he had acted on them, making prizes of several Spanish

ships, and in no respect keeping secret his intention to

treat the French in the same manner, if opportunity

should offer. In the spring of 1702 certain informa-

tion reached him that the French were preparing greatly

to increase their force in the neighbourhood; and at

the beginning of August he learnt that Du Casse, with

four ships of the line, and one large frigate, were off

Carthagena, making arrangements with the Spaniards

to cripple our trade in that quarter. His own force

consisted of two ships of the line, one ship of fifty-four

guns, and four large frigates.* With these he at once

sailed in quest of the Frenchman; and, on the 19th of

August, he found him proceeding under easy sail at no

great distance from the South American shore. Ben-

bow at once made the signal for battle, but, as the

French squadron, though not positively fleeing from

the combat, held on its course, without taking any

measures to bring it on ; little was done that evening,

* The following is the exact list of Benbow's naval force :

—

The Breda, Admiral Benbow and Captain Fogg
The Defiance, Cjptain Richard Kirby

The G-reenwioh, Captain Cooper Wade
The Buby, Captain G-eorge "Walton

The Pendennis, Captain Thomas Hudson

The Windsor, Captain John Constable

The Falmouth, Captain Samuel Vincent
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beyond exchanging one or two broadsides. The next

five days are amongst the most discreditable in our naval

history. During the night of the 19th, Benbow, in his

own ship, the Breda, of seventy guns, had kept as close

to the enemy as the darkness would allow; and so

correct had been his judgment of their course, that at

daybreak, on the 20th, he found himself close to them

;

but of all his squadron, but one frigate, the Ruby,

Captain George Walton (on such a day of cowardice,

or treachery, or both, his name deserves honourable

mention), was at hand to support him; the rest had

already contrived to fall several miles astern. Still, as

the enemy contiuued on their way, Benbow, with this

single comrade, pursued them as vigorously as he could,

firing whenever they seemed within gunshot, and sig-

nalling with peremptory orders to the rest of the ships

to join him. The next day the French, seeing his

almost isolated state, halted to fight. The Ruby be-

haved most gallantly, and engaged one of the ships of

the liue, but was soon disabled by her antagonist's

heavier fire, and might have been taken, had it not

been for the resolute manner in which the Breda first

supported, and then protected her. While this con-

flict was proceeding, the Defiance, 64, Captain Kirby,

was unable to avoid coming close to the enemy, but she

refused to fire a single shot. The Windsor, 48, Captain

Constable, behaved equally ill; and the next day the

Greenwich, 54, Captain Wade, behaved even worse,

keeping five leagues from the admiral, who, from the

crippled state of the Ruby, was in greater need of sup-

port than ever. On the 23rd Benbow engaged the

whole of the enemy's ships single handed; he even
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took a small vessel, called the Anne, a British galley,

which Du Casse had captured on his way out. A.t last.

Captain Vincent, of the Falmouth, 48, began to feel

something like shame at the part which he had been

enacting, and came to his assistance. The next day

Benbow, now supported by the Falmouth, was still

continuing the fight with unabated resolution, when a

chain-shot struck him on the leg. In spite of all the

agony of this mortal wound (for such it proved to be)

his spirit was as resolute as ever. He was borne be-

low, but he soon ordered himself to be again carried on

deck, where he still gave his orders with an unaltered

countenance. ' I am sorry, sir,' said Fogg, his captain,

' to see you in this state.' ' I am sorry too,' said the

brave old man ; ' but I would rather have lost both my
legs than have seen this disgrace brought on the

British flag.' Presently he was addressed in a dif-

ferent spirit. Captain Kirby had the audacity to come

on board the Breda, and tell him, 'that he had better

desist; the French were very strong, and, from what

had passed, he might see that he could make nothing

of it.' In truth he could make nothing of it : he had,

indeed, reduced the ship with which he had been most

closely engaged to a wreck; but he had not escaped

severe injury to his own masts and rigging. The whole

French squadron were now in fuU flight, and he soon

became convinced of the impossibility of keeping up
any further pursuit of them with the slightest prospect

of success. He returned for Jamaica, while Du Casse

made his way to Carthagena, thankful for his escape,

and well aware to what circumstances he owed it."

The French admiral was a man of spirit, and fully
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acknowledged the heroism of Benbow and the raScality

of the officers under him. He wrote a letter to Admiral

BenboWj of which the following is a translation :-—

" Carthagbna, August, 1703.

" Sirj---I had little hopes on Monday last but to

have supped in your cabia, yet it pleased God to

order it otherwise. As for those cowardly captains

who deserted you, hang them up : for by they

deserve it.

"Du Casse."

The original letter has been preserved by Admiral

Benbow's family.

Admiral Benbow, after being thus cheated, as it were,

out of victory, returned to Jamaica, where he arrived

with his squadron, very weak from a fever brought on

by his wounds, and was soon after joined by Rear-

Admiral Whetstone, with the ships under his command r

As soon as he conveniently could, Admiral Benbow

issued a commission to Rear-Admiral Whetstone, and to

several captains, to hold a court-martial for the trial of

the several offenders. On the 6th of October, 1703, the

court sat at Port Royal, when Captain Richard Kirby, of

the Defiance,was brought upon his trial. He was accused

of cowardice, breach of orders, and neglect of duty, which

crimes were proved upon oath by Admiral Benbow him-

self, ten commission and eleven warrant officers; by

whose evidence it appeared that the Admiral boarded Du
Casse in person three times, and received a large wound
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in his'facej and another in his arm^ before his leg was

shot off: that Kirby, after two or three broadsides, kept

always out of gun-shot, and by his behaviour created

such a fear of his desertion, as greatly discouraged the

English in the engagement : that he kept two or three

miles astern all the second day, though commanded

again and again to keep his station : that the third day

he did not fire a gun, though he saw the admiral in the

deepest distress, having two or three French men-of-war

upon him at a time : and that he threatened to kiU. his

boatswain for repeating the admiral's command to fire.

He had very little to say for himself, and therefore was

most deservedly sentenced to be shot.

The same day, Captain JohnConstable, ofthe Windsor,

was tried; his own officers vindicated him from cow-

ardice, but the rest of the charge being clearly proved,

he was sentenced to be cashiered, and to be imprisoned

during Her Majesty's (Queen Anne's) pleasure. The

next day. Captain Cooper Wade was tried, and the

charge being fuUy proved by sixteen commission and

warrant ofiicers on board his own ship, as also, that he

was drunk during the whole time of the engagement,

he, making little or no defence, had the same sentence

with Kirby. As for Captain Hudson, he died a few

days before his trial should have come on, and thereby

avoided dying as Kirby and Wade died, for his case

was exactly the same as theirs.

Upon the 12th, came on the trials of Captain Samuel
Vincent, commander of the Falmouth, and Captain Chris-

topher Fogg, who was captain of the admiral's own ship,

the Breda, for signing, at the persuasion of Captain
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Kirby, a paper containing an obligation on themselves

not to figbt the French. The fact was clears and the

captains themselves did not dispute it. All they offered

was in extenuation of their offence, and amounted only

to this, that they were apprehensive Kirby would have

deserted to the enemy, and they took this step to prevent

it. But this tale would have hardly passed on the court-

martial, if Admiral Benbow himself had not given some

weight to their excuses, by declaring, that however they

might be criminal in subscribing that paper, yet they

certainly behaved themselves very gallantly iu the fight.

For the sake of discipline, the court, however, thought

fit to suspend them ; and yet, to favour the captains, the

judgment was given with a proviso that entirely took off

its edge, viz., that it should not commence till the plea-

sure of his Royal Highness Prince George of Denmark,

the then Lord High Admiral, should be known. The

prince dealt too leniently with them, for he sent orders

for their being employed again.

The two chief offenders, however, Kirby and Wade,

underwent the penalty their atrocious conduct had so

richly merited. They were, in the spring of 1703, sent

from Jamaica, onboard Her Majesty's ship, the Bristol,

and they arrived at Plymouth on the 16th of April,

where (as in all the western ports), there lay a death

warrant for their immediate execution, in order to pre-

vent any applications in their favour ; and not being,

as having disgraced their country, permitted to land

on English ground, they were accordingly shot on

board the ship that brought them home, showing at

their death such courage and constancy of mind, as
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made it evident that their behaviour in the engage-

ment arose not from any natural cowardice, but from

a corrupt and malignant hostility towards their gallant

commander. Let us now return to Benbow himself.

He lingered near a month after the trials; for the

court sat on the 6th of October, and it was on the

4th of November, 1702, that his true and valiant spirit

fled. He showed the soul of a perfect British seaman

to the very last. He was all along extremely sensible

of his danger, and never entertained any flattering hopes

of recovery. Yet, while he calmly and religiously pre-

pared for death, he, during his illness, never ceased to

perform his duty as an English admiral, with the same

firmness he had shown during the engagement, giving

all the necessary orders for protecting the trade that

could have been expected from him, if he had been in

full health. In the letters he wrote home to his wife,

he displayed anxiety for the interest of the nation, quite

as great as, if not greater, than for his private fortune,

or the concerns of his family. Queen Anne, who had

succeeded King William on the 8th of March, 1702,

deeply mourned the loss of the admiral, and ever ex-

pressed the greatest regard for his memory. The ad-

miral's sister had, in his lifetime, presented his picture

to the Corporation of ShrcAvsbury, who caused it to be

hung up in their town-hall, where it stiU remains, in

lasting testimony of the afifectionate remembrance in

which the men of his county held his worth and

patriotism.

Admiral Benbow, by Martha his wife, left behind him
a family of two sons and two daughters, but his sons
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dying without issue, his two surviving daughters hecame

co-heiresses. Of these, the elder, Martha, horn in 1679,

was the wife, first of Thomas Stringer, and secondly of

Samuel Rohinson, and died in 1719 j and the younger,

> Catherine, bom in 1687, was the wife of Paul Calton,

Esq., of Deptford, and of Milton, near Abingdon, Berks,

and Hampstead, Middlesex. John Benbow, the admi-

raFs elder son, was a seaman of some note in.his day,

in consequence of his strange adventures when second

mate on board the Degrave, East Indiaman, 52 guns.

That vessel was shipwrecked off the coast of Madagascar,

and Captain Young, who commanded the vessel, Mr.

Buchan, and others with them, endeavoured to make
terms with the negro inhabitants of the island, by

forcibly carrying off their king and queen. In this

daring attempt they nearly succeeded, and some of

them, including Benbow, got out of the clutches of the

pursuing savages; after this, Benbow, unable to quit

the island, remained some years among the negroes,

living after their manner, and on friendly terms with

them. He eventually returned to England on board a

Dutch vessel, and, dying in 1708, was iaterred in the

vault of St. Nicholas Church, Deptford. His brother,

William Benbow, a great collector of epitaphs, and at

one time a clerk in the Navy OfiBce, died in 1729, and

was buried in the same place. Confiscation and out-

lawry for their loyalty in the time of the Common-

wealth did much to scatter the worthy family to which

Admiral Benbow belonged; and the connections of it

now extant are not many. A grand-niece of the admi-

ral, Mary, was married to Herbert Haselden, Esq., of
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the White House, county of Hereford, the head and

representative of an old Herefordshire faTnLLy, and was

great-grandmother of the present representative, Her-

bert Howorth Wood, Esq., of the White House, near the

city of Hereford. Of the kindred of Admiral Benbow,

was also the late John Benbow, Esq., of Lincoln's Inn,

M.P. for Dudley, whose two sons are the present Colonel

Clifton Benbow, of Bath, and John Henry Benbow,

Esq., of Lincoln's Inn.

Some accounts will have it that the remains of Admi-

ral Benbow were brought from Jamaica, and deposited

in the cemetery of St. Nicholas Church, Deptford ; but

that was not so, and no doubt the mistake has arisen

from his having rented from Evelyn, the author of

"Sylva," his house, Sayes Court, Deptford; and from

the fact of his two sons being interred at St. Nicholas,

Deptford. The admiral was buried in Jamaica, and a

monument was erected over him, which, according to one

statement, a hurricane since swept away.* Few visible

* Like most of the admiral's domestic history, this destruction of his

tomb is doubtful ; unless, indeed, his body was afterwards remoTed within

the church ; for a i-ecent correspondent of that useful and able periodi-

cal, " Notes and Queries,'' gives the following epitaph of Admiral Ben-

bow, from an article in the " Q-entleman's Magazine," on Monumental

Inscriptions in the West Indies :

—

• "Herelyeth interred the body of John Benbow, Esq., Admiral of

the White. A true pattern of EngHsh courage. Who lost his life in

defence of his Queen and Country, November ye 4th, 1702, in the 52nd

year of his age, by a wound in his leg received in an engagement vrith

Monsr. Du Casse. Being much lamented."

[A slab on the pavement.]

The correspondent of " Notes and Queries " goes on to state that

" the admiral lies interred on the right as you approach the altar, and
within the railing, of the parish church of Kingston, Jamaica."
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marks, indeed, remain of this brave admiral, beyond his

portraits at Shrewsbury and in Greenwich Hospital, and

on inn signs, and beyond a descendant here and there,

still living, of his race. In my anxiety to clear up the

doubts that hang around the parentage .and immediate

kindred of the admiral, I, while putting this article to-

gether, went down to St. Nicholas Church, Deptford, and

afterviewing,in that handsome and interesting edifice, the

stone tablet with the almost effaced iascription (the arms

are unfortunately quite effaced) over the vault where lie

the admiraPs two sons, I wandered, with a friend who

accompanied me, to the neighbouring Sayes Court, once

the property of Evelyn, and let by him to Admiral

Benbow, and to a still greater individual, the Czar Peter,

when a workman in Deptford dockyard. We reached

the place through a hideous labyrinth of streets, reeking

with poverty, wretchedness, and dirt. "Alas ! if Evelyn

saw his favourite mansion and garden now,'" was the

thought that struck us both. Evelyn once wrote, " I

let my house, Sayes Court, near Deptford, on the 1st

June, 1696, for three years, to Vice Admiral Benbow,

condition to keep up the garden •" and on the 18th of

the following January he farther wrote: "I have let

my house to Captain Benbow, and have the mortifica-

tion of seeing every day much of my former labours

and expense there impairing for want of a more polite

tenant.^^ Evelyn must have got the admiral out before

the end of his term, for in January, 1698, he had the

Czar for a tenant, whom, while there, the king, William

III., came to visit, after having furnished the house for

him. The Czar proved even a more careless and less
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cleanly occupier than the admiral. But to look at

Sayes Court now ! The free and easy way of living, com-

mon to the rough seaman, and the rude northern po-

tentate, could not, in wildest mood, have contemplated

such a condition. It has gradually sunk from had to

worse ; it has been a workhouse, and has become too

decayed and confined for even that. It is now attached

to the dockyard as a kind of police station and place

for paying off the men. The large haU, used for the

latter purpose, was no doubt the scene of many a jovial

night spent by the admiral, and his successor, the Czar.

What remains of Evelyn's garden is now a wilderness

of weed and rank grass, hemmed in by a dingy wall-

that shuts out some of the filthiest dwellings imaginable.

The avenue of hovels through which we passed from

this ruined abode of former greatness, bore the name of

Czar Street,—a last, lingering memento of the imperial

visit. The illustrious Czar was so great a man, that he

could nowhere set his foot without leaving an imprint

behind. A monument to him is not needed; but it

would have been pleasing to have found in Deptford

some memorial carved in-brass or stone of our gallant

Benbow. Yet, after all, it matters not much, while the

British public, ever mindfal of greatness in the British

navy, permits no oblivion to rest on his personal worth,

his achievements, and his fame.



CAPTAIN KIDD, A PIRATE WITH A
ROYAL COMMISSION.

Captain William Kidd, the hero of, as it may be

called^ this political and nautical romance, was bom in

the town of Greenockj in Scotland, and bred up for a

seaman's life. Having quitted his native country, he

resided at New York, where he became owner of a

small vessel, with which he traded among the pirates,

and thus obtained a thorough knowledge of their

haunts, and could give a better account of them than

any other person whatever. He was a man not par-

ticularly remarkable for courage, but very avaricious.

He could never resist the tempting influence of the

rapid profits made by pirates, and to this was owing

his connection with them. While in their company,

he used to converse and act as they did; yet at other

times he would make singular professions of honesty,

and intimate how easy a matter it would be to extirpate

sea robbers, and prevent their future depredations. His

frequent remarks on this subject engaged the notice of

several considerable planters in the state of New York,

who, forming a more favourable opinion of him than his

true character would warrant, procured him the patron-

age with which he was afterwards honoured. For a
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series of years complaints had been made of the piracies

committed in the West Indies, which had been greatly-

encouraged by some of the inhabitants ofNorth America,

on account of the advantage they derived from pur-

chasing effects thus fraudulently obtained. This coming

to the knowledge of King William III., he, in the year

1695, bestowed the government of New England and

New York on his devoted follower, Richard Coote,

Earl of Bellamont, an Irish noble of distinguished cha-

racter and abilities, who immediately began to consider

of the most effectual method to redress the evils com-

plained of, and consulted with Colonel Levingston, a

gentleman who had great property in New York, on

the most feasible steps to obviate the evils so long com-

plained of. At this juncture Captain Kidd, having

made money at New York, was sailing pompously

about in a sloop of his own. The colonel fixed on him

as the very man needed, and mentioned him to Lord

Bellamont as a bold and daring personage, fit to be

emj)loyed against the pirates, especially as he was per-

fectly acquainted with the places they resorted to. The

plan met with the fullest approbation of his lordship,

who reported the affair to King William, and recom-

mended it to the notice of the Board of Admiralty.

Yet such were then the hurry and confusion of public

affairs in that troubled reign, that, though the design

was approved of, no steps were taken towards carrying

it into execution. Accordingly, Colonel Levingston

made application to Lord Bellamont, that as the affair

would not well admit of delay, it was worthy of being

undertaken by some private persons of rank and dis-
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tinction, and carried into execution at their own ex-

pense, notwithstanding State encouragement was denied

it. His lordship acceded to the project, and, after some

difficulties, the Lord Chancellor Somers, the Duke of

Shrewsbury, the Earl of Eomney, the Earl of Orford,

and some other high persons, with Colonel Leviugston

and our gallant Captain Kidd himself, agreed to raise

£6,000 for the expense of the voyage ; and the colonel

and the captain were to have a fifth of the profits of the

whole undertaking. Matters being so far adjusted, a

royal commission in the usual form was granted to

Captain Kidd, to take and seize pirates, and bring

them to justice ; but though a second commission was

added, there was, beyond the general direction not to

molest the king's friends, and to bring ships taken to

legal trial, no special clause or proviso to restrain his

conduct, or regulate the mode of his proceeding. Kidd

was known to Lord Bellamont, and another gentleman

presented him to Lord Romney. With regard to the

rest of the parties concerned, he was wholly unac-

quainted with them; and so ill was this affair con-

ducted, that he had no private instructions how to act,

but received his sailing orders from Lord Bellamont,

the purport of which was, that he should act agreeably

to the letter of his commission. Behold Kidd now a

great man bearing the commission of the bellicose

monarch of the Revolution, and with powers unbounded

to crush all piracy and robbery on the sea.

A ship was purchased and equipped in the port of

London ; it received the name, which this affair made

so known, of the Adventure Galley. In this vessel



34 CELEBRATED TRIALS.

Captain Kidd crossed the Atlantic, and tlieu towards

the close of the year 1695 sailed from New York and

made prize of a French ship. Thence he went on to

Madeira islands, to Bonavista, and St. Jago, and to

Madagascar, acting fairly enough at first; hut the

sight of so many rich and defenceless merchant ships

he met on his way was too strong for him. He could

not resist the temptation, and lo ! he, the authorised

destroyer of pirates, turns pirate himself, and becomes

a sea robber with a royal commission. He prowled at

the entrance of the Red Sea, and, sailing to Calicut, he

began a fearful career of crime by taking a ship of one

hundred and fifty tons burthen, which he carried to

Madagascar, and disposed of there. Having sold this

prize he again put to sea, and at the expiration of five

weeks fell upon and seized the Quedagh Merchant, a

ship of four hundred tons burthen, the master of which

was an Englishman, named Wright, who had two

Dutch mates on board, and a French gunner ; but the

crew consisted of Moors; natives of Africa, and were

about ninety in number. Kidd carried this ship to

St. Mary's, near Madagascar, where he burnt the Ad-

venture Galley, belonging to his owners, and divided

the lading of the Quedagh Merchant with his crew,

taking forty shares to himself. He and his crew then

went on board the Quedagh Merchant, and sailed for

the West Indies. It is uncertain whether the inha-

bitants of the West India islands knew that Kidd was

a pirate ; but he was refased refreshments at Anguilla

and St. Thomas's, and therefore sailed to Mona, be-

tween Porto Rico and Hispaniola, where, through the
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management of an Englishman^ named Bolton, he oh-

tained a supply of provisions from Cura9oa. He now

bought a sloop of Bolton, in which he stowed great

part of his ill-gotten effects, and left the Quedagh Mer-

chant, with eighteen of the ship's company, ia Bolton's

care. While at St. Mary's, ninety men of Kidd's crew

left him, and went on board the Mocca Merchant, an

East India ship, which had just then commenced pirate.

Kidd saUed in the sloop, and touched at several places,

where he disposed of a great part of his cargo, and then

steered for Boston, in New England. In the interim

Bolton sold the Quedagh Merchant to the Spaniards,

and immediately sailed as a passenger in a ship for

Boston, where he arrived a considerable time before

Kidd, and gave to Lord Bellamont information of what

had happened. Kidd, therefore, on his arrival, was

seized by order of his lordship, when all he had to

urge in his defence was, that he thought the Quedagh

Merchant a lawful prize, as she was manned with

Moors, though there was no kind of proof that this

vessel had committed any act of piracy. Upon this,

the Earl of Bellamont immediately despatched an ac-

count to England of the circumstances that had arisen,

and requested that a ship might be sent for Kidd, who

had committed several other notorious acts of piracy.

News in those days travelled slowly, but one may con-

ceive the excitement that arose in England when it be-

came at length known that an adventure in which the

Lord Chancellor and other high men of the Sfate were

shareholders, was beiug piratically carried on to the

terror and ruin of the peaceful merchant ships afloat,

2
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and the unoifending inliaMtants of coasts not at war

witli Tis. A perfect storm burst out against the Grovern-

ment. " Was this to he the system of the king who

had dethroned the Stuarts in the name of justice to

persons and protection to property?" cried the Jaco-

bites. ''A strange revolution and for little purpose/^

thought the less ardent of the Whigs. Even the ultra

followers of King William stood aghast.

The Government met the uproar boldly, honestly,

and determinedly. Somers, who held the Great Seal

so worthily, did not flinch for an instant. It was re-

solved to treat Kidd as a common culprit, and to sub-

ject him to a full and open trial, in which every par-

ticular would come out. Meanwhile an inquiry was

called for in the House of Commons, and it was there

moved, that "^^The letters patent, granted to Richard

Earl of Bellamont and others, of all goods taken from

pirates, were dishonourable to the king, against the law

of nations, contrary to the laws and statutes of. this

realm, an invasion of property, and destructive to com-

merce." After a long and stormy debate, the motion

was negatived by a majority of 13—the ayes being

185, the noes 198. In the Lords, Lord Somers and

the Earl of Orford refuted victoriously the charge in-

sinuated against them of giving countenance to pirates,

and showed that the Earl of Bellamont was as innocent

as they were. A motion was, however, carried in the

Commons to address his majesty, that "Kidd might

not be fried till the next session of Parliament, and

that the Earl of Bellamont might be directed to send

home all examinations and other papers relative to the
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affair." The king complied with the request. As soon

as Kidd arrived in England, he was sent for, and ex-

amined at the bar of the House of Commons, with a

view to fix part of his guilt on the parties who had

been concerned in sending him on the expedition, but

nothing arose to criminate any of those distinguished

persons. Kidd, who was actually in a state of semi-

intoxication when he came to the bar of the House,

made there a very contemptible appearance, on which

a member, who had been one of the most earnest to

have him examined, violently exclaimed, " This fellow,

I thought he had been only a knave, but unfortunately

he happens to be also a fool."

The trials of Kidd and his companions came on at

the Old Bailey in May, 1701. The proceedings were

Very lengthy, and consisted of several distinct trials;

the first was for murder against Kidd alone, the other

trials were for various acts of piracy committed by him

and dififerent members of his crew. Kidd was found

guilty in every case, and his men mostly so in the trials

in which they were included.

The charge of murder against Kidd was evidently

brought to secure his being capitally convicted, in case

there might be acquittals on the charges of piracy;

however, the act itself was a very brutal one. The

victim of Kidd's violence was William Moor, a gunner

of his crew, whom Kidd, after he had become a pirate,

happened, when on board, in a moment of anger to call

" a dog." " If I am a dog," retorted Moor, " you have

made me so ;
yes, you have made me so

;
you have

brought me to ruin and many more." Kidd^ stung to
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madness by the reproach, seized a wooden bucket

hooped with iron, and struck Moor on the head with

it. The blow was fatal: the unfortunate creature was

carried to the gun-room and died the next day. On
this charge, the jury found Kidd guilty of murder;

and then came on the chief trial, which interested all

England, viz., that of Kidd and nine of his crew,

Nicholas Churchill, James Howe, Robert Lamley,

William Jenkins, Gabriel Loff, Hugh Parrot, Richard

Barlicom, Alexander Owens, and Darby MuUins, for

piracy and robbery on a ship called the Quedagh

Merchant.

There was a great judicial array on the Bench : the

Judges were Sir Edward Ward, Lord Chief Baron ; Sir

John Turton and Sir Henry Gould, Judges of the Court

of King's Bench ; Sir John Powell, a Judge of the

Court of Common Pleas : and Dr. Oxenden, Judge of

the Admiralty. The Solicitor-General, Sir John Hawles;

Dr. Newton, Advocate for the Admiralty ; Mr. Cowper,

M.P. (afterwards the great Lord Chancellor Cowper)-;

Mr. Corners, and Mr. Knapp conducted the prosecution.

Dr. Oldish, Mr. Nixon, and Mr. Moxon were momen-
tarily allowed to intervene for Kidd and others; but

this was only by indulgence, the barbarous custom being

then in full force of not allowing counsel for prisoners

charged with felony to act at all, unless on some ad-

mitted question of law that might arise. However, for

those times, the trial was pretty fairly conducted, and

bears a strong contrast to the judicial investigations be-

fore the Revolution, and indeed to some that had occurred

immediately after.
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As the speecli of Dr. Newton, tlie counsel for the

Admiralty, gave a full summary of the whole of the

affair, I extract from the State Trials his address to the

jury. He spoke as follows :

—

"My lord and gentlemen,—The prisoner at the bar.

Captain William Kidd, late commander of the Adven-

ture Galley, and nine other mariners in the same vessel,

stand indicted for feloniously and piratically assaulting

and taking a ship, called the Quedagh Merchant, on the

high sea, near Cutsheen, in the East Indies, about the

30th of January, in the ninth year of his majesty's

reign : the ship was considerable for its force and bulk,

being above four hundred tons, and more considerable

for its lading, having on board to the value of many

thousand pounds.

" This Captain Kidd, who thus acted the pirate him-

self, went from England in April, 1696, with a commis-

sion, dated the 26th of January preceding, to take and

seize pirates in the Indian seas, which were very much

and very dangerously intested by them, to the great

hazard and loss and ruin of the merchant.

"The ship carried thirty guns, and there were on

board about eighty men ; but the Captain being come

from New York, in July, 1696, pretending, as indeed it

was designed he should, and he had undertaken to make

that design good, that he was going to Madagascar

(which was the known and common receptacle of the

pirates in those seas) to take pirates, and free the seas

from those disturbers of the commerce of mankind ; so

many came into him, being invited by articles publicly

set up by him in that place, that his number quickly in-
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creased to one hundred and fifty-five men ; a force suf-

ficentj if he had meant wellj to have made him useful to

the public ; and to prove as mischievous, if his designs

were otherwise : and what those were will quickly ap-

pear.

" After calling in at several places for provisions, and,

among others, at Madagascar, in July, 1697, he sailed
'

to BoVs Key, a small island at the entrance of the Red

Sea, and a convenient station for the observing what

vessels went from thence to the Indies ; and now, in-

stead of taking pirates, he becomes one himself, and the

greatest and worst of all. He stayed three weeks, in

expectation of the Mocca fleet, to make his benefit and

his fortune out of it ; for, whatever he had before pre-

tended, that was his real design, and now so possessed

his mind, that he could not refrain from declaring, and

that often to his men, that now he should make his

voyage, and ballast his ship with gold and silver. After

long expectation the fleet, on the 14th of August, to the

number of fourteen, came by ; he fell in with the middle

of them, fired several guns at them ; but finding they

had an English and a Dutch convoy, that design happily

failed of the wished-for success.

"This disappointment, however, did not discourage

him, but that he proceeded on for the coast of Malabar,

-where he knew the trade was considerable, and hoped

his advantage would be proportionable in the disturbing

it ; and there accordingly, for several months, he com-

mitted many great piracies and robberies, taking the

ships and goods of the Indians and others at sea. Moors

and Christians, and torturing cruelly their persons, to
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discover if anything had escaped his hands ; burning

their houses, and killing after a barbarous manner the

natives on the shores, equally cruel, dreaded and hated

both on the land and at sea.

"These criminal attempts and actions had rendered

his name (to the disgrace and the prejudice of the Eng-

lish nation) too well known, and deservedly detested, in

those remote parts of the world ; and he was now looked

upon as an arch-pirate, and the common enemy of man-

kind ; and accordingly two Portuguese men-of-war went

out in pursuit of him, and one met with him and fought

him for several hours, but Kidd's fortune reserved him

for another manner of trial.

" Amongst the great number of vessels he took on

that coast was the ship he stands indicted for, the Que--

dagh Merchant, being then on a trading voyage from

Bengal to Surat, the commander English (Captain

Wright), the owners Armenian merchants, and others.

He had taken Moors before, but Moors and Christians

are all alike to pirates ; they distinguish not nations nor

religions. Those on board the vessels offered 30,000

rupees for her ransom, but the ship was too considerable

to be parted with even for so great a sum, so Kidd sold

goods out of her on the neighbouring coast to the value

of J10,000 or £12,000, out of which he took whatever

he could pretend to for ammmiition and provisions, with

forty shares for himself, and the remainder was disposed

of amongst the crevr, and particularly those who are here

indicted with him, who accompanied him, who assisted

him throughout all his piracies, and who now, too, share

the spoils and the guilt with him.
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"With this ship and another^ and the remainder of

the goods not sold on the coast, he sailed once more for

Madagascar, where he arrived in the beginning of May,

1698, and there again what was left on board was

divided according to the same proportions, and amongst

the same persons as before, each mariner having about

three bales to his share.

" It is not to be omitted that, at his return to Mada-

gascar, there came on board to him some persons from

the ship the Resolution, formerly the Mecca frigate (for

the piratically seizing of which vessel there have been

formerly trials and convictions in this place),, of which

Captain Culliford, a notorious pirate, now in custody,

and against whom two bills have been found for piracy

by the grand jury, was the commander. They at first

seem to have been afraid of Kidd, but without any

grounds, as his former actions had demonstrated, and

the sequel showed. They, who were hardened pirates,

and long inured to villanies, could scarce think that any

man could so betray the trust and confidence the public

had placed in him, and said they thought he came to

take and hang them : but Captain Kidd assured them

that he had no such design, and that rather his soul

should be lost than do them any harm ; bid them not

be afraid, and swore he would be true to themj and

here, indeed, he did not break his word. This was his

way of being true to his trust, and making good the end

of his commission, in acting with the greatest treachery

and the greatest falseness that ever man did; and to

make all that has been represented of him true. Captain

Kidd and Captain Culliford went on board, treated and
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presented each other ; and, instead of taking Culliford^

as it was his duty to have done, and his force was suf-

ficient to have performed it, he gave him money and

ammunition, two great guns and shot, and other neces-

saries to fit him out to sea, that he might be better able

to take and seize other innocent persons.

" His own ship he now left, and went on board the

Quedagh Merchant ; several of his men then went from

him, but not as prisoners. They were all. along well-

wishers and assistants to him, fought for him, divided

the plunder with him, and are now come to be tried

with him.

" This, gentlemen, is the crime he is indicted for

—

piracy ; the growing trouble, disturbance, and mischief

of the trading world and the peaceable part of man-

kind, the scandal and reproach of the European nations

and the Christian name (I wish I could not say that the

Eidds and the Averys had not made it more particularly

so among the English), amongst Mahometans and Pagans

in the extremest parts of the earth, which turns not only

to the disadvantage of the immediate sufferers, but of all

such as traffic in those countries, whether companies or

single merchants, who are to suffer for the misfortunes

of others, with whom, it may be, they have no dealings,

and for the villanies of such, whom they and all man-

kind equally and justly detest and abhor.

" This is the person that stands indicted at that bar,

than whom no one in this age has done more mischief,

in this worst kind of mischief; or has occasioned greater

confusion and disorder, attended with all the circum-

stances of cruelty and falsehood, and a complication of

all manner of ill. 3 *
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" If, therefore, these facts should be proved upon him,

you will then, gentlemen, in finding him guilty, do jus-

tice to the injured world, the English nation (our com-

mon country), whose interest and welfare so much depend

on the increase and security of trade; and, lastly, to

yourselves, whom the law has made judges of the fact.''

The evidence bore out this statement, and indeed the

prisoners had no defence on the facts (beyond Kidd's

urging falsely that the Quedagh Merchant sailed under a

French pass) , but three of them—Howe, Churchill, and

MuUins—put forward a plea that they were entitled to

the king's pardon, as they had surrendered themselves

on a proclamation of the king's gracious pardon to such

pirates, except Kidd, as gave themselves up. They had

certainly so surrendered themselves, but the crown

lawyers objected that they had not surrendered to the

actual commissioners appointed to carry out the procla-

mation. Mr. Moxon for the prisoner Churchill thus

put the point :

—

" My lord, about the year 1698, there was a special

commission given to four persons, and they were to

proceed in their voyage to the Indies, and they carried

a great number of proclamations, that all the pirates in

such and such places should surrender themselves.

Now they came to St. Helena with them, and Captain

Warren was sent to St. Mary's, and he was to deliver

some of these proclamations there, and the commissioner

had then the ambassador to the Great Mogul on board,

and this Captain Warren these proclamations. Warren
comes and deUvers the proclamations out, and, among
the rest the prisoner at the bar having notice of this, he
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goes to the governor, and confesses he had been a

pirate, and desired them to take notice that he surren-

dered himself; and we have the governor of St. Mary's

here to give an account of this matter."

Lord Chief Baron Ward.—" The proclamation says.

They must surrender themselves to such and such per-

sons by name : see if it be so. [Then the proclamation

was read again.] Here are several qualifications men-

tioned ; yoTi must bring yourselves under them, if you

would have the benefit of it."

Dr. Newton.—'' Let them show that they surrendered

themselves to the persons they were to surrender to."

Mr. Moxon.—" My lord, we will prove we gave notice

within the time, by this paper.^^

Solicitor-General (Sir John Hawles).—"There is no

time mentioned in it. [The affidavit was read.] Charles

Hally, gent., maketh oath, that in the year 1698, there

being notice of his majesty's gracious pardon to such

pirates as should surrender themselves, James Howe,

Nicholas Churchill, and Darby MuUins, in May, 1699,

did surrender themselves to Jeremiah Bass, governor

of St. Mary's, and he did admit them to bail."

Lord Chief Baron Ward.—" There' "were four com-

missioners named in the proclamation : there is no go-

vernor mentioned that is to receive them, only those

four commissioners."

Mr. Moxon.—" But, my lord, consider the nature of

this proclamation, and what was the design of it, which

was to invite pirates to come in."

Mr. Corners.—"We must keep you to the proclama-

tion : here is not enough to put ofP the trial."

Lord Chief Baron Ward.—" If you had brought your-
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selves within tlie case of the proclamation^ we should be

very glad : you that oflFer it must consider it is a special

proclamation, with divers limitations ; and if you would

have the benefit of it, you must bring yourselves under

the conditions of it. Now, there are four commisioners

named, that you ought to surrender to ; but you have

not surrendered to any one of these, but to Colonel

Bass, and there is no such name mentioned in this pro-

clamation."

This was, after all, but a legal quibble on the "part of

the crown, and the king at least should have interfered

(which he certainly did not for Mullins) to save from

death prisoners who had thus surrendered.

On Kidd's urging that he acted under a royal com-

ipission, Mr. Justice Powell properly observed to the

jury, " I understand, that he had a commission ; there-

fore if any one has a commission, and he acts ac-

cording to it, he is not a pirate j but if he takes a com-

mission for a colour, that he may be a pirate, it wUl be

bad indeed : and therefore, if the crown can prove that

he was a pirate all along, this will be a great evidence

against him.^'

Lord Chief Baron Ward summed up the case to the

jury, and his address to them is so complete a resume

of the facts proved by the witnesses, and so lucid a state-

ment of the law of piracy and felony touching the case,

that I cannot do better than give his lordship's entire

speech. It was as follows :

—

Lord Chief Baron Ward.—" Gentlemen of the jury,

—

The prisoners at the bar, William Kidd, Nicholas Church-

ill, James Howe, Robert Lamley, William Jenkins, Ga-

briel LofF, Hugh Parrot, Richard Barlicorn, Abel Owens,
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and Darby Mullins, in number ten, stand all here in-

dicted for the crime of piracy, charged to be committed

by them. And the instance of the crime is for feloni-

ously and piratically seizing and taking the ship called

the Quedagh Merchant, with the apparel and tackling

thereof, to the value of £400, and divers goods men-

tioned ia the indictment to the value of £4,500, the

goods of several persons unknown, from the mariners

of the said ship, and this at high sea, within the juris-

diction* of the Court of Admiralty, about ten leagues

from Cutsheen in the East Indies, the 30th of January,

1697, and in the eighth year of her Majesty^s reign.

Now, whether all, and any, and which of these prisoners

are guilty of this crime of piracy laid in this indictment,

or not guilty, it is your part to determine according to

the evidence given on both sides. The crime charged

on them is piracy, that is, seizing and taking this ship

and goods in it, piratically and feloniously : the time

and place is also laid in the indictment. To make good

this accusation, the king's counsel have produced their

evidence, and two witnesses have been examined ia this

case; each of them were in the ship which took the

Quedagh Merchant, and very well acqiiainted with all

the proceedings ; that is, Robert Brandinham and Joseph

" Palmer. The first has given you an historical account

of the whole proceedings of Captain Kidd, from his first

going out of England in the Adventure Galley, to the

time of this fact charged on them. They tell you, that

about May, 1696, the king entrusted this Captain Kidd

with two commissions, and they weire both read to you.

By one of them under the Admiralty seal, he was autho-
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rised to set out as a privateer the Adventure Galley, and

therewith to take and seize the ships and goods belong'

ing to the French king, or his subjects, and such other

as were liable to confiseation. And by the other com-

mission, under the broad seal of England, authority was

given for the taking of some pirates by name, and all

other pirates in the several places therein mentioned
;

but in no sort to offend or molest any of the king's

friends or allies, their ships or subjects, by colour thereof.

And by both commissions command was given fo bring

all such ships and goods, as should be taken, to legal

trials and condemnations. They tell us that this ship

set out from Plymouth about May, 1696, and that in

their passage they did take a French ship, and they did

condemn that ship. Now, gentlemen, you must bear

this in your minds, that to make it piracy, it must be

the taking piratically and feloniously upon the high sea,

within the jurisdiction of the Admiralty of England, the

goods of a friend—that is, such as are in amity with the

king. Now, you see what way they went to work, and

what measures they took. Captain Kidd goes out, and

goes to New York ; and when he was there, he has a

project in his head, of setting up articles between him-

self and the people that were willing to be concerned

with him : for now, whether it seems more probable'

from what followed, that Captain Kidd designed to ma-

nage himself according to the measures given him, and

the powers of his commissions, or any other way, you

must consider : for it is told you, that between one hun-

dred and fifty and one hundred and sixty men came in

under these articles, whereof the other prisoners were
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part, and concerned in them. And as to those articles,

the import of them was, that whatever should be taken

by these people in their expeditions should be divided

into one hundred and sixty parts, whereof Captain Kidd

was to have forty shares for his part, and the rest were

to have according to the merits of each party, some

whole shares, and some half shares.

" Now, after these articles, you perceive what pro-

gress they made, and what course they took ; they went

from one place to another, and used a great deal of se-

verity wherever they came. A design they had to go

into the Red Sea, and they had expectations of the

Mocca fleet that lay at Mocca, and they sent their spies

three times to get intelligence : the two first times they

could make no discovery ; but the third time they made

an effectual discovery that the fleet was ready to sail

;

and in the meantime Captain Kidd lay there in expec-

tation of this fleet ; and as the first witness tells you.

Captain Kidd said, he intended to make a voyage out of

this fleet. Well, he had a discovery of this fleet, and

they came accordingly ; and they tell you, that he and

his men did attack one of the ships j but these ships

being guarded by two men-of-war, he could make no-

thing of them ; however, he showed what his intention

and design was. Could he have proved that what he

did was in pursuance of his commissions, it had been

something ; but what had he to do to make any attack

-on these ships, the owners and freighters whereof were

in amity with the king ? This does not appear to be an

action suitable to his commissions. After he had done

this, he came to land, and there, and afterwards at sea.
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pursued strange metliodsj as you have heard. The seem-

ing justification he depends on is his commissions. Now
it must be observed how he acted with relation to them^

and what- irregularities he went by. He came to a

place in the Indies^ and sent his cooper ashore, and that

cooper was killed by the natives ; and he uses barbarity,

and ties an Indian to a tree, and shoots him to death. Now
he went from place to place, and committed hostilities

upon several ships, dealing very severely with the people.

" But this being something foreign to the indictment,

and not the facts for which the prisoners at the bar are

indicted, we are confined to the Quedagh Merchant;

but what he did before shows his mind and intention

not to act by his commissions, which warrant no such

things. Gentlemen, you have an account, that he met

with this ship, the Quedagh Merchant, at sea, and took

her; that this ship belonged to people in amity with

the king of England ; that he seized this ship, and di-

vers goods were taken out of her and sold, and the

money divided pursuant to the heads contained in those

articles set up in New York. The witnesses that speak

to that come home to every one of the prisoners ; they

tell you that the dividend was made ; that Captain Kidd

had forty shares of the money, and the rest of the pri-

soners had their proportions according to the articles,

some a whole share, and some a half share of that

money. After they had seized the ship, you hear -of a

certain sort of project, that a Frenchman should come

and pretend himself the master, and procure, or pretend

to procure a French pass, under a colour that these

people's ship and goods, who were Moors, should be
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Frenchmen's ship and goods^ or sailed under a French

pass, and so justify what he did under the colour of his

commission from the king. Now, no man knows the

mind and intentions of another, but as it may be dis-

covered by his actions. If he would have this to be

understood to be his intention, or that it was in reality,

that he took this as a French ship, or under a French

pass, then he ought to have had the ship and goods in-

ventoried, and condemned according to law, that he

might haA'e had what portion belonged to him, and that

the king might have had what belonged to him, as his

commissions directed ; but here was nothing of that

done, but the money and goods which were taken were

shared, and you have an account likewise how some of

the goods were sold, and the money disposed of, and

how the remaining goods were disposed of; and one

"witness speaks positively of the distribution of the goods

that remained unsold, that they were divided according

to the same proportions as the articles mentioned, and

every one of the prisoners had his share : there belonged

forty shares to Captain Kidd, and shares and half-shares

to the rest.

" Now, this is the great case that is before you, on

which the indictment turns : the ship and goods, as you

have heard, are said by the witness to be the goods of

Armenians, and other people that were in amity with

the king ; and Captain Kidd would have them to be

the goods of Frenchmen, or, at least, that the ship was

sailed under French passes. Now, if that were so, as

Captain Kidd says, it was a lawful prize, and liable to

confiscation ; but if they were the goods of persons in
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amity witli the king, and the ship was not navigated

under French passes, it is very plain it was a piratical

taking of them. Gentlemen, it is to be considered what

evidence Captain Kidd hath given to prove that ship

and goods to belong to the French king, or his subjects,

or that the ship was sailed under a French pass, or, in-

deed, that there was a French pass shown or seen. He
appeals indeed to the witnesses over and over agaia.

Did you never see it ? No, say they. Nor did not

you, saith he, say you saw it ? No, said the witness,

I said that Captain Kidd said he had a French pass,

but I never saw it. Now, after all, the taking the

Quedagh Merchant is brought down to Mr. Kidd, and

the prisoners with others, and the distribution of the

money procured by the sale of the goods among Mr.

Kidd and his crew, whereof every one of the prisoners

were present at the same time, and had proportions.

''Now, gentlemen, this must be observed: If this

was a capture on the high sea, and these were the

goods of persons in amity with the king, and had no

French pass, then it is plain piracy. And if you be-

lieve the witnesses, here is the taking of the goods and

ships of persons in amity, and converting them to their

own use ; such a taking at land as this would be felony,

and being at sea it will be piracy ; for this is a taking

the ship from the right owners, and turning it to their

own use. So that you have evidence as to the seizing

of the ship, and dividing the money rising from the

goods sold, and sharing the remainder according to the

articles.

" Now, what does Captain Kidd say to all this ? He
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has told you he acted pursuant to his commission ; but

that cannot be, unless he gives you satisfaction that

the ship and goods belonged to the French king, or his

subjects, or that the ship had a French pass ; otherwise

neither of thsm will excuse him from being a pirate

;

for if he takes the goods of friends he is a pirate : he

had no authority for that; there is no colour from

either of his commissions for him to take them. And
as to the French passes, there is nothing of that appears

by any proof, and for aught I can see, none saw them

but himself, if there were ever any. It is proved that

the people that were owners of the goods made him

very large offers to redeem the ship (twenty thousand

rupees, as I remember) ; but he would not accept their

proposals, but said, ' That is a small sum ; the cargo is

worth a great deal more,^ or to that effect : and further

said, ' he must answer these people, that his men will

not part with it :' and a Frenchman was to be set up

for a mock business, as you have heard; and if the

witness say true, they were said by the captain of the

ship to be, and were reputed to be, the ship and goods

of friends, and not of enemies ; and if they were so, and

had no French pass, then is he, and those that were

concerned with him, guilty of piratically taking this

ship, and of piratically seizing the goods in the ship;

and neither of his commissions wiU justify such an

action as this. If he had acted pursuant to his com-

mission, he ought to have condemned the ship and

goods, if they were a French interest, or saUed under a

French pass: but by his not condemning them, he

seems to show his aim, mind, and intention, that he
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did not act in that case by wtue of his commission^

but quite contrary to it; for he takes the ship, and

shares the money and goods, and is taken in that very

ship by my Lord Bellamont, and he had continued in

that ship till that time ;* so there is no colour or pre-

tence appears that he intended to bring this ship to

England to be condemned, or to have condemned it in

any of the English plantations, having disposed of the

whole cargo as aforesaid. Here I must leave it to you

to consider whether, according to the evidence that ap-

pears, there is any ground for him to say he has acted

by his commission in taking the Quedagh Merchant

and goods in her, or whether he has not acted contrary

thereto.

"Now, for himself, he has called some persons here

to give an account of his reputation, and of his services

done in the West Indies j and one of them says, about

ten or twelve years he did good service there. Why,
so he might and might have, and it is very like he had

such reputation when the king trusted him with these

commissions, else I believe he had never had them ; so,

that whatever he might have been so many years ago,

that is not a matter to be insisted on now, but what he

hath been since, and how he hath acted in this matter

charged against him: so that, gentlemen, as to Mr.

Kidd, I must leave to you, whether he is guilty of

piracy or no. If you believe him guilty upon the

evidence, you wiU find him so ; if not, you will acquit

him.

* There was no evidence to show that to be so. Kidd was, in fact,

taken when landing from a sloop at Boston.
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" Now, for the other prisoners^ it is proved they were

all concerned in taking and sharing the ship and goods

in the indictment, yet their circumstances differ pretty

much among themselves. There are three of them,

that it has been made out to you, and owned by the

king's witnesses, that they were servants, Robert Lam-
ley, William Jenkins, Richard Barlicom. All these

are made out to be servants, and you have had the

indentures of two of them produced, and the king's

witnesses prove them so, and they were admitted to be

servants. Now, gentlemen, there must go an intention

of the mind, and a freedom of the will, to the com-

mitting of a felony or piracy. A pirate is not to be un-

derstood to be under constraint, but a free agent, for in

this case the bare act will not make him guilty, unless the

will make it so. Now a servant, it is true, if he go volun-

tarily, and have his proposition, he must be accounted

a pirate, for then he acts upon his own account, and

not by compulsion. And these persons, according to

the evidence, received their partj but whether they

accounted to their masters for their shares afterwards,

yea or no, as they pretend, but make no proof of it, I

must leave that to you; and therefore there is a con-

sideration to be had of them : for if these men did go

under the compulsion of their masters, to whom they

were servants, and not voluntarily, and upon their own

accounts, it may difference their case from others, who

went and acted willingly in this matter, and upon their

own accounts. So that as to those that were servants

under the command of their masters, that were present

wrbh them, I must leave it to you, whether you will
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distinguish between them and the others, that were not

servants, but free agents. It is true, that a servant is

not bound to obey his master but in lawful things,

which they say they thought this was, and that they

knew not to the contrary, but that their masters acted

according to the King's commission; and therefore

their case must be left to your consideration, whether

you think them upon the whole matter guilty or no.

If you believe them guilty, you will find them so;

otherwise you wUl acquit them.

" For the other persons, some of them pretend they

came in on his majesty's proclamation, and for that

you must consider the evidence, and take it altogether,

and consider whether you are satisfied by what they

have said or proved, that they have brought themselves

within the benefit of the kiag's favour by that proclama-

tion. You have heard it read,~ and observed the quali-

fications and directions by it, and the terms upon which

the pardon was promised, which are not made out to

you, to be complied with by them; they may apply

another way for the king's mercy ; this court must pro-

ceed according to the rules of law and justice : but then

all of them hold on this ; we were, say they, under the

captain, and acted under him as their commander : and,

gentlemen, so far as they acted under his lawful com-

mands, and by virtue and in pursuance of his commis-

sions, it must be admitted they were justifiable, and

ought to be justified : but how far forth that hath been,

the actions of their captain and their own will best make

it appear. It is not contested, but that these men knew,

and were sensible of what was done and acted, and did
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take part in it, and had the benefit of what was taken

shared amongst them ; and if the taking of this ship

and goods was unlawful, then these men can claim no

advantage by these commissions, because they had no

authority by them to do what they did, and acted quite

contrary to them. What had they to do to enter into

such articles, and to act as they did ? You must con-

sider the evidence given here, according to the rules of

the law ; and if you are satisfied that they have know-

ingly and willfully been concerned or partaken with

Captain Kidd in taking this ship, and dividing the

goods, and that piratically and feloniously, then they

will be guilty within this indictment. It is worthy of

consideration what appears upon the evidence, that they

met with one reputed to be a notorious pirate, called

Culliford ; he was esteemed an arch-pirate, and known

to be so
;
yet this Captain Kidd that was commissioned

to take pirates, instead of taking him, grows to such an

intimacy with him, that he said he wotdd have his soul

lost before he would hurt him, or to that effect, and so

they made presents one to another ; and Captain Kidd

left three of his men with him. Whilst men pursue

their commissions they must be justified j but when

they do things not authorised, or never acted by them,

it is as if there had been no commission at all. I have

distinguished the evidence as well as my memory serves

me, and must leave it to you to determine upon the

whole matter, who are guilty, and who are not. And

such as you are satisfied to be guilty, you will find so,

and such as you are not satisfied to be guilty you will

acquit.^^
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The jury, after half an hour's consultation, brought

in all the prisoners guilty, except Lamley, Jenkins, and

Barlicorn, whom, as being servants, they acquitted.

A. second trial of the same ten persons for a further

act of piracy had the same result. Further indict-

ments were gone into, in which men of the name of

CullLford (Captain CuUiford, the pirate already men-

tioned), Hickman, and Eldridge were included. Culli-

ford and Hickman pleaded guilty, and Eldridge was

found guilty. The result of the whole proceedings was,

that a law point being raised in favour of CuUiford,

judgment against him was respited, and Dr. Oxenden

pronounced sentence of death upon Kidd, Churchill,

Howe, Loff, Parrot, Owens, MulUns, Hickman, and.

Eldridge.

Kidd was executed with one of his companions. Darby

Mullins, an Irishman, at Execution Dock, on the 23rd

of May, 1701. After Kidd had been tied up to the

gallows, the rope broke, and he fell to the ground ; but

being immediately tied up again, the Ordinary, who had

before exhorted him, desired to speak with him once

more ; and on this second application, entreated him to

make the most useful care of the few farther moments

thus providentially allotted him for the final prepara-

tion of his soul to meet its important change. These

exhortations seemed to have the wished-for effect ; and

he was left, professing his charity to all the world, and

his hopes of salvation through the merits of his Re-

deemer. Some others of the men sentenced were also

.executed.



SOLDIERS AND CIVILIANS IN THE
TIME OF WILLIAM III.

The years 1693, 1694, and 1695, formed the gloomiest

period of that troubled time which followed the Eevolu-

tion of 1688. Kiug William III., and Queen Mary, the

latter of whom was to die before the last days of 1694

closed in, had, no doubt, firm possession of the throne,

but, as regarded a great portion of their subjects, it was

but an armed possession. Military force everywhere

restrained the suppressed wrath of the Jacobites, and

even was of use to check the puritanical dissatisfaction

of those ultra Whigs who thought the Government had

not gone far enough in the cause of revolution. Soldiers,

garrisons, and forts full of troops so abounded through-

out the length and breadth of the land, that the new con-

stitutional monarchy had curiously all the aspect of a

military despotism. Everywhere, too. King William's

forces were then unpopular. The defeats of Cape St.

Vincent, Landen, Marsaglia, and Brest had lessened the

public faith—even the faith of those who supported the

revolution—in the effective strength of the British sol-

diers and sailors. Discontent prevailed much through-

out England, and plot upon plot was formed against the

very life of the monarch. But if this was the state of

3
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things in England, it was far worse in Scotland. There

the king^s troops were actually objects of extreme hate

and execration with the great mass of the populace.

The foul massacre of Glencoe, one of the worst of crimes

for a Government to commit, had enraged the people of

Scotland, and had brought undue weight against the

reforming and would-be-salutary rule of Kiug William.

His troops, wherever garrisoned in the Scottish territory,

were constantly insulted, and frequently violently as-

saulted. Conflicts of the most deadly kind occurred

between them, and the civilians, not only of the lower

class, but of better station and ofiicial position. The

frequent fatal results gave rise to many life-and-death

criminal trials ; and from these I take the two following,

which made a sensation at the time, and are recorded

by Arnot ; they are peculiarly characteristic of the ter-

rible discord that existed.

The first of these trials, which occurred in December,

1694, was that of John Gillespie, merchant in Glasgow;

John Anderson of Dovehill; and Robert Stevenson,

glazier in Glasgow, for the murder of Major James

Menzies. The unfortunate major, the subject of the

judicial investigation, was clearly a person of impor-

tance, for, by the prosecution, it appears that he was

related to the eminent family of Fletcher of Salton, in

Haddingtonshire. The prisoners, in effect, were pro-

ceeded against at the triple instance of William Fletcher

(afterwards himself of Salton), brother to the Laird of

Salton (the celebrated statesman and writer, Andrew

Fletcher) , nearest of kin to the deceased ; of Lieutenant-
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Colonel Hume, for the interest of his majesty's forces,

and of his majesty's Advocate. It was charged in the

indictment, that the prisoners having conceived mortal

hatred at the deceased, did, on the 19th of October pre-

ceding, enter a garden upon the lands of Rainfield,

where they understood the deceased was walking, and;

upon seeing him, they, or one or other of them, did dis-

charge guns and pistols at him, and also struck him a

blow on the head, which fractured his skull, of one or

other of which wounds he instantly expired—or, at least,

they were guilty of art and part of this murder.

The defence stated for the prisoners was, that, in

October last, in absence of the colonel and lieutenant-

colonel. Lord Lindesay's regiment, then quartered at

Glasgow, was commanded by the deceased. Major Men-

zies; that the major summarily apprehended several

inhabitants, burgesses of Glasgow, and kept them in

custody of the military on pretence of their being de-

serters, but who were really not such; that complaint

having been made to the magistrates by the persons

confined, they desired the major to bring those persons

before them, that the complaint might be tried conform

to the act of Privy Council, 16th December, 1692, but

the major absolutely refased to comply with their desire.

The magistrates issued a formal edict, requiring him to

produce the complainers ; but this also he treated with

the most pointed contempt. Proceeding then with ut-

most gentleness, they demanded a conference, to which

the major having consented, the provost, two of the

baillies, and Mr. Eobert Park, town clerk, met with

Major Menzies, and three captains of his regiment, in
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the town clerk's chamber. The conference began with

the provost desiring of the major that the prisoners

might be brought before them^ and Mr. Park, the town

clerk, in a very civil manner, joined in the request.

Upon this, an altercation between the major and town

clerk took place; the major gave him bad language,

and struck him with a cane, he, the town clerk, having

no weapon in his hand. On this they wrestled, and

being separated by the company, and while the town

clerk was held by Captain Jarvais, of Lord Lindesay's

regiment, the major drew his sword, and run the town

clerk through the body, of which he died instantly.

The major marched off sword in hand, repaired to the

guard-house, ordered his men to charge their muskets,

drew them up across the street, three file deep, and set

them to guard the passes in order to favour his escape,

mounted horse, and fled.

Upon this, Mr. Francis Montgomery, one of the lords

of Privy Council, ordered such of the inhabitants as

could be soonest got ready to pursue and apprehend the

murderer. In obedience to this order, the three prison-

ers went in pursuit of the major, came to a garden at

Rainfield, where they were informed he skulked. On
coming up to him they charged him with the murder of

the town clerk, and desired him to yield himself prisoner

;

but this he refused, and opposed them with a drawn

sword, upon which he was kUled. Various arguments

in point of law were also offered for the prisoners, and

much casuistry was likewise advanced for the prosecu-

tors. These debates occupy fifty pages folio of the

original criminal record.



SOLDIERS UNDER WILLIAM III. 53

The court sustained the iudictment against the pri-

soners, as relevant to infer the pain of death. But they

also sustained this defence as sufficient entirely to cast

the indictment, viz., that they pursued the major by

order of a privy councillor, or of the magistrates of

Glasgow, proceeding upon the notoriety of the murder,

unless the prosecutors should prove that the major

offered to surrender before attacked by the prisoners.

This again they sustained relevant to set aside the de-

fence, in respect to such of the prisoners only as did

actually kill or give command to kill the major, but by

no means to infer art and part against any of the other

prisoners, they beiiig versantes in licito.

The proofs were as follow :

—

Robert Pollock, younger, of Milnbourne, deposed

:

He was at Rainfield on the I9th of October last, where

he saw the three prisoners, but none of them had arms

except Dovehill, who had a carabine, but it was not he

who killed the major, for the former was standing with

the witness at the garden door when they heard the

shot. Upon going up to the place, they saw the major

lying on his back, dead, his face bleeding, and a drawn

sword in his hand across his breast. Afterwards, when

they came to Renfrew, he heard the prisoner (Gillespie)

acknowledge he shot the major; but the witness did

not see him have any fire-arms in his hand, nor did he

see Gillespie either receive from or return any fire-arms

to DovehiU. When Gillespie first acknowledged that

he shot the major, he did not speak of the latter's having

made any resistance ; but after he was taken into

custody, he declared that, if he had not done the thing
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he didj the major would hare run him through the

hody.

Peter Paterson, late baillie of Renfrew, went with the

three prisoners into the garden of Rainfield the night

Major Menzies was killed; it is uncertain whether all

of the prisoners had arms, only that DovehitL had one

or two pistols. He did not see Dovehill give a pistol to

Gillespie ; but, after the major was killed, saw Gillespie

deliver a pistol to Dovehill, saying, " There is your pis-

tol." Dovehill and young Milnbourne, a former wit-

ness, stood at the garden-door, while the deponent going

forward with the other two prisoners (Gillespie and Ste-

venson) came up with the major, and one of them said

to the deponent, " BaiUie, here is a man." The man

called out, "What is the matter, sir?" to which the

witness answered, " There was a man slain in Glasgow

;

that the slayer was supposed to be skulking hereabout

;

and if you be the man, God Almighty forgive you."

The person replied, "It is none of your business." One

of the prisoners then called out, " Dovehill, here is the

man." The major cried with an oath, "What have the

rascals to do with me ?" immediately drew his sword,

and advanced upon them in great rage. The deponent

and the prisoners retreated. He then heard a shot, but

knows not whether it came from GiUespie or Stevenson.

When he returned, he saw the major lying on his back,

dead, and his sword in his hand lying across his breast.

Captain Jarvais, of Lord Lindesay's regiment, a wit-

ness adduced for the prisoners, was present at the con-

ference between the Provost of Glasgow and Major

Menzies. He heard the major call the town clerk "a
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fool," and the clerk answered him, " he was but an ass."

Upon this the major struck the clerk over the head with

his cane, and the clerk returned a very severe blow with his

fist. The company separated them, and the major drew

his sword, made a thrust at the clerk, who immediately

cried out he was wounded, and clapped his hand on the

wound; and as he was going to another room, the de-

ponent saw the clerk fall and lie on the floor. The wit-

ness went to the guard-house, and found the major was

fled. The clerk had no arms.

Simon Tennent, one of the baillies of Glasgow, heard

the major call the town clerk " a fool," and the town

clerk called the major " an ass ;" saw the major strike

the former with his cane. The parties then grappled,

and were separated, when the deponent saw the glance

of a sword pointed towards the clerk, who immediately

cried out, " A surgeon ! " and died in about seven mi-

nutes. He was told by all the company it was the

major who killed the clerk ; and the latter, at the time

of his death, had no arms, not even a staff, in his hand.

'

James Gemmill, jun., merchant in Glasgow, on the

day Mr. Park was killed, saw the major come out of

his, the town clerk's chamber, in haste, wanting his

wig, and his sword drawn ; saw him wipe his sword with

the flap of his coat and return it into its scabbard.

Before the major could arrive at the guard-house, whither

he was going, the deponent heard that the clerk was

wounded, and then was told he was dead.

Captain Lindesay, of Lord Lindesay's regiment, was

present at the scuffle between Major Menzies and the

town clerk; saw the major's arm in the attitude of
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pushing with a sword ; and immediately after the lounge

the clerk cried he was wounded. The former left the

room without his wig ; the deponent took up the wig

and followed, accompanying the major to the GorbaUs,

where he took horse and fled.

WiUiam Napier, provost of Glasgow, was in the town

clerk's chamber the day he was kiUed. Upon the

notoriety of the murder and flight, he gave orders to the

three prisoners to pursue and apprehend the major.

Mr. Francis Montgomery, one of the Lords of Privy

Council, deposed that, on the day of the murder, he was

applied to by the provost and magistrates of Glasgow,

to concur with them in securing the peace of the city,

which was in an uproar. The deponent went to the

town clerk's chamber, whose dead body he found lying

on the floor, and everybody crying that Major Menzies

was the murderer. The deponent concurred with the

magistrates, in ordering DovehiU, then in the room, to

take some of the honest townsfolk along with him, and

to pursue and apprehend the murderer; upon which the

people dispersed peaceably.

The jury unanimously found the indictment not

proved; found the prisoners' defence in terms of the

interlocutor not proved ; and found it not proved that

the major offered to surrender himself ; upon which the

prisoners were dismissed from the bar.

This prosecution, ending very properly as it did,

shows to what extent hot blood existed between soldier

and civilian, when a gentleman of the major's rank and

position could, in so trifling a quarrel, on the instant,

kill an unarmed official, on duty in his chamber. The
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major and his regiment must have, no doubt, been

goaded to madness by the continual worry and insult of

the populace, of which system of annoyance a notable

specimen appears in this further trial, relating also to

the same Lord Lindesay's regiment.

The trial, that of a writer in Edinburgh, one George

Gumming, for the murder of Patrick Falconer, soldier in

Lord Lindesay's regiment, occurred in Edinburgh in

October, 1695.

The indictment set forth, that the prisoner, being in

the streets of Portsburgh, a suburb of Edinburgh, on

the 5th of the preceding month of September, between

nine and ten at night, the deceased, Patrick Falconer,

and two other soldiers of Lord Lindesay^s regiment,

walked peaceably by him, in the way to their quarters,

when the prisoner gave the soldiers opprobrious lan-

guage, and, without any just provocation, drew his

sword, with which he maliciously run the deceased

through the body, of which he died within twenty-four

hours.

The proofs were as follow :

—

James Porteous, apothecary in Edinburgh, deposed

that, in the beginning of September last, he was one

evening in the streets of Portsburgh, between nine and

ten o'clock, in company with three other persons, of

whom the prisoner was one. The prisoner went to a

house to call for his cloak, and the deceased, with two

other soldiers, came up with the deponent and his com-

panions, who asked of them what o'clock it was. He

cannot be positive what answer they made; but the pri-

soner, who was a little way behind them, called the

3*
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soldiers foul names. The soldiers asked what he said,

and he repeated the words, calling at the same time to

his companions to beat the soldiers. The soldiers then

drew their bayonets, passed by the deponent and his

companions, and went up to the prisoner, who advanced

to them, and, when he was within sword's length of

them, drew it, and within a quarter of an hour the de-

ponent heard one cry " Murder I" That same evening

he called at the prisoner's lodging, whom he found in

deep concern, declaring that he had given the soldier a

stab and he was afraid that it would prove mortal. At

the same time he drew his sword, and spit upon it,

endeavouring to wipe the blood off it. The prisoner

came next morning to the deponent's chamber, told him

he had been at Lauriston (the estate and castle of the

famous John Law, near Edinburgh), and there was very

bad news : the soldier was dead.

John Hall, writer in Edinburgh, was returning from

the country one evening in the beginning of September,

with the prisoner and other two comrades. When they

came nigh the West Port, the prisoner went to a house

for his cloak. In the meantime three soldiers came up

with the defendant and his companions. He cannot be

sure what answer the soldiers made when asked what

o'clock it was ; but the prisoner called out to them,

" You rascals, what answer is that to give to gentle-

men ?" On this the soldiers drew their bayonets, passed

the witness, and went up to the prisoner. In a little he

heard the clashing, and saw the glancing of swords, upon
which he went up to the combatants, and relieved the

prisoner of one of the soldiers with whom he was engaged,



SOLDIERS UNDER WILLIAM III. 59

and very soon after he heard one cry " Murder \" He
then went off, and on his way he called at the house of

one Widow Lindsay, who told him that the prisoner had

been there with his sword drawn, and had left word that

he had gone home, whither the witness followed him.

He found him sitting pensive and exceeding sorrowful,

expressing his fears that the soldier had got a mortal

wound. One deponent saw blood on his sword, went

with him next day to Lauriston, and, when they heard

that the soldier was dead, the prisoner clapped his hand

on his thigh and was greatly agitated.

Two surgeons swore that they found the deceased run

through the body with a small sword ; that the wound

was mortal, and he died of it the next day.

The jury found the pannel guilty of manslaughter.

The Court sentenced him to be hanged, and his personal

estate to be forfeited.

This was certainly a harsh sentence, for the prisoner

was clearly not guilty of that killing which amounted

to and merited the penalty of murder; and so Mr.

Arnot thinks ; for in his work he observes on this trial,

that " to condemn an innocent man to death by the sen-

tence and forms of law has been looked upon as one of

the greatest of moral evils."

It is satisfactory to find that in a few years after this

gloomy period a better feeling arose between civilians

and the military in England and Scotland. The splendid

victories of Marlborough brought back the old prestige

that attached to British troops, and made the people

again look on them, in the light they have ever since

done, as the gallant and glorious supporters of the might

and fame of the British empire.



THE TRIAL OF ADMIRAL BYNG.

The Hon. John Byn&, an Admiral R.N., was the scion

of a family already of high public reputation^ when it

was rendered illustrious in our naval annals by this

admiral's father, whose services to his country should

have at least saved his son from the extreme measure

of severity which was so cruelly and so unfairly dealt

out to him.

This family, the Byngs of Kent, whose brilliant

achievements on sea and land obtained for them a

viscountcy and an earldom, both still existing—those

of Torrington and Strafford—is of ancient origin, and

was of note as far back as the reign of Henry VII.

One member of the House, Dr. Robert Byng, was

vice-chancellor of the University of Cambridge in the

time of Queen Elizabeth j and another, Thomas Byng,

serjeant-at-law, was counsel to the same university.

George Byng, Esq., of Wrotham, Kent, was M.P. for

Rochester, and subsequently for Dover, in the reigns

of Queen Elizabeth and James I. He was great-gi-and-

father of Sir George Byng, the illustrious admiral, the

father of John Byng, the unfortunate subject of this

trial. Admiral Sir George Byng, the hero of the

Battle of Cape Passara, and of many other hard-fought
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and successful engagements, well deserves a niche in

our naval temple of fame. He was a man of high

spirit and honour, and of great sagacity and daring.

No British ofiftcer of his time rendered more service to

the cause of the Revolution or better sustained the

House of Brunswick ; and when his victory of Passara

had annihilated the navy of Spain and forced that

country to a peace. King George I. was loud in his

gratitude to Byng, and, on creating him Viscount Tor-

rington in 1721, prefaced the patent with the following

preamble :

—

" As the grandeur and stability of the British empire

depend chiefly upon knowledge and experience in ma-

ritime affairs, we esteem those worthy of the highest

honours who, acting under our influence, exert them-

selves in maintaining our dominion over the sea. It is

for this reason that we have determined to advance to

the degree of peerage our trusty and well-beloved coun-

cillor. Sir George Byng, Knt. and Bart., who, being

descended from an ancient family in Kent, and edu-

cated from his youth in the sea seridce, hath through

several posts arrived to the highest station and com-

mand in our navy by the strength of his own abilities,

and a merit distinguished by our predecessors and our-

selves, in the many important services which he has

performed with remarkable fidelity, courage, and suc-

cess. In the late vigorous wars which raged so many

years in Europe—wars fruitful of naval combats and

expeditions— there was scarce any action of conse-

quence wherein he did not bear a principal part, nor

were any dangers or difficulties so great but he sur-
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mounted them by his exquisite conduct and a good

fortune that never failed him. . . . Lately, when new

contentions were springing up in Italy, and the discord

of princes was on the point of embroiling Europe again

in war, he did, with singular felicity and conduct, in-

terpose with our squadron, crushing at one blow the

laboured efforts of Spain to set up a power at sea, and

advanced the reputation of our arms in the Mediter-

ranean to such a pitch, that our flag gave law to the

contending parties, and enabled us to resettle the tran-

quillity that had been disturbed. It is just, therefore,

that we should distinguish with higher titles a subject

who has so eminently served us and his country, both

as monimients of his own merit and to influence others

into a love and pursuit of virtue. Know ye, there-

fore," &c.

The next sovereign, George II., no less acknowledged

Lord Torrington^s merit, having made him first lord

of the Admiralty, and having expressed to him on many
occasions how indebted he and his royal predecessor

were to him. After this, the way in which George II.

abandoned this great man's son to the clamour of his

enemies, seems as startling an act of ingratitude as the

desertion of the earl of Straftbrd by Charles I.

Sir George Byng, Lord Torrington, died in 1733,

leaving by his wife Margaret, daughter of James

Master, Esq., of East Langdon, Kent (which lady had

the good fortune to die the year before the trial of her

unhappy son) , a family of five sons and one daughter,

of whom the two eldest sons were successively Viscounts

Torrington. Robert, the third son. was ancestor of the
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eminent line raised to the peerage as earls of Strafford

;

and John, the fourth son, was the Admiral Byng of this

trial ; and to his career I now come.

The Hon. John Byng, fourth son of Lord Torrington,

was born in 1704, and when thirteen years of age,

entered the royal navy under his father's auspices.

From this time forward he seems to have been in con-

stant active employment, and to have behaved creditably

on all occasions. He was made an admiral in 1745, and

he that year did good service to the Crown while com-

manding a squadron off the coast of Scotland, by effec-

tually hindering any supplies of consequence being

landed for the use of Prince Charles Edward and his

followers. In 1755, Byng was sent in command of a

fleet consisting of twenty-two ships of the line, two fri-

gates, and two sloops, ra a cruise to the westward, in

hopes of intercepting the French squadron under the

famous Duguay, and also the squadron of La Mothe, in

its return from America. Byng, however, returned to

Spithead, without having been able to effect anythiug,

though it was allowed by all that the admiral had acted

judiciously in the choice of his stations. No blame was

then fixed on Byng, but this non-success was harshly

remembered by the public when greater adversity fell

upon him ; and that happened soon after.

France and England had been acting hostilely to each

other for some time prior to the 18th April, 1756, when

the French invaded the then British possession of Mi-

norca, and war was formally declared between the two

nations. Thus began that great contest which was to

end so gloriously for this country with the conquest of
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Canada ; but like most great contests in which England

has been engaged, not forgetting the Peninsular and

Crimean wars, the Government in the beginning was

but little prepared for the majesty of the enterprise.

The Newcastle, a feeble administration, ruled England,

and Pitt, the future Lord Chatham, was in open oppo-

sition, awaiting with eagle eye the moment when he

was to swoop and seize the reins of government. The

following account of the weak conduct of the Ministry,

as given by SmoUett, graphically describes the state of

affairs :

—

" Under the cloak of an invading armament, which

engrossed the attention of the British nation, the French

were actually employed in preparations for an expedition,

which succeeded according to their wish. In the begin-

ning of the year, advice was received that a French

squadron would soon be in a condition to saU for

Toulon : this was afterwards confirmed by repeated in-

telligence, not only from foreign gazettes, but also from

English ministers and consuls residing in Spain and

Italy. They aflBrmed that the Toulon squadron con-

sisted of fifteen or twenty ships-of-the-line, with a great

number of transports ; that they were supplied with pro-

visions for two months only, consequently could not be

iatended for America ; and that strong bodies of troops

were on their march from different parts of the French

dominions to Dauphine and Provence, in order to be

embarked. Notwithstanding these particulars of infor-

mation, which plainly pointed out Minorca as the object

of their expedition, notwithstanding the extensive and

important commerce carried on by the subjects of Great
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Britain in the Mediterranean, no care was taken to send

thither a squadron of ships capable to protect the trade,

and frustrate the designs of the enemy. That great

province was left to a few inconsiderable ships and fri-

gates, which could serve no other purpose than that of

carrying intelligence from port to port, and enriching

their commanders by making prize of merchant vessels.

Nay, the Ministry seemed to pay little or no regard to

the remonstrances of General Blakeney, Deputy-Gover-

nor of Miaorca, who, by repeated advices, represented

the weakness of the garrison he commanded in St.

Philip's Castle, the chief fortress on the island. Far

from strengthening the garrison with a proper reinforce-

ment, they did not even send thither the officers be-

longing to it, who were in England upon leave of absence,

nor give directions for any vessel to transport them,

imtil the French armament was ready to make a descent

upon that island.

" At length, the destination of the enemy's fleet being

universally known, the Ministry seemed to rouse from

their lethargy, and, like persons suddenly waking, acted

with hurry and precipitation. Instead of detaching a

squadron that in all respects should be superior to the

French fleet in the Mediterranean, and bestowing the

command of it upon an officer of approved courage and

activity, they allotted no more than ten ships-of-the-line

for this service, vesting the command of them in Admiral

Byng, who had never met with any occasion to signalise

his courage, and whose character was not very popular

in the Navy j but Mr. West^ the second in command,

was a gentleman universally respected for his probity.
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ability, apd resolution. The ten ships destined for this

expedition were but in indifferent order, poorly manned,

and unprovided with either hospital or fire-ship. They

sailed from Spithead on the 17th day of April, 1756,

having on board, as part of their complement, a regi-

ment of soldiers to be landed at Gibraltar, with Major-

General Stuart, Lord Effingham, and Colonel Cornwallis,

whose regiments were in garrison at Minorca, about forty

inferior officers, and near one hundred recruits, as a re-

inforcement to St. Philip^s fortress.'"

Byng, after arriving at Gibraltar, wrote to the Lords

of the Admiralty, loudly and justly complaining of the

state of the magazine, supplies, and other preparations

there. He besides signified his opinion that even if it

should be found practicable, it would be very impolitic

to throw any men into St. Philip^s Castle at Minorca, as

it would only add to the number that must fall into the

hands of the enemy. These unpleasant reflections are

supposed to have irritated the Lords of the Admiralty,

and to have led them to shift the blame from themselves

upon the officer who had thus dared to complain of their

conduct.

The result of an expedition so wretchedly arranged

might almost be anticipated. The failure was sad in-

deed. Byng sailed from Gibraltar, and discovered the

French fleet off Minorca, then sorely pressed by the in-

vading French forces, under the Duke of Richelieu.

The admiral did not attempt to land any troops there.

He, on the 30th May, 1756, made a signal to bear away

two points from the wind and attack the enemy. The

second in command, Rear-Admiral West, found it im-
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possible to obey this command, but bearing away with

his division seven points to the wind, he fell on the

French ships opposed to him with such impetuosity,

that had he beep, it was urged, promptly sustained by

the rear under Byng, a complete victory, in all proba-

bility, would have been the consequence. This, however,

was not done. Byng, from his anxiety to preserve his

line entire, kept so far back, that he took little part in

the engagement. The French admiral, M. le Comte de

la Galissonniere, captured no English ships, but seemed

well content to avoid a closer fight, and went off at his

leisure. On the following daj' the two fleets were no

longer in sight of each other, and Byng having called a

council of "war, it was resolved, that as the enemy was

much superior in the weight of his metal and the number

of his men, it was not practicable to relieve the fortress

of St. Philip's, and it was decided to return to Gibraltar.

Meanwhile the inhabitants of Minorca had experienced

great joy when Byng and his fleet appeared in sight;

the double defeat of Galissonniere and his fleet at sea,

and Richelieu and his troops on land, was fondly antici-

pated, when lo ! the French fleet was seen to return to

its old station ofi' Port Mahon, and the news came that

Byng had been foded by the French admiral. In con-

sequence of this failure on the. part of Admiral Byng,

General Sir William Blakeney, K.B., the British com-

mander at Minorca, after a protracted and heroic resist-

ance, which inflicted on the besiegers a loss of 5,000

men, capitulated to the Duke of Richelieu on honourable

terms.

The news of this triumph for France was received at the
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Court of Versailles with transports of jojj and was cele-

brated throughout the French dominions with vast and

continued public rejoicings. One can easily conceive

howj on the other hand, England was shocked and

humiliated by the intelligence of events so disparaging

to her pride and power. The wliole nation was seized

with grief and anger, and the people were furious against

the Ministry in the first instance; but the Cabinet

averted from themselves the general wrath by meanly

and cruelly sacrificing Admiral Byng to the popular

clamour.

Admiral Sir Edward Hawke and Admiral Saunders

were dispatched to Gibraltar to supersede Admirals

Byng and West, and to place them under arrest, and

send them home to England. Byng, on his arrival at

Portsmouth, was immediately placed in strict confine-

ment, and every indignity was shown him. It is be-

lieved that Byng's despatches were received on the 16th

of June, the day on which the two admirals sailed from

Portsmouth to supersede him ; but they were not pub-

lished till the 26th June, and then not as written by

Byng, but with omissions and interpolations. On Byng's

arrival at Portsmouth, his youngest brother, the Hon.

Colonel Edward Byng, hastened down to meet him, but

was so shocked with the outcries he everywhere met

with from the mob, that, being of a very delicate consti-

tution, he fell ill in the presence of his incarcerated

relative, and died the following day in convulsions.

Prom Portsmouth Admiral Byng was brought to Green-

wich, and there subjected to very harsh imprisonment

in a garret of the Hospital. The Ministry seemed de-
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termined to degrade the man before they slew him. In

the month of December^ 1756, their victim was removed

back to Portsmouth to await his trial. That occurred

on the 28th of December, 1756. The court-martial

appointed for the investigation assembled on that day,

and was held every day afterwards, Sundays excepted,

till the 27th of January, 1757, inclusive, and was com-

posed of the following members :

—

President;

Vice-Admiral Thomas Smith, known in the Navy by

the name of " Tom of Ten Thousand."

Rear-Admirals

:

Francis Holbourne, afterwards an admiral, a lord of the

Admiralty, and Governor of Greenwich Hospital.

Thomas Broderick, afterwards an admiral.

Harry Norris, afterwards an admiral.

Captains :

Charles Holmes, afterwards an admiral.

William Boys.

John Simcoe.

John Bentley, afterwards an admiral and a knight.

Peter Denis, afterwards an admiral.

Francis Geary, afterwards an admiral and a baronet.

John Moore, afterwards an admiral, K.B., and a baronet.

James Douglas, afterwards an admiral and a knight.

Hon. Augustus Keppel, afterwards a very eminent ad-

miral, created Viscount Keppel.

The charges against Admiral Byng were seventeen
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in numberj and the court agreed upon thirty-severi-

resolutions, of which the five last imputed blame to

Byng, the principal being that, during the engagement,

he did not do his utmost to take, seize, and destroy the

ships of the French king, and assist such of his ships as

were engaged.

The statute law under which Byng was charged was

the 12th article of the 32 George II., cap. 33, which

enacted that

" Every person in the fleet, who, through cowardice,

negligence, or disaifection, shall in time of action with-

draw, keep back, or not come into the fight or engage-

ment, or shall not do his utmost to take or destroy every

ship which it shall be his duty to engage and to assist

and relieve all and every of His Majesty's ships or

those of his allies, which it shall be his duty to assist or

relieve, every such person so oflending, and being con-

victed thereof by the sentence of a court-martial, shall

suffer death."*

The actual points only upon which his conviction de-

pended were these:—1st, Whether he made any un-

necessary delays with the fleet under his command, from

the time of sailing from St. Helen's, April 6, to the time

of his arrival at Minorca, May 19, 1756 ; 2ndly, Whe-
ther he did all that was in his power to do, agreeable to

his instructions, to relieve St. Philip's fort upon his

arrival there ; and, 3rdly, Whether he did his utmost to

distress the enemy on the day of battle. As a prepara-

* The 19 &eorge III., u. 17, sec. 3, amended very properly the above

article by adding to the end of it " or such other punishment as the

offence may deserve.'"
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tive to the evidence relating to these particulars, it is

necessary to give this important portion of his instruc-

tions :

—

"If, upon your arrival at Gibraltar, you shall not gain

intelligence of a French squadron having passed the

Straits, you are tb go on without a moment's loss of

time to Minorca; or if, in consequence of such intelli-

gence, you shall detach Rear-Admiral West, as before

directed, you are to use equal expedition in repairing

thither with the ships which shall remain with you; and

if you find any attack made upon that island by the

French, you are to use all possible means in your power

for its relief. If you find no such attack made, you are

to proceed off Toulon, and station your squadron in the

best manner you shall be able, for preventing any French

ships getting out of that port, or for intercepting and

seizing any that may get out ; and you are to exert the

utmost vigUance therein, and in protecting Minorca and

Gibraltar from any hostile attempt."

The whole of the instructions, together with a letter

from the Admiralty, relative to the taking on board

Lord Robert Bertie's regiment of Royal Fusiliers, some

letters from Admiral Byng to the Admiralty, dated at

Gibraltar, respecting the state of the place and the intel-

ligence he had there received, and also the minutes of a

council of war held there on what was proper to be done

in consequence of the orders delivered by him to the

governor, with the opinion of the chief engineers at

Gibraltar in regard to the throwing of succours into St.

Philip's Castle, were all read in court before the exami-

nation of witnesses began. It then became a question.



72 CELEBRATED TRIALS.

from what time the enquiry into the conduct of the pri-

soner should commence, and it was agreed by a majority

of eleven to two, that it should commence from the time

the squadron sailed from St. Helen's. A short paper of

the prisoner's was then read to the following effect :

—

" That he had earnestly wished the strrival of the time

for inquiring into his conduct, and doubted not of evin-

cing the falsehood of all the artful and malicious asper-

sions that had been cast upon him by his enemies ; that

he had a very sensible pleasure in considering the abilities

and integrity of his judges ; and that, relying with an en-

tire confidence on their candour and impartial justice, he

would not delay the proceedings of the court a moment."

The evidence was voluminous The following is the

most important part, as it bore against and for the

Admiral :

—

Rear-Admiral West was sworn and examined :

Court : What distance do you imagine the Ramillies

(Admiral Byng's ship) might be from the Buckingham

(Admiral West's ship) at the time of the engagement

with the French fleet ?

—

Admiral West : I believe about

three miles.

Court : Do you think the admiral and the rear could

have come up to the assistance of the van, and come to

as close an engagement with the enemy?

—

Admiral

West : I knew of no impediment to the contrary; but I

cannot presume to say there was no impediment ; nor I

would not be understood to mean there was none.

Court: How was the wind and weather?

—

Admiral

West : The wind was very csdm, and the weather ex-

ceeding fine.
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Court : Could you keep your lower ports open ?

—

Ad-

miral West : Yes, I could ; and I knew of but one ship

that could not, and that was the Deptford, who lowered

her ports occasionally.

Court : Did you see any fire from Admiral Byng's

ship during the engagement ?

—

Admiral West : When I

was looking towards the Intrepid, which was in distress

astern, off her I saw some smoke, which might very

probably be from the admiral's ship, or some of his divi-

sion ; but I was not able to discover at what ship it was

directed.

Admiral Byng . Was it not in the power of the enemy

to decline coming to a close engagement, as the two

fleets were situated ?

—

Admiral West: Yes, it was ; but,

as they lay to our fleet, I apprehended they intended to

fight.

Admiral Byng : Are you of opinion that the forces

on board the fleet could have relieved Minorca?

—

Ad-

miral West : I believe they could not.

Admiral Byng : Were not some of the ships deficient

in their complement of men ?

—

Admiral West : Yes.

Admiral Byng : Were not some of the ships out of

repair ?

—

Admiral West : Yes.

Admiral Byng : Was not the fleet deficient, in point

of force, with the enemy ?

—

Admiral West : Yes.

General Lord Blakeney examined. He was eighty-

seven years of age, and had been created an Irish peer

for his defence of St. Philip's Castle.

Adrmral Byng to the Witness ; Do you think the

forces I had with me could have been landed at Mi-

norca ?

—

Lord Blakeney : Yes; I think they might very

easily be landed. 4
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Admiral Byng : Was not some fascines throTm in the

way ?

—

Lord Blakeney : Yes ; but they were sucli as I

think might easily have been destroyed.

Court : If the admiral had attempted to land the men,

would it not have been attended with danger ?

—

Lord

Blakeney: Danger ! most certainly. It could not be so

easy as stepping into this ship. I have been upwards of

fifty years in the service, and I never knew of any expe-

dition of consequence carried into execution but what

was attended with some danger j but of aU the expedi-

tions I ever knew this was certainly the worst.

Admiral Byng : Had not the French a castle at the

point, which might have prevented the landing of the

troops?

—

Lord Blakeney: Not on the 20th of May;

and the enemy were then in such distress for ammuni-

tion that they fired stones at the garrison.

Admiral Byng .- Do you think that the ofiicers and

few men I had on board the fleet could have been of

any great service to the garrison ?

—

Lord Blakeney

:

Yes, certainly, of great service ; for I was obliged, at

the time, to set a great number of my men to plaster the

breaches.

Captain Everett examined

:

Court : What time did you see or discern the island

of Minorca?

—

Captain Everett: We got sight of Mi-

norca about six o'clock on the morning of the 19th of

May.

Court : What was your nearest distance from St.

PhUip's Castle?

—

Captain Everett: About eleven or

twelve o'clock in the forenoon of the 19th of May, we

were about two leagues distant from St. Philip's Castle,

and I believe that was the nearest distance I was to it.
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Court : What time was the French fleet first dis-

covered?

—

Captain Everett : About two or three in the

afternoon of the same day (the 19th of May), the French

fleet were seen distinctly standing to the westward, but

I cannot pretend to say at what distance.

Court : How did the British fleet stand at that time?

—Captain Everett: To the S.E., the wind at S.S.W.;

moderate fine weather.

Court : "What time did you see the French fleet pre-

paring for engagement ?

—

Captain Everett : On the 30th

of May, between eight and nine o'clock in the morning.

Court : At what distance was the Ramillies from the

Buckingham at the time of the engagement?

—

Captain

Everett : I believe about three or four miles.

Court : Could the Admiral and the rear come up to

the assistance of the van, and come .to as close an

engagement with the enemy ?

—

Captain Everett : I am
of opinion that the Admiral's division might have carried

all their sail, and thereby assisted the van, and prevented

them from receiving so much fire from the rear of the

enemy.

Saturday, the 1st of January, the Court being sitting.

Lord Blakeney appeared, in consequence of Admiral

Byng's request, about nine o'clock in the morning,

when the Admiral proposed the following question :

—

Admiral Byng to Lord Blakeney : If I had landed the

troops, do you think it could have saved St. Philip's

from falling into the hands of the enemy?

Lord Blakeney : It is impossible for me to pretend to

answer that question with any certainty; but really I

am of opinion that, if they had been landed, it would
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have enabled me to hold out the siege till Sir Edward

Hawke had come to my relief.

Then the four first-lieutenants of the Bucldngham,

Admiral West's own ship, were examined, and they all

agreed that they did not know, of any impediment to

prevent Admiral Byng and his division from coming to

the assistance of the van, which was closely engaged

and raked by the enemy's rear as they came up, and

that they did not see the admiral go to a close engage-

ment with the enemy, agreeable to his own signals.

Captain Everett was cross-examined :

Court : If Admiral Byng had come to a close engage-

ment, do you think a complete victory might have been

obtained ?— Captain Everett : Why, really I think there

was all the reason in the world to expect it, it being

very well know» that Admiral West beat off two of the

enemy's ships, though he had but five ships to their six,

and their metal much heavier.

Court: How was the wind?

—

Captain Everett: An
exceeding fair gale.

Court: Had you too much or too little?

—

Captain

Everett : Neither. Just enough, and no more.

Captain Young examined :

—

Court: Could the admiral and his division, as the

wind was then, if they had set all their sails from the

time the signal for engaging was made, and bore away

properly, could they have come to a close engagement

with the enemy ?

—

Captain Young: Yes, they certainly

could ; the French were laying-to for us. I went down
only under my topsails, and I don't know why they

could not have added sail in proportion to the distance

and going of their ships.
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Captain Cornwall examined

:

" I went/' said he, " to my window abaft, to take a

view of the fleet when in line of battle, and was ex-

tremely surprised to see the admiral and his division at

so great a distance on the weather quarter; and seeing

the Intrepid in great distress, and no signal given for

removing her out of the line, I went to her assistance;

and, after getting her out of the line, fell into her station,

and engaged the Foudoyrant, the French admiral, being

the ship which I imagined fell to my lot in the then line

of battle."

He also said he knew of no impediment to prevent

the admirals engaging at a proper distance, any more

than the rest of the fleet.

General Lord Robert Bertie (son of Robert, first Duke

of Ancaster, and a scion of the great family of Bertie,

now Earls of Lindsey and of Abingdon) was sworn and

examined, and proved an important witness for the

prisoner :

—

Court : Where was you stationed ?

—

Lord R. Bertie :

Upon the quarterdeck with the admiral.

Court : If the officers and recruits that were intended

for Minorca had been landed, do you think they would

have saved Fort Sf. Philip's?

—

Lord R. Bertie: No; I

think they were of greater service on board the fleet.

Court : Was you on board the quarterdeck with the

admiral in the engagement ?

—

Lord R. Bertie : Yes

;

but upon informing the admiral that I discovered one

of our own ships through the smoke upon the lee bow

of the Ramillies, and which ship I was apprehensive

the Ramillies would fire into without seeing her, I
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was detached by the admiral between decks to stop the

firing.

Court: Did you discover any signs of fear or con-

fusion in the admiral ?

—

Lord R. Bertie : 'No, far from

it ; he expressed an impatience to engage the enemy.

Court : How near were you to the enemy at the time

of the engagement ?

—

Lord R. Bertie : We were so near

the enemy as to be hulled by them, and many of the

enemy's shots passed over us.

Court : Did you ever hear any murmuringSj or com-

plainings, by any of the officers or men on board, upon

a supposition that the admiral had not done his duty ?

—

Lord R. Bertie : No ; I never heard anything like it.

Lord Robert Bertie's examination being finished.

Colonel Smith, who was also upon the quarterdeck with

the admiral, was examined next, who confirmed what

Lord Robert Bertie had said in every particular ; and

he also added that a shot from the enemy passed be-

tween him and Lord Robert Bertie as they were abaft

the mainmast, which took off the head of a timber upon

the deck, and went through the hammocks in the main

shrouds. Captain Gardiner, of the Kamillies, testified

that Byng showed quite the reverse of fear, and there

,was naught to allege against his personal behaviour.

The admiral addressed the court in his defence, com-

mencing thus:

—

"Gentlemen,—The articles of the charge exhibited

against me are of such a nature, that everything that

can be supposed interesting to a man is concerned in

the event of this cause. My character, my property,

and even my life, are at stake; and I should, indeed.
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have great reason to be alarmed, were not I conscious

of my innocence, and fully persuaded of the justice and

equity of this court."

After urging the circumstances already, brought out

in his favour, he concluded as follows :

—

" So far, then, I hope it will appear to the court, that

neither knowledge of ray profession, prudence in con-

ducting the expedition, nor duty to my king and

country, appear to be deficient in me.

"When, then, from the inferiority of the English,

nothing could be reasonably expected but misfortune

and disgrace; or if, by the greatest efforts of good

fortune, victory should declare for our fleet, that no ad-

vantage could be drawn from it ; when the risk of losing

the whole fleet was the result of an unanimous council

of war ; and the nation, considering the real state of the

English and French navies, so little able to sustain a

loss of that kind ; when Gibraltar would have been left

defenceless, and fallen of course \o the enemy, could the

seeking the French admiral, by a commander who fore-

saw these probable consequences with not only an in-

ferior, but a shattered fleet, and no other ships in the

Mediterranean to reinforce him, have been justified in

the judgment of men who have studied the nature of

military achievements, or according to the rules and ob-

servations of ancient and modern writers on this head ?

"The utmost advantage could have been but a pro-

longation of the siege, without the least probability of

raising it; because the fleet, unable to keep the seas,

must have retreated to Gibraltar, the port of Mahon
being still commanded by the enemy's batteries."



80 CELEBRATED TRIALS.

After consultation, the court came to the unanimous

opinion

—

" That Admiral John Byng did not do his utmost to

relieve St. Philip's Castle; and also that, during the

engagement between His Majesty's fleet under his com-

mand, and the fleet of the French king, on the 20th of

May last, he did not do his utmost to take, seize, and

destroy the ships of the French king, which it was his

duty to have engaged, and to assist such of His Majesty's

ships as were engaged in fight with the French ships,

which it was his duty to have assisted ; and do therefore

unanimously agree that he falls under part of the 12th

article of an Act of Parliament, of the 22nd year of his

present Majesty, for amending, explaining, and reducing

into one Act of Parliament the laws relating to the

.government of His Majesty's ships, vessels, and forces

by sea; and as that article prescribes death, without

any alternative left to the .discretion of the court under

any variation of circumstance, the court do thereby

unanimously adjudge the said Admiral John Byng to

be shot to death, at such time and on board such ship as

the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty shall direct.

"But as it appears, by the evidence of Lord Robert

Bertie, Lieutenant-Colonel Smith, Captain Gardiner,

and other ofiicers of the ship who were near the person

of the admiral, that they did not perceive any back-

wardness in him during the action, or any marks of fear

or confusion, either from his countenance or behaviour,

but that he seemed to give his orders coolly and dis-

tinctly, and did not seem wanting in personal courage

;

and, from other circumstances, the court do not believe
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tliat his misconduct arose either from cowardice or dis-

affection, and do therefore unanimously think it their duty

earnestly to recommend him as a proper object of mercy."

The court-martial went further, for in transmitting

a copy of their proceedings to the Board of Admiralty,

they likewise sent their lordships a letter, which con-

cluded in these terms :

—

" We cannot help laying the distresses of our minds

before your lordships on this occasion, in finding our-

selves under the necessity of condemning a man to death

from the great severity of the 13th Article of War, part

of which he falls under, and which admits of no mitiga-

tion, even if the crime should be committed by an error

in judgment; and therefore, for our own consciences^

sake, as well as in justice to the prisoner, we pray your

lordships in the most earnest manner to recommend him

to His Majesty's clemency."

The king and his ministry met this representation and

other applications in behalfof Admiral Byng by referring

the legality of the judgment of the court-martial to the

consideration of the twelve Judges at Westminster, who

were unanimously of opinion that the sentence was legal.

This was really doing nothing. It was not the strict

literal correctness of the sentence that was doubted, but

Byng's friends mainly looked to that mercy which was

the attribute of the sovereign. The Lords of the Ad-

miralty, on the Judges giving their decision, signed a

warrant for Byng's execution : two lords, however, nobly,

to their own detriment and loss of place, refused to concur

in the proceeding. These were AdmiralsWest and Forbes.

Captain, afterwards Admiral, Lord Keppel (who on

4 *
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a future day was to be subjected to a similar trial) made

a last effort to save Byng, and got a temporary respite,

by stating in the House of Commons, of which he was

a member, that he and other members of the court-

martial desired to be released from their oath of

secrecy, that they might reveal the grounds on which

they recommended Byng to mercy. A bill was accord-

ingly brought into the House of Commons for that pur-

pose, and it passed with little opposition; but being

carried to the Lords, it was there so vigorously opposed

that it was thrown out on the second reading.

The following admirable letter was addressed by the

Hon. Mrs. Osborn, Byng's sister,'*^ to the Lords of the

Admiralty :

—

" My Lords,—The judges having reported to His

Majesty in council, that the sentence passed on my un-

fortunate brother is a legal one, permit me to implore

your lordships' intercession with His Majesty for his most

gracious mercy, and to hope your lordships will not think

an afflicted sister's application ill-founded, in a case so

hardly circumstanced, and which the judges (though by

the severity of the law they thought themselves obliged

to pronounce the fatal sentence) have so earnestly recom-

mended to your lordships' humanity ; to your justice I

will not presume to add, though in their letter to your

lordships they say, 'that in justice to the prisoner, as

well as for their own conscience' sake, they recommend

him to His Majesty's mercy.'

* This lady, the only daughter to survive him, of George, first Viscount
Torrington, was Sarah, wife of John Osborn, Esq., and mother of Sir

Danvers Osborn, third Baronet of Chicksands Priory, Bedfordshire, the

direct ancestor of the present Sir Q-eorge Robert Osborn, Bart.
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"The court-martialj my lordsj seemed to have ac-

quitted my unhappy brother of cowardice and disaffec-

tion, and, therefore, it is presumed he stands sentenced

under the head of negligence. It is not fitting, perhaps,

that a wretched woman, as I am, should ofiPer any argu-

ments in my brother's relief to your lordships, who are

masters of the whole: but what criminal negligence,

my lords, can there have been, in which neither cowardice

nor disaffection have had a part ? What criminal neg-

ligence can there have been, since his judges thought it

incumbent on them, for their own conscience' sake, and

in justice to the prisoner, to recommend him to His

Majesty's mercy?
" I must submit to your lordships, whether it be the

meaning of the law that every kind of negligence, wilful

or not, should be punished with death. If so, it is not

for me to make an observation on the law; if not, a

negligence arising neither from cowardice, disaffection,

nor wilfulness, ought not, according to the, spirit and

intention of the law, to be deemed capital.

''Why, my lords, should my poor brother suffer,

when both the sentence by which he is condemned, and

the letter to your lordships, by which he is so strongly

recommended to His Majesty's mercy, fully prove that

his judges did not deem him deserving the punishment

they thought themselves obliged to sentence him to?

I hope your lordships will not think he ought to suffer,

either under a law unexplained or doubtful, or under a

sentence erroneously passed, if the law has been mis-

understood; and if my unfortunate brother has been

condemned under the 13th Article, according to the
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spirit and meaning of which he should not have been

condemned, I submit to your lordships whether his life

should be the forfeit.

" If there is a doubt on the principles and motives that

induced the court-martial to entreat the intercession of

your lordships with His Majesty for mercy, I submit to

your lordships whether these motives should not be

more fully explained before it be too late. It would be

needless to mention the usual course of His Majesty's

mercy to the condemned, upon the application of his

judges, if my unhappy brother's case had circumstances

particularly unfavourable to it; but, on the contrary,

for the reasons I have ventured briefly to offer, and the

many others that must occur to your lordships, his case

appears to be uncommonly hard, and well deserving that

mercy to which his judges have so earnestly recommended

him. I hope I shall stand excused, if I beseech your

lordships' immediate intercession with His Majesty in

his behalf.

—

\7th February, 1757."

This letter passed unheeded.

Byng prepared himself for death. He was ordered

to be executed on board the Monarque in Portsmouth

harbour, on the 14th March, 1757.

Two illustrious Frenchmen also interfered to rescue

Byng. The one was Voltaire, ever humane whatever

his faults ^ight be; and the other was the Duke of

Richelieu, a Marshal of France, the successful invader

of Minorca.

The Marshal Duke of Richelieu wrote in French ; but
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M. de Voltaire wrote ia English. Voltaire's letter, and

the duke's translated, run as follows :

—

" CIux Delices pres de Geneve.

" Sir,—That I am almost unknown to you, T think

'tis my duty to send you the copy of the letter which I

have just received from the Marishal Duke of Richelieu

:

honour, humanity, and equity, order me to convey it

into your hands. This noble and unexpected testimony

from one of the most candid as well as the most generous

of my countrymen, makes me presume your judges will

do you the same justice.

" I am, with respect. Sir, &c.,

"Voltaire.

"To the Hon. J. Byng, Esq."

" Sir,—I a,m very sensibly concerned for Adm. Byng
;

I do assure you whatever I have seen or heard of him

does him honour. A.fter having done all that man
could reasonably expect from him, he ought not to be

censured for suffering a defeat. When two commanders

contend for victory, tho' both are equally men of honour,

yet one must necessarily be worsted, and there is against

Mr. Byng but his being worsted, for his whole conduct

was that of an able seaman, and is justly worthy of ad-

miration. The strength of two fleets was at least equal

;

the English had 13 ships and we 13, much better equip-

ped and much cleaner. Fortune that presides over all

battles, and especially those that are fought at sea, was

more favourable to us than to our adversaries, by send-

ing our balls into their ships with greater execution. I
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am persuaded, and it is the generally received opinion,

ttat if the English had obstinately continued the en-

gagement their whole fleet would have been destroyed.

"In short, there can be no higher act of injustice

than what is now attempted against Admiral Byng, and

all men of honour, and all gentlemen of the army, are

particularly interested in the event.

" Richelieu."

" I received this original letter from Marishal D. de

Richelieu, the 1st of January, 1757, in witness of which

I have signed my name.

" Voltaire."

Voltaire, in one of his satirical works, observes 'that

Admiral Byng was put to death " pour encourager les

autres."

On Sunday morning, the 13th of March, 1757, Cap-

tain Montague having received a warrant from Admiral

Boscawen for Admiral Byng's execution to take place

next day, gave it to the Marshal of the High Court of

Admiralty to read to him ; Byng calmly heard it, and

remarked, with some warmth, that the place appointed

by the warrant was upon the forecastle. " Is not this,"

said he, addressing himself to his friends, " putting me
upon the footing of a common seaman condemned to

be shot? Is not this an indignity to my birth, to my
family, and to my rank in the service ? I think I have

not been treated like an officer in any instance since I

was disgraced, excepting in that of being ordered to be

shot." He appeared much disturbed at this circum-
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stance, and looked upon it as a grievance. His friends,

fearing it would not be altered, because the warrant

was expressly worded so, represented to him that it

appeared to them no impropriety ; but they hoped

he would think the place immaterial and beneath his

notice, and not let any such consideration break in upon
his trauquUlity of mind. He then composed himself

again, and replied, "It is very true, the place or manne#
is of no great importance to me ; but I think living ad-

mirals should consult the dignity of the rank for their

own sakes. I cannot plead a precedent; there is no

precedent of an admiral or a general officer in the army

being shot. They make a precedent of me, such as ad-

mirals hereafter may feel the effects of."

At his last dinner on that Sunday he was cheerful as

usual, and in the evening he ordered a small bowl of

punch to be made ; and when all were seated round the

table, he helped every one, and taking his own glass

with a little punch in it
—" My friends," said he, " here

are your healths, and God bless you all. I am pleased to

find I have some friends still, notwithstanding my mis-

fortunes." When he had drank, and set his glass down,

he added, " I am to die to-morrow ; and as my country

requires my blood, I am ready to resign it, though I do

not as yet know what my crime is. I think my judges,

in justice to posterity and to officers who come after

me, should have explained my crime a little more, and

pointed out the way to avoid falling into the same error

I did. As the sentence and resolutions now stand, I

am persuaded no admiral will be wiser hereafter by

them, or know better how to conduct himself on the

like occasion."
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The following day he spent a considerable part of the

morning in the state-room by himself, then came out

and sat down with the marshal and breakfasted com-

posedly as usual. His dress was a plain cloth suit of a

light grey mixture, such as he had always worn after he

received his order of suspension in Gibraltar Bay, having

there taken off his uniform, which he immediately threw

fcto the sea as soon as he had read the suspending order.

The Monday on which Byng suffered death was most

stormy ; and amid the clash of the elements came the

clash of the discharge which shot down a brave British

admiral, not for any moral crime, but for that which an

act of Parliament had strangely made a capital offence

—viz., an error of judgment.

Orders had been given for all the men-of-war at Spit-

head to send their boats, with the captains and all officers

of each ship, accompanied with a party of marines under

arms, to attend the execution. They, in pursuance of

that order, rode from Spithead, and made the harbour a

little after eleven o'clock, with the utmost difficulty and

danger, it blowing a prodigious hard gale, the wind at

W.N.W., and ebbing water. It was still more diffi-

cult to get up so high as the Monarque lay, on board

which ship the admiral was to suffer. Notwithstanding

it blew so strong and the sea ran very high, there was a

prodigious number of other boats round the ships on

the outside of the men-of-war's boats, which last kept

off all others. Not a soul was allowed to be on board

the Monarque, except those belonging to the ship. Ad-
miral Byng, accompanied by a clergyman who attended

him during his confinement, and two gentlemen, his

relations, walked out of the great cabin to the quarter-
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deck, where he was to be shot, on the larboard side, a

few minutes before twelve o'clock. He was dressed in

a light grey coat, white waistcoat, white stockings, and a

large white wig, and had in each hand a white handker-

chief. He threw his hat on the deck and kneeled on a

cushion. One of his friends attended him to this cushion,

and offered to tie the bandage over his eyes ; but having

a white handkerchief ready folded in his hand, he replied,

with a smile on his countenance, " I am obliged to you,

sir,—I thank God I can do it myself; I think I can—

I

am sure I can ;" and he tied it behind his head himself.

He then dropped the other handkerchief as a signal, on

which a volley from six marines was fired, five of whose

bullets went through him, and he was in an instant no

more. The sixth bullet went over his head.

It could not be two minutes frgm his coming out of

his cabin till he fell motionless on his left side. He
died with great resolution and composure, not showing

the least sign of timidity. The spectators were amazed

at the intrepidity of his behaviour, and scarcely could

refrain from tears—even the common seamen, one of

whom having stood all the while full of attention, with

his arms crossed, cried out, with a kind of enthusiasm,

when he saw him fall, " There lies the bravest officer in

the navy."

The Ramillies, the ship which was the admiral-ship of

Byng in his fatal engagement in the Mediterranean, was

riding at her moorings in the harbour, and about half

an hour before he suff"ered she broke her mooring chain,

and only held by her bridle, which was looked upon as

a wonderful incident by 'people who did not consider the

high wind at the time.
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The admiral just before his execution read aud de-

livered to William Brough, Esq., Marshal of the High

Court of Admiralty, a paper couched in the following

terms :

—

" Sir,—These are my thoughts on this occasion. I

give them to you, that you may authenticate them, and

prevent anything spurious being published that might

tend to defame me. I have given a copy to one of my
relations.

"A few moments will now deliver me from the viru-

lent persecution, and frustrate the farther maUce of my
enemies. Nor need I envy them a life subject to the

sensation my injuries and the injustice done me must

create. Persuaded I am, justice will be done to my re-

putation hereafter. . The manner and cause of raising

and keeping up the popular clamour and prejudice

against me will be seen through. I shall be considered

(as I now perceive myself) a victim destined to divert

the indignation and resentment of an injured and de-

luded people from the proper objects. My enemies

themselves must now think me innocent. Happy for

me, at this my last moment, that I know my own inno-

cence, and am conscious that no part of my country's

misfortunes can be owing to me. I heartily wish the

shedding my blood may contribute to the happiness and

service of my country, but cannot resign my just claim

to a faithful discharge of my duty according to the best

of my judgment, and the utmost exertion of my ability

for His Majesty^s honour and my country's service. I

am sorry that my endeavours Vere not attended with

more success, and that the armament under my com-
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mand proved too weak to succeed in an expedition of

such moment.

"Truth has prevailed over calumny and falsehood,

and justice has wiped off the ignominious stain of my
supposed want of personal courage or disaffection. My
heart acquits me of these crimes. But who can be pre-

sumptuously sure of his own judgment ? If my crime

is an error in judgment, or differing in opinion from my
judges ; and if yet the error in judgment should be on

their side, God forgive them, as I do; and may the dis-

tress of their minds, and uneasiness of their consciences,

which in justice to me they have represented, be relieved

and subside, as my resentment has.done.

"The Supreme Judge sees all hearts and motives;

and to him I must submit the justice of my cause.

"J. Byng.

" On board His Majesty's ship Monarque, in Ports-

mouth harbour, March 14, 1757."

It is a singular and melancholy fact, that in the

very month of June, 1756, when the order had gone to

Gibraltar to arrest Bying and bring him home to his

trial and death, one of the admiral's nephews, Robert

Byng, was among the hundred and twenty-three victims

who perished from suffocation in the black-hole of Cal-

cutta.

To the honour of the Byng family, their patriotic

character and public spirit were no wise lessened by the

sad treatment of the unfortunate admiral. They have

continued to bear themselves with high credit and

honour down to the present day, and their very con-

duct, showing the worth and dignity of the race, is
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another proof of the injustice done their relative. The

admiral's two elder brothers were Pattee, second Vis-

count Torrington, who acted efficiently as Paymaster-

General in Ireland; and George, third Viscount Tor-

rington, who was a general officer of repute, and whose

grandson George, sixth and late Viscount Torrington,

was a vice-admiral of the blue. Admiral John Byng

had another brother, the Hon. Robert Byug, who was

Commissioner of the Navy and Governor of Barbadoes,

and whose two grandsons were the honest old George

Byng, Esq., for fifty six years M.P. for Middlesex; and

Sir John Byng, G.C.B., a field marshal in the army,

who was one of the glories of the Peninsula and Water-

loo. His heroic conduct in many a Peninsular battle,

and particularly at Waterloo, obtained for him twice the

thanks of Parliament, and eventually the Viscountcy of

Enfield and the Barony and Earldom of Strafl'ord. The

present head of the house of Byng, George, seventh Vis-

count Torrington, has held and still holds high office

under the Crown; his next brother. Major the Hon.

Robert Barlow Palmer Byng, of the Bengal Native

Infantry, an officer of great merit and ability, fell glo-

riously in India, in 1857, while leading his regiment

against the mutineers. The present viscount's third

brother, the Hon. James Byng, in another public capa-

city, as the able chairman of the South-Eastern Railway

Company, has rendered to the community services of the

greatest value. In fine, the unfair cruelty which Admiral

Byng underwent, the little wrong he had done, and the

very merits of his family, make his putting to death a

very sorrowful and a but little creditable recollection in

the annals of our navy.



THE TRIAL OF LORD GEORGE
SACKVILLE.

In the reign of George II. it became quite a fashion for

both king and people to run down to degradation, and

even to death, any commander who should be unsucess-

ful through even a mere fault of judgment or misappre-

hension of the circumstances under which he might be

acting. Admiral Byng was a sad and shameful instance

of this kind of treatment towards men who were honour-

ably doing their best in the public service. Another

example is afforded in Greneral Lord George Sackville,

the subject of the following trial, who was pursued with

full the same malignity as Byng, and who would have

undoubtedly perished in the same way had the sentence

of the court-martial been stretched to a similar extent.

The general's fault, after all, was but a mistake—though

a bad one, certainly—amid a confusion of orders; and

the king, as in Byng's case, showed no little ingratitude,

for Lord George's father had, like Byng's father. Lord

Torrington, rendered essential benefits to the House of

Hanover. In fact, there is so much of a parallel cha-

racter in the two trials ofByng and SackviUe —so much,

too, showing the singular spirit of the age—that they

must be read together; and, therefore, in this series.
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the court-martial on Lord George comes appropriately

after that on Admiral Byng.

Lord George Sackville, afterwards Lord George Ger-

main and first Viscount Sackville, belonged to one of

the noblest and most ancient families in England. He
was the third soil of Lionel Cranfield, K.G., seventh

Earl and first Duke of Dorset—an eminent Whig states-

man, who began his career of devotion to George T- and

George II. by taking across the sea to them, the one

Elector and the other Prince of Hanover, the Order

of the Garter and their act of naturalisation. Dorset

went again, when Queen Anne died, to announce to

the elder George his accession to the throne. The

duke died Master of the Horse to George III. in 1763.

His son Lord George Sackville's earlier career may be

briefly told. He was born the 26th January, 1716, and

his name of George came from the king, George I. him-

self, who was his godfather. After the then usual educa-

tion of persons of rank which had made of him a polished

gentleman, Lord George Sackville was named in 1734

Clerk of the Privy Council in Ireland, while his father

was Lord-Lieutenant there.
,
In 1737, he obtained a

commission in the army, and thus commenced his military

career, which was to be checked so unluckily. In 1 740 he

was made the colonel of a regiment of foot, and soon after

aide-de-camp to the king. He showed himself a good

soldier, and won much distinction at Dettingen and

Pontenoy. He was afterwards with the Duke of Cum-
berland in Scotland, where he mainly contributed to the

suppression of the Rising of ^45. He was after that

Secretary of State under his father, for the second time
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Lord-Lieutenant of Ireland, and he sat in the Irish

Parliament as member for Portarlington. He became

a Lieut.-General of the Ordnance in 1757, and so high

had his reputation risen, that in 1758 he was appointed

to succeed Charles, second Duke of Marlborough, a dis-

tinguished military leader, as commander-in-chief of the

British forces in Germany, then acting under Prince

Ferdinand of Brunswick. This brings us to the Battle

of Minden. England, and, indeed, almost all Europe,

were at the time fiercely engaged throughout the globe

in that memorable war which our ally the King of

Prussia, at Rosbach and elsewhere, and our own

generals, Clive at Plassy and Wolfe on the Heights of

Abram, were to make illustrious for ever. On the Con-

tinent the Duke of Cumberland, the sanguinary duke

of Culloden, had been cutting somewhat of a poor figure,

and latterly England confined herself, in the European

part of the contest, to sending British troops as auxili-

aries to her allies. These troops were commanded in

chief, in 1758 and 1759 as stated, by Lord George

Sackville, but, somehow or other, he could not approve

of or agree with his generalissimo. Prince Ferdinand of

Brunswick, George II.'s relative, and Prince Ferdinand

in consequence owed him a spite. With the famous

Lieutenant-General the Marquis of Granby, who acted

under him. Lord George was also not on the best of

terms. Amid such a state of feeling among the com-

manders of the allies, the Battle of Minden was fought

and won by them against the French, under Marshal de

Contades, on the 1st August, 1759. The action, which

was a tremendous struggle, commenced at five in the
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morning and raged with varied success during the day,

but it is to the latter portion of the contest that the

reader's attention should, as far as Lord George SackvUle

was concerned, be directed.

After much firing on both sides, the allied army, ad-

vancing in eight columns, occupied the ground between

Halen and Hemman, and the space between the last

village and Dodenhausen was filled with Vangenheim's

corps. Against this force the enemy directed their

principal efibrt on the left; but the Duke de Broglie

experienced a severe check from a battery of thirty

cannon prepared by the Count de Buckeburg, Grand

Master of the Artillery, which, under his directions,

vrere fired with admirable effect. Towards the right of

the allies, six regiments of English infantry and two

battalions of Hanoverian guards had to sustain the

charge of the French carabineers and gendarmerie.

Such, however, were their firmness and courage, that

every corps of cavalry, as well as infantry, that assailed

them on the left and in the centre not only failed of

piercing their ranks, but was itself absolutely broken-

The cavalry on the right had no opportunity of engaging.

They were destined to support the infantry of the third

line, and consisted of the British and Hanoverian horse,

commanded by Lord George Sackville, whose second

was the Marquis of Granby. They had been posted at

a considerable distance from the first line of infantry,

divided from it by a scanty wood that bordered on a

heath. During the action they were ordered up, but

through some error, and this was the offence charged

on Lord George Sackville, did not arrive in time to
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take part in the struggle. Originally it was not in-

tended that they should be engaged, and there was no

occasion for their services. About noon the French

gave way, and withdrew from the field of battle. They

were pursued to the ramparts of Minden^ having lost a

great number of men, with forty-three large cannon

and many colours and standards. The loss of the allies

was much less severe. On the following day the garri-

son of Minden surrendered at discretion, when many

French officers who had been wounded in the engage-

ment fell into the hands of the victors.

Immediately after the victory. Prince Ferdinand pub-

lished orders relative to the troops under him, and by

confining himself to complimenting the Marquis of

Granby, clearly implied a severe reflection on that

nobleman's superior in command, Lord George Sack-

ville ; and the rumour flew to England at once that the

complete rout of the French was prevented by Lord

George, through cowardice or disobedience, not charg-

ing at the opportune moment with the cavalry under

his command. Lord George was furious at the imputa-

tion. He flung up his appointments and demanded a

court-martial. The sensation the whole afiair caused is

so well described by Smollett, that I cannot do better

than borrow from that historian the following graphic

account :

—

''No subject so much engrossed the conversation and

passion of the public as did the case of Lord George

SackvillCj who had by this time resigned his command

in Germany, and returned to England, the country

which, of all others, it would have been his interest to

5



98 CELEBRATED TKIALS.

avoid at this juncture, if he was really conscious of the

guilt, the imputation, of which his character now sus-

tained. With the first tidings of the battle fought at

Minden, the defamation of this ofiicer arrived. He was

accused of disobeying orders, and his conduct pre-

sented as infamous in every particular. These were

the suggestions of a vague report, which no person

could trace to its origin; yet this report immedia:tely

gave birth to one of the most inflammatory pamphlets

that ever was exhibited to the public. The first charge

had alarmed the people of England
;
jealous in honour,

sudden and rash in their sentiments, and obstinately

adhering to the prejudices they have espoused. The

implied accusation in the orders of Prince Ferdinand

and the combustible matter superadded by the pamphlet

writer kindled up such a blaze of indignation in the

minds of the people, as admitted of no temperament

or control. An abhorrence and detestation of Lord

George Sackville, as a coward and a traitor, became the

universal passion, which acted by contagion, infecting

all degrees of people, from the cottage to the throne,

and no individual who had the least regard for his own

character and quiet would venture to preach up modera-

tion, or even advise a suspension of belief, until more

certain information could be received. Fresh fuel was

continually thrown in by obscure authors of pamphlets

and newspapers, who stigmatised and insulted with such

virulent perseverance, that one would have imagined

they were actuated by personal motives and retained by

mercenary booksellers, against that unfortunate noble-

man. Not satisfied with inventing circumstances to his
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dishonour in his conduct on the last occasion^ they pre-

tended to take a retrospect view of his character, and

produced a number of anecdotes to his prejudice, which

had never before seen the light, and, but for this occa-

sion, had, probably, never been known. Not that all

the writings which appeared on this subject contained

fresh matters of aggravation against Lord George Sack-

ville. Some writers, animated by a hope of advantage,

or hired to betray the cause they undertook to defend,

entered the lists as professed champions of the accused,

assumed the pen on his behalf, devoid of sense, un-

furnished with materials, and produced performances

that could not fail to injure his character among all

those who believed that he countenanced their en-

deavours, and supplied them with the facts and argu-

ments of his defence. Such, precisely, was the state of

the dispute when Lord George arrived in London.

While Prince Ferdinand was crowned with laurel, while

the King of Great Britain approved his conduct, and as

the most glorious mark of that approbation invested

him with the Order of the Garter ; while his name was

celebrated through all England, and extolled in the

warmest expressions of hyperbole, above all the heroes

of antiquity ; every mouth was open to execration of the

late commander of the British troops in Germany. He

was now made acquainted with the particulars of his

imputed guilt, which he had before indistinctly learned.

He was accused of having disobeyed three successive

orders he had received from the general, during the

action of Minden, to advance with the cavalry of the

right wing, which he commanded, and sustain the in-
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fantry that were engaged j and, after the cavalry were

put in motion, of having halted them unnecessarily, and

marched so slow, that they could not reach the place of

action in time to be of any service ; by which conduct

the opportunity was lost of attacking the enemy when

they gave way, and rendering the victory more glorious

and decisive. The first step which Lord George took

toward his own vindication with the public was in print-

ing a short address, entreating them to suspend their

belief with respect to his character until the charge

brought against him should be legally discussed by a

court-martial; a trial which he had already solicited,

and was In hopes of obtaining. Finding himself unable

to stem the tide of popular prejudice, which flowed

against him with irresistible impetuosity, he might have

retired in quiet and safety, and left it to ebb at leisure.

This would have been generally deemed a prudential

step by all those who consider the unfavourable medium

through which every particular of his conduct must have

been viewed at this juncture, even by men who cherished

the most candid intentions; when they reflected upon

the power, influence, and popularity of his accuser ; the

danger of aggravating the resentment of a sovereign,

already too conspicuous ; and the risk of hazarding his

life on the honour and integrity of witnesses who might

think their fortunes depended upon the nature of the

evidence they should give. Notwithstanding those sug-

gestions. Lord George, seemingly impatient of the im-

putation under which his character laboured, insisted

upon the privilege of a legal trial, which was granted

accordingly, after the judges had given it as their opinion
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that he might be tried by a court-martial, though he no

longer retained any commission in the service."

The court-martial thus earnestly demanded by Lord

George was held at the Horse Guards at the end of

March and beginning of April, 1760. The court con-

sisted of the following members :

—

Lieut.-General the Hon. Sir Charles Howard, K.B.,

President (a general in 1765).

„ „ John Campbell, Earl of Loudoun (a

general in 1765).

„ „ Lord Delawarr (Sir John West, K.B.,

afterwards Earl of Delawarr, and in

1765 a general).

„ „ The Hon. James Cholmondeley (distin-

guished at the battle of Falkirk, a

general in 1770, son of George,

second Earl Cholmondeley).

„ „ The Hon. James Stuart.

„ „ Earl of Panmure (William Maule, of

Kelly, a general in 1770).

J, „ Earl of Ancrum (Sir William Henry

Kerr, K.G., afterwards fourth Mar-

quis of Lothian and a general in

1770 : distinguished at Fontenoy and

Culloden).

„ „ Earl of Harrington (William, second

earl, a general in 1770).

J, „ James Abercromby (a general in 1772).

„ „ Earl of Albemarle (Sir George Keppel,

K.G., third Earl of Albemarle, and
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brother oftliefamousAdmiral Keppel.

He was aide-de-camp to the Duke of

Cumberland at Pontenoyj and was

commander-in-chief at the reduction

of the Havannah).

Lieut.-General Francis Leighton (second son of Sir

Edward Leighton, Bart.).

„ „ Lord Robert Manners (son of John,

second Duke of Rutland, and a gene-

ral in 1772).

Major-General Edward Carr (a lieut.-general in 1760).

„ „ Earl of Effingham (Thomas Howard,

second earl, and deputy earl marshal;

a lieut. -general in 1760).

„ „ Lord Robert Bertie (who had behavBd

so kindly to Admiral Byng at his

trial; son of Robert, first Duke of

Ancaster; in 1777 a general).

„ „ Julius Caesar (who, while with the allied

army in Germany, died from a fall

from his horse in 1762).

Charles Gould, deputy judge-advocate (afterwards,

in 1771, judge-advocate and a knight

and baronet, ancestor of Lord Tre-

degar) .

The charge against Lord George was :
—" That he,

being a lieutenant-general in His Majesty's army in

Germany, under the command of Prince Ferdinand of

Brunswick, and being by his instructions (which were

read in court) directed to obey the orders of the said
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Prince Ferdinand, did notwithstanding, on August 1,

1759, disotey the orders that were sent to him by his

Serene Highness."-

The deputy judge-advocate, Mr. Gould, in a short

speech, explained the nature of the charge, and observed

that by his lordship's not advancing with the cavalry,

agreeably to repeated orders sent him by three aides-de-

camp, a signal opportunity was left of ruining the French

army, and the cavalry were thereby prevented from

gathering the laurels which the infantry had prepared.

The evidence which bore most upon the charge was

as follows

:

Captain Winchenrode, Prince Ferdinand's Prussian

aide-de-camp, deposed that he was sent early in the

morning with orders from the Prince to Lord George

Sackville to march to the left with the cavalry, in order

to sustain the iiifantry. At the end of the second line

he saw Lord Granby, of whom he inquired where Lord

George was, saying that he was going with orders to him.

His lordship answered, " At the head of the first line,"

where, accordingly, the deponent -found him. He deli-

vered to him the Prince's orders, in French, and after-

wards repeated them in French ; upon which his lordship

said he did not understand them, and asked him twice

how it was to be done. The deponent then told him, in

English, that he was to march to the left through a little

wood (to which he pointed), after which he would come,

on a heath, where he was to form, and from thence he

might see our infantry. After this, the deponent left

him.

Being asked, at the desire of Lord George, whether it
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did not seem, by our dispositions, that the enemy's

cavalry were expected to have been on their flanks, and

their infantry in their centre, he replied that he knew

nothing of that, nor could pretend to form a judgment

either of their dispositions or ours ; all he knew was,

that he was sent with orders to his lordship.

Lieutenant-Colonel Ligonier (brother of the famous

General John Earl Ligonier) deposed that he carried

orders from the Prince to Lord George, to march to the

left with the cavalry, in order to sustain the infantry and

to form a third line behind them on the plain. He de-

livered them accordingly to his lordship, and told him

that he was to mai'cli to the left through the wood.

Lord George asked him who was to be their guide, and

if he would undertake to lead the line. He answered,

that he could not promise, but would endeavour to do his

best. His lordship then ordered swords to be drawn,

and bid them march ; and soon after came up Colonel

Fitzroy, with orders from the Prince to march up imme-

diately with the British cavalry. On which Lord George,

turning to the deponent, said, "Sir, your orders dis-

agree." He replied, "Only in numbers, my lord, but

their destination is the same; that is, to the left."

Soon after his lordship and Colonel Fitzroy rode away

together.

Being asked, at Lord George's desire, if he did not

.insist on his orders being obeyed, he answered, "Yes,"

peremptorily.

Lieutenant-Colonel Fitzroy deposed that the reason of

his being sent to Lord George was, that the Duke of

Richmond had been reconnoitering, and having observed
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to the Prince that the enemy's cavalry were in disorder,

he said, " Voici le beau moment pour la eavalerie," and

bid the deponent go with orders to Lord George Sack-

ville, to march up as fast as possible with the British

cavalry. He delivered them, accordingly, when his

lordship bid him repeat them, and speak slowly and dis-

tinctly. He did so, when his lordship told him that his

orders disagreed with those just brought him by Colonel

Ligonier, and added, that the Prince could never intend

to break the line. He insisted on his having been exact

in delivering the orders just as he received them. On
which Lord George said he would go to the Prince him-

self, and away they went together. Being asked "What

pace ?" answered, " A half-gallop ;" but that soon after

they set out, Lord George, stopping to speak to Captain

Smith, his aide-de-camp, the deponent then pushed on

full gallop, and got to the Prince time enough to make

his report before his lordship came up. When he told

his highness that Lord George was coming himself, he

expressed his surprise strongly, not by words, but actions.

What passed between the Prince and Lord George, he

did not hear. Being asked if he carried afterwards an

order to Lord George Granby, he answered, yes, and

the occasion of it was this : he was with the prince at

Captain Philips's battery, when his highness, seeing the

enemy's cavalry in great disorder, said that he thought

our cavalry might, even then, be of service. On which

the deponent asked if he should go and fetch them.

His highness replied, " Yes, make haste, and deliver the

order to Lord Granby, for I know he will obey me."

He went accordingly, and delivered the order, as di-

5 *
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rected, to Lord Granby, whose wing, he observed, was

farther advanced than the other, which his lordship also

mentioned to him. He asked the deponent why he did

not deliver his orders to Lord George Sackville. He
replied, that as Lord George had disobeyed a former

order which he carried, he had now the Prince's direc-

tion to deliver this order to him (Lord Granby)—upon

which his lordship immediately put the second line in

motion. Being asked, by Lord George, whether he had

ever reconnoitered the wood, and whether it was close or

open, he replied, that he looked at it as he passed through,

and the part through which he went was very open j and,

as to the breadth, two squadrons might march in front.

Being asked whether, if our infantry had been broken by

the enemy, the consequence would not have been very

fatal, he replied, " Undoubtedly, as the action was on a

plain, and there were no cavalry to cover them while

they rallied."

Lieut.-Colonel Sloper (of Bland's Dragoons) deposed

that on August 1, about four in the morning. Captain

Pentz came to his tent, with orders from the Prince for

the men to mount; he added, "In order for action."

The deponent himself went round the regiment, and

found the men lying down in their tents, booted, and the

horses saddled, as they had been ever since one o'clock,

by an order issued the night before. In about half an

hour after they were drawn out. Lord George Sackville

came to the head of Bland's, where the deponent was,

and bid them march. They had not gone far before

Captain Winchenrode, Prince Ferdinand's aide-de-camp,

came up and told his lordship, in French, that it was the
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Prince's orders that he should inarch to the, left and sus-

tain the infantry on the plain. He repeated it in

French. Lord George replied, "Mais comment, mais

comment?" The captain.then said, in English, waving

his hand, that he was to march through those trees (that

was his expression), on the left, and then he would come

on a heath, where he would see our infantry and the

enemy. Winchenrode then went away, and Lord George,

saying that he could not understand the orders, the depo-

nent said that it was clear to him that this was to be done

by the left of the right wing of cavalry. For about a

quarter of an hour after this he did not see his lordship,

and they still remained where they were ; till at last

Lord George came up, and said to him, " Colonel, move

your regiment." He replied, "To the left, my lord?"

His lordship answered, " No, straight forward." Soon

after Colonel Ligonier came to Lord George, with orders

from the Prince to march immediately with the cavalry

to sustain the infantry on the plain. (The deponent

then desired to know if he must inform the court what

he said to Colonel Ligonier, and being told, if it related

to Lord George, he must, he then proceeded.) The de-

ponent then said to Colonel Ligonier, " For God's sake,

sir, repeat your orders, that that man (meaning Lord

George SackviUe) may not pretend he does not under-

stand them, for it is now near half an hour since we re-

ceived orders to march, and yet we are still here. [He

was sorry (he said) that his oath obliged him to mention

what he also added.] For you see, sir, the condition he

is in." Colonel Fitzroy then came ^p, but what he said

to Lord George he did not hear, only his lordship then,

turning to Colonel Ligonier, said, " Sir, your orders are
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contradictory." He replied, "In numbers onlyj not in

destination." Soon after Ms lordship and Colonel Fitz-

roy rode away together, and in about a quarter of an

hour more the cavalry moved.

Being asked to explain what he meant by those words,

" You see, sir, the condition he is in," he replied, that

his lordship ^eemed to him to be greatly alarmed ; that

when he gave him the orders to march the regiment, he

was in the utmost confusion, as appeared by his ordering

them to march straightforward, when the original orders

were to go to the left ; Colonel Ligonier's orders were

to go to the left ; and when the cavalry did move, it

moved to the left.

Prince Ferdinand's Prussian aide-camp deposed that,

on Lord George's not bringing up the cavalry on Colonel

Fitzroy's order, the prince, being very impatient, directed

him to go and hasten Lord George. That on his way.

Colonel Fitzroy passed him at a distance, and soon after

he saw his lordship coming himself. On which he

hastened back to inform his highness that Lord George

was coming to take his orders from his own mouth,

rather than from him ; but that before he could speak,

the prince cried out, "What, will he not obey me?"
The Marquis of Granby (a celebrated commander,

son of John, third Duke of Portland, and ancestor of

the present duke) deposed to the same effect as Captain

Winchenrode in regard to his seeing him both in going

and returning from Lord George SackvUle.

Lord George Sackville made an eloquent speech in

his own behalf on the nature of the evidence that had
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beeu brought against him. The substance of the de-

fence was as follows :—That orders were given the night

before the battle for the troops to be in readiness at one

the next morning ; the horses of the cavalry to be then

saddled; but not to strike tents or march till further

orders ; that these orders having been frequently given

for a fortnight before, were not alone sufficient to apprise

Lord George of an engagement next morning; that the

first notice that Lord George, Lord Granby, and other

general officers had of an attack was from the firing of

cannon between five and six ; that Lord George imme-

diately rose, being waked by the sound, and rode from

the village where he was quartered to the head of the

cavalry, which was then mounted, and he was there be-

fore any other general officer of the division; that he

marched them, although no orders to march had yet

reached him, toward a windmill in front ; that when he

had advanced a considerable distance, he received an

order to halt and wait till he should receive further or-

ders ; that while he remained on or near the ground,

the artillery had also marched from its ground, though

neither had received any orders; and Lord George,

imagining that orders to the artillery had been forgotten

in the hurry usual upon a surprise, he ordered it to ad-

vance in front, where it was of signal service. That

Captain Winchenrode soon after brought him an order

to form a line as a third line to support the infantry,

and advance ; that he said nothing about going to the

left, between trees, or coming out upon a heath, nor

told him where the infantry to be sustained were to be

found, but only repeated his orders twice in French,
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which Lord George requested him to do, not from any

difficultyhe found in comprehendingthe general intention

of them, but because they were at first expressed indis-

tinctly through hurry. That Lord George supposing

that to advance was to go forward, immediately began

to execute these orders, by sending an officer to a Saxe

Gotha regiment of foot that obstructed his way in front,

to cause it to remove out of his way, thinking it better

so to do than to cause our artillery, which obstructed

the only other way he could have advanced, to halt,

dispatching at the same time a second officer where the

infantry he was to sustain was posted, and a third to

reconnoitre the situation of the enemy. That while this

was doing. Colonel Ligonier came up with an order to

advance with the cavalry, in order to profit of a disorder

which appeared in the cavalry of the enemy ; and that

neither did he mention, or at least was not heard to

mention, any movement to the left. That the Saxe

Gotha regiment being by this time removed from the

front. Lord George, in obedience to the concurrent orders

of Captain Winchenrode and Colonel Ligonier, as he

understood them, and as they were understood by his

witnesses, ordered the troops to advance straight for-

ward. That this could not be more than eight minutes

after he received the order that had been brought

by Captain Winchenrode, because Captain Winchen-

rode, as he was riding back froin Lord George, met

Colonel Fitzroy riding to him very fast ; and when Colo-

nel Fitzroy arrived, the troops were in motion. That it

appears from all the witnesses that they could not be

put in motion in much less than eight minutes, as five
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minutes were given even by the witnesses for the prose-

cution for the Saxe Gotha regiment to. remove out of

the way. That almost immediately after the troops were

in motion, Colonel Fitzroy came up and brought the

first orders he heard for moving to the left, at the same

time limiting the movement to the British cavalry. That

then, being in doubt what to do, he halted ; the order

that arrived last, by Colonel Fitzroy, not superseding

the former by Colonel Ligonierj as Lord George and

those about him understood, both from Fitzroy and

Ligonier, that they brought the same order, having re-

ceived it at the same time, and brought it at diiferent

times by having taken different routes. That not being

able to agree, each earnestly pressing the execution of

his own orders, Lord George took the resolution to go

to the prince, who was not far distant. That Colonel

Ligonier went forward, and that as Lord George was

riding on with Colpjiel Fitzroy, he perceived the wood

on the left more open than he had thought it, which in-

clined him to think it possible the prince might have

ordered him to the left ; and Colonel Fitzroy still vehe-

mently pressing the execution of the order he brought,

he sent Captain Smith with orders for the British cavalry

to move to the left ; the motion to the left and the limi-

tation of the movement to the British being connected

in the same order, and both peculiar to that brought by

Colonel Fitzroy. That by this means scarcely any delay

was made, even by the difference of the orders brought

by the two aides-de-camp. Captain Smith not having

advanced above two hundred yards beyond the left of

the British cavalry ; the time, therefore, could only be
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what he took up in galloping twice that space. That

this period included all the time in which Lord George

is supposed to have disobeyed orders by an unnecessary

delay.

Numerous witnesses were called in support of this

statement—viz., Lieut.-Colonel Hotham, Captain Smith

and Captain Lloyd, Lord George's aides-de-camp, Lieut.-

Colonel Preston of the Greys, Captain William, R.A.,

Captain McBean of the train, Captain Hugo, Lord

George's German aide-de-camp. Captain Brome, R.A.,

and the Rev. Mr. Hotham, chaplain to the staff. Their

evidence bore out the defence, and among their testi-

mony the most important was that of Lieut.-Colonel

Hotham and Captain Smith.

Lieut.-Colonel Hotham deposed that the orders which

he received on July 29, for generals to reconnoitre the

overtures leading from the camp to the plains of Minden,

and on the 31st, for the horses to be saddled, &c., at one

the next morning, were communicated to, and obeyed

by, his lordship, and that such orders as the last had been

frequently issued during the fortnight before. Being

asked (as were all the following witnesses) if he per-

ceived any difference in Lord George's looks or behaviour

that day, from what was usual, he answered (as did the

rest), "None in the least."

Captain Smith deposed that he and Colonel Watson

reconnoitered the overtures by his lordship's orders, on

the 30th ; and that Lord George himself went as far as

he could, consistent with his picquet-duty, being lieu-

tenant-general of the day. That by orders from the

prince, the cavalry were first formed into squadrons,



LORD GEORGE SACKTILLE. 113

and then into line. That while they were forming he

was on a rising ground, from whence he observed, that

by the time four or five squadrons were formed. Lord

George marched them, which occasioned disorder in the

rear, they not being able to keep up, which he went and

informed his lordship of, who upon that made them halt

;

and he (the deponent) returned to his post. That soon

after they moved again, when a Hanoverian officer,

whom he knew, came up to him, and said that they

marched so fast in front that they could not keep up,

and that their horses would be blown, &c., which the

deponent went again and told Lord George of, who then

said that he would halt no more, but that he would march

slow, and that then the rear, when it was formed, might

soon overtake him, but desired them not to hurry. That

the place where they were forming the line, he observed,

was not wide enough, but riding forward, he observed

that there was room enough a little farther, which he

mentioned to his lordship, who then ordered them to

move on, and the line was soon well formed. And that,

as to alteration in his lordship's looks or behaviour that

day, he was sure there was none ; and that he would

have gone to death if it had been needful.

The court-martial pronounced the following sentence:

"This court, upon due consideration of the whole

matter before them, is of opinion that Lord George Sack-

ville is guilty of having disobeyed the orders of Prince

Ferdinand of Brunswick, whom he was by his commis-

sion and instructions directed to obey, as commander-

in-chief, according to the rules of war; and it is the
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farther opinion of the court, that the said Lord George

Sackville is, and he is hereby adjudged, unfit to serve

His Majesty in any military capacity whatever."

This sentence George II. confirmed to its fullest ex-

tent, and caused it to be- directed in the " Gazette,"

" that the above sentence should be given out in public

orders, so that ofiicers being convinced that neither high

birth nor great eniployments could shelter offences of

such a nature ; and that seeing they were subject to cen-

sures much worse than death, to a man who had any

sense of honour, they might avoid the fatal consequence

arising from disobedience of orders."

Fiirther, at a court at St. James's, the 25th day of

April, 1760, George II., in council, called for the

council book, and ordered the name of Lord George

Sackville to be struck out of the list of privy coun-

cillors.

Horace Walpole, in a letter to Sir Horace Mann,

dated 26th March, 1810, thus refers to the sentence and

treatment of Lord George :

—

" The history of Lord George Sackville, which has in-

terested us so much and so long, is at last at an end

—

gently enough, considering who were his parties and

what has been proved. ... I think this is not the last

we shall hear of him. Whatever were his deficiencies

in the day of battle, he had at least showed no want of

spirit, either on pushing on his trial or during it. His

judgment in both was perhaps a little more equivocal.

He had a formal message that he must abide the event

whatever it should be. He accepted that issue, and

during the course of the examination attacked judge,
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prosecutor, and evidence. Indeed, a man cannot be

said to want spirit who could show so much in his cir-

cumstances. . . . But he is a peculiar manj and I re-

peat it, we have not heard the last of him. You will

find that by serving the king \ye understands in a very

literal sense ; and there is a young gentleman who, it is

believed, intends these words shall not have a more ex-

tensive one."

Horace Walpole was a true prophet in his anticipa-

tions. Lord George outlived his disgrace, and rose to

high position and power again. For some years subse-

quent to his trial he lived in obscurity, during which

period a piece of good fortune happened to him. Lady

Elizabeth Germain, a well-known personage in those

days, and a correspondent of Dean Swift, the daughter

of Charles, second Earl Berkeley, and widow of Sir

John Germain, Bart., of Drayton, Northamptonshire,

died in 1769, and left the property her husband left her

to Lord George SackviUe, who consequently assumed

the surname of Germain. In a few years after that

George III. restored him to favour and to his seat in

the Privy Council, and he was, in Lord North's Ad-

ministration, appointed American Secretary of State,

and, as such, strongly evinced his hostility to American

independence. He held office from 1755 to 1783, when,

on retiring, he was created in the latter year Baron

Bolebrooke and Viscount SackviUe. His promotion to

the peerage caused a violent debate in the House of

Lords on a motion of disapproval " of the introduction

into the House of a person stigmatised in the orderly

book of every regiment in the service." The motion
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was rejected by a majority of sixty-five, and Viscount

Sackville lived on peaceably, and died on the 26th

May, 1785, at Stoneland Lodge, Sussex.

His lordship, it would appear, was an eloquent writer

:

the "Gentleman's Magazine" for 1785, in commenting

on his death, says :

—

"The late Lord Sackville, who was a gentleman of

extraordinary talent, wrote a beautiful eulogy on the

late Princess of Orange, but which never graced the

press. The genius, learning, and exalted virtue of the

princess were the theme of his lordship's all-powerful

pen. The above noble lord and his illustrious relation.

Lady Betty Germain, had the art of painting in words

to a very eminent degree, and which afibrded the finest

ornaments in either poetry, history, or elocution. The

very animated and beautiful imagery of Cicero, in which

he paints the cruelty of Verres, is spoken of with rapture

by her ladyship in some of her letters. It is in a letter

to the above lady that Dean Swift styled Ireland ' the

Isle of Saints,' from the many very pious and eminent

men it produced; it was also, he said, the school of

wisdom and the seat of knowledge."

Lord Sackville's honours were inherited by his eldest

son Charles, second Viscount Sackville, who eventually

became fifth and last Duke of Dorset. The only child

and heiress of the first Viscount Sackville's second son,

George, is the present Mrs. Caroline Harriet Stafford,

of Drayton House, county Northampton, a seat formerly

the property of her grandfather, the Lord George of

this narrative, whose representative this lady now is.

The dukedom of Dorset is extinct, but one of the
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baronies belonging to the family, that of Buckhurst,

was, on the 27th of April, 1 864, revived by new patent

of creation in favour of Elizabeth, present Countess Dela-

warr, daughter and heiress ofJohn Frederick, third Duke

of Dorset, with limitations to her younger sons and their

issue male. Thus, oddly, a descendant of the General

Lord Delawarr who sat on the court-martial of Lord

George Sackville, may be bearing a title which belonged

to Lord George's own ducal line.



THE DOCKYARD INCENDIARY, JACK

THE PAINTER.

The American War was in 1776 at its height, and

though some successes were for the moment cheering

the spirits of the British G-overnment, it already re-

quired but Uttle foresight to see how the contest would

end. The revolted colonies, with their declaration of

independence, their President and Congress, had virtu-

ally become a new empire among the dominions of the

world, and France was evidently about to give its aid to

their complete establishment. It was just at this period

that occurred the following extraordinary and execrable

act of felony, the work of a single villain, guided by a

kind of morbid enthusiasm and desire of notoriety.

That Dr. Franklin, or Silas Deane, or the French Court,

had aught to do with the crime is not in the least credi-

ble. It was, in a moment of war, the natural though

questionable policy of the British Crown and its officers

to tinge as much as possible the cause of the enemy.

Hence the prisoner's lying accounts of interviews with

Mr. Deane, and of other transactions abroad, were skil-

fully relied upon and allowed to go forth as casting

suspicion on the American and French Governments.

The incendiary, however, did not support his averments
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with one tittle of evidence to inculpate any accomplice

high or low, and so, on maturer consideration, thought

the British Grovernment and the public; for after the

execution of the culprit, no political notice whatsoever

was taken of the charges he brought against either

America or Prance. It would, indeed, be an insult to

the transcendent fame of Franklin, or the high character

of Deane, to for an instant suppose them sharers in such

atrocity. The burnings perpetrated by Jack the Painter

are to be ascribed to the wretch's malignant nature

alone.

To come to the shameful affair itself. A fire had

happened in the rope-house at Portsmouth on the 7th

December, 1776, and had passed for an accident; and

as no suspicion had fallen on any one, no inquiry was

made about it, tiU, on the 15th of January, 1777, Mr.

RnsseU, one of the under-clerks of the dockyard, having

occasion to use some hemp in the hemp-house, dis-

covered a tin machine, constructed for holding matches,

and in the cavity at bottom spirits bf wine. The matches

had been lighted, and were nearly burnt out ; but the

fire had not reached the spirits, the want of air, as it is

supposed, having extinguished it before it had its full

effect.. This left no room to doubt but that the late

fire was wilfully and maliciously contrived.

If it had' burnt as low as the cross-lines, it would have

caught the matches placed on the sides, and would have

burnt in four channels down to. the spirits, which would

have set the whole place in a blaze. The machine was

made of tin, except the bottom, which was of wood. It

was about the size of a half-pound tea-canister.
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The stores in the store-house, which would have been

burnt if it had caught fire, were sufficient to have rigged

out fifty sail of ships.

It was then that the whole dockyard was alarmed.

Some hundreds of workmen were instantly drawn to-

gether, and every one looked at his neighbour, con-

vinced that whoever was the contriver of that machine,

and had placed it there, was the incendiary.

This called to mind every minute circumstance that

had happened previous to the breaking out of the fire on

the day mentioned, and it occurred to one that a fellow

had been locked into the rope-house the night before

;

to another, that a man, whose name was unknown, had

been seen loitering about the yard on the very day ; and

to others, that he was a painter and had worked in the

neighbourhood, and as he had never been seen there

after the fire, a strong suspicion arose that he must be

some way or other concerned in the mischief that had

already been done, and also in the diabolical design

which providentially had been defeated. A singular

advertisement was issued, describing the person of the

man, and under the name of John the Painter, offering

him a reward of £50 to surrender himself to examina-

tion, and the same reward to any one who should ap-

prehend him. In the meantime other fires broke out,

particularly at Bristol, which could not otherwise be

accounted for than by supposing American agents em-

ployed to spread fire and devastation throughout the

kingdom, wherever their malignant purposes could be

executed with effect—an idea that favoured the pre-

judices of the vulgar, and therefore was the more easily
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credited. It was not long, however^ before Sir John

Fielding, the able police-magistrate (half-brother, by

the WRj, of the author of "Tom Jones"), found means

to trace this John the Painter out, and some time about

the beginning of February he was apprehended at Odi-

ham, in Hants, for a burglary, and brought to town for

examination.

The news of his commitment was soon spread ; and it

having been reported that he had been in America, and

had worked there as a painter, Richard Earl Temple,

K.G., P.C., desired one Baldwin, a painter, who had

likewise been in America, and had done business there,

to attend his examination before Sir John Fielding, to

see if he could recollect him. But Baldwin, upon look-

ing at the man, and being asked the question, frankly

declared that he had never before seen him in his life.

This open declaration, after others, as he said, had borne

false witness against him, moved the prisoner in favour

of Baldwin, and he expressed a strong desire to culti-

vate an acquaintance with him, which Baldwin did not

decline, being encouraged to visit him as often as op-

portunity offered, in order, if possible, to bring him to

confession. This had the desired effect, and brought

the whole scene of iniquity to light. After a regular

attendance on him for fifteen days, sometimes once a

day and sometimes twice, the prisoner at length began

to trust him, and to speak openly. He told him that

he had been in France; that he had there seen Silas

Deane, the American ambassador at the Court of Ver-

sailles ; that Silas Deane had given, him some money

and had encouraged him to set fire to the dockyards at

6
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Portsmouth, Plymouth, "Woolwich, kc, as the best

means of distressing Great Britain, and that he had

promised to reward him according to the service he

should do to the American cause; and that, as an

earnest of what should follow, he had given him a re-

commendation to, and bills upon, a merchant in London

to the amount of £300, which, however, he had found

necessary to burn to prevent a discovery; that, in con-

sequence of this encouragement, he procured a passport

from the French king, which passport he lamented that

he had left at Portsmouth, with other things, in a

bundle; that from France he came to Canterbury,

where he devised the machine which had been found in

the hemp-house, and had it there constructed; that

before he left Canterbury he had a quarrel with a dra-

goon; and that when he removed from thence he

directed his course to Portsmouth, where he prepared

the combustibles with which he afterwards set the place

on fire. He disclosed to Baldwin the secret of making

the composition and the manner of his applying it, and

told him the circumstance of his being locked in the

rope-house; of his quarrelling with his landlady, on

account of the interruption she gave him in his opera-

tions ; of her forcibly turning him out of her house ; of

his taking another lodging ; of the difficulty he had in

lighting his matches ; of his purchasing other matches

;

of his flight from Portsmouth in a woman's cart ; with

many other particulars.

The prisoner was committed, and his trial came on at

the assizes for Hampshire, on the 6th March, 1777, at

Winchester, before Sir William Henry Ashurst, Knt.,
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a judge of the Court of King's Bench, and Sir Beaumont

Hotham, Knt., a baron of the Exchequer.

The grand jury which had found the bill against the

prisoner had for foreman Henry, second Viscount Pal-

merston, father of the late illustrious premier.

The counsel who appeared for the Crown were Wil-

liam Davy, serjeant-at-law; Mr. Mansfield (afterwards

Sir James Mansfield, Solicitor-General, and subsequently

Lord Chief Justice of the Court of Common Pleas)

;

Mr. Missing j Mr. BuUer (afterwards Sir Francis Bul-

ler, Bart., a judge of the Courts of King's Bench and

Common Pleas) ; and Mr. Fielding.

The prisoner appears to have had no counsel, but to

have acted for himself throughout the whole trial.

The indictment was thus opened by Mr. Fielding :

—

" May it please your lordships and you gentlemen of

the jury, this is an indictment against the prisoner at

the bar for a crime of so atrocious and uncommon a

nature, as to render it impossible to affix any epithet to

the crime descriptive of its enormity. This is, gentle-

men, the first instance of its existence, and I hope in

God it will be the last. The indictment, you have per-

ceived already, turns upon three counts : the prisoner

at the bar is first charged for setting fire to a quantity

of hemp and ropes particularly specified; the second

count is for setting fire to a certain building erected in

the dockyard, called the rope-house : the third count is

for firing His Majesty's naval stores. Gentlemen, the

matter will be more fully opened to you by the learned

and experienced gentleman who leads this business, and

I doubt not but your verdict will be satisfactory to your

country."
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Mr. Serjeant Davy then stated the case, commencing

thus :

—

" May it please your lordships and you gentlemen of

the jury, I am of counsel in this case for the king in the

prosecution of the prisoner at the bar, who is described

by the name of James Hill, otherwise James Hinde,

otherwise James Actzen, for setting fire to the rope-

house at Portsmouth dock, belonging to the Crown, the

place where the cordage is made to supply the king's

navy, and which crime is constituted a capital felony by

an Act of Parliament made in the twelfth year of his

present Majesty (13 Geo. III., c. 24), till when it had

not entered the imagination of man that such a crime

could be committed at all. It will be unnecessary for

me to expatiate upon the nature of the offence; that

has nothing to do with the prisoner at the bar, any more

than as he was an agent in the commission of it ; and it

win be necessary for me, therefore, to mention to you

only those particulars that we have to lay before you in

evidence, by which to affix the crime upon the prisoner,

and to submit to you, upon the consideration of those

facts, whether he is or is not guilty of the charge in the

indictment."

. The learned serjeant then went through the whole of

the evidence he was about to produce, and concluded

thus :

—

" The tenth part of these circumstances, which I have

opened, would serve, I should think to decide the fate

of any man standing in the prisoner's situation ; but it

is the wish of the public, it is the wish of the Govern-

ment, that all the world should know the infamy of this

transaction, and that they should know to whom they



THE DOCKYARD INCENDIARY. 125

are indebted for the sorrows they have feltj and how

much they owe to the Providence of God, that America

has not been able totally to destroy this country, and to

make it bow its neck, not only to the yoke of America,

but to the most petty sovereign in Europe ; for let the

English navy be destroyed—and here was a hand ready

to effect it ;—let but the English navy be destroyed, and

there is an end of all we hold dear and valuable. The

importance of the subject, the magnitude, the extraor-

dinary nature of the thing calls for a more particular in-

vestigation than any other subject, of what kind soever,

could demand ; and therefore I need, I hope, make no

apology for having descended so particularly into these

minute, if any of them can be called minute, particulars

of this story ; we shall prove all these circumstances to

the full, and surely there can be no doubt what shall be

done with the man. I shall be glad to hear what he

has to say for himself j and I shall be glad if he is able

to lay this guilt at any body's door besides those to whom

he' has laid it. I wish Mr. Silas Deane were here ; a

time may come, perhaps, when he and Dr. Franklin may

be here."

Prisoner : He is the honestest man in the world.

The testimony adduced was overwhelming, but as the

prisoner's subsequent confession fully relates every inci-

dent, it is needless to go here into the details. Suffice

it to state that the lad who made the canister, the dra-

goon with whom the prisoner quarrelled at Canterbury,

the. woman at whose house he lodged at Portsmouth,

the man who let him out of the rope-house, the persons

who saw him in the dockyard, the woman who sold him

the matches, the woman who took him up in her cart in
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his flight from Portsmouth, and last of all the bundle in

which was his passport from Prance, with the identical

articles in it, which he had specially mentioned to Bald-

win ; all these were produced in addition to and confirma-

tion of Baldwin, who proved what he had heard from

the prisoner himself.

One incident which occurred, while Baldwin was giv-

ing his evidence, is curious as showing how such states-

men as Silas Deane and Benjamin Franklin were at that

time thought and spoken of in England ; it was this :

—

Baldwin: I mentioned to him about.my family, that

I had my son with me now in London ; he was desirous

to see him. I told him my wife was very much indis-

posed, which he said he was sorry for. I waited upon

him from day to day, till the 15th February; on that

day he told me all the particulars ; he asked me if I

knew one Mr. Deane. I told him "No;" he said, " Not

Mr. Deane who is employed by the Congress at Paris?"

Prisoner : I remark to the witness that there is a

righteous Judge, who also giveth righteous judgment;

beware of . what you say concerning that Mr. Deane.

Perjure not yourself; you are in the sight of God, and

all this company is.

Baldwin: The prisoner said, "What, not Silas Deane?"

I told him " No ;" he said " He is a fine clever fellow,

and I believe Benjamin Franklin is employed in the

same errand." He said he had taken a view of most of

the dockyards and fortifications throughout England,

and particularly the number of guns that each ship in

the navy had, and likewise the guns in the fortifications,

the weight of their metal, and the number of men ; and

he had been at Paris two or three times, to inform Mr.
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Silas Deane of the particulars of what he found in examin-

ing tlte dockyards.

Prisoner- Consider, in the sight of God, what you

say concerning Silas Deane.

Counsel for the Crown : You need not be afraid. Silas

Deane is not here ; he will be hanged in due time.

Prisoner : I hope not ; he is a very honest man.

The only piece of evidence (beyond the prisoner's own

statements) by which the Crown could throw out an in-

ference that he was tampered with by a foreign power,

was the French passport produced ; but as at its date

England was not at war with France, such a document

might have been procured as a matter of course.

The translation of the passport, which was read in

court, was as follows :

—

"Exhibited at the Office of Marine, at Calais. By
the king. To all governors and our lieutenant-generals

of our provinces and armies, governors particular, and

commanders of our towns, places, and troops ; and to

all others our officers justiciary, and subjects to whom
it shall belong—Health. We will and command you

very expressly to let pass safely and freely, Mr. James

Actzen, going to England ; without giving him or suffer-

ing him to have any hindrance ; but on the contrary,

every aid and assistance that he shall want or have oc-

casion for. This present passport to be valid for one

month only, for such is our pleasure. Given at Fontain-

bleau, the 13th of November, 1776.

" Louis. By the king, De Vergennes. Gratis."

After the accused had made a very rambling defence,

impugning Baldwin's veracity, the judge summed up
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clearly and minutely, and the jury almost immediately

found the prisoner Guilty. '

The prisoner was then asked in the usual form what

he had to say why sentence of death should not he passed

upon him, to which he replied^ " I have nothing to say."

Mr. Baron Hotham pronounced judgment as follows<

—

" Prisoner, you have been indicted, tried, and convicted

of a crime which the law of this country has thought fit

to make capital, and now the most painful moment that

I have undergone in the course of this trial is arrived,

for it is my duty to pass upon you that dreadful sentence.

T shall not interrupt those feelings which I trust you

have by talking to you of the enormity of the offence

which you have committed, because it is impossible for

me, or any man who hears me, to add a word by way of

aggravation to it, and it has this in particular about it,

that it cannot have been committed from any motives

of private malice, revenge, or lucre. It can have pro-

ceeded only from a general malignity of mind, which

has broke out in a desire and a design, not only to ruin

one devoted individual, but to involve every one of this

audience, nay, the whole English nation perhaps, iu im-

mediate ruin. You cannot, therefore, be surprised that

the law has thought fit to punish such a crime with

death. You can as little be surprised if, after you have

been convicted upon the clearest evidence of this offence,

I can give you no hope of pardon.* It is impossible

for me to say a word on your behalf, and therefore I

must entreat and conjure you, in the most solemn manner,

to prepare yourself during the few days you have to live,

* The prisoner iuterrupted and said, " I do not look for it, my lord."
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to meet the great God in another world, and to ask him

there for that pardon which you could not receive in

this ; there it will be worth receiving ; and atrocious as

your crime has been, short as the time is that you have

to live, a sincere repentance now on your part may, and

I hope in God will, procure you mercy at His hands. I

say all this not to taunt or distress you in your present

unhappy situation, but merely from motives of humanity

and religion. For you cannot be suffered to live in this

world
; you must die, and that within a very few days.

And therefore, before you go into eternity, for your

soul's sake do what you can, that that eternity may be

an eternity of bliss instead of misery. I have only now

to pronounce the painful* sentence of the law which I

am bound to do, and I accordingly adjudge and order

you to be hanged by the neck until you shall be dead

;

and the Lord have mercy upon your soul."

The Prisoner :
" My lord, I am exceedingly well satis-

fied."

On the morning after his condemnation, he informed

the turnkey of his own spontaneous accord that he felt

an earnest desire of confessing his crime, and laying the

history of his life before the public; and that, by dis-

covering the whole of his unaccountable plots and trea-

sonable practices, he might make some atonement to his

most injured country for the wrongs he had done, of

which he was now truly sensible, and a repentant sinner.

This request being made known to John, fourth Earl

of Sandwich, then First Lord of the Admiralty, that

* When his lordship mentioned the word " painful," the prisoner

said "joyful."

6 *
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nobleman directed Sir John Fielding to send down

proper persons to take and attest his confession. The

culprit confessed accordingly, and the statement signed

by him, and dated 7th March, 1777, was attested by

George Durnford and N. P. Smith, Esqs., Justices of

the Peace for the city of Winchester. It tallies with

the more lengthy account of his hideous career which

the prisoner also drew out, signed, and left for publica-

tion.

The prisoner was carried from Winchester Gaol on

the 10th March, 1777, to Portsmouth, where it was ap-

pointed he should be executed at the dock gate.

Having been carried in an open cart by the hemp-

house, and round the ruins of the rope-house, when he

came opposite the commissioner's house he desired to

speak with the Commissioner, who thereupon went up

close to him. He said :

—

" Sir, I acknowledge my crime, and hope for forgive-

ness from God, through the merits of my Saviour Jesus

Christ. I ask pardon of you, sir, and hope your forgive-

ness."

Upon the cart's moving, he said, " he had one thing

more to observe as a caution to all the commissioners of

the dockyards throughout England, to be more vigilant

and strictly careful of them for the future, because it is

in the power of a determined and resolute man to do a

great deal of mischief." As the -cart stopped at the end

of the rope-house, he looked attentively at the scene of

his offence, and said, " I acknowledge my crime, and am
sorry for it." On returning out of the dockyard, upon

being asked if he had anything more to say to the com-
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missioner, he said, " No j only I recommeiid great care

and strict vigilance at the dockyards at Chatham, Wool-

wich, Deptford, Portsmouth, and Plymouth, and parti-

cularly at the rope-house at the latter/' Just before

he was turned off he said :

—

" I acknowledge the justness of my sentence, and hope

for forgiveness, as I forgive all the world. I wish suc-

cess to His Majesty King George and his family, and

all his loyal subjects, and I hope for forgiveness of all

the transactions that I have been guilty of from the

year 1773, since my apprenticeship, and the world will

be satisfied about me, as my life wUl be very soon in

print."

The convict then giving the signal, was drawn up by

the pulleys to the top of the gibbet, which was made of

the mizen mast of the Arethusa frigate, and was sixty-

four feet and a half high. He hung one hour, and was

taken down and suspended in chains on Blockhouse

Port, at the mouth of Portsmouth Harbour, where his

body remained gibbetted for several years.

The prisoner's fuU confession was published after his

death, and it forms so extraordinary a narrative, that the

major portion of it may not be inappropriately inserted

here. It runs as follows :

—

" I drew my first breath at Edinburgh, in Scotland.

My father, David Aitken, was a whitesmith, which busi-

ness he for many years carried on in a creditable way.

I was brought up in the persuasion of a Protestant dis-

senter, and being the only son, was treated with that

paternal affection which, by gratifying all my desires,

begot in me the most stubborn and -obdurate disposition.
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At nine years of age I was placed in Heriot's Hospital

at Edinburgh, a charitable foundation of the same kind

with Christ's Hospital in London, where, continuing for

six years, and having the advantage of a liberal educa-

tion and a natural taste for drawing, I was at the age of

fifteen apprenticed to an eminent painter in the city of

Edinburgh, and I served the whole of my apprenticeship,

much to my own credit, and to the satisfaction of my
master. My leisure hours were generally employed in

reading the most favourite subjects of the marvellous

kind, such as the desperate expeditions and engagements

of brave men both by sea and land. At the expiration

of my apprenticeship, I set off with my mind thus pre-

pared to seek my fortune. I had before lost my father,

whose sudden death prevented him from placing me in

business under his own eye, as was his original intention.

His circumstances were such as could not enable him to

make provision for me equal to the notions I had enter-

tained. I had very early contracted an itch for the ser-

vice, and notwithstanding the affairs of my father, I had

yet hopes of procuring a commission in the land forces.

I applied to my mother to assist in importuning my
friends and relations to serve me in this particular. But

our endeavours were in vain, and 1 saw the object of my
ambition beyond my reach. I therefore, in a fit of re-

sentment, embarked for London with all the money I

could scrape together, not doubting but I should get

into some creditable employ before it was all spent.

" On my arrival in the great metropolis, I applied to

people in the painting way, and immediately got into

employ. But business not long agreeing with my inch-



THE DOCKYARD INCENDIARY. 133

nation, and having formed an acquaintance with some

extravagant young men, by whom I was led into all

manner of vice and debauchery, I soon fouud the last

farthing of my little pittance expended. In this condi-

tion, deserted by my companions, and in a strange

country, I determined to relieve myself on the highway.

I accordingly provided myself with pistols, and without

the least concern or apprehension of danger, proceeded

to rinchley Common. Perceiving a post-chaise, I made
up to it, and with a discharge of one of my pistols, de-

manded them to stop. My success in the first attack

tempted me to proceed, so that before midnight came on

I had robbed several carriages and horsemen, and upon

the whole had collected a considerable Ijooty. I returned

to London with great satisfaction, and finding out my
old companions, informed them I had just received a

large sum of money. They congratulated me on my
good fortune, and readily took me again into their party.

I observed myself advertised, and an exact description of

my person and dress in all the papers. It was therefore

my first care to change my clothes and make every alter-

ation in my person I could possibly devise, and it was

my fortune to escape undiscovered. My own excess and

that of my companions soon reduced me to the last shil-

ling; at length, dreading the consequences of a detection,

I determined to seize the first opportunity of leaving the

kingdom. America presented itself to my imagination,

and I readily believed it would turn out most to my ad-

vantage. Hearing of a vessel bound to America, I

made application to the master. Captain John Robertson,

who took me into his service : but not having money to
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provide myself with such things as were necessary for

the voyage, I indented myself to him till such time as I

should pay him twenty-four pounds Virginia money, and

then was to have my full liberty. Soon after my arrival

in Virginia, Captain Robertson having taken in a freight

for England, consigned me over to one Mr. Graham, of

James' Town. .But as it never was my intention to re-

main longer with the captain than suited my convenience,

I immediately quitted the service of Mr. Graham, and

travelled up the country through Maryland, till I arrived

at Philadelphia. From thence I went to Amboy, and

got employment in the painting business; but hearing

there was better encouragement at New York, I made

the best of my way to that city, where I received bettet

wages, and remained very well satisfied for a considerable

time. Upon hearing of the riots at Boston, the restless-

ness of my disposition would not suffer me to remain

any longer at New York, and meeting with a companion,

we agreed to set out together for that place, and I cannot

deny being very active in those riots, particularly in

sinking the tea, and insulting the friends of Govern-

ment. When I heard of the armaments raising in Great

Britain against America, and the expectation of a British

fleet at Boston, I thought it advisable to leave the place,

and therefore took the opportunity of a vessel and went

to North Carolina, where meeting with another vessel

bound to England, I got leave to work my passage home,

and arrived at Liverpool in May, 1775. As soon as I

had landed, having no money, I enlisted into a recruiting

party, and received twenty-six shillings, with which in a

few days I deserted, intending to go to Shrewsbury. In
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my way between Warrington and Holmes Chapel, I

broke into a little shop and stole several handkerchiefs, &c.

By the time I left Shrewsbury my money was nearly

exhausted, upon which I broke into a shop and robbed

it of a quantity of halfpence and about five shillings in

silver, and I made oif in the night for Birmingham,

Soon after T arrived at Birmingham I purchased a pistol

and several picklocks, and after pilfering a number

of shops, I left Birmingham and took . the road to

Coventry. In my way to that city I broke open a house

in a little town a few miles from it, where I stole a

great quantity of handkerchiefs, &c., with which before

daylight I reached Coventry.

" On my arrival at Coventry I met with another re-

cruiting party, into which I also enlisted. I received

half a guinea earnest, with which I absconded in the

morning. I went to a hedge a little way out of the

town, where I had secreted the handkerchiefs, and set

off with them on my return towards London. I con-

tinued in London almost four months, where I got into

connexion with some women of the town, which led me
to commit a number of street robberies for my support.

I also broke open a house at Kensington, and committed

several robberies upon the outskirts of London."

Here follows a detail of other fraudulent enlistments

and felonious offences committed by him in various parts

of England. He then comes to the great crime which

brought him to the scaffold :

—

"One night being in conversation concerning the

American war, the importance of His Majesty's fleets

and dockyards was the argument, and it was with satis-
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faction I heard every one agree that the safety, the wel-

fare, and even the existence of the nation depended on

them. I endeavoured to keep the conversation np as

much as possible, and the more it was canvassed, the

more evident was the truth of the former conclusion.

It is amazing with what force this conversation kept

possession of my mind. In the night I had a thousand

ideas, and all tended to show how important would be

the event in favour of America, provided these dockyards

and shipping should be destroyed. The more I consi-

dered, the more plausible was the undertaking. I spent

two days in the contemplation of this malicious design,

and promised myself immortal honour in the accomplish-

ment of it. I beheld it in the light of a truly heroic

enterprise, such as never would have been equalled to

the end of time. I was persuaded it would entitle me

to the first rank in America, and flattered myself with

the ambition of becoming the admiration of the world

!

I set off for Portsmouth to inform myself of the parti-

cular situation, as also of the materials and stores with

which these magazines were composed. I took account

of all the ships of war in the harbour, their force and the

number of men. I also took a plan of the fortifications

unnoticed by the sentinels, the number of guns mounted

on them, and their weight of metal. From hence I

went to Plymouth, where I found things in much the

same situation. My next care was to visit Chatham

with the same circumspect attention, and in which I

conducted myself with the same success. From hence I

went to the yards at Woolwich and Deptford, and in

both places informed myself of everything material.
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Having spared no labour in perfecting this general

survey, I formed a design of going over to America to

lay my plans and observations before tbe Congress, as

well as to procure their sanction to the undertaking.

After a deal of argument with myself, I at length

resolved to proceed to Mr. Silas Deane and Dr. Franklin

at Paris. I re-examined all my plans, threw my obser-

vations into proper order, and secreted them in a private

part of my clothes to prevent an accidental discovery

;

and having made every other necessary preparation for

my departure, I made the best of my way to Canterbury

and Dover.

" I hired a small sailing boat to take me over. I em-

barked with only two hands, and in less than nine hours

landed at Calais without any further difficulty. I made

my way pretty readily and expeditiously to Paris, some-

times taking the advantage of a carriage, and sometimes

walking ou foot. My first inquiry at Paris was to find

out the lodgings of Mr. Silas Deane. I called upon him

at two different times, but did not meet with him at

home. I at last saw him on the Pont Neuf in Paris.

He treated me at first with great caution and indiffer-

ence, but finding my solicitations very earnest, he de-

sired I would meet him the next morning at his lodgings.

I called on him at the time appointed, and was conducted

into an elegant apartment, where he was waiting for me.

To make myself of as much consequence as possible, I

informed him that I had a plantation in America j that

I was an utter enemy to Great Britain ; that I had con-

trived a scheme which, if properly carried into execution,

would effectually destroy the power of the Ministry, and
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throw the kingdom into the greatest confusion^ if not

into the hands of America. He expressed great surprise

at my conversation, and desired me to give him an expla-

nation of my meaning. I laid before him aU my plans,

and he at length seemed satisfied that it was practicable,

and gave me a letter to a friend in London to supply me
with money ; and as soon as my pass was procured, I set

off for Calais, and arrived at Dover, which place I imme-

diately left, and took the road to Canterbury and Chat-

ham. Here I spent two days in making some fresh

observations on the ships and dockyards, after which I

set out for London, in order to take road for Ports-

mouth.

" I arrived at Portsmouth on Thursday evening, the

5th of December, 1776, and immediately began to lay

down a plan of operations. I concluded that in so large

a place a number of fire engines were kept, and that on

the first alarm they would fly to the assistance of the

dock, and perhaps extinguish the fire before any consi-

derable damage could be done. To prevent this I

thought it would be necessary to set the town on fire at

two different parts, imagining that the surprise and con-

sternation which it would naturally occasion would pre-

vent people from giving assistance to either, till the flames

had made such progress as not to be got under. In the

morning I applied at two houses for lodgings, one of

which was occupied by Mrs. Boxell. I agreed with her

for them. I left my bundle with her and said I should

return in the evening. From hence I went to a pubUc-

house, refreshed myself, and engaged also for a bed. My
next care was to visit the dockyard. My first intention
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was to set fire to the hemp-house, in which I secreted

myself behind a large mow or bundle of hemp, supposing

there was no danger of being discovered, although a

number of men were employed in different parts of the

building, under which I placed my combustibles, and in-

tending to go in about two hours afterwards to set it on

fire. But lest this should not take proper effect or be

extinguished before it could communicate itself to other

parts of the yard, I thought it would be more effectual

to set fire to some other store-house also. In walking

round the yard I observed the rope-house open, into

which I went, and having gone all over it up stairs and

down, I pitched upon a room containing a parcel of ropes

and some hemp, which I thought a very proper place to

set on fire. I went away and returned with two quarts

of the spirits of turpentine, some gunpowder, and some

touch-paper which I had previously made. I drew the

cork from one of the bottles, and having prepared a

train of hemp soaked in the spirits, I filled the neck of

the bottle therewith, which I placed among the ropes,

and covered it over with a quantity of refuse hemp

which I found lying about. I placed the bottle upon its

side, and'^ut the train of hemp into a paper of dry gun-

powder, and having covered the whole lightly over with

hemp, I sprinkled the remaining spirits of turpentine

upon the whole. I now pulled out my pistol tinder-box

and endeavoured to strike a light in order to set it on

fire ; but the tinder being either damp or badly burnt,

would not take fire. The attention with which I was

endeavouring to light my match prevented me from ob-

serving the time, and therefore when I had found it im-
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possible to strike a light, and was preparing to go to my
lodgings, I found myself locked into the house. I was

a little uneasy upon this occasion for fear of raising sus-

picion, particularly as I should be obliged to appear

again to light the matches, which I had now failed in.

I went from one end of the building to the other, which

was of a prodigious length, and tried every door I could

find, but all was fast. I went up stairs very gently for

fear of being heard, intending to make my escape from

one of the windows; but this I also found impossible.

I then went back to the door at which I came in, and

knocked for a considerable time. At last a lad came up

and asked who was there. I told him I was a frieud,

and had come into the dockyard out of curiosity, having

never been at Portsmouth before, and while I went up

stairs to see this great building somebody had locked up

the doors. I therefore begged he would let me out.

He went away to call some other person, who directed

me to a certain door in the building, at which he said I

might let myself out. In order to allay their suspicion,

I appeared to be very ignorant in every respect, and

asked them a number of simple questions, for I very

much expected to be taken into custody.

" I went to a public house to refresh myself, and from

thence to my lodgings, at Mrs. Boxell's. I went to bed

and slept till about five o'clock in the morning of Satur-

day, the 7th of December, when I struck a light and got

up. My first business was to mix up proper combus-

tibles to set that house on fire, and the public-house I

had before taken lodgings at. The sulphureous smell

occasioned by the flammable articles brought up Mrs.
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Boxell, who in a violent passion burst open the door,

asked me whether I was setting the room on firCj and

insisted upon my leaving her house^ saying she was sure

I could have no good design. Finding her in earnest, I

thought it most prudent to quit her lodgings without

entering into further dispute, which could only tend to

injure my business; so I took my bundle and walked

almost two hours round Portsmouth Common to seek

for another lodging. Observing a house in North Street

which seemed to answer my purpose, I went in and

agreed for a lodging, saying I was going a little way out

of town, but should return in the evening ; in the mean-

while desired the woman of the house (Mrs. Cole) to

take care of my bundle.

"My next object was to accomplish the business in

the dockyard. I went first to the hemp-house, and

after waiting a safe opportunity, got into the room where

I had left the materials, struck a light with my pistol

tinder-box, and lighted the candle which I had before

placed in the tin case under the hemp. I since find

that this machine did not take effect. Having, as I

thought, efiiectually completed my business here, I di-

rected m^ steps towards the rope-house, and after

waiting almost two hours, I took an opportunity of

lighting the match that communicated to the gunpow-

der, which I believe took effect in about an hour and a

half. The instant I had finished I quitted the dockyard,

intending to go immediately to set fire to both my
lodgings; but meeting a person near the dock gates

who knew me when I worked at Titchfield during the

time I was making my observations, and seeing him
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look at me very steadfastly^ and recollecting at the same

instant the affair at Boxeirs, I ran very precipitately out

of town without giving myself time to call for my

bundle, dreading an iuformation, and the consequence

of being taken into custody. When I had gone a little

way out of town, I overtook a cart going from market,

and in order to make more haste and be less observed, I

prevailed with the woman who drove the cart to give me

a lift, telling her I had to go to Petersfield that night,

and would make her any satisfaction. 1 travelled all

night without intermission, and arrived upon Kingston-

upon-Thames about eleven o'clock on Sunday morning,

where I stayed upwards of three hours to refresh my-

self.

" On my arrival in London, I concluded myself out of

danger, and began to ruminate on my plan for the de-

struction of Plymouth ; and arrived at Plymouth, and

went with a design to visit the dockyard; but to my

great surprise found the guard stricter, and the admis-

sion of strangers objected to, occasioned, -as I was in-

formed, by the burning of Portsmouth dock, which was

supposed to have been purposely set on fire."

He then enters into a detail of his atteiipt at Ply-

mouth, where he could do nothing effectually owing to

the vigilance of the sentinels. He thereupon turned

his mind to Bristol :

—

"Very much vexed at my disappointment, I deter-

mined to make the best of my way to Bristol; and as I

was disappointed at Plymouth, resolved to destroy Bris-

tol entirely and all the shipping. I arrived at Bristol

on Monday, the 13th of January, and spent the whole
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of Tuesday, the 14thj in acquainting myself with the

shipping, upon which I intended to make the first at-

tempt, supposing, if I had any success, they would com-

municate the flames to the whole town. About midnight

I proceeded with all my materials towards the quay. 1

got on board the Savannah la Mar, a Jamaicaman, and

placed a quantity of turpentine, rosin, pitch, &c., round

the mizen mast, to which I set fire. I then went on

board the La Fame, another Jamaicaman, which lay at

a little distance, in which I also placed a like quantity

of combustible matter, and set fire to it. I then pro-

ceeded to another part of the quay, and got on board

the Hibernia, an Irish trader, in which I placed a like

quantity of inflammable materials, and a quart bottle of

spirits of turpentine, to which I also set fire. I then

broke open a warehouse belonging to a druggist, in

Cypher Lane, supposing there were large quantities of

oils and spirits of different kinds, which would occasion

a dreadful fire in that part of the town. I set fire to a

box in the middle of the warehouse, which I supposed

would soon communicate to all parts of it. Having, as

I thought, efffected my business very complete, I walked

almost four miles out of town, and stayed till near eight

o'clock in the morning j but not perceiving anything of

the fire, I returned to see whether it had taken effect,

which I could do without suspicion, as I supposed people

would see that I had just come into town. I went to

the quay, where I observed one vessel, the Savannah la

Mar, was much burnt ; but the fire in the other two

had gone out without taking effect. I also found I had

miscarried in Cypher Lane, where the box of combustible
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•

matter had burnt out without doing any damage, which

I thought very extraordinary, as I made sure of burning

all that part of the town by this means. I was mostly

vexed at the miscarriage among the shipping, as I found

a strict watch was to be kept up in future which ren-

dered all future attempts upon them impracticable; I

thought of one scheme, however, which I had some hopes

of succeeding in. Observing a vast number of barrels

of oil upon the quay, situated very near a line of ships,

I contrived the ensuing night to convey a large quantity

of combustible materials amongst them, to which I set

fire, hoping by this means to burn all the ships that lay

near : but herein also I found myself disappointed ; my
matches went out without effecting the intended mis-

chief, though greatly to my mortification. About two

o'clock the next morning I proceeded to my new busi-

ness, having the evening before fixed upon a number of

warehouses, which I supposed, as it was now Sunday

morning, would not be frequented, and therefore little

danger of the fire being discovered till it had taken

proper effect. I laid matches in upwards of a dozen

warehouses, which I supposed would take fire before

daylight, and from their number and situation be impos-

sible to be got under, so that I promised myself I had

accomplished the destruction of the whole town, or at

least that part of it which was of most consequence.

With this persuasion I left Bristol about six o'clock in

the morning, and walked about three miles out of town,

when turning round, I thought the whole element was

in flames, so dreadful was the appearance it had at that

distance, which tempted me to return to be an eye-
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witness of the destruction I had wrought. On my nearer

approach the flames seemed to abate ; but I found the

whole city in consternation and terror; though my scheme

had not answered my full intention. My matches had

only taken eflfect in Quay Lane among the warehouses

of Mr. BrownCj bookseller, which occasioned a dreadful

fire in that part of the town : in every other part I found

my endeavours had failed. To compensate for this, I

determined to make a fresh attempt on the Sunday night,

and made every preparation for that purpose. Between

one and two o'clock on Monday morning I set about

this business, but was prevented by the vigilance of the

watch raised by the inhabitants of the city, to patrol the

streets, which obliged me to decline anything further

that night. I made several fresh attempts the Monday

and Tuesday nights following, but the patrol were too

vigilant to allow me time to proceed. I therefore left

Bristol, finding it impossible to complete my design.

" I now determined to make the best of my way to

Paris, to acquaint Mr. Deane with my success, and I

reached Calne, where observing a haberdasher's shop,

kept by one Mr. Lowe, I broke it open, and stole there-

from twenty pounds, some muslin, &c. It was to this

little town that Mr. Lowe, whose shop I had broken

open, and Mr. Dalby, keeper of Andover Bridewell, had

both traced me. Mr. Lowe had got a description of my
person from his wife, who observed me take particular

notice of the shop, and concluded the next day that I had

committed the burglary. Mr. Dalby had heard of my
going through Andover, and finding I answered the de-

scription of the person advertised in the papers for set-

7
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ting fire to Portsmouth Dock, lie set out in pursuit of

me, and took me at this town, in whose custody Mr.

Lowe found me on his arrival shortly after. I was taken

before the Hon. Sir H. P. St. John, Knt., who committed

me to Odiham Bridewell on suspicion of breaking open

Mr. Lowe's house; but Government having notice of

my being in custody ordered me to the New Prison,

Clerkenwell, to be examined before Sir John Fielding,

relative to the fire at Portsmouth. Nothing appearing

sufficiently strong against me to prove guilt in this par-

ticular, I was remanded back to New Prison, in order

to be conveyed to Salisbury to take my trial for break-

ing open Mr. Lowe's house ; but my being decoyed into

the trap set for me by Mr. Baldwin, to whom I disclosed

the whole of my proceedings against Government, has

brought me a death which the enormity of my crime

deserves ; but which, through sincere repentance, I hope

will be forgiven as I forgive Mr. Baldwin and all the

world.—James Aitken."

A debate in Parliament on the subject of Jack the

Painter and his offences led to a speech by Sir William

Meredith against capital punishments, which was so re-

markable for being uttered at that terrible penal period

of our criminal jurisprudence, that I cannot refrain from

inserting the whole of it here. The occasion was this :

—

On the 13th of May, 1777, the House of Commons sat

in committee on a bill for the better securing and pre-

serving the dockyards, magazines, ships, vessels, stores,

warehouses, goods, and merchandizes, being the property

of private persons within this kingdom.
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Sir Charles Bunbury, M.P. for Suffolk, moved to the

effect, that persons found guilty of offences against which

the bill provided should not be punished with death.

Mr. Combe, of Earns Hill, Somerset, M.P. for Aid-

borough, Suffolk, thereupon thus expressed himself:

—

"Whoever reads your statute book and sees how many
crimes are punished with death, which are much less

heinous than burning of ships, I am surprised any gentle-

man should it think not high time to put to death such

dangerous and wicked incendiaries. It is true John the

Painter was hanged for burning Portsmouth Dock, be-

cause there is an Act of Parliament that makes it death

to burn royal docks : but there is no Act of Parliament

to hang men for burning merchants' ships or warehouses

;

and if John the Painter had burned all the ships and

warehouses in Bristol, he would not have been hanged.

And I think the example of death full as proper in one

case as the other."

The Right Hon. Sir Wm. Meredith, M.P. for Liver-

pool, thus eloquently replied to Mr. Combe :

—

" I agree with my hon. friend that no greater crime

can be committed than the wilfully setting fire to mer-

chants' ships, which may endanger not only lives and

properties, but public safety. I should think this crime

above all others fit to be punished with death, if I could

suppose the infliction of death at all useful in the pre-

vention of crimes. But, in subjects of this nature, we

are to consider not what the individual is nor what he

may have done, we are to consider only what is right for

public example and private safety. Whether hanging

ever did or can answer any good purpose, I doubt ; but
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the cruel exhibition of every execution day is a proof

that hanging carries no terror with it; and I am confi-

dent that every new sanguinary law operates as an en-

couragement to commit capital offences; for it is not

the mode but the certainty of punishment that creates

terror. What men know they must endure, they fear

;

but what they think they can escape, they despise. The

multiplicity of our hanging laws has produced these two

things, frequency of condemnation and frequency of

pardons. As hope is the first and great spring of action,

if it was so, that out of twenty convicts only one was to

be pardoned, the thief would say, " Why may not I be

that one?' But since, as our laws are actually admi-

nistered, not one in five is executed, the thief acts on

the chance of five to one in his favour ; he acts on a fair

and reasonable presumption of indemnity : and I verily

believe that the confident hope of indemnity is the cause

of nineteen in twenty of the robberies that are commit-

ted. But if we look to the executions themselves, what

example do they give ? The thief dies either hardened

or penitent. We are not to consider such reflections as

occur to reasonable and good men, but such impressions

as are made on the thoughtless, the desperate, and the

wicked. These men look on the hardened villain with

envy and admiration. All that animation and contempt

of death with which heroes and martyrs inspire good

men in a good cause, the abandoned villain feels in see-

ing a desperado, like himself, meet death with intre-

pidity. The penitent thief, on the other hand, often

makes the sober villain think this way. Himself op-

pressed with poverty and want, he sees a man die with



THE DOCKYARD INCENDIARY. 149

that penitence which promised pardon for his sins here

and happiness hereafter : that he thinks, that by rob-,

bery, forgery, or murder, he can relieve all his wants

;

and if he be brought to justice the punishment will be

short and trifling, and the reward eternal. Even in

crimes which are seldom or never pardoned, death is no

prevention. Housebreakers, forgers, and coiners, are

sure to be hanged; yet housebreaking, forging, and

coining, are the very crimes which are oftenest com-

mitted. Strange it is, that, in the case of blood, of

which we ought to be most tender, we should still go

on against reason and against experience, to make un-

availing slaughter of our fellow creatures ! A recent

event has proved that policy will do what blood cannot

do : I mean the late regulation of the coinage. Thirty

years together men were continually hanged for coin-

ing ; still it went on, but, on the new regulation of the

gold coin, ceased. This event proves these two things

:

the efficacy of police and th« inefficacy of hanging. But

is it not very extraordinary that, since the regulation of

the gold coin, an Act has passed making it treason to

coin silver? But has it stopped the coining of silver?

On the contrary, do not you hear of it more than ever ?

It seems as if the law and the crime bore the same date.

I do not know what the hon. member thinks who brought

in the bill ; but perhaps some feelings may come across

his own mind when he sees how many lives he is taking

away for no purpose. Had it been fairly stated and

specifically pointed out what the mischief in coining

silver in the utmost extent is, that hanging bill might

not have been so readily adopted : under the name of
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treason it found an easy passage. I, indeed, have always

understood treason to be nothing less than some act or

conspiracy against the life or honour of the king and

the safety of the state ; but what the king or state can

suffer by my taking now and then a bad sixpence or a

bad shilling I cannot imagine. By this nickname of

treason, however, there lies at this moment in Newgate,

under sentence to be burnt alive, a girl just turned of

fourteen. At her master's bidding she hid some white-

washed farthings behind her stays ; on which the jury

found her guilty as an accomplice with her master in

the treason. The master was hanged last Wednesday,

and the fagots all lay ready—no reprieve came till just

as the cart was setting out— and the girl would have

been burnt alive on the same day had it not been for

the humane but casual interference of Lord Weymouth.

Good God ! Sir, are we taught to execrate the fires at

Smithfield, and are we lighting them now to burn a poor

harmless child for hiding a whitewashed farthing ? And

yet this barbarous sentence, which ought to make men

shudder at the thought of shedding blood for such trivial

causes, is brought as a reason for more hanging and

burning. It was recommended to me not many days

ago to bring in a bill to make it treason to coin copper

as well as gold and silver. Yet in the formation of these

sanguinary laws humanity, religion and policy are thrown

out of the question. This one wise argument is always

sufficient. If you hang for one fault, why not for

another ? ' If for stealing a sheep, why not a cow or a

horse ; if for a shilling, why not for a handkerchief worth

eighteen pence ; and so on ? We therefore ought to
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oppose the increase of these new laws ; the more, be-

cause every fresh one begets twenty others.

"When a member of Parliament brings in a new

hanging law, he begins with mentioning some injury

that may be done to private property, for which a man

is not yet liable to be hanged, and then proposes the

gallows as the specific infallible means of cure and pre-

vention ; but the bill in its progress often makes crimes

capital that scarce deserve whipping. For instance, the

shoplifting act was to prevent bankers and silversmiths,

and other shops where there are commonly goods of

great value, from being robbed ; but it goes so far as to

make it death to lift anything off a counter with an in-

tent to steal. Under this act, Mary Jones was executed,

whose case I shall just mention. It was at the time

when press warrants were issued on the alarm about

Falkland's Islands. The woman's husband was pressed,

their goods seized for some debts of his, and she, with

two small children, turned into the streets a-begging.

'Tis a circumstance not to be forgotten that she was

very young (under nineteen), and most remarkably

handsome. She went to a linendraper's shop, took

some coarse linen off the counter, and slipped it under

her cloak ; the shopman saw her, and she laid it down.

For this she was hanged. Her defence was (I have the

trial in my pocket), ' That she had lived in credit, and

wanted for nothing, till a press-gang came and stole her

husband from her ; but, since then, she had no bed to

lie on, nothing to give her children to eat, and they were

almost naked j and perhaps she might have done some-

thing wrong, for she hardly knew what she did.' The

parish ofBcers testified the truth of this story; but it
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seems there had been a good deal of shoplifting ahout

Ludgate; an example was thought necessary^ and this

woman was hanged for the comfort and satisfaction of

some shopkeepers in Ludgate Street. When brought

to receive sentence^ she behaved in such a frantic manner,

as proved her mind to be in a distracted and desponding

state J and the child was sucking at her breast when she

set out for Tyburn.

"Let us reflect a little on this woman's fate. The

poet says :

—

" 'An honest man's the noblest work of Grod.'

He might have said, with equal truth, that

" ' A beauteous woman's the noblest wort of Grod.'

" But for what cause was God's creation robbed of

this its noblest work ? It was for no injury, but for a

mere attempt to clothe two naked children by unlawful

means. Compare this with what the State did, and

what the law did. The State bereaved the woman of

her husband, and the children of a father, who was all

their support ; the law deprived the woman of her life,

and the children of their remaining parent, exposing

them to every danger, insult, and merciless treatment

that destitute and helpless orphans suffer. Take all the

circumstances together, I do not believe that a fouler

murder was ever committed against law than the murder

of this woman by law. Some who hear me are perhaps

blaming the judges, the jury, and the hangman; but

neither judge, jury, nor hangman are to blame; they

are but ministerial agents. The true hangman is the

member of Parliament ; he who frames the bloody laws

is answerable for all the blood that is shed under it.
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But there is a further consideration still. Dying as

these unhappy wretches often do^ who knows what their

future lot may be ? Perhaps my honourable friend who

moves this bill has not yet considered himself in the

light of an executioner. No man has more humanityj

no man a stronger sense of religion than himself : and

I verily believe that at this moment he wishes as little

success to his hanging law as I do. His nature must

recoil at making himself the cause^ not only of shedding

the blood, but perhaps destroying the soul of his fellow-

creature.

"But the wretches who die are not the only sufferers;

there are more and greater objects still : I mean the

surviving relations and friends. Who knows how many

innocent children we may be dooming to ignominy and

wretchedness? Who knows how many widows' hearts

we may break with grief, how many grey hairs of parents

we may bring with sorrow to the grave ?

" The Mosaic law ordained that for a sheep or an ox

four or five-fold should be restored ; and for robbing a

house, double ;—that is, one fold for reparation, the rest

for example ; and the forfeiture was greater, as the pro-

perty was more exposed. If the thief came by night, it

was lawful to kill him ; but if he came by day, he was

only to make restitution ; and if he had nothing, he was

to be sold for his theft. This is all that God required

in felonies ; nor can I find in history any sample of such

laws as ours, except a code that was framed at Athens

by Draco. He made every offence capital, upon this

modern way of reasoning :
—

' That petty crimes deserved

death, and he knew nothing worse for the greatest.'

His laws, it is said, were not written with ink, but with
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blood; but they were of short duration, being all repealed

by Solon, except one for murder.

" An attempt was made some years ago by my honour-

able friend, Sir Charles Bunbury, to repeal some of the

most absurd and cruel of our capital laws. The bill

passed this House, but was rejected by the Lords for

this reason :
' It was an innovation,^ they said, ' and

subversion of law.' The very reverse is the truth. The

hanging laws are themselves innovations. No less than

three -and-thirty of them passed during the last reign.

I believed I myself was the first person who checked the

progress of them. When the great Alfred came to the

throne, he found the kingdom overrun with robbers

;

but the silly expedient of hanging never came into his

head. He instituted a police, which was to make every

township answerable for the felonies committed in it.

Thus property became the guardian of property ; and all

xobbery was so effectually stopped, that (the historians

teU us) iii a very short time any man might travel

through the kingdom unarmed with his purse in his

hand.

" Treason, murder, rape, and burning a dwelling-house

were all the crimes that were liable to be punished with

death by our good old common law ; and such was the

tenderness, such the reluctance to shed blood, that if re-

compense could possibly be made, life was not to be

touched. Treason being against the King, the remission

of that crime was in the Crown. In case of murder

itself, if compensation could be made, the next of kin

might discharge the prosecution, which, if once dis-

charged, could never be revived. If a ravisher could

make the injured woman satisfaction, the law had no
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power over him ; she might marry the man ixnder the

gallows if she pleased, and take him from the jaws of

death to the lips of matrimony. But so fatally are we

deviated from the benignity of our ancient laws, that

there is now under sentence of death an unfortunate

clergyman,* who made satisfaction for the injury he

attempted; the satisfaction was accepted, and yet the

acceptance of the satisfaction and the prosecution bear

the same date.

" There does not occur to my thoughts a proposition

more abhorrent from nature and from reason than that,

in a matter of property, when restitution is made, blood

should still be required. But in regard to our whole

system of criminal law, and much more to our habits of

thinking and reasoning upon it, there is a sentence of

the great Roman orator which I wish those who hear

me to remark, exhorting the Senate to put a stop to

executions. He says :

—

'Nolite, Quirites, hanc scBvitiam

diutius pati, qua non modo tot civies atrocissime sustulit,

sed humanitatem ipsam ademit consuetudine incommo-

dorum.'

" Having said so much on the general principles of

our criminal laws, I have only a short word or two to

add on the two propositions now before us : one, as

moved by the honourable gentleman (Mr. Combe) to

hang persons that wilfully set fire to ships ; the other,

moved as an amendment by my honourable friend (Sir

Charles Bunbury), is to send such offenders to work

seven years on the Thames.

" The question arises from the alarming events of the

* Dr. Dodd.
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late fires at Portsmouth and Bristol, for whicli the incen-

diary is put to death. But will an act of Parliament

prevent such men as Jack the Painter from coming into

the world, or control them when they are in it ? You

might as well hring in a bill to prevent the appearance

or regulate the motions of a comet. John the Painter

was so far from fearing death, that he courted it ; was

so far from concealing his act, that he told full as much
as was true, to his own conviction. When once a villain

turns enthusiast, he is above all law
;
punishment is his

reward, and death his glory. But, though this law will

be useless against villains, it is dangerous and may be

fatal to many an innocent person. There is not an

honest industrious carpenter or sailor who may not "be

endangered in the course of his daily labour. They are

constantly using fire and combustible matter about ship-

ping, tarring and pitching and caulking. Accidents are

continually happening; and who knows how many of

those accidents may be attributed to design ? Indeed,

the act says the firing must be done wilfully and mali-

ciously, but judges and juries do not always distinguish

rightly between the fact and the intention. It is the

province of a jury only to try the fact by the intention

;

but they are too apt to judge of the intention by the

fact. Justices of the peace, however, are not famed for

accurate and nice distinctions ; and all the horrors of an

ignominious death would be too much to threaten every

honest shipwright with for what may happen in the

necessary work of his calling.

" But, as I think punishment necessary for so heinous

an offence, and as the end of all punishment is example.
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of the two modes of punishment I shall prefer that which

is most profitable in point of example. Allowing, then,

the punishment of death its utmost force, it is only short

and momentary ; that of labour permanent ; and so

much example is gained in him who is reserved for

labour more than in him who is put to death, as there

are hours in the life of the one beyond the short moment
of the other's death."

Mr. Henry Dundas, M.P. for Edinburgh, Lord Advo-

cate, here spoke against the motion.

The bill was ordered to be reported, but it dropped.

The present law with regard to the burning in docks

is this :—By the 24th and 25th Vic, c. 97, sec. 4, who-

soever shall unlawfully and maliciously set fire to any

station, engine-house, warehouse, or other building be-

longing or appertaining to any railway, port, dock, or

harbour, or to any canal or other navigation, shall be

guilty of felony, and liable to penal servitude for life, or

not less than three years, or to imprisonment not ex-

ceeding two years, with or without hard labour and soli-

tary confinement; and if a male under sixteen years,

with or without whipping.

By the Act for the Government of the Navy, the 24th

and 25th Vic., c. 115, article 30, every person subject to

this act who shall unlawfully set fire to any dockyard,

victualling-yard, or steam-factory yard, arsenal, maga-

zine, building, stores, or to any ship, vessel, hoy, barge,

boat, or other craft, or furniture thereunto belonging,

not being the property of an enemy, pirate, or rebel,

shall sufier death, or such other punishment as is here-

inafter (in the act) mentioned.



THE TRIAL OF ADMIRAL KEPPEL.

The trial of Admiral Byng, and, in a less flagrant degree,

that of Lord George Sackville, had revealed the exist-

ence of a mode of prosecution fraught with danger in

the hands of a weak or malignant administration. The

means thus invented, were to throw upon the com-

mander of an expedition which, from some cause over

which he had no control, and possibly from the fault of

Government itself, did not succeed, all the blame and

penalty of the failure. Unlike the noble and friendly

reception which Rome, in the days of its great and glo-

rious contest with Carthage, gave to the defeated consul

Terentius Varro, because he had not despaired of the

Commonwealth;—a British general or admiral, however

distinguished on other occasions, was to be met, on his

return from any mischance, with opprobrium, criminal

prosecution, and probably death. Fortunately for the

constitutional character of England, and the dignity

and independence of its military and naval service, this

plan, when attempted for the third time, utterly and

signally failed. Admiral Keppel was, indeed, not the

man for such an attack, nor was the time of it suitable

either. His own credit as a commander and a man of

sterling worth, and his popularity, stood on the very
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firmest basis ; and he belonged to the influential Whig
party, which was then rising fast into power over a

ministry as rapidly sinking under the disasters of the

American War. Poor Byng had but his merit to pro-

tect him, and he perished; a better chance let Lord

George Sackville off with his bare life ; but Keppel had

the pubUc around him, and had not only the people in his

favour, but also a giant band of personal friends. With

such protectors as Rockingham, Burke, Pox and Sheri-

dan, persecution might do its worst : he was invulner-

able. The only thing to wonder at now is, the madness

of a Government which could participate in such a pro-

secution against him. His trial is really a somewhat

dull affair, as much from the certainty of his acquittal

as from the prolixity of the details
;
yet it must be ever

read with the deepest interest by all who advocate the

free action and the fair latitude that should be allowed

to every man who has to command the army or the

navy of the British empire.

Before entering into the trial itself, it may be as well

to give a short biographical sketch of the previous career

of Admiral Keppel.

The Rt. Hon. Augustus Keppel, Viscount Keppel, of

Elvedon, in the county of Suffolk, P.O., an admiral of

Great Britain, and for some time First Lord of the

Admiralty, one of the pre-eminent seamen of our naval

history, was, like the unfortunate Admiral Byng, of

aristocratic birth and descent : he was the second son

of Sir William Anne* Keppel, K.G., second Earl of

• Queen Anne had stood for this peer, in person, as his godmother,

and hence his second Christian name of Anne,
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Albemarle, by his wife Anne, daughter of Sir Charles

Lennox, K.G., first Duke of Richmond; and was the

grandson of the famous friend and companion-in-arms

of William III., Arnold-Joost Van Keppel, Lord of

Voorst, whose aid to William in his acqiusition of the

throne at the Revolution was rewarded with the earldom

of Albemarle, and other minor titles in the peerage of

Great Britain. Augustus Keppel, the future admiral,

was born on the 2nd of April, 1725, and entered the

royal navy when thirteen years of age. He was a mid-

shipman on board Commodore Anson's ship, the Cen-

turion, in his voyage round the world, in 1740. Of the

dangers, distresses, and advantages of that celebrated

expedition, he therefore had his share : in particular, at

the taking of Paita, by Lieutenant (afterwards Admiral

Sir Peircy) Brett. In 1741 he had a very narrow escape;

for, having on a jockey cap, one side of the peak was

shaved off close to his temple by a ball, which, however,

did him no other injuiy. Having been appointed, while

still in his teens, in the course ofthat voyage, a lieutenant,

he, soon after his return, in February, 1745, took post

rank as captain of the Maidstone, 40, and was very suc-

cessful in capturing several French privateers ; but on

July 7, 1747, as he was giving chase to one, running too

near shore on the coast of France, near Nantes, his ship

was unfortunately lost : himself and crew were saved.

Keppel's picture, admirably painted by his friend, Sir

Joshua Reynolds, represents him as just escaped from

that shipwreck. Being soon exchanged, and returning

to England in 1747, he was one of the court-martial on

the trial of Captain Fox, of the Kent, who, for misbeha-
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viour in the action under Admiral Hawke, was dismissed

the service. After the peace in August, 1749, Captain

Keppel sailed with a squadron, as commodore, to Algiers,

to demand satisfaction or restitution for the treasure

piratically taken out of the Prince Frederick packet

boat ; and the matter was brought to a satisfactory and

amicable conclusion. But another act of piracy, in the

succeeding year, led him again to Algiers : he had a

second audience of the Dey, and exhorted him to con-

sider, that a great king, like His Britannic Majesty,

was not accustomed to demand satisfaction in vain ; to

which the Dey made a defiant and spirited reply ; but

eventually concluded the business in friendly terms. In

1753, Commodore Keppel ably effected treaties with the

States of Tripoli and Tunis, and returned with credit

from the Mediterranean.

In 1755, he sailed as commodore in the Centurion,

for Virginia, having on board General Braddock, and

under his convoy a fleet of transports, with 3,000 troops,

to drive the French from their encroachments on the

Ohio. The event of that expedition, as is well known,

was unfortunate, and would have been more so, but for

the co-operation of Keppel. During his absence he was

elected to Parliament for the city of Chichester, in the

room of his brother, who had succeeded to the earldom

of Albemarle at his father's death. In January, 1757,

Keppel was the junior member of the memorable court-

martial, at Portsmouth, which tried Admiral Byng

;

and (for the law gave him no alternative) he was obliged

to concur in the sentence which adjudged the admiral to

be shot to death. He, however, strenuously endeavoured
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to save him ; and in his place in the Commons, applied

to the House on hehalf of himself, -and several other

members of the court-martial, praying the aid of Parlia-

ment to be released from the oath of secrecy imposed

on courts-martial, in order to disclose the grounds on

which that sentence was passed. The obvious intent of

this leave to disclose, was to allow the members of the

court-martial to openly comment on and protest against

the monstrosity of a law which compelled them to an

award of death for an error in judgment; and thus

might they avert its effects. The Commons listened to

the prayer ; the sentence was for the moment respited,

and a bill passed, the House to release the members of

the court-martial from the obligation of the oath of

secrecy. But the upper House was less merciful ; after

examining the several members of the court-martial,

the Lords unanimously rejected the bill. To the third

question, among those, which the Lords put to the

members of the court-martial on that occasion, viz.,

the question,—"Whether you are desirous the present

bill should pass ?"—Keppel, with Rear Admiral Norris,

and Captain (afterwards Sir John) Moore, answered in

the affirmative; and to the fourth question,

—

" Whether

you are of opinion that you have any particulars to

reveal relative to the case of, and the sentence passed

upon. Admiral Byng, which you' judge necessary for

His Majesty's information, and which you think likely

to incline His Majesty to mercy,"— Keppel replied,

"1 think that I cannot answer that question without

particularising the reasons for my vote and opinion."

The House, by not passing the bill, would not allow
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liim to do sOj and the shameful sentence waSj despite

of his humane endeavour, carried into execution. Com-

modore Keppel, in 1758, sailed from Spithead with

a squadron and land forces, on an expedition against

the French settlements at Goree, on the coast of Africa,

which he reduced by a vigorous attack. In Hawke's

memorable naval victory over the French armament

under Conflans, Captain Keppel, in the Torhay, had a

brilliant share; he sunk the enemy's ship, Thesee, of

equal force to his own vessel, at the second broadside.

Again, while in command of the Valiant, he victoriously

served under Sir Edward Hawke in Quiberon Bay. In

October following, just before King George II.^s death,

he was appointed to command the fleet on an intended

expedition, in which General Kingsley was to command

the troops; and His Majesty saw a battalion of the

foot guards march by Kensington Palace for that pur-

pose two days only before his death. The royal demise

occasioned a suspension of the expedition. In 1761,

Commodore Keppel commanded the British fleet at the

celebrated reduction of Belleisle; and in 1762, he con-

tributed greatly to the reduction of the Havannah, being

second in command under Sir George Pocock, who said,

" that Keppel executed the service nnder his direction

with the greatest spirit, activity, and diligence." In

1763, he was a Lord of the Admiralty ; in 1765, he was

appointed rear, and in 1770 vice, admiral of the blue.

Keppel had thus risen to the very highest repute, and

deservedly so. He was a man of cultivated mind and

generous soul, and was a thorough British sailor,

—

brave, prudent, energetic, and indefatigable. His frank-

ness, affability and good humour, won him the unbounded
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love of the seamen^ who gave him the afiectionate and

familiar title of " Jack's protector." It was in the very

midst of this credit and popularity that the Government

of the day—the disastrous administration of Lord North

—sought to re-enact against Keppel the tragedy of Ad-

miral Byng. The occasion was this :

—

The court of France having, in February, 1778, ac-

knowledged the independence of America, proceeded to

make an open avowal of the hostile sentiments they had

long entertained against England, by detaining all Bri-

tish ships to be found in the French ports. Orders

were, in consequence, given by the British ministry to

fit out a fleet of twenty sail of the line with the utmost

expedition j the command of which was offered to Ad-

miral Keppel. As the ministry had, in a great measure,

lost the confidence of the country, the eyes of the whole

nation were turned on Keppel, in whose appointment

every one seemed to feel his own security included. On

this occasion, therefore, he had a great deal to risk. His

well-earned fame was now to be staked on the doubtful

issue of a single battle. The part he had taken in poli-

tics, and the close friendship in which he lived with the

leading members of the opposition, augmented these

difficulties, and even rendered the command that was

offered him extremely hazardous ; for the ministers were

his political enemies, and political hostility at this time

was carried to a very great height. Any failure, there-

fore, whether proceeding from unavoidable accident, or

those misfortunes which the wisest and bravest cannot

repel, might attach censure on him, and be attended

with disagreeable, if not with dangerous, consequences.
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A due consideration of all these incidental diflBculties

made him hesitate in accepting an appointment so preg-

nant with danger from the hands of ministers ; but in

consequence of a royal message delivered to him through

the first lord of the admiralty, he attended in the closet

to receive the commands of his sovereign j and in that

and the subsequent royal audiences, he delivered himself

with that plainness, candour, and sincerity, which so

strongly marked his character. He particularly took

the liberty of observing, that he served in obedience to

His Majesty^s commands, that he was unacquainted with

his ministers as ministers, and that he took the command

as it was, without making any difficulty, and without

asking a single favour, trusting only to His Majesty's

good intentions, and to his generous support and protec-

tion. Keppel sailed from St. Helen's on the 13th of

June, 1778, with a naval force and with unlimited dis-

cretionary powers. But this force was of no more than

twenty sail of the line, many of which were in a bad

state of equipment, and was extremely inadequate for

the important service which was entrusted to him. On
the one hand, it was well known that France had a large

fleet at Brest ready for sea; and, on the other, the

great commercial fleets of England were on their pas-

sage home from the East and West Indies. Besides,

the defence of these fleets, he had to protect the exten-

sive coast of Great Britain, together with those invalu-

able reservoirs of her naval power, in which were equally

included her present strength and her future hope.

After much mature consideration, Keppel finally re-

solved to yield everything to what he conceived to be a
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faithful discharge of the great trust reposed in him. He
wisely thought that the only fleet which was then pre-

pared to protect the commerce and the coast of his

country, ought not to he hazarded against vast odds,

either upon personal or professional punctilio. His

conquest over the feelings of pride, was so extremely

difficult, that he afterwards declared, "he never in his

life felt so deep a melancholy, as on finding himself even

fdr the moment obliged to turn his back on Prance ; and

that his courage was never put to such a trial as in that

retreat ; but that it was his firm persuasion his country

was saved by it." The fleet returned to Portsmouth on

the 27th of June, and being joined by such ships as were

ready, the admiral sailed again on the 9th of July, with

twenty-four sail of the line, and two days afterwards was

joined by six more. In all, therefore, he had now thirty

sail of the line, four frigates, and two fire-ships. The

day before Keppel's departure from Portsmouth, the

great French fleet, amounting to thirty-two sail of the

line, and a vast number of frigates, sailed from Brest,

under the command of the Count d'Orvilliers.

The actual encounter with the French cannot be better

described than in the narrative of it given by Mr. C. D.

Yonge, in his "History of the British Navy:" he writes

thus :

—

" On the 9th of July, 1778, Keppel again put to sea

with a splendid fleet of thirty sail of the line and four

frigates. With him were the Vice-Admirals Sir Hugh

PalHser, Bart, (a Lord of the Admiralty at the time),

and Sir Robert Harland, Bart, j and, among his cap-

tains were, John Jervis, of the Foudroyant, 80 (after-
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wards Earl St. Vincent), and in the Robust, 74, Captain

Alexander Hood, afterwards Viscount Bridport. The

French fleet had quitted Brest the day before ; the com-

mander-in-chief was the Comte d'Orvilliers ; and among

the subordinate admirals was a prince of the royal blood,

the Due de Chartres, subsequently known as that Due
d'Orleans who voted for the murder of his relation and

king, the hapless Louis XVI. ' The Due de Chartres

was one of the vilest of cowards ;* and being also given,

as such people sometimes are, to boasting of the exploits

he intended to perform, he had lately announced to

Admiral Sir George Rodney, at Paris, his appointment

to a command in the fleet which was to combat Keppel.

Rodney predicted that the result of the meeting would

be that His Royal Highness would be conducted to

England to learn English; but he and his commander

did their best to defeat the prophecy by avoiding the

battle for which he had professed so much eagerness.

"Before he regained his old station off Brest, Keppel

learnt that the French were at sea ; and accordingly he

kept off the land to search for them. The weather was so

hazy that the two fleets nearly passed one another un-

consciously ; bjit on the afternoon of the 23rd the fog

suddenly cleared off, and, to the surprise of both, they

found themselves within a few miles of each other, some

leagues to the west of Ushant. D'Orvilliers had pro-

bably been ignorant of Keppel's return to England for

* It should be here in fairness mentioned, that Mr. Tonge somewhat

errs as to the Duke of Chartres, who, bad as he was in other respects,

(he was the citizen Egalit^ of the Kevolution), had not the character of

a coward : he, at any rate, behaved with marked courage on this oc-
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reinforcements. At all events, he believed him to be

far weaker than he really was, and at first showed every

inclination to fight; but when, on approaching nearer,

he ascertained the real strength of the British fleet, he

showed that he had no idea of engaging on equal terms.

He resolved to decline the battle ; and his possession of

the weather-gauge enabled him to do so. His conduct

was. a practical acknowledgment of the inferiority of

French to British sailors; for more equal fleets could

not be found. The French line-of-battle ships exceeded

the English in number by two ; but the English ships

were rather the larger ; and the English had two thou-

sand two hundred and seventy-eight guns, to two thou-

sand two hundred and seventy- six, that composed the

armament of the French. In frigates, D'OrvilHers had

a decided advantage; but however useful they might

be before or after the battle, in the actual conflict they

were not likely to have much weight. A fairer oppor-

tunity of testing the naval merits of the two nations

could not be imagined. D^Orvilliers, however, kept

away, and the next day was seen moving off in full re-

treat. Keppel, signalling to his fleet to form in hne of

battle, and to chase, pursued with every sail his ships

could carry ; and, as two of the Frenchmen had fallen

to leeward, he endeavoiu'ed to cut them off, in the hope

of thus forcing his antagonist to a battle in order to save

them. D'Orvilliers thought more of saving himself, and

left the stragglers to their fate: their speed enabled them

to escape, but they were unable to rejoin their comrades.

The 34th, the 25th, the 26th, passed without any varia-

tion of the circumstances or relative positions of the two
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fleets. The French continued their retreat; we con-

tinued our pursuit. In the afternoon of the 26thj Kep-

pel, thinking he was losing time by keeping his fleet in

line of battle, hauled down that signal which had been

constantly flying from the time he first saw the enemy,

but still he kept up the signal to continue the chase.

" The French ships, however, as has been mentioned

before, were generally superior to ours in sailing quali-

ties, so that the chase would in all probability have been

entirely fruitless, had not the wind suddenly shifted on

the morning of the 37th from south-west to west-

south-west; and, though this does not appear a very

great change, it was sufficient to prevent the French

admiral from any longer having the entire option of

engaging in or avoiding a battle. It put in KeppeFs

power to force on at least a partial action, and he in-

stantly availed himself of the chance thus unexpectedly

afforded him ; but he found himself in some difficulty.

The eagerness with which he had hitherto pressed on

the chase had somewhat scattered his fleet. Harland

was foiir miles off, on the Victory's weather quarter;

Palliser, in the Formidable, was three miles or moi-e to

leeward, and as the way in which he handled his ship

seemed to show a disposition to increase that distance,

Keppel, desiring to unite his squadron to his own,

signalled to Palliser to chase to windward. Finding

an action inevitable, D'Orvilliers, to preserve his line

of battle unbroken, caused his fleet to wear; but that

and some other evolutions threw them into great dis-

order, and brought them nearer to the enemy whom
their chief object was to avoid. These manoeuvres had

8
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occupied nearly four hours. At last, a little before

noouj Keppel made the signal to attack, and Sir

Robert Harland, who commanded the van division, led

the fleet gallantly into battle, passing along the French

line, receiving their fire without returning it till he

came up to their leading ships. Keppel followed with

the centre, in like manner reserving his fire till he got

alongside the French admiral himself, whom he had

marked for his own especial antagonist, and was soon

joined by Palliser and his squadron. For nearly two

hours both fleets were hotly engaged. The loss of hfe

was lightest in ours ; but, from the French practice of

aiming chiefly at the rigging, many of our ships were

far more crippled than any of theirs. Keppel' s own

flag-ship, the Victory, had received great damage ; and

flve more of our ships were so much disabled that the

admiral was not altogether without apprehension of

losing some of them. Palliser's ship, the Formidable,

had sufifered as severely as any, and Sir Hugh had

been the first to quit the hne. "When the battle had

lasted nearly two hours, with a view of enabliag him to

renew the action, and also of protecting the crippled

ships, Keppel made the signal to wear. Harland and

his division obeyed; but Palliser took no notice of the

signal, making no attempt to renew the action himself,

and, as was afterwards alleged, by his example pre-

venting the rest from going to the admiral's support.

Later in the afternoon, Keppel sent a frigate to him

with an express order to bear down; but the sun went

down, and it was not till daylight the next morning

that the Formidable again took up the station assigned
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for her. But long before daylight all hope of renewing

the battle was past. The lights of the enemy had been

visible to our men all night; but, when day broke, it

was discovered that they proceeded from only three

ships. D'Orvilliers had stolen away with his main

body, and, to prevent any suspicion of his flight from

occurring to the British admiral, he had left three of

his fastest sailers to keep up the same lights that were

shown by the flag-ship, with instructions to set all sail

and rejoin him as soon as daylight should reveal to the

English the delusion that had been practised. Once

more Keppel chased for an hour or two, and then,

finding his efforts to overtake the enemy perfectly

fruitless, he returned to Plymouth to repair the damage

he had received.

" No ship was taken on either side, the number of our

killed and wounded did not amount to above three-

fourths of the loss sustained by the French; but the

question of who were the victors was most clearly de-

termined by a proof far more incontestable than any

such minute calculation. The flight of the French, for

their course on the 38th can be called by no other

name, acknowledged their defeat in the most forcible

manner. But, after having made such efibrts to fit

out a sufficient fleet, the British nation was not con-

tented with a victory which required arithmetic and

logic to prove it to have been one. Murmurs soon

began to be heard, which presently assumed the de-

finite shape of complaints that Palliser, by his dis-

obedience to his commander^s signals, had prevented

the renewal of the action, and by so doing had enabled
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the French to escape. In his official despatch Keppel

was so far from having complained of Palliser's beha-

viour, that he expressly named him as, " by his spirited

conduct, having deserved much commendation."

Before proceeding farther, however, it should be here

stated in fairness to the Count D'Orvilliers, (whom

Keppel himself, in his defence, does not blame,) that

Mr. Yonge seems to have taken rather a severe and

incorrect view of the Count's conduct in evading an

engagement : D'Orvilliers, on the contrary, had great

reasons for avoiding a battle, and his retreat was really

a success. Another writer, the author of an excellent

" British Naval Biography," to whom I am much in-

debted in this article, puts the point very clearly, thus

:

" It must not be attributed to any want of spirit in

D'Orvilliers that he thus obstinately declined a battle.

The motives of both commanders exactly corresponded

with the different lines of conduct they pursued. Our

East and West India convoys, of immense value, were

on their return home, and hourly expected. The posi-

tion maintained by the French fleet was extremely

favourable for intercepting those convoys in the course

they were expected to hold ,• and from the situation of

the hostile fleets, and the state of the wind, they might

have been captured in the English adiniraFs sight, with-

out a possibility of his preventing it. On the other

hand, KeppeFs fleet effectually cut off that of his ad-

versary from the port of Brest. It was, therefore, no

less the object of Keppel to bring the enemy to an

immediate action, than it was that of D'Orvilliers to

avoid it."
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It was so, iu fact, uuderstood by the British public,

who felt, at once, that the French had gained a great

advantage, and that this action of July, 1778, had

not been of that bold and decisive character which

the country was used to expect from the navy.* The

event gave rise to much animadversion, and 'at last was

discussed by the newspapers and periodicals of the day

with furious animosity. Party feeling embittered the

question ; for though Admiral Keppel was employed on

account of his ability and experience, he was hostile to

the then administration, so that any attempt to dis-

* M. !F. PeuiUet de Conches, in his recently published correspon-

dence of Louis XVI., Marie-Antoinette and the Princess Elizabeth,—

a

very interesting work—gives a curious letter on the subject of Keppel's

engagement from the pen ofthe Princess Elizabeth, who was Louis XVI.'s

sister, and the admirable lady whose martyrdom was decidedly the

foulest act among the foul acts of the Eeigu of Terror. The princess is

writing in or near August, 1778, to her devoted friend Madame de

BombeEes, and the letter is as follows:—"Je n'ai que le temps, mon
ange, de vous dire qu'U y a eu uue affaire entre les deux flottes

;
que le

premier choc a ete trfes-vif, qu'eusuite elles se sont separees, et que la

notre s'est avancee pour un second, mais que les Anglais se sont retires.

On dit que Ton a remarque que le vaisseau de I'Amiral Eeppel se

battait fort Men, mais que tout d'un coup il y a eu une grande Evolu-

tion, qu'il a cesse de se defendre et s'est retire. Huit ou dix batiments

I'ont aocompagne, ce qui fait croire que I'amiral est ou trfes-blesse ou

tue. II y a dix vaisseaux fort endommages, et nous,, nous n'en avons

que deux qui seront en etat de repartir dans huit jours. Le Due de

Chartres revient passer deux k trois jours ici. M. Du Chaffault est

trfes-dangereusement blesse. Je m'affermis encore plus dans oe que je

vous ai dit la demifere fois. J'attends votre r^ponse aveo impatience

pour me decider siur ce que je dois faire. Ne dites point la nouveUe de

I'Amiral Keppel, pares qu'elle u'est pas sAre. Je vous embrasse de

tout mon coeur.

Elizabeth Mabie."
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parage Mm was attributed to the malevolence of the

government.

In the House of Commons, of which both Admirals

Keppel and Palliser were members, a motion was made

for an inquiry, whereupon Admiral Keppel rose, and

gave an account of his conduct from the time he

assumed the command of the fleet. He declared,

" That if he was again to go over the business of the

27th of July, he would conduct himself in the same

manner. He said, everything he could do against the

enemy had been done ; but observed, at the same time,

that the oldest and most experienced officers would dis-

cover something in every engagement, with which they

were previously unacquainted; and he acknowledged

that that day had presented something new to him."

Sir Hugh Palliser defended himself with much warmth,

and accused Keppel of inconsistency in having officially

commended his conduct, and in now wishing to insinu-

ate that he had neglected to perform his duty. To this

the admiral replied, " That the official praise which he

had bestowed on all the officers under his command,

to obviate discord, did not oblige him to authenticate

statements which would impeach himself; but now,

when called upon to speak out, he would inform the

House, and the public, that the signal for coming into

the Victory's wake, was flying from three o'clock in the

afternoon till eight in the evening unobeyed; at the

same time he did not charge the vice-admiral with

actual disobedience, because he was fdly persuaded of

his personal bravery, and believed that if any inquiry

was considered necessary that he would be able to
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justify Hmself." This altercation led to a great deal

of mutual recrimination between the two admirals^

until at length Sir Hugh Palliser, on the 9th of

December, delivered in an accusation to the Board of

Admiralty, of which he was himself one of the lord

commissioners. This accusation consisted of five sepa-

rate charges against Keppel, for misconduct and neglect

of duty in the action of the 27th of July ; and the Board

immediately ordered the admiral to be tried by a court-

martial.

On the 7th of January, 1779, the signal was made

for all the admirals and captains of His Majesty's fleet

to come on board the Britannia in Portsmouth harbour.

Then the Judge-Advocate General, Sir Charles

Gould, LL.D., read the order sent by the Lords of the

Admiralty to Sir Thomas Pye, admiral of the white, to

hold the court-martial, dated the 31st of December,

1778, signed Sandwich, T. Buller, Lisburne: and for

adjourning to the Governor of Portsmouth's house.

The court-martial consisted of the following mem-

bers :

—

President, Sir Thomas Pye, Kt., admiral of the

white ; Mathew Buckle, vice-admiral of the red ; John

Montagu, vice-admiral of the red; Mariot Arbuthnot,

rear-admiral of the white; Robert Roddam, rear-

admiral of the white ; Captains Mark Milbank (after-

wards an admiral), Francis Samuel Drake (afterwards

an admiral and a baronet) , Taylor Penny, John Moutray,

"William Bennet, Adam Duncan (afterwards an admiral

and a viscount, the hero ofCamperdown), Philip Boteler,

and James Cranston,



176 CELEBRATED TRIALS.

Pursuant to the Admiralty order^ the court adjourned

to the house of the Governor of Portsmouth, and there

the trial was held.

Keppel appeared before the court attended by a

galaxy of friends ; among them were some of the most

illustrious personages in the kingdom, viz., the Dukes

of Cumberland, Richmond, and Bolton; the Marquis

of Rockingham, the Earls of Effingham and Albe-

marle, Edmund Burke, Charles James Fox, and Richard

Brinsley Sheridan. Keppel's counsel was Erskine—the

Hon. Thomas Erskine, the future Lord Chancellor,

then in the first year of his call to the bar, and already

becoming famous as an advocate.

The proceedings commenced by the President desir-

ing the Judge-Advocate, Sir Charles Gould, to read

the charge, which was as follows

:

" A. charge of Misconduct and Neglect of Duty against

the Honourable Admiral Keppel, on the 27th and 28th

of July, 1778, in divers instances undermentioned.

" I. That on the morning of the 27th of July, 1778,

having a fleet of thirty ships of the line under his com-

mand, and being then in the presence of a French fleet

of the like number of ships of the line, the said admiral

did not make the necessary preparations for fight, did

not put his fleet into a line of battle, or into any order

proper either for receiving or attacking an enemy of

such force ; but, on the contrary, although his fleet was

already dispersed and in disorder, he, by making the

signal for several ships of the vice-admiral of the bluets

division to -chase to windward, increased the disorder

of that part of the fleet, and the ships were, in conse-
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quence, more scattered than they had been before ; aud

whilst in this disorder^ he advanced to the enemjj and

made the signal for battle.

" That the above conduct was the more unaccount-

able, as the enemy^s fleet was not then in disorder^ nor

beaten, nor flying, but formed in a regular line of

battle, on that tack which approached the British fleet

(all their notions plainly indicating a design to give

battle), and they edged down and attacked it whilst in

disorder. By this unofficer-like conduct a general en-

gagement was not brought on, but the other flag-

ofScers and captains were left to engage without order

or regularity, from whence great confusion ensued
j

some of his ships were prevented getting into action at

all, others were not near enough to the enemy, and

some from the confusion, fired into others of the king's

ships, and did them considerable damage ; and the vice-

admiral of the blue was left alone to engage singly and

unsupported. In these instances the said Admiral Kep-

pel negligently performed the duty imposed upon him.

" II. That after the van and centre divisions of the

British fleet passed the rear of the enemy, the admiral

did not immediately tack and double upon the enemy

with those two divisions, and continue the battle ; nor

did he collect them together at that time, and keep so

near the enemy as to be in readiness to renew the battle

as soon as it might be proper; but, on the contrary, he

stood away beyond the enemy to a great distance, before

he wore to stand towards them again, leaving the vice-

admiral of the blue engaged with the enemy, and ex-

posed to be cut off.

8 *
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III. That after the vice-admiral of the hlue had

passed the last of the enemy's ships^ and immediately

wore and laid his own ship's head towards the enemy

again, being then in their wake, and at a little distance

only, and expecting the admiral to advance with all the

ships to renew the fight, the admiral did not advance

for that purpose, but shortened sail, hauled down the

signal for battle; nor did he at that time, or at any

other time, whilst standing towards the enemy, call the

ships together, in order to renew the attack, as he

might have done ;
particularly the vice-admiral of the

red, and his division, which had received the least

damage, had been the longest out of action, were ready

and fit to renew it, were then to windward, and could

have bore down and fetched any part of the French

fleet, if the signal for battle had not been hauled down,

or if the said Admiral Keppel had availed himself of the

signal appointed by the thirty-first article of the fight-

ing instructions, by which he might have ordered those

to lead who are to lead with the starboard tacks on

board by a wind, which signal was applicable to the

occason for renewing the engagement with advantage

after the French fleet had been beaten, their line

broken, and in disorder. In these instances he did

not do the utmost in his power to tack, sink, burn, or

destroy the French fleet that had attacked the British

fleet.

" IV. That instead of advancing to renew the engage-

ment, as in the preceding articles is alleged, and as he

might and ought to have done, the admiral wore and

made sail directly fiom the enemy, and thus he led the
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whole British fleet away from them, which gave them

the opportunity to rally unmolested, and to form again

into a line of battle, and to stand after the British fleet

:

this was disgraceful to the British flag, fdt it had the

appearance of a flight, and gave the French admiral a

pretence to claim the victory, and to publish to the

world that the British fleet ran away, and that he pur-

sued it with the fleet of France, and ofiered it battle.

" V. That on the morning of the 28th of July, 1778,

when it was perceived that only three of the French

fleet remained near the British, in the situation the

whole had been in the night before, and that the rest

were to leeward, at a greater distance, not in a line of

battle, but in a heap, the admiral did not cause the

fleet to pursue the flying enemy, nor even to chase the

three ships that fled aftjr the rest j but, on the contrary,

he led the British fleet another way, directly from the

enemy.

" By these instances of misconduct and neglect a

glorious opportunity was lost of doing a most essential

service to the State, and the honour of the British

navy was tarnished."

The trial lasted thirty-two days, and the evidence was

very extensive and very minute ; but, after all was heard,

it left the aff'air much as stated by Mr. Yonge in his

account of it. The following incidents from the testi-

mony adduced may be read with interest.

Captain Marshall, of the Arethusa frigate, the first

witness called, stated in answer to the question, whe-

ther Admiral Keppel conducted himself unbecoming

a flag-officer; "No, as God is my judge
!"



180 CELEBKATED TRIALS.

Captain Sir William Chaloner Burnahy, Bart., of

the Milford, in his evidence, informed the court,

that when he first perceived the French fleet, the

afternoon of the 23rd, they were to eastward of our

fleet, nearly a-head, or rather leeward, standing to-

wards us, and appearing to be in great disorder;

that, the Milford having received orders from the admi-

ral to reconnoitre the enemy, he made towards them.

That at half past four he tacked and stood towards the

Victory, the French fleet nearly then beginning to form

a line a-head, seeming to direct their course to leeward

of our fleet, and very little from the wind. About half

past eight o^clock the British admiral made signal for

the fleet to bring to, and, to the best of- his recollection,

it continued in that situation all night. Upon further*

interrogations it appeared from Sir WiUiam that the

French fleet were all that day forming in line of

battle; that on the 25th and 26th the weather was

squally, with fresh gales, that occasioned such a north-

west swell as is usual with such winds ; that they kept

the weather-gauge of us all the time, generally observing

their line of battle, and rather gained upon our fleet,

sometimes carrying a pressing sail, at other times

under an easy sail, for the better perfecting their line

of battle ; and that during all that time, had they been

ever so much disposed to attack our fleet, they could

not have done it without disadvantage, as they could

not, without risk, fight their lee lower-deck guns,

whilst we could fight our weather lower-deck- guns.

Sir William was cross-examined by Admiral Keppel as

to the vice-admiraFs situation and conduct after the
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engagement; when it appeared, that from the natural

superiority of the Victory over the Formidable in sail-

ing, and the damage the latter had sustained, Sir

Hugh Palliser could not accompany the admiral; hut

that he did not see him make any signal of his disability.

In the course of the admiral's questions to Sir

William he asked, did I not pursue with a press of sail,

conformable to my worst sailing ships, to close and get

up, until the moment I brought them to battle, except

the two times after the 24th that I made the sigaal for

the line ? Sir Hugh objected to this as a leading question.

Admiral Keppel : " I desire I may not be interrupted

by the accuser. I am trying for my life, and for my
honour, which is dearer, and I hope for the protection of

the court." Soon after he said, " I would have fired at the

French if they had not fired at me." Sir William

Bumaby concluded by saying. Admiral Keppel always

pressed sail, and gave every proof of a great desire of

bringing the French to battle.

Captain Digby, of the Ramillies, was called : Sir

Hugh Palliser began to interrogate him with re-

gard to the business of the 23rd, when Admiral

Keppel begged the Court to take notice, that, for

the purpose of shortening, if possible, the length to

which he saw the trial woiild necessarily extend, if they

still went over the same ground, and questions were

repeatedly asked which he had admitted, he again told

them that he admitted that the French fleet put them-

selves into order of battle when we discovered them.

When Captain Digby mentioned, that from squally

weather there was a swelling sea, and was asked whe-
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ther the ships could then fight their lower-deck guns
j

he saidj he could not have fought all his.

Admiral Montagu : In hoth articles of the charge, ,

Admiral Keppel is charged with running away from the

French fleet. Did you that day see him run away from

them, instead of advancing to renew the engagement,

as he might and ought to have done, which are the

words expressed in the charge ?

The charge was then read, and an objection started

by Sir Hugh Palliser to the question, as contrary to

law. Upon which several members of the court-martial

said, " We do not care sixpence in this case for the law

;

we are come here to do justice, and hope, in God's

name, it will be done."

Admiral Montagu : If Admiral Keppel ran away.

Captain Digby did so too ; and I suppose every part of

the fleet followed their leader. Did you that day run

away from the French fleet ?—No.

Captain Hood, of the Robuste, was called upon and

examined. Admiral Arbuthnot asked him if the admiral

had thought fit to have renewed the attack when the

French line was broke, could you have obeyed his

signal and gone down to the enemy in the condition

you were in ?—I could not.

Admiral Montagu: From their relative situation, as

you have described them, do you think the British ad-

miral was running away from the enemy?—At that

time there was no appearance of a flight.

Did the admiral run away any other time?—There

was nothing in his conduct at any time which indicated,

in the most distant manner, a flight. In the morning

he pursued them.



ADMIRAL KEPPKL. 183

Captain Allen, of the Egmont, was called, aud lie was

finally put these questions. Sir, was it not more proper

and prudent in the admiral to lay to, and repair his dis-

abled ships before he renewed the attack, than to have

returned to the engagement immediately?—Assuredly

it was.

Then, sir, upon the whole did it appear to you, as an

old experienced officer, that Admiral Keppel did by his

conduct, either on the 27th or 38th of July, tarnish the

honour of the British navy ?—^No ; and I should not

take upon me to say thus much, if I had not been forty

years at sea, and three-and-thirty years an officer. I

look upon it, the admiral did much honour to, instead

of tarnishing, the British navy.

One circumstance showed very strongly the animus

of Sir Hugh Palliser. It was discovered in the course

of the trial, that some leaves had been taken out of the

log book of the Formidable, containing the work of the

26th, 27th and 28th July, and the master of the For-

midable was required to attend to explain.

Now such a witness should not be interfered with be-

fore coming to court by the prosecutor
;
yet that Sir

Hugh Palliser did so interfere, appears by the following

incident. Vice-admiral Palliser to the President : Sir,

the cutting leaves out of the Formidable's log-book, is

a fact of which I was totally ignorant, until it was per-

ceived by a member of this court; nor could any person

be more astonished at it than myself. It is my most

anxious wish to have this matter fully investigated;

and, for that purpose, I have ordered the master of the

Formidable, and the mate who made the entries, to
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attend here this morning ; and, that they may be more

strictly interrogated upon the matter, I desire that they

may be examined by the court and Admiral Keppel,

without any previous question from me.

Mr. Forfar, the master of the Formidable, being then

called and sworn, and his former oath read to him,

respecting the originality of the log-book, Admiral

Keppel observed, that his reason for wishing to trouble

the court the preceding day, when he requested the

master of the Formidable might be immediately interro-

gated respecting that alteration, was to prevent any

intermediate communication between him and others

upon that subject ; he, therefore, desired to know who

was the person who first acquainted him, that the court

had discovered any extraordinary circumstance relating

to the book ; and whether, and with whom, he had any

conversation on that subject before the rising of the

court the evening before ? The witness answered, that

he had heard a woman mention it to another in a shop

where he had been; that it was between one and two

o'clock, at that time, and he immediately came to the

witnesses' room that he might be ready to attend the

court if he should be called; that in his way, he met the

master of the Foudroyant, who told him he thought he

would be wanted on tliat business ; that he spoke to no

other person till he came into witnesses' room, where

he saw Captain "Walsingham, who told him he supposed

he was come about the log-book ; that he had no other

conversation about it, till after the court broke up,

when he conversed upon it with Captain Bazeley, at his

lodgings, next door to the vice-admiral's ; shortly after

which he went to Sir Hugh Palliser's house.
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Sir Hugh Palliser here observed, that in order to save

the court trouble, he readily admitted that he had not

only conversed with the witness before on the subject,

but had interrogated him very strictly- indeed on the

subject. The master of the Formidable then made a

very lame explanation as to the cutting out of the leaves

in question.

The evidence being concluded for the prosecution.

Admiral Keppel addressed the court in his defence, in a

speech, in the composition of which he is said to have

been assisted by his illustrious friend, Edmund Burke.

Keppel spoke as follows :

—

Sir,—After forty years spent in the service of my
country, little did I think of being brought to a court-

martial to answer charges of misconduct, negligence in

the performance of duty, and tarnishing the honour of

the British navy. These charges, sir, have been ad-

vanced by my accuser. Whether he has succeeded in

proving them or not, the court will determine. Before

he brought me to trial, it would have been candid in

him to have given vent to his thoughts, and not, by a

deceptions show of kindness, to lead me into the mistake

of supposing a friend in the man who was my enemy in

his heart, and was shortly to be my accuser. Yet, sir,

after all my misconduct ; after so much negligence in

the performance of my dutyj and after tarnishing so

deeply the honour of the British navy, my accuser made

no scruple to sail a second time with that man who had

been the betrayer of his country. Nay, during the time

that we were on shore, he corresponded on terms of

friendship, and even in his letters he approved of what
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had been done, of the part which he now condemns, and

of the very negligent misconduct which has since been

so offensive in his eyes !

Such behaviour, sir, on the part of my accuser, gave

me little reason to apprehend an accusation from hira.

Nor had I any reason to suppose that the State would

criminate me. When I returned. His Majesty received

me with ths greatest applause. Even the first lord of

the Admiralty gave his flattering testimony to the rec-

titude of my conduct, and seemed with vast sincerity to

applaud my zeal for the service. Yet, in the moment of

approbation, it seems as if a scheme was concerting

against my life ; for, without any previous notice, five

articles of a charge were exhibited against me by Sir

Hugh Palliser, who, most unfortunately for his cause,

lay himself under an imputation of disobedience of

orders'at the very time when he accused me of negligence.

This, to be sure, was a very ingenious mode of getting

the start of me. An accusation exhibited against a

commander-in-chief might draw off the public opinion

from neglect of duty in an inferior officer. I could

almost wish, in pity to my accuser, that appearances

were not so strong against him. Before the trial com-

menced, I actually thought that my accuser might have

some tolerable reason for his conduct. But from the

evidence even as adduced to account for the behaviour

of the honourable gentleman in the afternoon of the

27th of July ; from that evidence, I say, sir, I find that

I was mistaken. The trial has left my accuser without

excuse, and he now cuts that sort of figure which I trust

in God all accusers of innocence will exhibit

!
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I have observed^ sir, that the opinions of officers of

different ranks have been taken. I trust that the court

will indulge me in the liberty in the evidence for my
defence. Some have refused to give their opinions. I

thought it strange, as plain speaking and a full declara-

tion are the best of evidences in a good cause.

I would wish, sir, the court to consider that in all

great naval, as well as military operations, unless the

design be fully known, the several manoeuvres may
have a strange appearance. Masters have been called

to give their opinions on the higher departments of

command. Higher authorities should have been taken.

Such authorities are not scarce ; /or I am happy to say,

there never was a country served by naval officers

of more bravery, skill and gallantry, than England can

boast at present. As to this court, I entreat you, gen-

tlemen, who compose it, to recollect that you sit here

as a court of honour, as well as a court of justice, and

I now stand before you not merely to save my life, but

for a purpose of infinitely greater moment—to clear my
fame.

My accuser, sir, has been not a little mistaken in his

notions of the duty of a commander-in-chief, or he

never would have accused me in the manner he has

done. During action, subordinate officers either are, or

they ought to be, too attentive to their own duty to ob-

serve the manoeuvres of others. In general engage-

ments, it is scarcely possible for the same objects to

appear in the same point of view to the commanders of

two different ships. The point of sight may be different.

Clouds of smoke may obstruct the view. Hence will
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arise tlie difference in the opinions of oflScers as to this

or that manoeuvre, without any intentional partiality.

Whether I have conceived objects in exact correspon-

dence with the truth—^whether I have viewed them un-

skilfully (or as my accuser has been pleased to term itj

unofficer-like), these are matters which remain to be

determined. I can only say, that what Sir Hugh
Palhser has imputed to me as negligence, was the effect

of deliberation and choice. 1 will add, that I was not

confined in my powers when I sailed ; I had ample dis-

cretion to- act as I thought proper for the defence of the

kingdom. I manoeuvred; I fought; I returned; I did

my best. If my abilities were not equal to the task, I

have the consolation to think that I did not solicit, nor

did I bargain for the command. More than two years

ago, in the month of November, 1776, I received a

letter from the first lord of the marine department,

wherein he observed, that, owing to motions of foreign

courts, it might be necessary toj)repare a fleet of obser-

vation. My reply to this letter was, That I was ready

to receive any command from his majesty, and I begged

to have the honour of an audience. This request was

complied with. I was closetted, and I told the king I

was willing to serve him as long as my health would

permit. I heard no more till the month of March

1778, at which time I had two or three audiences, and

I told his majesty that I had no acquaintance with his

ministers, but I trusted to his protection and zeal for

the public good. Here were no sinister views; no

paltry gratifications; I had nothing—I felt nothing,

but an earnest desire to serve my country. I even
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accepted the command in chief with reluctance. I was

apprehensive of not being supported at home. 1 fore-

saw that the higher the command, the more liable was

I to be ruined in my reputation. Even my misfortunes,

if I had any, might be construed into crimes. During

forty years' service, I have not received any particular

mark of favour from the crown. I have only been

honoured with the confidence of my sovereign in times

of public danger. Neither my deficiencies, nor my mis-

conduct, were ever Ijpfore brought forward to the public.

And it is now somewhat strange, that so well acquainted

as my accuser must have been with my deficient abilities,

it is strange, I say, sir, that he should be the very person

who brought me the message to take the command upon

me ! Nay, further, sir, he brought that message with

great seeming pleasure ! There was, or there was not,

reason at that time to doubt my ability. If there was

reason, how could my accuser wish me to accept a com-

mand for which I was disqualified? If there was not

any reason to doubt my professional abilities sixteen

months ago, I have given no reason why they should

since be called in question. When I returned from the

expedition, I did not complain of anything. I endea-

voured to stop all murmurings. I even trusted the first

lord of the Admiralty in the same manner as I would

have done my most intimate friend. This might be

imprudent—it might be dangerous ; but, sir, I am by

nature open and unguarded, and little did I expect that

traps would be artfully laid to endeavour to catch me

on the authority of my own words.

It was in the month of March, 1778, that I was told
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a fleet lay ready for me to command. When I reached

Portsmouth, I saw six ships ready, and, on viewing even

those with a seaman's eye, I was not by any means

pleased with their condition. Before I quitted Ports-

mouth, four or five more were ready, and I will do the

persons in ofiBce the justice to say, that from that time

they used their utmost diligence in getting the fleet

ready for service.

On the 20th of June, I sailed with twenty ships of the

line, and very fortunately I fell in ^ith the Belle Poule,

and other French frigates, and the letters and papers

found on board them were of material service to the

state. Captain Marshall distinguished himself with the

greatest honour. I confess that when I fell in with

those frigates, I was at a loss' how to act. On the one

hand, I conceived the incident to be favourable to my
country; and, on the other, 1 was fearful that a war

with France and all its consequences might be laid to

my charge. For anything I can tell, this may be the

case. It may be treasured up to furnish another matter

for future accusation. To this hour I have neither re-

ceived official approbation, nor censure for my conduct.

With twenty ships of the liue I sailed. Thirty- two

ships of the line lay in Brest watei", besides an incre-

dible number of frigates. Was I to seek an engage-

ment with a superior force ? I never did, nor shaU T

ever fear to engage a force superior to the one I then

commanded, or that I may hereafter command. But 1

well knew what men and ships can do ; and, if the fleet

I commanded had been destroyed, we must have left the

French masters of the sea. To refit a fleet requires
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time. From the situation of aflfairs, naval stores are not

very soon supplied. Never did I experience so deep a

melanclioly as when I found myself forced to turn my
back on France ! I quitted my station^ and my courage

was never put to so severe a trial. •

I was permitted to sail a second time, without re-

ceiving official praise or blame for the part I had acted.

These were discouraging circumstances. But they did

not disturb my temper. My principal object was to

get ready for sea with all possible haste. I was sur-

prised on my return to be threatened with the fate of

Admiral Byng, and I was still more surprised to be

charged with cowardice.

With thirty ships of the line I sailed early in July.

The French admiral sailed from Brest with thirty-two

ships. I believe that, when the fleets came in sight of

each other, the French were not a little surprised to see

me so strong. I desire not to throw the slightest im-

putation on the courage of the French admiral. I

believe him to be a brave man, and one who had some

particular reasons for the line of conduct he pursued.

I was determined, if possible, to bring the French to

battle, as I had every reason to think that their having

avoided an engagement, when it was for four days in

their power to attack me, was owing to their expecting

some capital reinforcements. I therefore thought that

the sooner I could engage them the better, especially

as I knew that the principal fleets of our trade were

daily expected in the channel, and if the French fleets

had been permitted to disperse without an action, our

East and West India fleets might have been inter-
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cepted, the convoys might have been cut off, and the

stake of England might have been lost. I beg leave to

mention^ that in the reign of King William, the gallant

Admiral Russell was two months in sight of a French

fleet, and he could not possibly bring them to action.

My being in sight of the French fleet four days before

the engagement will not, therefore, appear quite so

extraordinary as it has been represented. Had it not

been for the favourable change of wind on the morning

of the 27th of July, I could not have brought the French

to action when I did.

I am exceedingly sorry, sir, that the Admiralty have

refused me the liberty of producing my instructions.

In all former courts^-martial the instructions and orders

have been sent with the charge to the members of the

Court. As it has been denied in this instance, I must,

and do, submit.

Although on the 27th of July I fought and beat my

enemy, and compelled him to take shelter by returning

into port, yet the effect did by no means answer my

wishes. I rushed on to re-attack my enemy. Why I

did not accomplish my design will be seen in the

evidence I shall produce. I might, it is true, have

chased the three ships which were visible on the morn-

ing of the 28th of July, but with very little prospect of

success. I, therefore, chose to return to Plymouth

with my shattered fleet, to get ready for sea again, not,

however, forgetting to leave two ships of the line to

cruize for the protection of our trading fleets, which,

thank God ! all arrived safe.

On my retiu'n, sir, 1 most cautiously avoided to utter
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a syllable of complaint, because it migbt have suspended

our naval operations, which at that time would have

been highly dangerous. I could not think of attending

to a court-martial when greater objects were in view.

With respect to the second edition of the Formidable'

s

log-book, it appears to have been fabricated rather for

the purpose of exculpating the prosecutor than to cri-

minate me. I shall, therefore, pass it over, and permit

the gentleman to make the most of such an exculpa-

tion. I cannot, however, be so ci'v'il to the alterations

and additions in the log-book of the Robust. Captain

Hood's conduct must have struck the court, as I be-

lieve it did every person, except the prosecutor, with

astonishment.

A great stress, sir, has been laid on my letter to the

Admiralty. There is a passage in it where I seemed to

approve the conduct of every officer in the fleet. The

court will observe, that I was not in my letter to inform

all Europe, that a vice-admiral, under my command,

had been guilty of neglect, whilst there remained a

possibility of excuse for his conduct. As to courts-

martial, one very bad consequence will, I am sure,

result from this trial; it will t&rrify a commander-in-

chief from accepting a commission, if he should be

liable to be brought to trial by every subordiaate

officer.

As I have touched on my letters, I will just observe,

sir, that the most disagreeable task that I ever ex-

perienced was that of writing my letter of the 30th pf

July. However, if I wrote iU, I am confident that I

fought well, and the destruction of the trade of France

9
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was evident from the number of rich captures which

were made, a number far exceeding anything ever

known in so short a period ! His Majesty noticed this

in a speech from the throne "

The admiral then proceeded to reply seriatim and in

detail to the five articles against him^ and having con-

cluded, called his witnesses, who established his complete

exculpation, if, indeed, there could have been anything to

explain or clear in his conduct. Among these witnesses

was the Vice-Admiral Sir Robert Harland ; and Captain

Jervis, the faturehero of St. Viacent, who emphatically

said, "I cannot boast of a long acquaintance with Admiral

Keppel; I never had the honour to serve under him

before, but am happy in this opportunity to declare to

the court, and to all the world, that, during the whole

time the English navy was in sight of the French fleet,

he displayed the greatest naval skiU and ability, and

the boldest enterprise, on the 37th of July, which, with

the promptitude and obedience of the Vice-Admiral

Sir Robert Harland, will be subjects for my admira-

tion and imitation as long as I live."

The proceedings of the court-martial concluded on

February 11, 1779, by an honourable acquittal of Ad-

miral Keppel ; the court unanimously deciding that the

charge exhibited against him was malicious and ill-

founded; it having appeared that the admiral, so far

from having, by misconduct and neglect of duty on the

days alluded to, lost an opportunity of rendering an

essential service to the State, and thereby tarnishing

the honour of the British navy, behaved himself as

became a judicious, brave, and experienced officer.
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The court did, therefore, unanimously and honour-

ably acquit Admiral Augustus Keppel of the several

articles contained in the charge exhibited against him,

and he was fully and honourably acquitted accord-

ingly.

The President, on the acquittal being announced,

addressed himself to the admiral in the following words,

delivering to him his sword at the same time :

—

"Admiral Keppel, it is no small pleasure to me
to receive the commands of the court I have the honour

to preside at, that in delivering to you your sword I am
to congratulate you on its being restored to you with

so much honour, hoping ere long you will be called

forth by your sovereign to show it once more in the

defence of your country/^

The concourse of people that surrounded the court

was immense. As soon as the sentence was pronounced

an exclamation of joy burst forth in repeated peals,

which was immediately communicated to the crowd

without, and soon became general throughout the

town and the whole nation by general illuminations.

In the "Gentleman's Magazine" for Feb. 1779, the

following paragraphs show the great sensation created

by the acquittal :

—

"Thursday, Feb. 11.—About eleven o'clock at night,

the news having arrived of the acquittal of Admiral

Keppel, a riotous mob, to testify their zeal on the

occasion, suddenly assembled, and did a great deal of

mischief, by breaking the windows of those houses that

were not illuminated, and entering the houses, and de-

stroying the furniture of some gentlemen, against whom
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the popular cry had been raised, particularly of Lord

North, Lord Germaine, Lord Mulgrave, Sir Hugh
PaUiser, Captain Hood, and some others; but on the

appearance of the military, and some of the leaders

beiag apprehended, they dispersed, without attempting

to rescue those who were ia custody.

" Friday, Feb. 12.—At a Court of Common Council

held at Guildhall, a motion was made, and unanimously

agreed to. That the thanks of the court be given to the

Hon. Augustus Keppel for his spirited conduct during

the action of the 27th of July last, for the protection

given by him to trade, &c., &c.

" Another motion was at the same time made, That

the freedom of the city be presented to Admiral Keppel,

in a box made of heart of oak, richly ornamented, and

embellished with gold, &c., which motion was likewise

agreed to.

" Sunday, Feb. 14.—Admiral KeppeFs flag was

hoisted on board the Victory at Spithead.

"Thursday, Feb. 18.—Admiral Keppel received the

thanks of the House of Commons. He also received

the thanks of the House of Lords then sitting.

"Friday, Feb. 19.—Admiral Keppel attended the

levee at St. James's, and was graciously received by

His Majesty.

"Saturday, Feb. 20.—Admiral Keppel diued, by

invitation, at the London Tavern. His carriage was

drawn by sailors through the city, and the illumina-

tions were more general in the evening than ever was

known."

The trial of Sir Hugh Palliser by court-martial
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seemed a necessary consequence of tlie acquittal of

Keppel. Palliser was accordingly tried at a court-

martial held on board the Sandwich at Portsmouth.

The investigation lasted from April 13 to May 5j 1779,

and the result was, that though the court blamed

Palliser for not having made known to his commander

how the Formidable had been so crippled by an ex-

plosion, that Admiral KeppeFs signals could not be

attended to, yet the court found that Sir Hugh's con-

duct had been in many respects highly exemplary and

meritorious, and in general terms acquitted him. De-

spite of this, the popular feeling ran strongly agaiast

Sir Hugh Palliser, and though a brave and experienced

oflScer, he never found favour with the public again.

He resigned, in 1779, his seat in the House of Com-

mons, his appointment as a lord of the Admiralty,

and all his other official employments. He, however,

eventually became Governor of Greenwich Hospital,

and an admiral of the White. He died at Greenwich

the 19th March, 1796.

Admiral Keppel remained a popular man to the day

of his death. The admiral, when the party of the

Marquess of Rockingham came into power, in 1782,

was made first lord of the Admiralty, and a privy

councillor; and, on the 22nd April, 1782, he was

created Viscount Keppel of Elvedon, in the county of

Suffolk. He continued, with a slight intermission,

first lord of the Admiralty till 1784, when, soon after,

he retired iato private life, where his constant amia-

bility and unaffected cheerfulness won him to the last

the affection and cordial attentions of all around him.
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He died of gout in the stomacli on the 3nd October,

1786, at his seat, Elden Hall, Suffolk, and, as he was

never married, his peerage expired with him; but the

noble family to which he belonged still flourishes high

in rank and well-merited reputation. The admiral's

grand nephew is now head and representative of the

house, as sixth Earl of Albemarle.

Edmund Burke, in his famous " Letter to a Noble

Lord," thus refers to Admiral Keppel

:

" No man lives too long, who lives to do with spirit,

and suffer with resignation, what Providence pleases to

command, or inflict ; but, indeed, they are sharp incom-

modities which beset old age. It was but the other

day that, on putting in order some things which had

been brought here on my taking leave of London for

ever, I looked over a number of fine portraits, most of

them of persons now dead, but whose society, in my
better days, made this (Beaconsfield) a proud and happy

place. Among these was the picture of Lord Keppel.

It was painted by an artist worthy of the subject (Sir

Joshua Reynolds), the excellent friend of that excellent

man from their earliest youth, and a common friend of

us both, with whom we lived for many years without a

moment of coldness, of peevishness, of jealousy, or of

jar, to the day of our final separation. I ever looked

on Lord Keppel as one of the greatest and best men of

his age
J and I loved and cultivated him accordingly.

He was much in my heart, and I believe I was in his,

to the very last beat. It was at his trial at Portsmouth

that he gave me this picture. With what zeal and

anxious affection I attended him through that his
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agony of glory, what part my son took in the early

flash and enthusiasm of his virtue, and the pious

passion with which he attached himself to all my con-

nections ; with what prodigality we both squandered

ourselves in courting almost every sort of enmity for

his sake, I believe he felt, just as I should have felt

such friendship on such an occasion. I partook, in-

deed, of this honour, with several of the first, and best,

and ablest in the kingdom, but I was behindhand with

none of them; and I am sure that if, to the eternal

disgrace of this nation, and to the total annihilation of

every trace of honour and virtue in it, things had taken

a different turn from what they did, I should have

attended him to the quarter-deck with no less good will

and more pride, though with far other feelings, than I

partook in the general flow of national joy that attended

the justice that was done to his virtue. Pardon, my
lord, the feeble garrulity of age, which loves to difiiise

itself in discourse of the departed great. At my years

we live in retrospect alone ; and, wholly unfitted for the

society of vigorous life, we enjoy, the best balm to all

wounds, the consolation of friendship, in those only

whom we have lost for ever."



THE MUTINY OF THE "BOUNTY."

The outrageous act of insubordination on opeu sea,

known as " The Mutiny of the Bounty," has proved^

from the lasting interest it has excited, and from its

extraordinary results, one of the most wonderiul events

in .the annals of our navy. The memory of the foul

crime has flourished, not only in tales, dramas, and

poetry, hut in the very good that Providence worked out

of it. Pitcaim^s Island, where the mutineers and their

descendants settled, and Norfolk Island, whither the

latter have removed, are models of civilisation to, the

whole Polynesian world. In poetry, the Mutiny has

been done the highest, and, indeed, the unfairest honour.

Lord Byron's magnificent production, "The Island ; or.

Christian and his Comrades,'" has converted the guilty

mutineers into a band of heroes ; and his lordship, with

a morbid taste for criminals of the corsair stamp, has

thrown a glow of chivalry over deeds which deserved

only the whipping post and the gallows. He, too, passes

over, in a very few impressive lines, the great and real

heroism of the whole affair—a heroism that deserved an

Odyssey for its record. I aUude to the conduct of Cap-

tain, afterwards Admiral, William Bligh, a seaman.



THE MUTINY OP THE " BOUNTY." 201

illustrious in consequence^ who, when his mutinous crew

cast him and nineteen others adrift in an open boat,

guided and cheered his associates with undaunted energy

and perseverance, through a sail of more than 3,500

miles, until they arrived safe at the Dutch settlement,

in the island of Timor, without losing more than one

man. Lord Byron wrongfully compares with the Spar-

tans of Thermopylae, Christian and his comrades, who,

with one or two exceptions, as they afterwards turned

out, were murderous vagabonds merely. A far juster

comparison would have been that of William Bhgh and

his companions in the open boat, with the unconquered

spirits that defended the pass of Thermopylae. The

British navy ought well to be proud of the memory of

Captain Bligh. Before proceeding to a summary of the

mutiny, a word or two may be said biographically of the

principal actors in the terrible transaction.

To begin with Bligh, a giant spirit in difficulty. He
was a scion of the family to which belong the Earls of

Darnley, and he was the grandson of Richard Bligh,

Esq., of Tinten, near Bodmin, in Cornwall, and the son

of William Bligh, Esq., by Jane, his wife. He was

born at Bodmin in 1753, and received a home educa-

tion. He went very early in life into the royal navy,

and was soon remarked for his aptness and his steady

and sensible performance of his duty. After passing

his examination as lieutenant, he, on the understanding

that his promotion should go on, went as sailing master,

under Captain Cook, and was for four years with that

great navigator, in the Resolution. In CooVs history

of his researches in the Southern Pacific, Bligh's name

9 * '
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frequently occurs. Bligh was a lieutenant when he was

appointed to command the Bounty. He was a strict

disciplinarian, but by no means a harsh or unamiable

man. He would have his orders obeyed, but he, at the

same time, was always studious of the comfort and hap-

piness of the men under him. By his own family and

by all his associates in his profession he was thoroughly

beloved and respected.

Fletcher Christian, master's mate on board the Bounty,

and the chief and worst mutineer, was a man of good

family and education, and had actually owed his advance-

ment in the service to Captain Bligh. He was the

brother of Professor Christian, Chief Justice of Ely,

the well-known editor of "Blackstone's Commentaries.^'

Peter Heywood, a midshipman on board the Bounty,

who joined the mutiny, and who, after being convicted

and pardoned for it, redeemed his character and became

a captain in the royal navy, was of a very respectable

family, and was grandson of Mr. Heywood, Chief Justice

of the Isle of Man. Peter Heywood was, no doubt, the

Torquil of Lord Byron's poem.

Edward Young, a midshipman, and another mutineer,

was nephew of Admiral Sir George Young, Bart.

Alexander Smith, alias John Adams, the most re-

markable of the mutineers, and afterwards the famous

patriarch of Pitcairn's Island, was a sailor of the ordi-

nary class.

David Nelson, the botanist, a credit to his great

name, who sailed with and shared the perils of Bligh,

was a man of much scientific knowledge. He had

been in Captain Cook's last voyage, and was appointed
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to the Bounty on the recommendation of Sir Joseph

Banks.

The circumstances of the mutiny were as follow :

—

His Majesty's ship Bounty, an armed vessel, was fitted

out under the express desire of King George III.j and

sailed from England in the winter of 1787, commanded

by Lieutenant Bligh, on a voyage to the Society Islands

to gather bread-fruit trees, and to bring them for trans-

plantation to the British West India settlements, in

which climate, it was the opinion of Sir Joseph Banks,

they might be successfully cultivated, and prove a suc-

ceedaneum for other provisions in times of scarcity.

The Bounty actually departed on its voyage from

Spithead on the 23rd December, 1787, and after having

to change its first intended course by Cape Horn for

the Cape of Good Hope, arrived at Otaheite, the chief

of the Society Islands, on the 25th October, 1788.

Here Bligh and his crew were received in the most

friendly way by the gentle inhabitants of the island, and

here they passed a delightful but too enervating period

of five months and a half. The worst of it was, the

charms of the place proved too strong a temptation

for the seamen of the Bounty. The women of Otaheite

had fascinated them to a degree that deprived them of

all sense of right or duty. Well might a locality in the

island be termed " Point Venus." The whole territory

seemed a Paphos, for in no savage land had there before

ever been found women so beautiful, so agreeable, and

so affectionate. I have it from one of Captain Bligh's

descendants, tha.t the captain always attributed the mu-

tiny solely to the irresistible desire of the crew to return

to the society of the Otaheite women.
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Byron, in his poem, agrees with Bligh in this view,

and thus depicts Otaheite :

—

" The gentle island, and the genial soil,

The friendly hearts, the feasts without a toil,

The courteous manners but from Nature caught,

The wealth unhoarded, and the love unbought

;

Could these have charms for rudest sea-boys, driven

Before the mast by every wind of heaven ?

And now, even now prepared with others' woes

To earn mild Virtue's vain desire, repose ?"

Byron's description of the Otaheite girl, Neuha, gives

a fair idea of the charms of the female population of

Otaheite :

—

" There sat the gentle savage of the wild.

In growth a woman, though in years a child.

As childhood dates within our colder clime,

Where nought is ripen'd rapidly save crime ;

The infant of an infant world, as pure

From Nature—lovely, warm, and premature,

Dusky like night, but night with all her stars

;

Or cavern sparkling with its native spars j

With eyes that were a language and a spell,

A form like Aphrodite's in her shell,

With all her loves around her on the deep.

Voluptuous as the first approach of sleep

;

Tet full of life—for through her tropic cheek

The blush would make its way, and all but speak

:

The sun-bom blood suffused her neck, and threw

O'er her clear nut-brown skin a lucid hue,

Like coral reddening through the darken'd wave,

Which draws the diver to the crimson cave."

A slight sign of a mutinous intention was shown at

one time during the stay on the island. Charles

ChurchiU, the ship's corporal, and two seamen, William

Musprat and John MUlward, temporarily deserted ; but,

after some days' search for them, they surrendered, and
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tkrew themselves on Bligli's mercy. He generously,

but not wisely, as it turned out, forgave them. Bligh

had made good, however, the object of his voyage, so far

as to have received on board a great number of the

bread-fruit trees in various stages of growth, and there

was every prospect of their being capable of preserva-

tion. The ship, thus laden, quitted Otaheite on the 4th

of April, 1789, and continued her course in a westerly

direction, touching at one more island, and then medi-

tating her progress through the Pacific Ocean towards

the Moluccas. The ship lost sight of the Friendly

Islands on the 37th of that month, and everything like

good order was supposed to prevail on board—even the

mid-watch was relieved without the least apparent dis-

order ; but at daybreak on the 28th, the cabin of Cap-

tain Bhgh, who commanded the Bounty, was forcibly

entered by the officer of the watch, Fletcher Christian,

assisted by Churchill, Mills, and Burkitt, who dragged

him instantly on the deck, menacing his life if he at-

tempted to speak. His endeavour to exhort and bring

back the conspirators to their duty proved of no avail.

Each of the desperadoes was armed with a drawn cut-

lass or a fixed bayonet, and all their muskets were

avowed to be charged.

Captain Bligh discovered, when he came upon deck,

several of the crew and most of the officers pinioned

;

and while he was thus contemplating their perilous

state, the ship's boat was let over her side, and all who

were not on the part of the conspirators, to the number

of nineteen besides the captain, were committed to the

boat, and no other nourishment afforded to them than
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about 140 lbs. of breadj 30 lbs. of meat, one gallon and

a half of rum, a like portion of wine, and a few gallons

of water. A compass and quadrant were secured by one

of these devoted victims as he was stepping into the

boat ; and thus abandoned, the mutineers, after giving

them a cheer, stood away, as they said, for Otaheite.*

* Byron, with wonderful poetic accuracy, recounts the actual mu-

tiny:—
" Awake, bold BUgh ! the foe is at the gate

!

Awake ! awake !—alas ! it is too late

!

Fiercely beside thy cot the mutineer

Stands, and proclaims the reign of rage and fear,

Thy limbs are bound, the bayonet at thy breast
;*****

FuU in thine eyes is waved the glittering blade,

Close to thy throat the pointed bayonet laid j

The levell'd muskets circle round thy breast,

In hands as steel'd to do the deadly rest.

Thou dar'st them to their worst, exclaiming—' Fire
!'

But they who pitied not could yet admire.

Some lurking remnant of their former awe

Kestrained them longer than their broken law j

They would not dip their souls at once in blood,

But left thee to the mercies of the flood.

' Hoist out the boat !' was now the leader's cry
;

And who dare answer 'No!' to mutiny.

In the first dawning of the drunken hour.

The Saturnalia of unhoped-for power ?

The boat is lower'd with all the haste of hate.

With its slight plank between thee and thy fate

;

Her only cargo such a scant supply

As promises the death their hands deny

;

And just enough of water and of bread.

To keep, some days, the dying from the dead

:

Some cordage, canvas, saUs, and lines, and twine,

But treasures all to hermits of the brine.

Were added after, to the earnest prayer

Of those who saw no hope save sea, and air

;

And last, that trembling vassal of the Pole

—

The feeling compass—Navigation's soul."
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The captainj in the dreadful situation, found his hoat-

swaiuj carpenter, gunner, surgeon's mate, with Mr.

Daniel Nelson, the botanist, and a few inferior officers,

amongst those who were likely to share his fate. After

a short consultation, it was deemed expedient to put

back to the Friendly Islands : and accordiagly they

landed on one of these, in hopes they might improve

their small stock of provisions, on the 30th of April,

but were driven off by the natives two days after, and

pursued with such hostility that one man was kUled and

several wounded. It was then deliberated whether they

should return to Otaheite and throw themselves on the

clemency of the natives, but the apprehension of falling

in with the Bounty determined them with one assent to

make the best of their way to Timor ; and to effect this

enterprise—astonishing to relate !—^they calculated the

distance, near 4,000 miles, and in order that their

wretched supply of provisions might endure till they

reached the place of destination, they agreed to appor-

tion their food to one ounce of bread and one gUl of

water a day for each man. No other nourishment did

they receive tiU the 5th or 6th of June, when they made

the coast of New Holland, and collected a few shell-fish;

and with this scanty relief they held on their course to

Timor, which they reached on the 12th, after having

been forty-six days in a crazy, open boat, too confined

in dimensions to suffer any of them to lie down for re-

pose, and without the least awning to protect them from

the rain, which almost incessantly fell for forty days.

A heavy sea and squally weather for great part of their

course augmented their misery. The governor of this
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settlement, which belonged to the Dutch, afforded them

every succour they required. They remained here to

recruit their strength and spirits till the 20th of Au-

gust, when they procured a vessel to carry them to

Batavia. They reached Batavia on the 2nd of October,

and from thence Captain Bligh and two of the crew

embarked for the Cape of Grood Hope, and the rest of

the crew were prepared to follow as soon as a passage

could be obtained. Captain BUgh reached the Cape

about the middle of December, and soon after took his

passage for England, which he reached on the evening

of the 13th of March, and arrived in London on the

14th. Blights published narrative of this wonderful

escape, the result of his own indomitable courage and

perseverance, is a work elegantly written and fuU of the

deepest interest. It well deserves a place by the side of

the great fiction " Robinson Crusoe" and the true voy-

ages of Captain Cook. Blights own account of the

landing at Timor is so graphic, that I cannot refrain

from giving it here :

—

" I now," he writes, " desired my people to come on

shore, which was as much as some of them could do,

being scarce able to walk ; they, however, were helped

to the house, and found tea, with bread-and-butter,

provided for their breakfast.

" The abilities of a painter, perhaps, could seldom

have been displayed to more advantage, than in the

delineation of the two groups of figures, which at this

time presented themselves to each other. An indif-

ferent spectator would have been at a loss which most

to admire—the eyes of famine sparkling at immediate
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relief, or the horror of their preservers at the sight of

so many spectres, whose ghastly countenanceSj if the

cause had been unknown^ would rather have excited

terror than pity. Our bodies were nothing but skia

and bonesj our limbs were full of sores, and we were

clothed in rags. In this condition, with the tears of

joy and gratitude flowing down our cheeks, the people

of Timor beheld us with a mixture of horror, surprise,

and pity. The governor, Mr. William Adrian Van

Este, notwithstanding extreme ill-health, became so

anxious about us, that I saw him before the appointed

time. He received me with great affection, and gave

me the fullest proofs that he was possessed of every

feeling of a humane and good man. Sorry as he was,

he said, that such a calamity could ever have happened

to us, yet he considered it was the greatest blessing of

his life that we had fallen under his protection ; and,

though his infirmity was so great that he could not do

the office of a friend himself, he would give such orders

as I might be certain would procure us every supply we

wanted. A house should be immediately prepared for

me, and, with respect to my people, he said that I might

have room for them either at the hospital or on board

of Captain Spikerman's ship, which lay in the roadj

and he expressed much uneasiness that Coupang (the

Dutch capital in Timor) could not afford them better

accommodations, the house assigned to me being the

only one uninhabited, and the situation of the few

families that lived at this place such that they could not

conveniently receive strangers. For the present, till

matters could be properly regulated, he gave directions
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that victuals for my people should be dressed at his

own house.

"On returning to Captain Spikerman's house, I

found that every kind relief had been given to my
people. The surgeon had dressed their sores, and the

cleaning of their persons had not been less attended to,

several friendly gifts of apparel having been presented

to them. I desired to be shown to the house that was

intended for me, which I found ready, with servants to

attend. It consisted of a hall, with a room at each end,

and a loft over-head, and was surrounded by a piazza>

with an outer apartment in one corner, and a commu-

nication at the back part of the house to_the street. I

therefore determined, instead of separating from my
people, to lodge them all with me, and I divided the

house as follows :—One room I took to myself, the

other I allotted to the master-surgeon, Mr. Nelson, and

the gunner ; the loft to the other officers, and the outer

apartment to the men. The hall was common to the

officers, and the men had the back piazza. Of this dis-

position I informed the governor, and he sent down

chairs, tables, and benches, with bedding and other

necessaries for the use of every one.

" The governor, when I took my leave, had desired

me to acquaint him with everything of which I stood

in need ; but it was only at particular times that he had

a few moments of ease, or could attend to anything,

being in a dying state with an incurable disease. On

this account I transacted whatever business I had with

Mr. Timotheus Wanjon, the second of this place, who

was the governor's son-in-law, and who also contributed
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everything in his power to make our situation com-

fortable. I had beeUj therefore, misinformed by the

seaman, who told me that Captain Spikerman was the

next person in command to the governor.

" At noon a dinner was brought to the house, suffi-

ciently good to make persons, more accustomed to

plenty, eat too much. Yet, I believe, few in such a

condition would have observed more moderation than

my people did. My greatest apprehension was, that

they would eat too much fruit, of which there was great

variety in season at this time.

" Having seen every one enjoy this meal of plenty, I

dined myself with Mr. Wanjon ; but I felt no extraor-

dinary inclination to eat or drink. Rest and quiet I

considered as more necessary to the re-establishment of

my health, and, therefore, retired soon to my room,

which I found furnished with every cenvenieuce. But,

instead of rest, my mind was disposed to reflect on our

late sufferings, and on the failure of the expedition

;

but, above all, on the thanks due to Almighty God, who

had given us power to support and bear such heavy

calamities, and had enabled me at last to be the means

of saving eighteen lives."

All, however, did not live to reach England. David

Nelson, the botanist, died at Coupang, of fever, brought

on by fatigue. Elphinstone, the master's mate, and

two seamen, Hull and Liukletter, died at Batavia;

Robert Lamb and Mr. Ledward, the surgeon, were lost

on the return passage. " Thus," concludes Bligh, " of

nineteen who were forced by the mutineers into the

launch, it has pleased God that twelve should surmount
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the difficulties and dangers of the voyage, and live to

revisit their native country."

To now return to the mutineers.

They, to the number of twenty-five, after getting rid

of the captain and his adherents, sailed back, in the

Bounty, to Otaheite, but on landing there. Christian

and eight of his comrades, in dread of the offended

'majesty of the British Admiralty, sought a safer refuge

in the neighbouring Pacific Island of Pitcairn. From

what ensued, the names of Christian's eight followers

should be recorded. They were Edward Young, mid-

shipman ; John Mills, gunner^s mate : Matthew Quintal,

seaman ; "William McCoy, seaman ; Alexaistder Smith,

otherwise John Adams, seaman; John WUliams, sea-

man; Isaac Martin, seaman; and William Brown,

gardener. When the Bounty reached Pitcaim's Island

she had on board these nine of the crew, with nine

Otaheitan women ; six Otaheitan men, three of whom

had wives ; and a little girl, who afterwards became the

wife of Charles Christian, of the family of Fletcher.

They burnt the Bounty after arriving at Pitcaim's

Island.

They had not, writes the Rev. Mr. Murray, in his

admirable account of Pitcairn, long set foot on the

island, ere it became a stage for the display of every

evil passion. They were "hateful, and hating one

another." During the frightful period of domestic

warfare between the Europeans and the blacks, in

which the former often adopted the tremendously

simple rule of might against right, the blacks made

common cause together; and having planned the
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murder of their imperious masters, they went, from

time to time, into the woods to practise shooting at a

mark, and thus became tolerably good marksmen.

Their murderous plot reached the ears of the wives of

the mutineers ; and the females are said to have dis-

closed it to their husbands, just before the time

appointed for the massacre, by adding to one of their

songs these words, "Why does black man sharpen axe ?

To kiU white man." '

In the course of the deadly struggles occurring

between the several parties. Christian, Mills, Williams,

Martin, and Brown, were murdered in the year 1793,

by the Otaheitan men, whom they had brought to the

island with them. Christian was the first to fall a

victim to their revenge. MiUs was the next. Adams

was shot, the ball entering at his shoulder and coming

out at his neck. He fell ; but suddenly sprang up and

ran. They caught him ; and a blow was aimed at his

head with the butt-end of a musket. This he warded

off with his hand, having his finger broken by the blow.

On his again escaping, he ran down the rocks toward

the sea ; but his pursuers called out to him, that if he

would return, he should not be hurt. He returned

accordingly, "and they troubled him no more. All the

Otaheitan men were killed in the same year, one of

them having been destroyed by Young's wife, with an

axe. As soon as she had killed the last survivor but

one of the Otaheitans, she gave a signal to her husband

to fire upon the remaining black, which was done with

fatal precision. This woman, Susannah, who afterwards

married Thursday October Christian, Fletcher Chris-



214 CELEBRATED TRIALS.

tian's son, died at an advanced age, in the year 1850.

She was the last survivor of the Bounty.

But other horrors remained behind. In 1 798, M'Coy,

in a fit of delirium tremens, brought on by drunkenness,

having thrown himself from the rocks into the sea, was

drowned. Quintal, a violent and headstrong man, after

threatening the lives of his companions, was killed by

Young and Adams, who, in 1799, took away his life

with an axe, in self-defence. Thus, six of the mutiaeers

were murdered, and one committed suicide. Edward

Young died of asthma, in 1800. Adams, as has been

seen, was severely wounded in one of the contests that

took place, but had recovered. Only two of the fifteen

men who had landed from the Bounty (Young and

Adams) died a natural death. The news of the mutiny

and the sufierings of Bligh excited a great sensation in

England. Bligh was at once m.ade a commander ; and

Captain Edwards was forthwith dispatched to Otaheite,

in Her Majesty's ship Pandora, to search for the Bounty,

and to arrest and bring back to England the mutinous

crew. The Pandora reached Otaheite the 23rd March,

1791, and before the vessel anchored, Coleman, the

armourer of the Bounty, came in a canoe, and gave

himself up. Two days afterwards the whole of the crew

of the Bounty, who had stayed at Otaheite, surrendered

themselves, with the exception of two, who fled to the

mountains, and were murdered by the natives.

After a tempestuous voyage and a shipwreck, in

which four of his prisoners perished, Captaiu Edwards
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succeeded in bringing ten of the mutineers to England.

These were tried by court-martial.

By the 15th article of war, statute 22 George II.,

cap. 33, every person in, or belonging to, the fleet, who

shall run away with any of His Majesty's ships or vessels

of war, shall, on being convicted of such offence, bj' the

sentence of the court-martial, suffer death ; and by the

16th article of war of the same statute, every person in,

or belonging to, the fleet, who shall desert or entice

others to do so, shall suffer death, or such other punish-

ment as the circumstances of the offence shall deserve,

and a court-martial shall judge, fit : and by the 19th

article of war of the same statute, if any person in, or

belonging to, the fleet, shall make, or endeavour to make,

any mutinous assembly, upon any pretence whatever,

everyperson offending herein, and being convicted thereof

by the sentence of the coTirt-martial, shall suffer death.

The court-martial in this case was held at Ports-

mouth, on board His Majesty's ship Duke, on the 12th

September, 1792. Vice-Admiral Lord Hood was the

President. The officers who sat at the trial were

Captains Sir A. S. Hamond, Bart., John Colpoys,

Sir George Montagu, Sir Roger Curtis, Jehn Bazeley, Sir

Andrew S. Douglas, John T. Duckworth, John N. Ingle-

field, John Knight, Albemarle Bertie, (afterwards Admi-

ral of the White, K.B., and a Baronet), and R. G. Keats.

The names of the ten prisoners, capitally charged

with mutiny and piracy, were Peter Heywood, James

Morrison, Thomas Ellison, Thomas Burkitt, John

Millward, William Muspratt, Charles Norman, Joseph

Coleman, Thomas M'Intosh, and Michael Byrne.
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The trial was concluded on tlie sixth day, the 18th of

September, when the prisoners were brought in. The

court having agreed that the charges of running away

with the ship and deserting His Majesty's service had

been proved against six of the prisoners, they found

Heywood, Morrison, EUison, Burkitt, MiUward, and

Muspratt guilty, and adjudged them to suffer death by

being hanged by the neck on board one of His Majesty's

ships-of-war. The court acquitted Norman, Coleman,

M'Intosh, and Byrne, and recommended Peter Heywood

and James Morrison to His Majesty's mercy.

On the 24th of October, 1792, the royal warrant was

dispatched, granting a free pardon to Heywood (he died

a captain, R.N., the 10th of February, 1831) and to

Morrison, with a respite for Muspratt. At the same

time was sent a warrant for executing Burkitt, Ellison,

and Millward. Muspratt was afterwards pardoned.

MUlward and Muspratt, with Churchill, were the men

who had been deserters at Otaheite, and who had been

forgiven by Bligh for that offence. Burkitt had been

forward in the mutiny on board the Bounty. Ellison

was a mere boy on the occasion of that act of violence

;

he is thus described in the list forwarded from Batavia

in October, 1789:—"Thomas Ellison, seaman, aged

seventeen years, five feet three inches high, fair com-

plexion, dark hair, strong made; has got his name tat-

tooed on his right arm, and dated October 25, 1788."

Morrison, before"his connection with the Bounty, had

served in the navy as a midshipman, and, after his par-

don, had been appointed gunner of the Blenheim, in

which he perished with Admiral Sir Thomas Troubridge.
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In a violent gale on the 1st of February, 1807, that

vessel was lost, with all the passengers and crew on her

way from Madras to the Cape of Good Hope.

Burkitt, Ellison and Millward were executed, pursu-

ant to their sentence, on the 36th of October, 1792, on

board the ship Brunswick, in Portsmouth Harbour.

Captain Hammond reported that the criminals had be-

haved with great penitence and. decorum, had acknow-

ledged the justice of their sentence, and exhorted their

fellow-sailors to take warning by their untimely fate,

enjoining them, whatever might be their hardships, never

to forget their obedience to their officers, but to remem-

ber the duty which they owed to their king and country.

The captain said that a party from each ship in the har-

bour, and at Spithead, had attended the execution ; and

that from the accounts he had received, the example

seems to have made a salutary impression on the minds

of all the ships' companies present.

More than sixteen years elapsed after that act of

justice before aught more was heard of the remaining

mutineers of the Bounty, when, in 1808, the captain of

'an American schooner, by chance wintering at Pitcairn's

Island, made the wonderful discovery thus narrated by

himself :

—

"We left the friendly Marquesans on the 2nd of Sep-

tember, and were proceeding on our voyage, to regain

the port of Valparaiso, steering a course which ought,

according to the charts, and every other authority, to

have carried us nearly three degrees of longitude to the

eastward of Pitcairn's Island, our surprise was greatly

excited by its sudden appearance ; it was in the second

10
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watch that .we made it. At daylight we proceeded to a

more close examination, and soon perceived huts, culti-

vation, and people; of the latter, some were making

signs, others launching their little canoes through the

surf, into which they threw themselves with great dex-

terity, and pulled towards us.

"At this moment, I believe, neither Captain Bligh

(of the Bounty) nor Christian had entered any of our

thoughts ; and in waiting the approach of strangers, we

prepared to ask them some questions in the language of

those people we had so recently left. They approached

us ; and for me to picture the wonder which was con-

spicuous in every countenance at being hailed in perfect

English, 'What was the name of the ship, and who

commanded her?' would be impossible; our surprise

can alone be conceived. The captain answered, and

now a regular conversation commenced. He requested

them to come alongside, and the reply was, 'We have

no boat-hook to hold on by.^ '1 will throw you a rope.'

' If you do we have nothing to make it fast to.' was the

answer. However, they at length came on board, exem-

plifying not the least fear, but their astonishment was

unbounded. After the friendly salutation of 'Good

morrow, sir,' from the first man who entered, Mackay,

for that was his name, said, 'Do you know one William

Bligh in England ?•> This question threw a new light

on the subject, and he was immediately asked ' If he

knew one Christian ?' and the reply was given with so

much natural simplicity, that I shall here use his own

words :
' Oh, yes,' said he, ' very well ; his son is in the

boat there, coming up; his name is Friday Fletcher
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October Christian j his father is dead now—he was shot

by a black fellow.' Several of them had now reached

the ship, and the scene was become exceedingly interest-

ing ; every one betrayed the greatest anxiety to know

the ultimate fate of that misled young mauj of whose

end so many vague reports had been in circulation, and

those who did not ask questions, devoured with avidity

every word which led to an elucidation of the mysterious

termination of the unfortunate Bounty.

" Christian was shot by a black fellow—it was sup-

posed through a jealousy which was known to exist

between the people of Otaheite and the English j he was

shot while at work in the yam plantation ; the man who

shot Christian was afterwards shot by an Englishman.

A further dispute arose between the Otaheitans and

English after the death of Christian, when the blacks

rose and shot two Englishmen and wounded John

Adams, the only surviving man of the mutineers, who

saved himself from being murdered by hiding himself

in the wood ; and the same night the women, enraged

by the murder of the English, to whom they were

more partial than their countrymen, rose and put every

Otaheitan to death in his sleep. This saved Adams.

His wounds were soon healed; and, although old, he

enjoys good health. Christian brought with him from

Otaheite, in the Bounty, nine white men, six blacks,

and eleven women; and at that time there were forty-

eight persons on the island. Adams had told them he

had been on the island about twenty-five years; that

the Bounty was run on shore, and everything useful

taken out of her, and then set fire to and burnt. Chris-
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tian was shot about two years after he came to the

island, his wife having died soon after the birth of his

son; and he taking by force the wife of one of the

blacks to supply her place, was the chief cause of his

being shot; and his son, Friday Fletcher October

Christian, was the oldest person on the island, except

John Adams. They were allowed to marry at the age

of nineteen or twenty, but not to have more than one

wife, as it was considered wicked to have more; and

being asked if they had been taught any religion, they

answered, 'A very good religion,' and to their credit

they went through the whole of the Belief", and said

that John Adams had taught it them by order of

F. Christian ; and he caused a prayer to be said every

day at noon :
' I will arise and go to my father, and say

unto him. Father, I have siimed against heaven and

before thee, and am no more worthy to be called thy

son,' which they continued to say every day, and never

neglected it.*****
" John Adams was a fine-looking old man, approach-

ing to sixty years of age. We conversed with him a

long time relative to the mutiny of the Bounty and the

ultimate fate of Christian ; he denied being accessary to,

or having the least knowledge of, the conspiracy.

* * * *

" He told me he was perfectly aware how deeply he

was involved; that by following the fortune of Christian

he had not only sacrified every claim to his country, but

that his life was the necessary forfeiture for such an act,

and he supposed would be exacted from him was he ever
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to return. Notwitlistanding all these circumstances^

nothing would give him so much gratification as that of

seeing once more, prior to his death, that country which

gave him birth, and from which he had been so long

estranged. There was sincerity in his speech; I can

hardly describe it, but it had a very powerful influence

in persuading me that these were his real sentiments.

My interest was excited to so great a degree that I

offered him a conveyance for himself and any of his

family who chose to accompany him. He appeared

pleased at the proposal, and, as no one was then present,

he sent for his wife and children ; the rest of the litlie

community surrounded the door. He communicated

his desire, and solicited their acquiescence. Appalled

at a request not less sudden than in opposition to their

wishes, they were all at a loss for a reply. His charming

daughter, although inundated with tears, first broke

silence. ' Oh, do not, sir,' said she, ' take from me my
father—do not take away my best, my dearest friend.'

Her voice failed her—she was unable to proceed; she

leaned her head on her hand, and gave full vent to her

grief. His wife, too (an Otaheitan), expressed a lively

sorrow. The wishes of Adams soon became known

among the others, who joined in pathetic solicitation for

his stay on the island. Not an eye was dry ; the big

tears stood in those of the men ; the women shed them

in full abundance : I never witnessed a scene so fully

affecting, or more replete with interest. To have taken

him from a circle of such friends would have ill become

a feeling heart ; to have forced him away, in opposition

to their joint entreaties, would have been an outrage to
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humanity. With an asssurance that it was neither our

wish nor intention to take him away against his inclina-

tion, their fears were at length dissipated. His daughter,

too, had gained her usual serenity ; but she was lovely

in her tears, for each seemed to add an additional charm.

Forgetting the unhappy deed which placed Adains in

that spot, and seeing him only in the character he now

is, at the head of a little community, adored hy all, in-

structing all in religion, industry, and friendship, his

situation might be truly envied, and one is almost

inclined to hope that his unremitting attention to the

government and morals of this extraordinarylittle colony,

will ultimately form an equivalent for the part he for-

merly took.

" Several books belonging to Captain Bligh, which

were taken out of the Bounty, were then in the posses-

sion of Adams, and the "First Voyage of Captain Cook"

was brought on board the Briton. In the title-page of

each volume the name of Captain Bligh was written,

and I suppose in his own writing. Christian had written

his own name immediately under it, without running his

pen through, or in any way defacing, that of Captain

Bligh. On the margin of several of the leaves were

written, in pencil, numerous remarks on the work ; but,

as I consider them to have been the private remarks of

Captain Bligh, and written unsuspecting the much-

lamented event which subsequently took place, they

shall by me be held sacred."

From that time forward the colony at Pitcairn^s Is-

land was again and again visited, and eventually became

a continual subject of public interest. Adams remained
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its revered patriarch till 1829, wlien he died at the age

of sixty-nine. The colony was afterwards admirably

directed by the Rev. G. H. Nobbs, who, as chaplain of

the Island, was ordained by the Rt. Rev. Dr. Bloomfield,

bishop of London ; and before returning to Pitcairn

after his ordination he had an interview with the Queen

and the Prince Consort, who both evinced the warmest

and most cordial concern in the welfare and happiness

of the colonists. As time went on and the numbers in

the colony increased, Pitcairn^s Island became too small

for their support, and they were, on their own wish, re-

moved by Government to Norfolk Island, a lovely spot

which had recently been given up as a convict settle-

ment. I cannot better conclude this account of the

Islanders than with the following interesting extract,

which is from a letter written by Captain W. H. Den-

hem, of Her Majesty^s ship Herald, in charge of the

survey in the South-Western Pacific Ocean, under date

"Norfolk Island, 16th June, 1856," having reference

to the Pitcairn Islanders taking possession of their new

settlement, Norfolk Island :

—

"On the morning of the 31st instant, having arranged

with Lieut. John Hutchinson and Mr. J. W. Smith,

assistant-surveyors, in regard to completing the survey

of the island and its inlets, together with lines of sound-

ings to the edge of the bank upon its surrounding

aspects, in connection with our survey of last year, I

effected a landing.

"Looking to the date of the transport Morayshire,

which left Sydney under the instructions of his Excel-

lency the Governor-General and of Captain Stephen G.
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Tremantle, to bring the Pitcairn Island commimity to

this island, I had reason to expect them every day.

And as the presence of one of Her Majesty's ships at

the new home of that interesting people would doubt-

lessly cheer them, as well as afford them essential aid in

landing and organising, on the one hand, whilst as

simultaneously as possible clearing the island of its

residue as a penal settlement (upon all of which points

and general views I was cognizant of the wishes of the

Government), I became solicitous of being on the spot.

I therefore had only to hope that the transport would

arrive before my primary object in taking Norfolk Island

en route to the Polynesian Islands could be accom-

plished.

" Fortunately, on Sunday the 8th instant, although a

gloomy and boisterous day, with considerable surf, the

Morayshire not only closed with the island, but being

joined by the Herald, and assisted by a tracing of our

survey, she took up a favourable position for disembark-

ation, and by sunset the Pitcairn community, numbering

194 persons, were comfortably housed as well as landed

without accident. I was invited to their first evening

Church service at their new home, when a special

thanksgiving was rendered unto God. for the preserva-

tion vouchsafecT, and His guidance implored in the new

era they had just entered upon. It was an exemplary

manifestation of habitual piety that would not allow

fatigue, amounting with many to almost exhaustion,

nor that excitement in the robust at the extreme

novelty of matters around them, to interfere with their

wonted primary duty in lifej on tha contrary, these
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artless, self-denying people, seemed to gather physical

comfort and energy as they responded to our beautiful

Church Service, rendered the more touchingly so by
their admirable chanting, as they listened patiently and

devoted to the well-adapted exhortation of their reverend

pastor and counsellor, the Rev. George Hunn Nobbs.

This gentleman could not rest until he had explained to

me the pervading gratitude which the arrangements for

the transit and reception of his flock had excited.

"To the manner in which Acting-Lieut. Gregorie

managed their embarkation, so that every moveable

article, even to the ' gun ' and ' anvil ' of the Bounty, has

been transferred ; to the accommodating spirit in which

the master of the transport followed out his under-

taking on a five weeks ^ passage, during which the most

tender treatment was necessary for alarming cases of

seansickness that ceased not from island to island, in-

cluding a birth which took place; and finally, to the

joyful sight of one of the Queen's ships, in whose boats,

under Lieut. John Hutchinson, of the Herald, and in

the separate charge of Messrs. Nixon, Howard, and

Nugent, they were landed, while the commissariat

officer and myself greeted them individually as they

set foot on shore, and conducted them to the comfort-

, ably-prepared quarters, until they made their own selec-

tions from the ample dwellings erected for them, may

be attributed the happy accomplishment of an event so

vitally important to this peculiar community, in con-

formity with the deep interest taken in them by Her

Majesty and the Government.

"The ensuing week has been successfully employed

10 *
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in landing all the seventy years' gathering of chattels

belonging to the PitcaimerSj notwithstanding the pre-

carious seaboard of this island, causing the ships to put

to sea every night. They could, therefore, duly observe

yesterday's Sabbath in the fitted-up church they had

seen, and in which the sacrament was most impressively

administered to us, together with every adult of the new

congregation—a privilege I can never forget. Another

solemnity marked this Sabbath, which, by our attend-

ing, assuaged the general depression which their first

mourning visit to the cemetery was calculated to inflict

;

it being their custom for the whole of the community to

attend each funeral. In the present case it was to inter

a female infant, which had been embarked in a most

delicate state, but had survived the voyage, though

beyond medical relief when placed under the care of

one of my medical officers, Mr. Denis Macdonald, in

whose arms, as a slight consolation to its parents, it

expired.

" Adverting to Pitcairn Island, future voyagers may

find fresh beef there, as its late settlers left a bull and

nine cows upon it. The pigs were destroyed, lest they

might, in time, break through the fence and disturb the

graveyard."

A word or two remain to be said about Bligh. His sub-

sequent career was also one of public distinction : he was

made a post-captain, and went on a second and success-

ful voyage, with the same object as the first, to Otaheite.

He was absent on it at the time of the court-martial.

In 1797 the Admiralty employed him to go among the

mutineers of the Nore, to endeavour to call the mis-
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guided men to a sense of duty; he behaved on the

occasion with great courage and discretion. In 1801

Bligh commanded the Glatton, at the battle of Copen-

hagen^ under Lord Nelson, and was publicly thanked

by his Lordship after the action. He was subsequently

Governor of New South Wales, and became finally a

Vice-Admiral of the Blue. He died in Bond-street,

London, on the 7th December, 1817, and was interred

in the churchyard of St. Mary^s, Lambeth, where a

tomb has been erected to his memory. Admiral Bligh

married, at Douglas, Isle of Man, Elizabeth, daughter

of Richard Beetham, LL.D., Comptroller of the Cus-

toms, Isle of Man, by his wife. Miss Campbell, daughter

of Principal Campbell, of Glasgow College. (Dr. Beet-

ham was a contemporary at coUege of David Hume,

Adam Smith, and Lord Selkirk, and an intimacy was

kept up between them in after-life.)

Admiral Bligh, by his marriage, had two sons, who

died in infancy, and six daughters, one of whom only.

Miss Jane Bligh, stiU survives. Three of the daughters

were married—viz., 1. Harriet, who married Henry

Barker, Esq., of Willsbridge, and left issue; 2. Mary,

who married, first. Lieutenant Putland, of the family of

Putland, of Brayhead, in the county of Wicklow, by

whom she had no issue; and secondly, Lieutenant-

General Sir Maurice O'Connell, K.C.H., and by him

left Lieutenant-Colonel R. O'Connell, R.A., and other

issue; 3. Elizabeth, who married Richard Bligh, Esq.,

barrister-at-law, and left issue.

I cannot conclude without expressing how very much

I am indebted in the above particulars to the work
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entitled, "Pitcairn: the Island, the People, and the

Pastor," by the Rev. Thomas Boyles Murray, M.A.,

which has had merited success, and which deserves even

still more extensive perusal.

The mutiny of the Bounty is an event that should he

a solemn warning to every seaman in the navy, showing,

as it does, the magic power of discipline, and the misery

of insubordination. Bligh, and those who adhered to

him, were preserved for nearly 4,000 miles in an open

boat by the mere maintenance of discipline; while

Christian and most of his guilty comrades, though

having an armed vessel of war in their absolute power,

perished miserably, because they had forsaken that

system of duty and obedience which is the life-spring

and the sacred safeguard of their profession.



THE MUTINY AT THE NORE.

On the 14tli January^ 1797, the glorious battle oif Cape

St. Vincent had been won by as famous a band of

heroes as the world ever saw ; and the names and deeds

of the victors, Jervis, Nelson, Troubridge, CoUingwood,

Calder Saumarez, and Parker, were the talk and pride

of all England. This naval triumph, in which Nelson

boarded one man-of-war of eighty guns, and then

another of 113 guns, and captured them both at the

edge of the sword,—this triumph, in which iifteen

British sail of the line defeated twenty-seven sail of

the Spaniards, amongst them one vessel of 130 guns,

and six of 112 guns,—this triumph, ia fine, which was

so completely decisive, made revolutionary Europe quail,

and feel it had met its greatest check in the indomit-

able force and spirit of England on the seas. The

general public exultation was , natural enough ; but,

alas ! before a few months passed, an event was to

happen which was to throw a shadow, fortunately not

of long duration, yet of the darkest hue that ever fell,

upon the navy of Great Britain. This was the dire

and discreditable revolt, known as " the Mutiny at the

Nore."

This criminal insurrection was preceded by a less
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unjustifiable outbreak at Spitheadj caused by the com-

plaints of the sailors being totally and foolishly neg-

lected by the parties in power; for the sailors did, in

1797, labour under many grievances, "which," writes

Mr. CD. Yonge, in his able "History of the British

Navy," "though they were inflicted on them through

neglect and carelessness, rather than from any de-

liberate injustice, were not the less intolerable on that

account. Their pay had not been raised from the sum

at which it had been fixed in the time of the Duke of

York, afterwards James II., though the price of all the

necessaries of life had greatly risen. Their pensions,

too, were left at the same amount, though those to

which the soldiers became entitled had augmented.

What was even more irritating, as carrying with it a

greater appearance of intended unfairness, was, that for

the provisions served out to them a lighter weight* was

established than that used in ordinary traffic; while

even for that light weight they were wholly at the

mercy of the pursers, who at that time were commonly

taken from a very inferior class of men, and who

cheated and robbed the sailors without scruple and

without limit. Other minor causes of complaint related

to the general severity of the naval discipline ; the con-

stant refusal of leave even to men in harbour; and a

variety of trifling matters, which, had they stood alone,

would hardly have been thought of, but which no one

could deny to be undeserved hardships, and which now

* The ordinary pound then, as now, consisted %i sixteen ounces, but

a sailor's pound was fixed at fourteen.
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served to swell the catalogue of evils which the men
were resolved no longer to endure/'

In the month of February, 1797, the crews of four of

the line- of-battle ships at Spithead forming the Channel

Fleet, the Queen Charlotte, the flag-ship, being amongst

them, addressed separate petitions to Lord Howe, their

commander-in-chief. Lord Howe, being ill, referred

the petitions to Admirals Lord Bridport and Sir Peter

Parker, who, not inquiring closely into the matter,

merely replied, that the petitions were the work of some

evil-disposed persons. Consequently, the complete in-

difference these really peaceable and loyal addresses ex-

perienced drove the seamen to extremes. An agitation

amongst them being perceived by those in authority,

the Admiralty ordered the Channel Fleet to put to sea.

On the 16th April Lord Bridport made the signal to

prepare to weigh anchor. This led to an open mutiny,

the men running up the shrouds and giving three

cheers, and then proceeding to take the command of

their ships from their officers. Two delegates from

each ship were appointed to conduct the entire negoti-

ation with the Admiralty ; for throughout, these muti-

neers showed themselves bent on remonstrance only,

and not rebellion. This line of conduct had its effect,

- for on inwstigation the lords of the Admiralty ad-

mitted the justice and moderation of the seamen's

demands, and on the representation of their lordships,

the Government agreed to grant all that was asked.

This was done, and a royal proclamation issued, pardon-

ing all such seamen as should at once return to their

duty. After some renewal of agitation caused by par-
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liamentary delay in carrying out the measures eon-

cededj Lord Howe brought down a free pardon under

the great seal to the fleet, and the men having expressed

their contrition, cheerfully returned to submission and

allegiance, and in less than a month every symptom of

discontent among the two great fleets at Portsmouth

and Plymouth had entirely passed away.

Unfortunately, this redress of grievances was ob-

tained by a display of force, and this led other seamen

to suppose that further and less reasonable acquisitions

might be had in the same way. A fresh and a terrible

mutiny broke out in the fleet stationed at the Nore,

difi'ering entirely from the revolt at Spithead. In the

former instance, in the very height of disobedience, the

sailors never lost their reverence for discipline, nor

their respect for their superior officers. The mutineers

at the Nore were simply rebels, with a very common-

place traitor for their leader. This man, Richard Parker,

was just one of those persons who, of humble life and of

evil spirit, with a little : education, are so often found to

be the chiefs of popular insurrections. He was a native

of Exeter, where he was bom about the year 1765 or

1766. His father, Joseph Parker, was a respectable

tradesman, and kept a baker's shop at St. Sidwell's, in

the bounds of Exeter city. Young Richard* Parker re- •

ceived a good education, and in the course of time went

to sea, which he had chosen as the scene of his future

career. He obtained a midshipman's berth on board

the Culloden, but was discharged from her for gross

misconduct. He contrived to get similar rank on board

the Leander, but he was again turned out. He sub-
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sequently acted as a mate in the Resistance frigate, but

his continued bad behaviour brought him to a court-

martialj and reduced him to the position of a common

sailor. He quitted the navy invalided, returned home,

and married Miss Ann Machardy, a young lady resi-

dent in Exeter, but of Scottish origin, being a member

of a respectable family in the county of Aberdeen. Her

name deserves to be preserved, for her devotion to her

husband made quite a heroine of her. This marriage

led Parker to remove to Scotland, where he embarked

in some mercantile speculations that proved unsuc-

cessful. The issue was, that he found himself in-

volved in difficulties, and without the means to main-

tain his wife and two children. In Edinburgh, where

these embarrassments fell upon him and placed him for

a time in gaol, he had no friends to apply to, and in a

moment of desperation he took the king's bounty, and

became again a common sailor on board a tender at

Leith. When he had communicated to his wife the

step he had taken, she was in the greatest distress, and

resolved to set off instantly for Aberdeen, in order to

procure from her brother there the means of hiring two

seamen as substitutes for her husband. Though suc-

cessfiil in raising the necessary funds, no time was

allowed her to complete her project. On her return

from Aberdeen, she was only in time to see the tender

sail for the Nore, with her husband on board. Her

grief on the occasion was bitterly aggravated by the

death of one of her children. Parker's sufferings were

shown to be equally acute by his conduct when the

vessel sailed. Exclaiming that he saw the body of the
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child floating on the waves, he leaped overboard, and

was with difficulty rescued and restored to life. In this

gloomy state of mind, in the beginning of May, 1797,

Parker reached the Nore, or point dividing the mouths

of the Thames and the Medway. Probably on account

of his former experience and station as a seaman, he

was drafted on board the Sandwich, which was the

guard-ship, and bore the flag of Admiral Buckner, the

port admiral. The mutinous spirit which afterwards

broke out certainly existed on board of the Nore

squadron before Parker's arrival. . Communications

were kept up in secret between the various crews, and

the mischief was gradually drawing to a head. But

though Parker did not originate the feeling of insub-

ordination, his ardent temper, boldness, and superior

intelligence, soon became known to his comrades, and

made him a prominent man among them. He, cun-

ningly availing himself of their general discontent, and

assisted, as there seems no doubt, by agents from some

of the revolutionary societies at that time existing in

London, hastened the open mutiny, of which he was

appointed the chief. The plans being at length matured,

the seamen rose simultaneously against their ofiicers,

and deprived them of their arms, as well as of all com-

mand in the ships, though behaving respectfully to them

in all other respects Each vessel was put under the

government of a committee of twelve men, and to re-

present the whole body of seamen, every man-of-war

appointed two delegates, and each gunboat one, to act

for the common good. Of these delegates Richard

Parker was president. This representative body drew
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Up a list of grievances of which they demanded the

removal. Parker signed these documents, and they

were published over the whole kingdom, with his name,

as well as presented to Port-Admiral Buckner, through

whom they were sent to Grovernment.

When these proceedings commenced, the mutineers

were suffered to go on shore, and they paraded about

Sheemess, where a part of the fleet lay, with music,

flags (red in colour—the customary hue of insubordina-

tion), and other appendages of a triumphal procession.

But, on the 23nd of May, troops were sent to Sheemess

to put a stop to this indulgence. Being thus confined

to their ships, the mutineers having come to no agree-

ment with Admiral Buckner, began to take more deci-

sive measures for extorting compliance with their

demands, as well as for insuring their own safety. The

vessels at Sheerness moved down to the Nore, and the

combined force of the insurgents, which at its greatest

height consisted of twenty-four sail, proceeded to block

up the Thames, by refusing a free passage up or down to

the London trade. Foreign vessels and a few small

craft were suffered to go by, first receiving a passport,

signed by Richard Parker, as president of the delegates!

In a day or two the mutineers had an immense number

of vessels under their detention. The mode in which

they kept these was as follows :—The vessels of war were

ranged in a line, at considerable distances from each

other, and in the interspaces were placed the -merchant

vessels, having the broadsides of the men-at-war pointed

at them. The appearance of the whole assemblage is

described as having been at once stupendous and apal-
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ling. The red flag floated from the mast-head of every

one of the mutineer ships—a sad and a disgraceful

sight.

It may be well imagined that the alarm of the citi-

zens of London was extreme. The Governmentj how-

ever, though unahle at the period to quell the insurgents

by force, remained firm in their demand of " uncondi-

tional submission as a necessary preliminary to any

intercourse." This, perhaps, was the very best line of

conduct that could have been adopted. The seamen

—

and it was a palliation of their misguided behaviour

—

never seemed to thiak of assuming an ofi'ensive attitude,

and were thereby left in quiet to meditate on the danger-

ous position in which they stood in hostility to a whole

country. They grew timorous, the more so as the

Government had caused all the buoys to be removed

from the mouth of the Thames and the adjacent coasts,

so that no vessel durst attempt to move away for fear of

running aground. The mutineering vessels held to-

gether, nevertheless, till the 30th of May, whgn the

Clyde frigate was carried off through a combination of

its officers with some of the seamen, and was followed

Iby the Fiorenzo. These vessels were fired upon, but

escaped up the river. On the 4th of June, the king's

birthday, the Nore fleet showed that loyalty to their

sovereign still existed, by firing a general salute. On

the 5th another frigate left the fleet, and its place was

supplied by a sloop and four men-of-war, which had

left Admiral Duncan's fleet at the Texel to join the

mutiny. On the 6th Admiral Lord Northesk met the

delegates by desire on board the Sandwich, and received
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from them proposals for an accommodatioiij to which

Parker still put his name as president. The answer

was. a firm refusal, and this firmness seems to have

fairly humbled the remaining spirit of the mutineers.

From that time one vessel after another deserted the

band, and put themselves under the protection of the

fleet at Sheerness. On the 10th the merchantmen were

allowed, by common consent, to pass up the river, and

such a multitude of ships certainly never entered a port

by one tide. By the 12th only seven ships had the red

flag flying, and on the 16th the mutiny had terminated,

every ship having been restored to the command of its

officers. A party of soldiers went on board the Sand-

wich, and to them the officers surrendered the delegates

of the ship, namely, a man named Davis and Richard

Parker. The latter was confined in the black-hole of

Sheerness garrison until his trial, which was preceded

by the trials of some others of the mutineers. Two,

who, like Parker, suffered death, were tried at the court-

martial held on board the Royal William, at Ports-

mouth, on the 21st June.

This court-martial had before it the six mutineers

belonging to the Pompee. The evidence of all the wit-

nesses, to the number of seventeen, on the part of the pro-

secution,went strongly tocondemntheprisoners Gutherie,

Calloway, Ashley, and Johnson; and some circum-

stances tended to make Davis and Braham more con-

nected with the business. In the course of the evidence

called and questioned, it appeared that these disaffected

men were not able to get a real seaman to sign their

paper, or to take the oath tendered. Such men as
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took the oath did it through fear, and were the illiterate

part of the crew, most of whom could not write their

names or understand what they had sworn to. It is

but justice to the well-affected part of the ship's com-

pany to admit the propriety of their conduct, in ex-

posing the proceedings of the six prisoners. The
conduct of Sergeant Sweet, of the Marines, in giving

his evidence, was particularly commendahle. The tes-

timony on the part of the Crown closed at four o'clock.

Several papers, very essential to clear up this black and

mysterious business, had been destroyed; the only thing

found was amongst Johnson's clothes, which was a form

of oath, as follows :
—" I, , do swear to stand true

till death in promoting the cause of liberty with equity,

while a prospect of obtaining it remains." Here the

paper was torn, which showed there was something more

to follow. The trial was so numerously attended from

the ship and the shore, that props were obliged to be

put under the beams of the Royal William, to support

the immense number of people who flocked on board.

The court-martial ended on the 23rd June, at half-

past six. By the sentence of the court, CaUoway,

Gutherie, Johnson, and Ashley were to suffer death;

but the two former were recommended to mercy. A
fifth mutineer was to be imprisoned twelve months, and

the sixth acquitted. This sentence was confirmed, and

Johnson and Ashley were executed on.the 28th June.

The trial and conviction of these men were followed

by the more momentous trial of Parker. This took

place at Greenhithe upon the morning ofthe 22nd June,

1 797, at ten o'clock. A court-martial was held on board
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the Neptune, in pursuance of an order from the Lords

Commissioners ofthe Admiralty, for the trial of Richard

Parker, a seaman on board the Sandwich, upon charges

of which the following is the substance :—Making, and

endeavouring to make, mutinous assemblies on board

the Sandwich, and others of her Majesty's ships at the

Nore, on or about the 12th of May; disobeying the

lawful orders of his superior of&cers, and treating his

superior officers with disrespect.

Captain Moss, of the Sandwich, was the prosecutor

;

and the court was composed of the following officers :—
President, Vice-Admiral Sir Thomas Paisley, Bart.

Comm. Sir Erasmus Gower . . Neptune, 98

Captain Stanhope Ditto

„ Markham Centaur, 74

„ Williamson .... Agincourt, 64

„ Wells Lancaster 64

„ Lane Acasto, 44

J, Sir Thomas Williams . Endymion, 36

„ King Syrius, 36

„ Pierrepoint Naiad, 36

„ Riou Mary Yacht, 36

Admiral Buckner was the first witness called.

Q. " Do you know the prisoner?

—

A. Yes.

Q. "Does the prisoner belong to the Sandwich?—
A. I heard soj but in what capacity I know not.

Q. " Will you report what you know of the prisoner

being concerned in a mutiny on board the fleet at the

Nore, on or about the 12th of May ; or of any instances

of disrespectful language or conduct to his officers during

the time this mutiny existed?

—

A. The first time I
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observed anything particular in the prisoner's conduct,

farther than parading about with a vast number of

people on shore with a red flag, was on or about the 20th

of May, when I went on board tlie Sandwich for the

purpose of making known to that ship and others his

Majesty's proclamation of pardon on their returning to

their duty, on the terms granted to their brethren at

Spithead, which the delegates, among whom was Parker,

had previously assured me they would be satisfied with.

On my going on board with my flag in my boat there

was no respect shown me whatever. The officers were

then without their side-arms, and had-no command in

the ship. Unwilling to return on shore till an oppor-

tunity offered for my speaking to the people, I waited

for a considerable time, when Parker, with others,

came on the quarter-deck, and said that none other but

themselves (meaning, I presume, the ship's company),

should be present. The prisoner then tendered me a

paper containing what he called a list of grievances,

saying, at the same time, that until those were redressed,

they would not give up the power then in their hands.

They insisted, also, on the personal attendance of the

Admiralty to ratify their demands. Finding my efibrts

to restore order of no avail, I went on shore. On the

22nd certain troops arrived at Sheerness ; on the 23rd

my flag was struck on board the Sandwich. On the

evening of that day I was examining at the Commis-

sioner's house; and while I was inquiring into com-

plaints laid against two marines by a part of the mili-

tary, the prisoner and a man whom they called Davies,

with three or four others, I believej came abruptly into
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the house, and demanded why those men were in

custody ; telling me, at the same time, that my flag

was struck, that I had no authority, and that the

power was in their hands. They then took the men

away, as they said, to trial. Another expression made

use of by Parker was that he was not to be intimidated.

About the 4th of June I received a letter from Parker,

or rather, I should say, with his signature. In this

letter he said that the Administration had acted impro-

perly in stopping the provisions, and that the foolish

proclamation was calculated to inflame the minds of

honest men. I have nothing more particular to relate.

Q. " You have had frequent conferences with the

prisoner?

—

A. With him at the head of many others,

in order to bring them to a sense of their conduct.. He,

in general, took the lead as the spokesman, sometimes

with a degree of insolence, appealing to the rest whether

he was not authorized to speak the sense of the whole,

and if it was their wish it should- be so. He even pre-

vented one man in particular, whose name I don't

know, from answering a question I had put to him

;

saying, at the same time, ' Hold your tongue ; if you

don't, I'll take care of you.' While I was on board the

Sandwich, I forgot to mention that I remonstrated with

them against keeping those disgraceful ropes, called

yard-ropes, hanging ; but the delegates, amongst whom

was the prisoner, refused to remove them.

Q. "In your conversation with the prisoner, did^you

ever experience any degree of insolence ?-^^. I some-

times did; but generally his deportment was the re-

verse, and he behaved with a great deal of apparent

11
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respect. (Here were read Admiral Buckner's letter to

the Admiralty informing the Lords Commissioners of

the mutiny j a letter from Captain Moss to Admiral

Buckner, informing him of certain particulars respect-

ing the mutiny; Richard Parker's letter to Admiral

Buckner, the substance of which was stated in the

Admiral's evidence.)

The prisoner put some questions to show that the

Admiral had been treated with respect. The President

of the Court advised the prisoner to invalidate, if he

could, by any question, that part of the narrative of

Admiral Buckner which stated that he had released two

marines, and told the Admiral that all his authority on

board ship was at an end. The prisoner put no question

to this effect. The other witnesses this day examined

were—Lieut. Justice, of the Sandwich, and Mr. Snipe,

Surgeon of the Sandwich, who stated that Parker acted

as President of the Committee, and leading man on all

occasions. The prisoner was about to ask some ques-

tions; but, being cautioned by the Court that they

might criminate himself, they were withdrawn. Captain

Surridge, of the Iris, who was present at what passed

at Commissioner HartweU's, and Captain Dixouj of

L'Espion, who accompanied Admiral Buckner on board

the Sandivich, confirmed the Admiral's evidence. At

four o'clock Captain Dixon's evidence was interrupted,

and the Court adjourned to the next day.

June 33.—The witnesses examined were—Captain

John Wood, of the Hound; Nicholas Plat, third lieu-

tenant of the Sandwich; William Levingstone, boat-

swain of the Director; Samuel Hallard, carpenter of



THE AIUTINY AT THE NORE. 243

the Director ; Thomas Barry, seaman of the Monmouth ,-

and John Summerland, seaman of the Monmouth, and

others, most of whom were severally cross-examined by

the prisoner. The evidence for the Crown being closed,

the President asked when the prisoner would be ready

for his defence, who said that he thought that he could

not be ready before Monday.

June 26.—The judge-advocate informed the prisoner,

that in consequence of his application for certain wit-

nesses necessary to his defence, those witnesses had

been sent for to Sheerness, and were then present. The
court then informed him that he might proceed with

his defence, and asked him whether he chose to read it

himself, or to let the judge- advocate read it. He re-

plied he would read it himself; and then addressed the

court in the following terms ;

—

" As I have been brought up from my youth to the

sea, to the knowledge of some persons now present,

nothing can be expected from me but a plain statement

of facts; and it is impossible for me to dress up my
defence in such pompous terms as I might do if I had

the assistance of a lawyer. In the first place, I beg to

return my thanks to the court for having indulged me
with sufficient time to prepare my defence against the

heavy charges which are brought against me. Nothing

but the consciousness of the integrity of my intentions,

and that I entered into this business with the hope of

checking the progress of that bad spirit which I saw

prevail among the fleet, could support me in the situa-

tion in which I now stand. Vice-Admiral Buckner has

deposed, that he has often held conversation with me
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and the persons who were called delegates, and that my
behaviour to him was sometimes respectful and some-

times otherwise. I never waited upon the admiral hut

by the order of the delegates, and pursuant to the in-

structions which I received from them. I never sported

with the feelings of the admiral, but couched the repre-

sentations I had to make in as respectful terms as I

possibly could. It may be asked how I came to be the

person fixed upon on these occasions ? I was chosen

by the delegates, for that purpose, and I could not re-

sist their commands. I declare solemnly that I knew

nothing of the mutiny till it had broke out in the fleet. In

about two days afterwards I perceived that a bad spirit

was prevalent among the men, and I then entered into

it for the purpose of checking, as well as I could, the

violence of their proceedings, and I am satisfied that,

if I had not taken an active part in the business, though

it has terminated so unfortunately, it would have ter-

minated with consequences still more dreadful; and,

conscious of the purity of my intentions, I can wait the

decision of this honourable court with calmness. Vice-

Admiral Buckner says that, on the 20th of May, when

he went on board the Sandwich, he was not received

with the proper respect due to his rank ; but I am sure

the admiral does not attribute that want of respect to

me ; for he states, in his evidence, that I did not go on

board till after him ; and upon this part of the charge I

have no doubt of being able to satisfy the court of my
innocence, because he states that as soon as I came on

board I apologised to him for the disrespect which had

been shown him, and told him that if he would accept



THE MUTINY AT THE NOEE. 245

of it, there should be three cheers, and the yards

manned. The admiral acknowledges this. There was

a stir made towards cheering him, and this was done at

the risk of my life. Some evil-disposed persons in the

fleet had infused an idea into the minds of the men that

the admiral was not competent to decide upon their

grievances, and also the people on board the Inflexible

had sent us word that if we offered to cheer the admiral,

they would come alongside the Sandwich and sink her.

On the same day Captain Moss sent Mr. Bray, the

master of the Sandwich, to know the reason why the

Inflexible had beat to quarters ? When the persons

sent got on board the Inflexible, they found the tompions

taken out of the guns, and the matches lighted ready

for action. There were meetings of the committee on

board the Inflexible, to overawe the general meeting of

the delegates, and these meetings were held daily on

board that ship ; and notwithstanding the stigma which

has been thrown upon the Sandwich, the whole of the

measures that were adopted originated on board the

Inflexible. After a consultation among the ship's com-

panies, I was directed to present the paper, containing

the list of gri^ances, to Admiral Buckner, and every-

thing I did was by their orders. After the paper had

been presented to the admiral, he proceeded to Sheer-

ness. I saw that Admiral Buckner's flag was struck,

but I did not know the reason of it ; and it was with

the utmost concern that I saw the red flag flying in its

place. There were many signals given that day by the

Inflexible, which I did not nnderstand. With respect

to what the admiral has said of my taking away two
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marines, I must state to the court that it is true. I

was that day on shore, at the commissioner's house,

and went there by order of the persons calling them-

selves delegates. While they were refreshing them-

selves on shore with the usual allowance of a pint of

beer each man, information was brought them that

two marines had been taken up, and were then in

confinement, for approving the proceedings of the

sailors. They ordered me and some others to go to

the guard-house, and inquire into the reason of their

being in custody. When we got to the guard-house we

were informed by the sentinel that he had no such

persons in his custody. We then heard that the

marines were at the commissioner's house. We were

then ordered by the delegates to go there, and bring

them on board. We informed the admiral of the com-

mands we had received; and he told us the marines

had been taken up for having used improper language

in the neighbourhood of Queenborough. I was desired

by those who accompanied me to examine them. I did

examine one of them ; the other was very much intoxi-

cated. While I was examining him the admiral said,

" Now, Parker, you are at the right point—your ques-

tions are very proper." When the examination was

finished, they were sent on board the Sandwich, and

put into confinement, and the next day they were sent

to their respective ships, and I knew no more about

them. I submit it to the judgment of the court whether

it is probable that four men, unarmed, could forcibly

take these men away in the face of a garrison? But

throughout the whole of the business I treated Admiral
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Buckner with as much respect as the nature of the

transaction in which I was employed would admit. I

must here state that there was a conversation impro-
perly represented. The admiral said to me, " Parker
consider my feelings." I replied to Mm, " Sir, it gives

me great pain to see the red flag flying in place of yours.

I had nothing to do with it,—I have my feelings as well

as another man ; but I am but an individual." Through-
out the whole of this business I wish to acknowledge

that Admiral Buckner and Commissioner Hartwell

were indefatigable in their endeavours to satisfy the

minds of the sailors.

" Lieutenant Justice, of the Sandwich, was the second

witness that was called. He knew nothing personal

about me. Captain O'Bryen, of the Nassau, knew
nothing about me. Captain Fancourt, of the Aga-
memnon, knew nothing personal about me. Captain

Cobb, of the Lion, knew nothing of me. Captain Parr

of the Standard, knew nothing personal of me. Captain

Watson, of the his, and Captain Hargood, of the

Leopold, knew nothing personal concerning me; and

therefore, I have no observations to make upon their

evidence. The next witness called was Mr. Snipe,

surgeon of the Sandwich : He deposed, that on the

14th of May he was ordered to attend on deck, to be

present at the punishment of a man of the name of

Campbell, and that I ordered him to receive a dozen

lashes. I was then upon the gangway, and had been

sent there by the delegates to see the punishment

executed. Mr. Bray, the master, who had then the

command of the ship, was consulted about the punish-
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ment. The man had been convicted of getting beastly

drunkj though he had said he had drunk nothing but

small beer. I was then desired to caution the ship's

company not to get drunk till the business was settled;

for if they did, they would undergo the same punish-

ment as this man, which was what they had all agreed

to inflict. With respect to his evidence about the sick

man in irons, he was confined for disrespect to Captain

Moss ; and the answer which he states was given by me

to him shows that he did not wish to interfere in the

medical department. He says, also, that he was de-

sired by me to use his influence with Admiral Buckner,

that the whole sick of the fleet should be permitted to

go on shore. This shows that we had a great regard

for the suflierings of our fellow-creatures. Doctor Snipe

further says, that when he went on shore he promised

to return, but that he took good care not to do it till

the ship was again under the command of Captain

Moss. I wish here to ask whether it was praiseworthy

and humane in the surgeon to leave the ship, when

there were so many people dangerously sick on board,

merely because his situation on board was not so com-

fortable as he could have wished? Captain Surridge,

of the Iris, says he saw me with the delegates at the

Commissioner's house, in conversation with the admiral,

and that I delivered the articles from the North Sea

fleet. I declare, in the most solemn manner, that I

had no conversation upon that occasion, but desired

the Commissioner to examine the delegates of that

fleet, in order to find out what would satisfy the minds

of the men in that fleet. He says be saw no disrepect
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in my behaviour to the admiral. Captain Dickson of

the Espion's evidence is answered by the observations

I made upon the evidence given by the Admiral.

Captain Wood, of the Hound, says that T told him not

to be so violent with the delegates. I went on board

the ship to secure his safety, for he had threatened to

put the delegates to death. I desired the ship's com-

panies to be attentive to their officers, and not to make

any slight or unfounded complaints of grievances. He
says he was ordered out of Tiis ship, and that the

person who communicated the orders to him said it

was by my direction. I declare solemnly, that I could

safely assert, if I was going into the presence of God to-

night, that I gave no such order; and that I did not

know he was turned out of his ship, till I heard it

stated in evidence in court. With respect to what he

says of my having threatened to make beef-steak of the

pilot at the yard-arm, for having put us into a foul

berth, I deny having used any such expression, or that

I ordered the anchor to be let go. With respect to the

yard ropes, they were rove before I got on board ; but

in the confusion that necessarily prevailed, it was very

easy for the captain to have mistaken the time of these

circumstances happening, and the identical person who

ordered them. Lieutenant Flat, of the Sandwich, said

he did not know me before the disturbance broke out

on board that ship ; but, as I shall have occasion to

ask that gentleman some more questions, I shall make

no observations upon his evidence at present. William

Levingstone, the boatswain of the Director, says : I was

on board the Director when she fired on the Repulse

11
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while she was on shore ; that I asked for a hoat, with

a flag of truce, to go on hoard that ship^ in the hopes of

being able to save innocent blood, and that I valued not

my life. He says, also, that he heard me give the

orders to fire, and that after it had commenced he did

not see me. Samuel Hallard, the carpenter of the

Director, says he saw me on board that ship, and heard

me ask for the boat, to prevent, if I could, innocent

blood from being spilt; that he heard the guns fired,

but did not hear me give orders for it. The evidence

of both these witnesses applies to the same time and the

same facts ; therefore my answer applies equally to both.

In the first place it is necessary for me to account for

my being on board the Director at that time : there

was a request for our band of music to sail round the

dififerent ships, and play three tunes—viz., "God save

the King," "Rule Brittania," and "Britons strike

Home "—and also that we should show the journal of

our proceedings. I was directed by the delegates to

comply with these requests. While I was in the boat

I was told that the Repulse was getting under weigh,

and was advised to go on board the Sandwich. When
I got on board I was told that the Director was getting

a spring upon her cable, in order to bring her broadside

to bear upon the Repulse. I was then ordered by the

delegates to go on board the Director; I went, and

found the guns upon the quaiter-deck loosed. I then

desired permission to address the ship's company, and

pointed out to them the impropriety and cruelty of one

brother firing upon another, and asked for a boat and a

flag of truce to endeavour to prevent the consequences
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of such a measure. Finding myself refused, I deter-

mined to find out to what extremities they were in-

clined to go, and therefore I asked them if they would

slip their cables and run alongside the Repulse ; I was

extremely happy to find they would not do it, for I pro-

posed it merely to sound their intentions, I will now

state to the court my reason for asking for a flag of

truce. As the wind was favourable and the tide was

rising I expected every minute to see the Repulse get

afloat, and make for Sheerness harbour. I wished, if

possible, to get into her wake with the flag of truce to

prevent her being fired at ; for T hoped the other ships

would respect the flag of truce, and not fire upon the

Repulse for fear of hurting her. I failed in my en-

deavours, and was obliged to give way to the storm,

and to sanction measures which I abominated; and the

orders I gave on that occasion were extorted from me

by compulsion. I remained in the Director till she

ceased firing, in hopes of catching a favourable moment

for softening matters; it is clear, therefore, that Burry

must have mistaken some other person who might be at

the gun with him, and might have used such language,

for I will prove that I was on the Director till the

afternoon. Burry says that he saw me on board the

Monmouth that day, and that I assisted in pointing and

fitting the gun at which he was six or seven times ; and

that I was not content with firing a nine-pound shot,

but that I put in a crowbar. He speaks of being con-

fined in difl'erent parts of the ship by a man called

Captain Vance; and that I shook my fist when the

Repulse was afloat, and said, " D—n me, she is afloat ;"
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and that I would send one of tlie outside ships after the

Leopard and send her to hell. On asking him if he

had received any bribe or promise for giving this

heUish account, he said he had not. I went back to

the Sandwich in the Ardent's boat. John Summerland

does not recollect seeing me at any gun, or actively

employed with my clothes off; but he says that I said

I would get an outside ship and send her after the

Leopard. In this particular both the witnesses agree

;

but I will call witnesses to prove to the court that I

was not on board the Monmouth while she was firing

at the Repulse; and under the general confusion that

must have prevailed at such a moment, it cannot be

supposed that I had either leisure or inclination to go

looking for such Don Quixote-like adventures. I saw

the Monmouth very active in firing upon the Repulse,

and took the same measures with that ship that I had

done with the Director. If I said I would take an

outside ship and send her after the Leopard, it was

with a view of preventing the Monmouth from quitting

her station to attack the Repulse, for I immediately

went on board the Sandwich. Before the Sandwich

was delivered up to her officers, the Montague made a

signal for the delegates to assemble on board her; I

did not go on board ; their proceedings were extremely

violent. Having now closed the remarks I had to

make upon the evidence that has been given against

me, I have only a few words to address to the court,

not to remind them that where mercy can be shown it

ought to be granted; but, assured from the candid

manner in which the court has proceeded that justice
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will be done, I have only to ask that the evidence given

by G. Burry may be examined in the strictest manner.

I ask this for the purpose of clearing up my character,

which is far dearer to me than a thousand lives; and

though it has been misrepresented in the public prints,

I hope the innocence of my intentions wiU appear. My
country allows me justice ; and justice I am sure I shall

have from this honourable court."

The prisoner then proceeded to examine his own
witnesses, who were—the Eight Hon. Lord Northesk,

captain of the Monmouth; Captain John Knight, of

the Montague; Mr. J. Swanson, gunner; Matthew

HoUister, seaman of the Director; Thomas Burry,

William Nobbs, and George Nicholls, seamen of the

Monmouth; Samuel Beer, of the Monmouth; Matthew

HoUister. Their evidence was but immaterial.

The evidence being closed, the President desired to

know if there were any other witnesses, as the court

would willingly continue its sittings to a late hour in

order to get their testimony. The prisoner answered

that he had no more evidence to examine. He hoped

the circumstance of his giving up the command of the

ship, and the other parts of his conduct, would receive

the most favourable construction. At half-past one the

court was cleared, and, at ten minutes before four, the

prisoner being called in, the Deputy Judge-Advocate

read the sentence of the court. After the commission

under which the court sat had been read, it stated that

it had proceeded to try Richard Parker on the charge

of mutiny, disobedience of orders, and insolence to his

oflBcers; and that the said Richard Parker had been
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heard in his defence. The court did adjudge, that the

whole of the said charge was fully proved, and that the

said Richard Parker was guilty of the said crimes which

it enumerated—crimes as unprecedented in their nature

as wicked and destructive in their consequences. The

court did, therefore, adjudge him, the said Richard

Parker, to be hanged by the neck till he was dead ; and

the said Richard Parker was ordered to suffer death

accordingly.

Prisoner :
" I shall submit to your sentence with all

due respect, being confident of the innocence of my
intentions, and that God will receive me into favour;

and I sincerely hope that my death will be the means

of restoring tranquillity to the navy, and that those men
who have been implicated in the business may be rein-

stated in their former situations, and again be serviceable

to their country."

President :
" The court, in consideration of the re-

pentance which is necessary to expiate your heinous

offences, is willing to grant you some time for that pur-

pose, and has not, therefore, ordered the sentence to be

put into immediate execution, but leaves it to the Admi-

ralty to appoint when and where you are to suffer."

The prisoner bowed, and withdrew.

The behaviour of the unhappy man throughout the

whole of his trial was firm and manly, and, while he was

before the court, decent and respectful. During the

trial the solicitor of the Admiralty received two letters

for Parker, in one of which, from his brother, was en-

closed a five-pound bank-note. They were delivered to

him immediately in court.
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The execution of Parker took place on the 30th June,

1 797. On that day, at eight in the morning, a gun was

fired from his Majesty's ship L'Espion, lying off Sheer-

ness garrison, Vice-Admiral Lutwidge's flag-ship ; and

the yellow flag, the signal of capital punishment, was

hoisted, which was immediately repeated by the Sand-

wich hoisting the same colour on her fore -top. The

Sandwich was stationed rather above Blackstakes, the

headmost ship of the fleet. The garrison was immedi-

ately under arms on the gun firing, and proceeded in

single files along the south shore of the Medway, near

to Queenborough, to be present at the execution. All

the gates were then shut, and each ship sent a boat off,

with a lieutenant and a party of marines, ta attend the

Sandvnch ; and the crews of all were piped to the fore-

castle, and the marines drawn up on the quarter-deck,

to be witnesses of the execution. The prisoner was

awakened a little after six o'clock from a sound sleep by

the marshal-provost, who, with a file of marines, com-

posed his guard. He arose with cheerfulness, and re-

quested permission might be asked for a barber to

attend him, which was granted him. He soon dressed

himself in a neat suit of mourning (waistcoat excepted)

wearing his half-boots over a pair of black silk stock-

ings. He then took his breakfast, talked of a will he

had written—in which he bequeathed to his wife a little

estate he said he was heir to^—and after that lamented

the misfortunes that bad-been brought on the country

by the mutiny, but solemnly denied having the least

connection or correspondence with any disaffected per-

sons on shore ; and declared that it was chiefly owing
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to him that the ships were not carried into the enemy's

ports. On his coming on deck he looked a little paler

than common, but soon recovered his usual complexion.

The chaplain told him that he had selected two appro-

priate psalms ; to which the prisoner desired to add the

51st, and then recited each alternate verse in a manner

peculiarly impressive. He heard the preparatory gun

fired, at nine, without the smallest emotion j and prayers

being ended, he rose, and asked Captain Moss if he

might be indulged with a glass of white wine, which

being immediately granted, he took it, and lifting up his

eyes, exclaimed, " I drink first to the salvation of my
soul! and next to the forgiveness of all my enemies!"

Addressing himself to Captain Moss, he said " he hoped

he would shake hands with him," which the captain did._

He then desired " that he might be remembered to his

companions on board the Neptune, with his last breath

entreating them to prepare for their destiny, and to

refrain from unbecoming levity." His arms being now

bound, the procession moved to a platform erected on

the cat-head, with an elevated projection. There Parker

knelt with the chaplain, and joined in some devout

ejaculations, to all which he repeated loudly, " Amen."

He now asked the captain " whether he might be

allowed to speak," and immediately, apprehending his

intention might be misconceived, he added, " I am not

going, sir, to address the ship's company ; I wish only

to declare that I acknowledge the justice of the sen-

tence under which I suffer, and I hope my death may
be deemed a sufficient atonement, and may save the

lives of others." He now requested a minute to collect
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himselfj and knelt down alone for that space of time

;

then rising up, said, " I am ready," and, holding his

head np with considerable dignity, said to the boat-

swain's mate, "take off my handkerchief" (of black

silk) ; which being done, the provost-marshal placed the

halter over his head (which had been prepared with

grease), but, doing it awkwardly, the prisoner said

rather pettishly to the boatswain's mate, "Do you do

it, for he seems to know nothing about it." The halter

was then spliced to the reeved rope. All this being

adjusted, the provost attempted to put a cap on, which

he refused ; but on being told it was indispensable, he

submitted, requesting that it might not be pulled over

his eyes till he desired it. He then turned round for

the first time, gave a steady look at his shipmates on

the forecastle, and, with an affectionate smile, nodded

his head, and said, " Good bye to you." He now said,

" Captain Moss, is the gun primed ?" " It is." " Is

the match alight?" "All is ready." On this he ad-

vanced a little and said, " Will any gentleman be so

good as to lend me a white handkerchief for a signal ?
"

After some little pause, a gentleman stepped forward

and gave him one ; to whom, bowing, he returned his

thanks. He now ascended the platform, repeated the

same question about the gun, evidently to gain the

time he wished, for the perfect completion of what he

had preconcerted in his own mind ; then, the cap being

drawn over his face, walking by firm degrees up to the

extremity of the scaffold, he dropped the handkerchief,

put his hands in his coat-pockets with great rapidity,

and at the moment he was springing off, the fatal bow



258 CELEBKATED TRIALS.

gun fired, and the reeve rope catching him ran him up,

though not with great velocity, to the yard-arm. When
suspended about midway, his body appeared extremely

convulsed for a few seconds, immediately after which no

appearance of life remained. The instant he was visible

to the garrison from the yard-arm, the telegraph was

put in motion to announce it to the Admiralty, and from

the clearness of the atmosphere and quickness of work-

ing, the advice must have been received in seven minutes.

He suffered exactly at half-past nine, and was lowered

down after hanging at the yard-arm a full hour ; when

the yellow flag was struck, and his body instantly put

into a shell that had been prepared for it, with all his

clothes on; and soon after it was taken in one of the

Sandwich's boats, and rowed to the east point of the

garrison, and there being landed was carried to the new

naval burying- ground at Sheerness, out of the Red Bar-

rier Gate, leading to Minster; the coffin-lid was here

taken oif in the presence of the spectators for a few

minutes. His countenance appeared not much altered,

but his eyes were wide open. He was interred exactly

at noon. The whole conduct of this awful ceremony was

extremely impressive. Tt was evident, from the coun-

tenance of the crew of the Sandwich, that the general

feeling for the fate of their mutinous conductor was

such as might be wished; not a word, and scarcely a

whisper, was heard.

Parker's body was not allowed to rest in the naval

burying-ground, in consequence of an afliscting incident.

His wife, it seems, was in Scotland when the Nore mutiny

broke out, and on hearing that her husband was the
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ringleader, she hastened to London to endeavour to

dissuade him from pursuing his guilty career. She

arrived too late ; Parker was tried and condemned ; and

she only reached Sheerness in time to witness his execu-

tion from a boat which approached the Sandwich as

near as it was permitted. She saw her husband appear

on deck between two clergymen. She called on him,

and he heard her voice, for he exclaimed, " There is my
dear wife from Scotland." Immediately afterwards she

fell back in a state of insensibility, and did not recover

till some time after she was taken ashore. She was

excited almost to madness by the information that the

surgeons would probably disinter the body that night.

She therefore resolved on the following plan :—She hung

about the churchyard till dusk, and then she contrived

with some friends to scale the churchyard wall, and went

to her husband's grave. She there had the coffin dug

up, and the lid removed, and after clasping the cold

hand of Parker, she got several men to undertake the

task of lifting the body. This was accomplished success-

fully, and at three o'clock in the morning, the shell

containing the corpse was placed in a van and taken to

Rochester, where, for the sum of six guineas, Mrs. Parker

procured another waggon to carry it to London. On the

road they met hundreds of persons all inquiring about

and talking of the fate of " Admiral Parker," as the com-

mon people called him. At_eleven p.m. the van reached

London ; here the widow stopped at the Hoop and Horse

Shoe, on Tower hill, which was full of people. A great

crowd by-and-by assembled about the house, anxious

to see the body of Parker. The Lord Mayor heard of
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the affair, and came and asked the widow what she in-

tended to do with her husband's remains. She replied,

" To inter them decently at Exeter or in Scotland." The

Lord Mayor said the body would not be taken from her,

but prevailed upon her to have it decently buried in

London. Arrangements were made with this view, and

finally the corpse of Parker was inhumed in Whitechapel

churchyard, although not until it had to be removed to

Aldgate workhouse, on account of the crowds attracted

by it, which caused some fears lest " Admiral'' Parker's

remains should create a public commotion.

The Gentleman^s Magazine for 1797 thus records this

singular afiair :

—

" The body of Parker, the mutineer, which was taken

out of the new naval burying-ground at Sheerness, was

brought to the Hoop and Horse Shoe public-house.

Queen-street, Little Tower-hill, on Saturday evening.

So large a concourse of persons assembled before the

house next day, that a party of constables were stationed

there, in order to keep the mob from breaking into the

house ; and the corpse was removed in the afternoon to

the workhouse, in Nightingale-lane, by order of the

parish officers. Mrs. Parker was taken before the sitting

magistrates in Lambert-street, and examinedtouchingthe

object of her taking up the body. Her answer was, ' For

the purpose of a more decent interment.' Tt was buried

this morning early in the vaults of Whitechapel church."

Mrs. Parker long survived her husband, and latterly

fell into distress ; and among other relief received by

her was at one time £\0, and at another £30, from

King William IV.
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In the year 1797 lay in his death-illness the master

spirit of that political periodj the Right Hon. Edmund
Burke, who, heart-broken at the loss of his only son,

took no further interest in the concerns of private life,

but devoted his whole mind to the state of public affairs.

Amid the startling and depressing news of Napoleon's

triumphant campaign in Italy, the victory of St. Vincent

somewhat revived Burke's spirits, but then these naval

mutinies came to sadden him again—to sadden but not

to subdue him. The ministry of the day sought counsel

and courage from the dying man's energy. One of the

conferences of Government with him is thus referred to

in an able biography of Wilberforce :—" During the

awful crisis of the mutiny, he (Wilberforce) saw the last

gleams of (take him for all in all) the greatest luminary

of the eighteenth century." Wilberforce, in his own

diary, says:—"Monday, April 17.—Heard of Ports-

mouth mutiny ; consultation with Burke . . . The

whole scene is now before me. Burke was lying on a

sofa much emaciated, and Windham, Laurence, and

some other friends were around him. The attention

shown to Burke by that party was just like the treat-

ment of Ahithopel of old ; it was as if one went to inquire

of the oracle of the Lord."

In one of his last letters, dated May 12, 1797, Burke

thus refers to the mutiny at the Nore:—"The times

are so deplorable that I do not know how to write about

them. Indeed, I can hardly bear to think of them. In

the selection of these mischiefs . . . are those of

the navy and those of Ireland . . . As to the first,

. . . . I trust in God that these mutineers may not,
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as yet, have imbrued their hands deeply in blood. If

they have, we must expect the worst that can happen."

Burke's spirit revolted at what he thought he per-

ceived—viz., that the mutiny at home and the French

abroad were making the British Government lose

courage. A short time before his decease he used

these remarkable words :
" Never succumb to these

difficulties. It is a struggle for your existence as a

nation, and if you must die, die with the sword in

your hand. But I have no fears whatever for the

result. There is a salient living principle of energy in

the public mind of England which only requires proper

direction to enable her to withstand this or any other

impending danger.'^ Burke spoke with the foresight

of a prophet; the mutiny subsided even before he

breathed his last, and, not long after, naval successes

restored public confidence. Justice was satisfied by

the execution of Parker and a few other executions, and

by some minor punishments. The British navy soon

showed that it possessed its "living principle of energy."

The sailors speedily redeemed themselves, and wiped

away the recent stigma with victory upon victory. The

battle of Camperdown was won in the October of this

same 1 797. King George III., on the 30th of that

October, visited the fleet, and the victor of Camperdown,

Admiral Lord Duncan, at the Nore, and the royal

clemency was extended generally to such mutineers

as still remained under sentence. The following year

the Nile was won. These triumphs were " happy pro-

logues to the swelling act of the imperial theme"

—

Trafalgar. Yet while, through the halo of these
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glories, we look, less angrily, back to the sad insub-

ordination that preceded them, we may offer up a

fervent prayer that, for the honour and vitality of our

navy, no such outbreak may ever occur again as the

mutiny at the Nore.



THE TRIAL OF GOVERNOR WALL.

Joseph Wall, the unfortunate subject of the following

trial, was the scion of a very respectable Irish family,

and was the eldest son of Garrett Wall, Esq., of Derry-

knavin. He was born in 1737, and entered the British

army at an early age. He was a brave and honourable

man, but of a severe and rather unaccommodating

temper, and was not popular among the officers and

men, though he rapidly advanced in his profession,

having obtained early promotion for the gallantry he

displayed at the reduction of the Havannah in 1763.

It was while Lieut.-Colonel and Governor and Com-

mandant of Goree, an island on the coast of Africa, that

he committed the offence which brought him to the

scaffold—viz., the murder of one Benjamin Armstrong,

by ordering him to receive eight hundred lashes on the

10th July, 1782, of which he died in five days after-

wards. Wall's emoluments were, at the time, very con-

siderable, as, besides his military appointments, he was

Superintendent of Trade to the colony. His family

was Roman Catholic, but, according to the exigency

of the then penal laws, he had to conform to Protes-

tanism, to enable him to hold his commission.

Some time after the accoimt of the murder of Arm-
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strong reached the Board of Admiralty, a reward was

offered for Wall's apprehension, who had come to Eng-

land, and he was taken. He, however, contrived to

escape while in custody at Reading, and fled to the

Continent, and sojourned there, sometimes in France

and sometimes in Italy j but mostly in France, under

an assumed name, where he lived respectably and was

admitted into good society. He particularly kept com-

pany with the officers of his own country who served in

the French army, and was well known at the Scotch and

Irish colleges in Paris. He now and then incautiously

ventured into England and Scotland. While thus, at

one time in Scotland, he made a high match. He
wedded a scion of the great line of Kintail—viz.,

Frances, fifth daughter (by his wife. Lady Mary

Stewart, daughter of Alexander, sixth Earl of Gallo-

way) of Kenneth MacKenzie, Lord Fortrose, M.P., and

sister of Kenneth, last Earl of Seaforth. Wall came

finally to England in 1797. He was frequently advised

by the friend who then procured him a lodging to leave

the country again, and questioned as to his motive for

remaining; he never gave any satisfactory answer, but

appeared, even at the time when he was so studiously

concealing himself, to have a distant intention of making

a surrender, in order to take his trial. It is very evi-

dent his mind was not at ease, and that he was inca-

pable of any firm resolution either one way or the

other. Even the manner in which he did at last sur-

render himself showed a singular want of determina-

tion, as he left it to chance whether the Minister should

send for him or not; for rather than go and deliver

12
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himself up, he wrote to say " he was ready to do so"

—

a less becoming, but not a less dangerous mode of en-

countering danger. His high-born wife showed him

throughout his troubles the greatest devotion : she was

with him in Upper Thomhaugh Street, Bedford Square,

where he lived under the name of Thompson when he

was apprehended. It is most probable that, had he not

written to the Secretary of State, the matter had been

so long forgotten, that he would never have been mo-

lested ; but once he was in the hands of the law, the

Government had but one obvious course, which was to

bring him to trial. This was accordingly done, and the

judicial investigation took place, at the Old Bailey on

the 20th January, 1802. The judges who presided

were—The Right Hon. Sir Archibald MacDonald, Lord

Chief Baron of the Exchequer; the Hon. Sir Soulden

Lawrence, one of the justices of the Court of King's

Bench ; and the Hon. Sir Giles Rooke, one of the

justices of the Court of Common Pleas.

The counsel for the Crown were the Attorney-General,

Sir Edward Law (afterwards Lord Ellenborough and

Lord Chief Justice of the Court of King's Bench) ; the

Solicitor-General, the Hon. Spencer Perceval (after-

wards First Lord of the Treasury^ and, while so, assas-

sinated by Bellingham) ; Mr. Wood (afterwards Sir

George Wood and a baron of the Exchequer) ; Mr.

Plumer (afterwards Sir Thomas Plumer, and succes-

sively Vice-Chancellor of England and Master of the

Rolls) ; Mr. William Fielding (afterwards a metropo-

litan police-magistrate, son of Henry Fielding, the

novelist) ; and Mr, Abbott (afterwards Lord Chief
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Justice of the Court of King's Bench and Lord Ten-

terden)

.

The counsel for the defence were Mr. Knowlys (after-

wards Recorder of London), Mr. Gurney (afterwards Sir

John Gurney, a baron of the Exchequer), and Mr.

Alley.

The indictment was opened by Mr. Abbott; and

while he was stating the charge, the prisoner from the

dock said to the Chief Baron, " My lord, I cannot hear

in this place; I hope your lordship will permit me to

sit near my counsel." In which the Chief Baron replied,

" It is perfectly impossible ; there is a regular place ap-

pointed by law—I can make no invidious distinctions."

The Attorney-General stated the case for the prose-

cution in a remarkably able and lucid speech, which so

fully details the whole horrible affair, that I cannot do

better than give the greater portion of it. After a few

preliminary remarks on the nature of the crime, the

Attorney-General's address proceeded as follows :

—

" Gentlemen of the jury,—The crime imputed to the

prisoner I have stated to you to be murder; the prisoner

is charged, upon the present indictment, with the murder

of a person of the name of Benjamin Armstrong, who

was a soldier and serjeant in the garrison at Goree, of

which the prisoner at the bar was, at the time of Arm-

strong's death, the commander and governor. The cir-

cumstances that led to the punishment which was the

cause of the death of this person it will be for me pre-

sently to state to you ; and it will be for me, after I

have so done, to discuss in some manner that which is

the probable, and which is not only the probable, but
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whictj from circumstances antecedent, I know to be the

actual, ground of defence which the prisoner will rely

upon before you for his deliverance this day.

" Gentlemen, Mr. Wall was, in the year 1 782, com-

mandant of the garrison of Goree, which is an island

upon the coast of Africa; he had under him in com-

mand there a Captain Lacy, who afterwards succeeded

him in the command of that garrison; he had under

him, likewise, a Lieutenant Fall, a Lieutenant O'Shan-

ley, an Ensign Ford, and Ensign Deering; these, with

Major Phipps, an officer of artillery, were, I believe, all

the military officers then at the place—at least, it does

not occur to me, at present, to mention any other

military officer as then being there.

" The circumstances of the case now before us, you

will recollect, arose in the year 1783; the 10th of July,

1782, is the time when that death was occasioned which

is imputed to the prisoner at the bar as murder. The

prisoner returned to this country in the month of

August, 1782; he was apprehended for this offence in

the month of March, 1784, under a warrant from the

Privy Council. You will bear in mind, gentlemen,

that most of the persons who, in respect to their local

and official situations, were the most material witnesses

to establish his innocence—if innocent he be—were

living, and within the reach of process from the criminal

courts of this country, and might have been then brought

forward to establish his vindication, if, by such evidence,

he felt that he could have been vindicated from the

charge now under your consideration.

"In the year 1782, this gentleman had a garrison
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under his command, as I have stated, in which there

were the several officers whose names and whose com-

missions I have aL"eady mentioned ; T believe the whole

military force under his command consisted of at least

140 or 150 men. The garrison had been, for some time

prior to the period at which he announced, in public

orders, that he was about to depart from the garrison

(and which departure was so announced as immediately

about to take place on the 11th of July), put under

short allowance in point of provisions. That measure

was, I presume, adopted from fair and proper reasons

of prudence and probable necessity. The men who had

been put under such short allowance, and who were

thus restricted in point of supply, in the articles of usual

and necessary consumption, with a view to general con-

venience and the eventual safety of the garrison, and in

order merely that the existing stock of provisions might

last out till a farther supply might arrive, were at all

times very properly allowed some compensation of a

pecuniary kind, on account of their reduced allowance

in point of actual provisions. The gentleman at the

bar had announced his departure, as I stated before, for

the 11th of July; there was also about to depart, at the

same time, with him for England, the ensign of the

name of Deering, the paymaster of the garrison. In

the hands of that person were, of course, these stop-

pages, and these stoppages were usually commuted with

the men, and compensation made to them on account

thereof, either in money or in that which was, for the

purpose of supplying their immediate necessities, equi-

valent to money—that is to say, articles of convenient
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barter and truck at that place. When Ensign Deeringj

the paymaster^ upon whom the garrison had demands

for their short provisions, was so about to depart, the

garrison was, of course, anxious that their account with

him might be settled ; and as the period of his departure

drew so near, it will be given you in evidence that a

considerable number of the soldiers who had demands

of this kind had resorted to the house where the pay-

master lived, in order to obtain the payment of them.

For what- reason Governor "Wall mixed himself in the

consideration of these short allowances—what personal

reasons he might have to interpose himself between

these men and the application for a settlement and ad-

justment of the claims made by them on this account,

I am not apprised—at least, I shall not suggest any to

you. The application was made, as I have stated, by

those persons in considerable numbers; they resorted

to the house of Mr. Deering, and were desirous of

having satisfaction for their pay before he should leave

the island, which M'as to be on the day following. After

that period a vast ocean would separate them from their

debtor ; and, considering the precariousness of human

life, and particularly in that unhealthy settlement, if

they did not press their demand at that period, it is

possible they might not be in a situation afterwards to

urge it with any beneficial effect to themselves.

"Upon their coming in a considerable number, as

you will have it in evidence, towards the house of the

paymaster, and when, in doing so, they passed by the

governor's house (who lived in the way to the pay-

master's), and were going on to the paymaster's, it
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appears that Governor Wall came out, and with language

of some anger reprehended the men for resorting to

the house of the paymaster upon this occasion, and

ordered them, with some menaces of punishment, to go

away ; the men, as it is stated to me, and as I shall laj'

it before you in evidence, retired dutifully upon this

admonition. About an hour and a-half afterwards,

several persons came; whether they were the same

who came before I know not, but one of them was the

deceased Armstrong, whose death, and the causes of

whose death, are alone now in question before you,—

I

say alone, for I would wish and desire you to lay out of

your consideration any circumstances which point at the

supposed death of any person. If you happened to be

in court, and heard any indictments read, upon any

former occasion, which were applicable to the deaths

of any other persons, I request you to lay that matter

wholly out of your attention ; for we are to confine our

attention merely to the circumstances and cause of the

death of Armstrong, and no other circumstances will be

gone into but such as are immediately connected, in

point of fact, with the death of that person. If, indeed,

subsequent transactions connecting and inseparably

mixing themselves with matters which respect the

deaths of other persons should necessarily, in point of

fact, make a part of our proof in respect to the charge

now before you, these facts are not shut out from us,

in point of legal use and application, because they may

conduct to, or in themselves make a part of, the proof

of any other substantive crime conjointly with the pre-

sent : but no substantive crime, except the one charged
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in the indictment^ and which you are sworn to try, can

come immediately and properly under your consider-

ation for the purpose of affecting the prisoner upon this

occasion.

"Gentlemen, I have stated the appearance of the

soldiers upon their first appHcation. Upon a second

application to the paymaster for their pay, Armstrong

(the deceased) appeared with the persons who were

making that application. Governor Wall came out to

them again from his house, and I do not think that,

upon this occasion, he used the language of menace

which he did before, but he spoke to the deceased

Armstrong ; and Armstrong, as it will be given you in

evidence, by a person who had the best means of know-

ing and seeing all that passed, being the orderly serjeant

immediately attendant upon the person of the governor

the whole of that day, this person of the name of Arm-

strong, so far from behaving in any undutiful and dis-

respectful manner, or from manifesting any disregard to

the command of his lawful superior, pulled off his hat,

and bowed with all proper deference to him ; and then,

without entering into any contest as to the right to

make the application they were about to make, having

merely stated that they came there in order to settle

with the paymaster, upon receiving an intimation from

the governor that what they were doing ought not to be

done, he respectfully retired ; and from that period (if

there be truth in the evidence I have to lay before you)

till the period of the punishment which was afterwards

on that day inflicted upon Armstrong, and which punish-

ment is charged to have been the cause of his death,
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there did not exist in the place the least symptom of

tumult, discontent, riot, disorder, or anything that bore

the appearance of mutiny, or disobedience to the lawful

commands of a military superior. . . .

"The application for pay was made in the morning

by the soldiers to the paymaster, who was about to

depart; there was an interval, respecting which it will

certainly be incumbent upon Governor Wall to give

some account in evidence, and to show that it did not

entirely pass in tranquillity and quiet. Why, if there

was anything that required investigation, was it not

filled up and occupied, as far as it might be, by some

forms of trial ? Upon this subject there is an entire

silence. We hear nothing with respect to these men,

or to any transaction in the island in which Governor

Wall is concerned, till the evening or towards the even-

ing of that .day. Somewhere towards six o'clock, I

think, it will be in evidence that the drum beat what

they called 'the long roll,' which was for calling the

soldiers upon the parade. The orderly serjeant who

attended Governor Wall will state to you that this was

beat by Governor Wall's direction; the men who im-

mediately attended were ordered to fall into their ranks

as they were, unarmed ; several in their jackets, as they

happened to be, without waiting for that preparation in

point of dress which would have fitted them for their

ordinary appearance upon the parade upon any other

occasion ; they were then 6rdered to form a circle upon

the parade. Captain Lacy, Lieutenant Fall, Ensign

Ford, and Lieutenant O'Shanley being present. The

circle being formed, the witnesses will state that some

12 *
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conversation passed, in tlieir presence, between the

officers, there being, I think, at the same time, brought

forward upon the parade a gun-carriage, and persons

attending to perform the office which was presently

afterwards performed by them.

" After a short communication (a few words only

having passed) between the governor and the officers

assembled there, whom 1 have already mentioned, this

man, Armstrong, was ordered by Governor Wall to be

stripped. He was accordingly stripped, and was then

tied to the gun-carriage; black men came forward

—

not the persons who usually apply military punishment,

but black men came forward—and began to inflict the

punishment which was ordered; they changed about,

each took his turn; each, I think, inflicting twenty-

five lashes, till the number of eight hundred lashes had

been completely inflicted upon the body of this un-

fortunate person. Punishments of this sort are usually

inflicted by drummers or other soldiers of the regiment.

It was in this instance, you observe, inflicted by black

men ordered to attend there for that purpose ; and this

punishment was not inflicted with the usual instrument

with which military punishments are inflicted, which is

a cat-o'-nine-tails, formed, as I understand, of a log

line of about one-eighth of an inch in thickness, but

with a rope of one inch in diameter; one of the very

ropes used on the occasion, or one at least exactly

resembling it, but I beliepe one of the ropes themselves

(and from circumstances I ha^'e little reason to doubt

its identity), will be exhibited to you in evidence.

During the time of inflicting this punishment, I am
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instructed it will be proved to you that Governor Wall

urged these black men to the performance of their task

in language which it will be enough for you to hear

once from the mouths of the witnesses; very harsh

expressions are stated to -have been used by him, some

of which I would gladly be spared the mention of, that

he several times called out " Cut him to the heart

!

Cut him to the liver!" that Armstrong begged for

mercy, and that Governor Wall then said that the

sickly season was coming on and that this punishment

would do for him. That after receiving a great number

of lashes Armstrong was conducted to the hospital ; that

he was in a situation which made it probable that his

death would be the consequence of what he had suffered.

Accordingly, at periods some time subsequent, you will

hear that he made declaration, which, if they appear to

be (and which will be a question for the judgment of

their lordships) declarations made under the expecta-

tion and belief of an immediately impending disso-

lution, and with that solemn consciousness of duty

which belongs to that awful situation, a situation which

places the mind under sanctions at least tantamount in

point of obligation to tell the truth, to what are im-

pressed upon it by the solemnity of a judicial oath

;

you will in that case hear, as proceeding from this man,

a declaration that he expected his death, and that he

had been punished without any form of trial, and

without having committed any offence whatever j this

evidence, under the circumstances I have supposed, will

be undoubtedly competent, and if it comes under those

views, I shall be able to lay it before you.
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" After this punishment had been inflicted upon Arm-
strong—I will not, however, travel into circumstances

which relate to any other ^jcrson ; I close the business

of the punishment, as far as respects Governor Wall,

here. On the next day, as he had announced his in-

tention to do. Governor Wall, together with Ensign

Deering, the paymaster, an officer who is not now
living, and Major Phipps, took his departure for

England.

" There may be circumstances—^it will be for Governor

Wall to show that such circumstances existed— which

may constitute a sufficient, adequate, and full defence

for a military officer in the infliction of punishment

without either a general or a regimental court-martial;

for if there be that degree of imminent necessity which

supersedes the recourse to any ordinary tribunal, if there

be actually existing that flagrant mutiny which must

either be suppressed by force, and by the immediate

though irregular application of severe punishment, or

must be left to rage uncontrolled at the utmost peril

of public safety, that which I was just now pronouncing

to be irregular becomes, if the more regular and appro-

priate course of proceeding in such cases cannot be re-

sorted to, itself regular and capable of being justified

upon every principle of public duty ; for it imports the

public safety that the means of resisting an enormous

and over-bearing evil should be as strong, sudden, and

capable of application as the evil itself is capable of im-

mediate mischievous effect, and if this has been the case

here it will carry its own justification with it.

" Gentlemen, upon this occasion, therefore, it will be
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most important for the prisoner to establish that there

existed, in point of fact, a mutiny. When he has esta-

blished in point of fact (if he, can do so) that there ex-

isted a mutiny, if he can go farther and show that the

ordinary modes of trial could not be resorted to, and

that upon conference with the officers, that which on

the emergency was thought best to be done was done,

and that there was no wanton abuse of power in the

infliction of punishment, the prisoner will be entitled to

go quit of the charge made upon him by this indict-

ment. But if, instead of that, it should appear to you

that there existed no crime in the deceased, that there

was, in fact, no trial of him, where trial might have been

had if crime had existed; if it shall appear to you that

there was not only neither crime nor trial, but that, in

addition to the absence of both crime and trial, there

was much malignity of motive influencing the conduct

of this gentleman to impute crime and to deny trial to

this unhappy sufferer, I am afraid the contrary of that

conclusion to which I was just now leading you must,

in the proper discharge of your duty, become to . . .

" If the prisoner can make out such a defence, if he

can make out substantially the crime of mutiny, I should

be sorry to press him with the non-observance of any of

the minor forms of trial, that is, supposing that there

existed the crime of mutiny, and that the crime was

announced to the party charged therewith, and that he

had any opportunity for his defence against it. But if

there existed no crime, if none was charged at the time,

if a silence is observed by the prisoner respecting the

existence of any such crime at the time when, upon his
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return, he should have announced both it and the rigor-

ous measures he had been obliged to adopt thereupon,

to those to whom he was immediately accountable for

the conduct of his government ; if you find, in contradic-

tion to the idea of any supposed mutiny, that he ven-

tured to withdraw himself from his government at a

moment when it would have been in violation of every

duty which he owed his Majesty's service as a soldier

and an officer so to have donCj if a mutiny so dangerous

as to supersede the necessary forms of law had existed

on the very eve of his departure, and might be supposed

not to have been even then fully suppressed, he will, in

that case, have a difficult task of defence thrown upon

him. If, however, he can, upon the whole, give reason-

able evidence of delinquency on the part of the person

upon whom this punishment was executed, and a reason-

able degree of necessity for executing it at the time and

in the manner and way in which it was executed, God

forbid, not only for his own sake, but for the sake of the

discipline ofthe army and for the safety of us all, which

in some degree depends upon the due enforcement of

order and obedience in every department of pubhc

service, God forbid that a hair of his head should be

touched. But if, after all, the charge of mutiny shall

evidently appear to you to be but a pretence brought

forward to cover a malicious and unauthorised act on

his part at the time when it was done; and if, from all

the concomitant circumstances, if, from circumstances

immediately consequent upon the act at the time of

his return—if, from his flight shortly after that period,

and his not proceeding to trial when the witnesses, who



THE TRIAL OF GO\'EKNOR WALL. 279

he woidd have you to believe could have spoken imme-

diately and effectually to his justification, were living

and capable of being produced—if from these and other

circumstances your minds shall be induced to form a

conclusion wholly adverse to the prisoner; and if the

facts shall fairly warrant you in so doing, however pain-

ful the result may be to the prisoner at the bar, his rela-

tives, and friends ; however painful the steps which lead

to such result may be to the feelings of those who are

now urging the demands of public justice against him

;

however painful it may be, more especially to you, gen-

tlemen, upon whose verdict, as a jury of the country,

that result will immediately depend—it is still my duty

to ask, and your duty to give, that verdict which the

facts of the case, and the due application of the law of

the country to such facta may require, and to find him

guilty of the crime charged upon him, if, in the conscien-

tious discharge of the solemn function cast upon you,

you are warranted and required so to do. It will give

me great satisfaction if he is able to establish that there

existed in this case such circumstances as will make the

crime with which he is charged not entitled to be deno-

minated and considered as murder."

The evidence adduced (of which I need only give

some material points) bore out faithfully this opening

statement of the Attorney-General, and was in nowise

shaken by the able and -severe cross-examination of the

counsel for the defence.

Evan Lewis, the first ^vitness called, stated that he

was the orderly-sergeant at Goree on the 10th July, and

that the men in their application behaved peaceably. He

thus described the actual flogging of Armstrong:

—
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Were any orders given them when they came upon the

parade?

—

Levns : They wereordered to form into a circle.

Who ordered them?—I do not know whether it was

Governor Wall that gave the order, or one ofthe officers.

Governor Wall was there.

I think you said Captain Lacy was there ?—He was.

Do you rememher the names of any other officers that

were there ?—Mr. Ford was there, I believe, and Lieut.

Pall and Lieut. O'Shanley were there also; I believe

they were there before the end of the business ; I do not

know whether they were there at the beginning.

Did they form any part of the circle ?—They were in

the middle of it.

What size was the circle?—It was but small; there

were not three hundred men there.

Was it formed one or two deep ?—To the best of my
recollection, two deep.

Do you know what the number of the whole garrison

was at that time?—I believe not three hundred; I am

almost sure it was not.

What situation were you in ?—Close to the circle on

the outside.

Where was the governor ?—He was inside.

Were you near enough, were you in such a situation

that you could hear what was passing within the circle ?

—I was ; I heard some words that passed.

Could you see what passed ?—Yes, very well ; I was

leaning rather between the men, with my head over, to

listen and see.

What did you observe to pass within the circle when

it was formed?—There was a carriage of a six-pounder

brought in, I believe, just after the circle was formed.
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Do you know who brought it in ?—There were some

blacks there, I saw, but I do not know whether it was

they that brought it in or not.

Did you observe anything pass between the officers ?

—I saw the governor speak to the rest of the officers,

but what they said 1 do not recollect.

Was the gun-carriage brought in before you observed

the governor speaking to the officers, or after?—I can-

not pretend to say.

Did you hear the governor say anything that you do

recollect?—Not to the officers.

To any one else did you hear him speak ?—Yes, I

heard him call Benjamin Armstrong out of the ranks.

Where was Armstrong at that time?—Among the

rest of the men in the circle, in his proper place.

Did he come out ?—He did.

What happened when he came out ?—He was ordered

to strip by Governor Wall, and was tied up to the carriage

of the cannon, and Governor Wall ordered him to be

flogged, and he was flogged by black men.

Were more than one person employed in it ?—There

were five or six, to the best of my recollection ; I believe

six ; they changed as the drummers in the army do ; I

cannot exactly tell how often; I believe about every

twenty-five lashes.

Do you recollect how many lashes he received ?—No,

I do not ; he had a great many.

Do you know how long it was about?—I cannot

tell.

Were you near enough to see what the instrument

was with which he was flogged ?—It was a kind of rope.
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Can you tell the size of the rope?—No, I cannot pre-

tend to say now.

Was it the usual instrument of punishment ?—No, I

never saw any one punished before with a rope of that

kind, nor by blacks before.

Were these blacks any part of the regiment ?—They

were not.

Did you ever see anybody punished in that way before,

and with such an instrument? - I never did, neither

before nor since.

Where was Grovernor Wall during the time that this

punishment was inflicted ?—He was in the circle just by

the person that was punished, urging them to do their

duty, and threatening them if they did not.

Do you recollect any expressions he made use of at

the time ?—I heard him say several times, " Cut him to

the heart ! Cut him to the liver ! " I heard him say

that several times.

Did you hear Armstrong say anything to him daring

the time the punishment was inflicted?—I believe he

begged for mercy, but I do not remember the words.

Did the governor say anything to him ?—I heard him

say something during the punishment, but I am not

certain whether it was to Armstrong or any of the

others.

You do not recollect whether the expressions you

remember to have heard from the governor were made

use of during the punishment of Armstrong, or any

other person?—I have not said what you mentioned;

what I have said was during the punishment of Arm-

strong.
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What became of Armstrong after the punishment ?

—I believe he was taken to the hospital between two

men ; I saw him going away from the circle.

At this time was there any appearance of mutiny or

disobedience among the soldiers?—I did not see the

least, nor hear of any.

Roger Moore, a private soldier at Goree in 1783, sup-

plied the evidence as to the actual chastisement :

—

With what sort of instrument was the punishment

inflicted ?

—

Moore : It was a rope.

Did you see the rope ?—At a distance.

Could you form any judgment of the size of the rope ?

—It looked at a distance near upon an inch.

In diameter?—Yes.

Were there any knots in it ?—Not that I know or

ever heard.

What number of lashes were given ?—Armstrong re-

ceived eight hundred.

How do you know ?—I counted them myself.

Lieutenant Poplett, of the African corps, an eye-

witness of the flogging, though himself under arrest at

the time, was in his evidence asked :

—

After the circle had been formed, what did you see

done to Armstrong ? — Poplett : I saw Armstrong

stripped, fastened to a gun-carriage, and flogged on his

bare back by several black men, frequently changed, I

believe, at every twenty-five lashes.

Can you tell how many lashes were inflicted ?—I think

eight hundred.

After these lashes were inflicted, what became of

Armstrong?—I saw him supported towards the hospital.
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Did you observe the rope that he was flogged with ?

—

I did at a distance.

What might the distance be?—About forty yards, on

an elevation of eleven feet.

Could you distinctly see what passed ?—I could.

What sort of a rope was it that was used?—I can

produce one.

Mr. Gurney : Is it the same rope that was used ?—

I

had it on the evening of the 11th from one of the men

who used it in the punishment of the 10th.

Mr. Gurney : That will not do.

Mr. Wood : Was it such a rope as that you have got

there?—I believe it was.

Mr. Wood : Be so good as to produce that which you

have. fThe witness produces a rope.)

Mr. Wood : Did you observe whether the rope that

was used was knotted at the end in the same manner as

that is ?—I could not at that distance say positively that

it was, but I believe it was.

Is it usual to inflict punishment with a rope like that ?

1—I never saw such a thing done in the army before.

What is the usual instrument of punishment upon

those occasions ?—A cat-o'-nine-tails composed of small

cord ; if severe, generally of small log-line ; but, if

moderate, generally whipcord.

Do you happen to know whether Armstrong had ever

been tried or convicted of any offence before this punish-

ment was inflicted ?—Not about that time, to my know-

ledge.

Mr. Peter Ferrick, the surgeon, corroborated the

proof as to the punishment, and he was then asked :

—
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Did you attend this man to the hospital after the

punishment had been gone through ?

—

Ferrick : Yes.

How long did he live ?—It was done on the lOth^ and

I think he lived till the 15th.

Did you attend him from day to day after the punish-

ment till his death?—Yes^ twice a day.

What do you think was the cause of his death ?—

I

have supposed, from that time to this, that the punish-

ment was the cause of his death.

Lord Chief Baron Macdonald: By "supposed," do

you mean that it is your opinion ?—Yes.

Mr. Fielding : You said you did not arrive within the

circle till the man was undergoing thispunishment; there-

fore I will simplyask you, if, during the course of that day,

or at that time, you saw any appearance of disorderly

behaviour, tumultuous or mutinous ?—Not the smallest.

Did you know of any?—Not any; I never heard of

any till I heard it at the Privy Council the other day.

Were you near Armstrong shortly before the time of

his death ?—I visited him on the day on which he died.

If there are bruises occasioned by this instrument, is

mortification more likely to ensue from that punishment

being inflicted with this rope than with a common cat of

nine tails?—Certainly; but that is reasoning from ex-

perience ; I did not know that before.

Then, as a surgeon, looking upon this instrument as

likely by its bruises to produce more mischief than a cat

of nine tails, I ask what your opinion must necessarily

be of a punishment to the extent of eight hundred lashes

being inflicted upon a human body, whether the effect is

not likely to be attended with death ?—It is.
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Mr. Justice Rooke : What was this man's state of

health before he received this punishment ?— I beheve

he was in so good a state of health that he was never in

my hands at all.

William Rosser, assistant-surgeon, gave the following

evidence :

—

Was Armstrong brought into the hospital after re-

ceiving punishment ?

—

Rosser He was.

You attended him till his death ?—Yes.

Did you ever learn from him before his death that he

expected he should die ?—Yes ; he said that, the minute

he came into the hospital, to the men that brought

him in.

What did he say ?—He said he had been punished,

and that he should die, by order of Governor Wall, by

black men, without a court-martial ; that was what he

said when he was brought in first.

Cross-examined by Mr. Gurney :

—

He did not drink any spirits in the hospital with your

knowledge, I suppose ?—No, except the garrison allow-

ance that was brought in.

How much was the garrison allowance ?—Half a pint

of brandy, or a pint of wine.

He had his garrison allowance while he was in the

hospital ? —Yes, either half a pint of brandy or a pint of

wine each day.

That he had every day ?—Yes.

That he drank it ?—That I cannot answer for.

He had it ?—Yes, and he might drink it.

Did you ever see him leave any ?—Indeed, I cannot

tell, for I did not examine his bottle.
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For anything you know, he did drink it ; he had it if

he chose ?—He had it if he chose.

Had you any reason to see, or to observe, that he

hurt himself by drinking any quantity of spirits after he

came into the hospital ?—I had not.

Mr. Justice Lavrrence : Did you at any time see him

drink any spirits ?—I cannot recollect.

Mr Justice Rooke : Had you any order not to let

him drink spirits ?—I had not any orders not to let him

drink his garrison allowance, for that came into the

hospital, and he might do as he thought fit with it.

The prisoner thus spoke in his defence :

—

" I shall endeavour to state to your lordships and the

gentlemen of the jury in as brief a manner as possible

the real facts of the case.

" Finding my health in a very precarious state, I deter-

mined, in July 1782, to give up the government of

Goree, and return to England. On the 10th of July,

I rather thiuk the 11th, but I will confine myself to the

10th, I prepared to embark on board a ship for England

to return to Europe ; in the morning of the 10th, I had

a certificate from the officers of the garrison that the

arrears were cleared off, and was perfectly satisfied that

the account was settled. On the 10th, about eleven

o'clock in the morning, all the men of the corps that

were off duty came to the government house ; I went

out to them ; they made a demand of short allowance of

provisions that was due to them from Captain Adams ; I

explained that business to them so fully that I had not

a right to pay it, that the men, in a very s"hort time, dis-

persed and returned to the barracks. About two o'clock
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in the day they returned again very much intoxicated

with liquor, and insisted on having the demand com-

plied -with. I expostulated with them for a length of

time to no effect, and ordered Sergeant Armstrong to

march the men back again to the barracks ; he was then

in the front, standing with his hat on j he refused, and

said " he would be damned ifhe would until it was settled

or the demand complied with." I ordered the whole

of them to face to the left and march offto the barracks

;

the answer to that was, " they would be damned if they

would not immediately break open the stores and satisfy

themselves." Finding them seriously bent upon pro-

ceeding to extremities, and having no resource, if they

had done so, nearer to me than England, I begged an

hour or two to consider of it, and that I would give

them an answer. They hesitated for some time, but at

length they acquiesced, upon condition that I was not

to leave the island till the business was settled. Arm-

strong then marched the men off without taking any

further notice, shouting and making a very great noise,

and saying that they had gained the victory.

" When I returned into the government house I sent

for the officers of the corps ; and in the interval, till the

officers arrived, I walked out and was proceeding to the

main-guard, to know the state of the garrison, to know

if the main -guard were in support of those that were off

duty. On my way I met Armstrong, Upton, Patterson,

and several more, who told me that I had promised not

to quit the island till they were satisfied, and that I

should not go to the waterside until then. When I

returned to the government house I found the officers
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there, who all agreed that immediate punishment was

necessary to put a stop to the mutiny. I ordered Lieut.

O'Shanley to go to the drum-major to desire him to

have cats ready when called for. Lieutenant O'Shanley

returned and reported to me that the drum-major had

told him that the cats had been destroyed, and that I

had best get away as soon as I could, for that the men
would not suffer any punishment to be inflicted upon

any one of them, inasmuch as they were all agreed.

" Captain Lacy then proposed punishing them by the

linguist and his assistants, which was acquiesced in by

the other officers; from the time of the soldiers depart-

ing it took up some time, till about four o'clock, when I

told Captain Lacy that I would go down to the main-

guard and have the mutineers brought upon the parade,

and for him to come down with the linguist and his

assistants as soon as he found the ring formed, that the

people at the barracks might not be alarmed at knowing

they were going to receive punishment. Immediately

upon the parade being formed, the officers arrived, and

the circle was formed ; Captain Lacy, Lieutenant Fall,

Lieutenant O'Shanley, and Mr. Ferrick, the surgeon,

were on the parade in a very short time after. When I

came upon the parade I asked the men if they had any

claim to make upon me. A man, whose name I do not

recollect, came forward and said he had, of the short

allowance money that was due to him from Governor

Adams. I then called upon Armstrong, he having no

claim whatever, to account for his mutiny ; when Arm-

strong was standing forward, Ensign Ford came running

to me from the main-guard to inform me that the man

13
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that was confined was breaking from his arrest and

was coming to the parade. I asked the ensign if he

could not confine him ; he told me he could not ; that

his guard would not obey him. Seeing there was no

time to be lost to put a stop to itj I went off myself to

the main-guard, and left Captain Lacy in charge of the

parade. Upon the soldier seeing me coming he retired

behind the guard that was turned out, in a manner as if

he expected to be supported by the guarcjj but upon

seeing me coming up to him, he was retiring, and I

forced him into the guard-house. I was following him

into the guard-house to see him well secured, when the

sentry at the door clapped his bayonet to my breast and

desired me to keep off, saying that I should not enter.

I struck the bayonet out of his hand and put him

prisoner with the other, and after having reprimanded

the guard for disobedience of Ensign Ford's orders, I re-

turned to the parade. I ordered the artillery to be on the

parade this evening, as I was afraid of the African corps

;

it was a circumstance which never happened in the

garrison— the artillery being upon the parade at a

punishment of the African corps—before.

" Upon my coming upon the parade I ordered Capt.

Lacy, Lieut. Fall, and Lieut. O'Shanley to form a

court-martial. Mr. Ferrick was at this time upon the

parade. Armstrong was brought forward and charged

by me with the mutiny ; but as I did not choose to take

away their lives I chose to try them by a regimental

court-martial ; and indeed I had it not in my power to

form any other. Whilst Captain Lacy and Lieutenant

O'Shanley were trying Armstrong, I was outside the
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circle ; Captain Lacy came to me and reported that the

court had sentenced Armstrong to receive eight hundre d

lashes. I returned into the circle and told the prisoner

the sentence of the court-martial, which was, that h e

was to receive eight hundred lashes, to be inflicted by

the linguist and his assistants with a small rope's end,

which is a small cord that was produced upon the parade

by the linguist and shown to the surgeon before Arm-

strong had felt it. The surgeon approved of the cord,

by saying it was not so bad as a cat-of-nine-tails. The

punishment was then inflicted upon Armstrong ; there

was no other mode of punishment in the garrison ; the

African corps never had a halberd delivered to them;

tying the person to the timbers of a six-pounder was the

usual mode. Armstrong received his punishment and

walked away with little appearance of concern, and with

very little appearance of punishment. I beg to know,

my lord, if I am to go further with respect to the other

people ?
"

Lord Chief Baron Macdohald :
" No, we have only

this single case before us at present.'"

Prisoner :
" Armstrong, on the evening he was taken

to the hospital, drank spirituous liquors, so as to be

intoxicated. The day after this punishment, the sickly

season advancing fast, I thought it was necessary for

the preservation of my life to get away, the climate being

very bad, and I having been for a length of time before

very ill. I amved in England some time in August in

the same year. Upon my arrival at the Secretary of

Staite's office, I found there had been a number of

charges exhibited against me by Captain Crawford,
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then a lieutenant of the African corps, and Mr,

These charges upon trial about ten months after appeared

to be totally groundless, and Captain Crawford was

reprimanded highly by his Majesty for presuming to

bring such charges against mej many of the other

charges were found groundless, and very much exag-

gerated. As soon as the inquiry into these charges was

over, I went down to Bath, and heard nothing farther,

either of the punishment of the men, nor anything con-

cerning them, until two messengers came down to me at

Bath. The man who was the chief messenger told me

he came down on a message to me from Lord Sidney.

I asked him, in the presence of two people, if he had a

warrant ; he said he had not, yet I suspected that he

had a warrant. I told him, '1 vrill comply with my
Lord Sidney's command immediately.' I sent to the

Bear Inn for a post coach and four horses, and I and the

two messengers got into it quickly. We travelled three

miles out of town, and I stopped the coach, as I had

occasion for a person that was then in Bath to be in

town, and I sent for this person ; we then proceeded on

our way to London. I paid the expenses of the carriage

:

I paid the dinner bill at Marlborough, and when we

came to Reading I ordered supper in the usual way. I

did not think it was absolutely necessary for me to tell

the messengers I was going away. I left Reading about

eleven o'clock at night, nor did I absolutely know what

the charges were. I did not know whether they called

it an arrest or not when the business took place ; and

from the persecution I had met with before, I thought

it was dangerous to appear at that time; for all the
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newspapers were full of false paragraphs, some of them

asserting that I had fired men from the mouths of

cannon ; others, that I had additional means of punish-

ment added to the ropes with which the men were

punished. It terrified me so that I could not face it till

I thought men's minds were cool to listen to the truth

without prejudice. This is all that I have to say. lam
here now to answer for it, and I commit myself to the

protection of your lordships and of the gentlemen of

the jury."

Several witnesses were called for the defence, the

principal of whom was Mrs. Lacy, widow of the Captain

Lacy, who was with Wall at the flogging of Armstrong

;

and certainly, if her evidence was to be taken, the con-

duct of the men, with Armstrong at their head, was

riotous and mutinous. Part of her examination was as

follows :

—

L(yrd Chief Baron Macdonald : Who headed these

men the first time ?—I do not know ; but the second

time I perfectly recollect it was Armstrong.

Mr. Knowlys : But whoever they were, they addressed

themselves to the governor, and he answered them ?

—

Yes; they addressed themselves to the governor and

demanded the short allowance due from Governor Adams.

Do you recollect what he said to them ?—I think it

was to return to their barracks and give him time to

consider of it.

Then he did this in person, not by any messenger?

—

No, in person.

Did they go away to their barracks at the desire of

their governor ?—They did.
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After they had gone this first time, did you see them

come again ?—I did ; in about an hour and a half's time

they came again.

In what way did they come then, and to what num-

ber?—They came headed by Sergeant Armstrong,

Upton, and Patterson; and these were the chief of the

African corps, to about seventy or eighty in number.

In what way did they come ?—-They came in a most

riotous and mutinous manner.

Were they apparently sober?—From their manner

one would not suppose that they were.

Did you see them before they reached the government

house ?—I saw them at the time they came there.

State everything you saw pass.—I heard them swear

that if the governor did not satisfy their demands they

would open the stores and satisfy themselves.

Where was the governor at the time they uttered

this expression ?—He was speaking to them.

How came he to speak to them ?—I heard what passed

from the soldiers.

At the time they came up, was the governor outside

the government house or did he go out to them ?—He

went out to them.

Did you hear the governor say anything to any par-

ticular person in the company? you said Armstrong

was one amongst them ?—Yes.

Do you recollect Armstrong saying anything to the

governor, or he to him ?—I heard Armstrong swear that

if the governor did not satisfy his demands he would

open the stores.

What else passed between Armstrong and the gover-
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nor?—After the governor spoke to Mm he went off

with the men shouting and making a great noise iu

every state of mutiny.

Were any orders given by the governor to Armstrong ?

—I do not know.

Did the governor consent to their staying there in

that way ?—Certainly not.

"What did he say to them about their staying there ?

—I cannot repeat what the governor saidj I heard

them behave in a mutinous manner.

Did the governor say anything to them about their

staying there or departing from that place ?—He ordered

them to depart.

When the governor ordered them to depart, what was

the answer made by Armstrong or any of the company ?

—They behaved in a riotous manner.

What answer did they make to him ?—They would

not for some time ; they declared they would break open

the stores and supply themselves.

That was the answer they made to the governor's

orders to depart, was it ?—It was.

Did Armstrong or any of the company with him say

anything about his leaving the island at that time ?

—

They were, I believe, very mutinous for some time

before.

Did they say anything about his departing or not

from the island?—I do not know. They said they

would not let him leave the island till they were satisfied.

Who was the spokesman upon this occasion ?—^Armr

strong, Upton, and Patterson were the three spokesmen.

Did they express their determination in a peaceable
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and quiet manner, or the contrary ?—They spoke it in

a most threatening manner.

Was it in an alarming manner ?—Indeed it was.

From the conduct and manner which the people

observed towards the governor at the time, did you

yourself at that time apprehend mischief?—Upon my
word, I did.

Upon your oath ?—Upon my oath, I did.

It should here be observed on this testimony of Mrs.

Lacy, that, if not otherwise exaggerating, she certainly

overstated one fact—viz., as to the number of men
assembled being seventy or eighty—as none of the wit-

nesses, except Mrs. Faulkner, who came on the same

side after her, made them out even up to a third of

eighty. Mrs. Lacy was also, in all probability, wrong

in positively asserting, against the convincing evidence

for the Crown, that the first witness, Lewis, was not the

orderly-sergeant, and was not present on the day in

question. She was shown to be still more at fault when

she stated that her deceased husband was incapacitated

in consequence of a coup de soleil from coming forward

to exculpate Governor Wall when first apprehended.

Mrs. Faulkner, the next witness, even went beyond

Mrs. Lacy in describing the violence of the supposed

mutiny, and she was much shaken on cross-examina-

tion. Her husband, Faulkner, one of the garrison,

though testifying to some mutinous behaviour on the part

of the men, quite broke down in endeavouring to show

that there was a real court-martial. He was asked :

—

During the time the oflScers were inside the ring,

what took place?—^Armstrong was called forward and
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asked what he had to say for his own defence j he said

nothing ; he did not reply at all.

Mr. Justice Rooke : Did they tell him what he was

charged with?—By being mutinous.

Mr. Alley : What was said to Armstrong ?—Captain

Lacy said, " What have you to say for yourself, Arm-

strong, being in this mutinous affair ?
"

Did he make any answer?—He made no reply.

Mr. Justice Rooke : Did they tell him what mutinous

affair it was?—Stopping the governor from going on

board ; and threatening to bring his stores on shore if

he did not settle with them.

Did Captain Lacy or anybody else say all that to

Armstrong ?—Yes, Captain Lacy told him.

Now let us hear all Captain Lacy said ?—Captain

Lacy told him he was tried for stopping the governor

from going on board and threatening to bring his stores

on shore.

You heard Captain Lacy say this yourself, did you ?

—Yes, I did. He was then tried by Captain Lacy,

Lieutenant Fall, and Lieutenant O'Shanley.

Lord Chief Baron Macdonald: Was there any more

trial than telling him he had wished to prevent the

governor from going, and that was a mutinous affair ?

Was there anything more?—There was no more trial.

Then the trial was acquainting him with that and

asking him what he had to say for himself?^Yes.

Mr. Alley : Did he say anything for himself?—No,

he did not.

Do you recollect whether anything further was said ?

—^Nothing farther was said.

13 *
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Did you see the surgeon there ?—^Yes, I did.

Do you recollect anything further that passed at that

time ?—The surgeon and linguist were both there at the

time.

Do you recollect whether any sentence was pro-

nounced?—There was.

What was said?—Captain Lacy told him he was to

receive eight hundred lashes by the linguist; he was

then tied up and received them ; the surgeon was there

present the whole time.

In confutation of the last assertion, the surgeon had

already stated that he was not present the whole time.

The other witnesses for Wall, one of whom was proved

not credible on oath, did not carry his case any further.

A few respectable witnesses gave him a character for

humanity, but their testimony was feeble; and one of

them, on cross-examination, would not go so far as to

state Wall bore a general reputation of being humane.*

One glaring contradiction to Wall's line of defence

was his own letter to Government on his return fqpm

Goree, in which (it was read at the trial) he makes no

allusion to any mutiny or riot having occurred. There

also remained unanswered the facts that Armstrong had

not the shadow of a trial, and that he was punished in a

monstrous way. with an unusual instrument and with

an excessive number of blows. Upon all this the

learned Chief Baron pointedly commented in his lucid

* A melancholy circumstance occurred witli regard to one witness

coming to speak to Wall's character—Major Winter, R.A. The major,

who arrived for the purpose from Woolwich, on getting out of the stage

coach, dropped down and instantly expired.
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summing up, from which I give the following intro-

ductory remarks, as most apt and explanatory on the

subject of suppressing military and naval mutiny, and

on corporal correction in general.

" This case," said the Chief Baron, " will, gentlemen

of the j ury, for many reasons, in my apprehension, re-

quire your closest and best attention. In the first

j)lace, the charge against the prisoner at the bar is the

heaviest which our law knows ; his life is at stake ; and

that of itself would, I am sure, be sufficient to excite

every degree of care and attention in you ; but in other

respects it seems to me to be of peculiar importance, for

on the one hand, as the Attorney- General has most

liberally and most sensibly said, when a well-intentioned

officer is at a great distance from his native country,

having charge of a member of that country, and it shall

so happen that circumstances may arise which may

alarm and disturb the strongest mind, it were not

proper that strictness and rigour in forms and in

matters of that sort should be required, where you find

a real, true, and genuine intention of acting for the best

for the sake of the public. You see they ar^ in a situa-

tion distant from assistance and from advice ; in these

circumstances, if a man should be so much thrown off

the balance of his understanding as not to conduct him-

self with the same care and attention that any one in

the county of Middlesex would be required to do, and

does not exceed greatly the just and proper line of his

duty, allowances for such circumstances ought unques-

tionably to be given to him.

" But, on the other hand, it is of consequence, that
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where a commander is so circumstanced—that is, at a

distance from his native country—at a distance from

inspection—at a distance from immediate control—and

not many British subjects being there—if he shall, by

reason of that distance, wanton with his authority and

his command, it will certainly be the duty of the law to

control that, and to keep it within proper bounds. The

protection, therefore, of subjects who are serving their

country at that distance, on the one hand, is one of the

objects you are to have in view to-day. The protection

of a well-intentioned officer—if such he be—who does

not by his conduct disclose a malevolent mind, but may

disclose human infirmity to a certain extent, who, being

in trepidation and alarm of mind, overlooks some things

he ought otherwise to have regarded;—such a man's

case is, on the other hand, deserving of great atten-

tion. . . .

" I would also mention to you, that in all cases of

corporal punishment, as I conceive, where there is lodged

a discretion, regard is to be had to the extent of that

punishment and to the means of inflicting it; because

legitimate punishment may be inflicted in such a man-

ner as to show that the infliction of the punishment was

made the ground of wilfully carrying it to an extent and

excess that would be attended with the destruction of

him who is the object of it. I conceive, for example,

that a regimental court-martial, although it is to act by

discretion, and is not strictly meted and bounded in the

degree of punishment by act of Parliament—nor are

many subordinate punishments which are discretionary

in other courts—that such tribunals cannot go to any
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excess that they please, either in the iextent of that

punishment or in the mode of administering it. I con-

ceive that a regimental court-martial, and those who are

to see its sentence put into execution, are hound hy the

rules which good sense, experience, and humanity point

out, as not being so excessive as upon the very face of

them to be possibly the means of executing a sentence

they could not pronounce, namely, a sentence of death.

"Now, gentlemen, to make this extremely familiar.

It is perfectly clear that many persons have authority

to correct in a certain degree. A master has to correct

his servant. A parent has not only the power, but it is

his duty to correct his child ; but let me suppose that

instead of inflicting five or six strokes with a few birch

twigs upon that child, you inflict five or six hundred
;

although the instrument may be a legal instrument, and

cannot be quarrelled with, yet the extreme excess of the

quantity may denote an intent to do mischief, not

bridled by that which ought to bridle human actions.

I will put it likewise that the instrument itself is im-

proper. Suppose, instead of five or six strokes with a

rod, you give five or six blows with a cudgel, you would

say that was an instrument likely to kill the child, and

would be an excess with respect to the instrument

itself. So also, I conceive, it is not to go abroad to the

world that a court-martial is to inflict an over-great

number of strokes with an instrument likely to do much

more mischief than the ordinary instrument. It may

be that a hundred strokes with a particular instrument

may do more mischief than a thousand with the instru-

ment ordinarily used. I take it they are bound to
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inflict .that measure of punishment which has been

known ordinarily to be inflicted and borne ; and it may
be a question whether the quantity be inordinate in

proportion to the instrument, that may not be evidence

of such malice as may constitute that which would

otherwise be justifiable^ a murder according to the

definition of the law of England."

The Judge then went elaborately through the evi-

dence ; and after he had concluded^ the jury went out

for some time, and returned with a verdict of " Guilty."

The Recorder proceeded to pass sentence of death

upon Wall, that he should be executed the follow-

ing morning, and that his body should be afterwards

delivered to be anatomised according to the statute.

Mr. Wall seemed sensibly affected by the sentence,

but said nothing more than requesting the court would

allow him a little time to prepare himself for death.

On the 31st of January a respite was sent from

Lord Pelham's oflice, deferring his execution until the

35th. On the 24th he was farther respited tUl the

28th. His wife lived with him for the last fortnight

prior to his conviction. He, before trial, although

allowed two hours a day, from twelve till two, to walk

in the yard, did not once embrace this indulgence; and

during his confinement never went out of his room,

except into the lobby to consult his counsel. He lived

well, and was sometimes in good spirits. He was easy

in his manners and pleasant in conversation ; but during

the night he frequently sat up in his bed and sung

psalms, being overheard by his fellow-prisoners. He

had not many visitors; his only attendant was a
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prisoner, who was appointed for that purpose by the

turnkey.

After trial he did not return to his old apartment,

but was conducted to a cell ; he was so far favoured as

not to have irons put on, but a person was employed as

a guard to watch him during the night, to prevent him

doing violence to himself. His bed was brought to him

in the cell, on which he threw himself in an agony of

mind, saying it was his intention not to rise until they

called him on the fatal morning ; and he kept his word.

The sheriffs were particularly pointed and precise in

their orders with respect to confining hini to the usual

diet of bread and water preparatory to the awful event.

This order was scrupulously fulfilled. The prisoner

during a part of the night after sentence slept, owing

to fatigue and perturbation of mind. The next morn-

ing his wife applied, but was refused admittance without

an order from one of the sheriffs. She applied to Mr.

Sheriff Cox, who thereupon himself attended her to the

prison.

From the time of the first respite until twelve o^clock

on Wednesday night. Wall did not cease to entertain

hopes of his safety. The interest made to save him was

very great. The whole of Wednesday occupied the great

law officers
J
the judges met at the Lord Chancellor's

in the afternoon. The conference lasted upwards of

three hours, but ended unfavourably to Wall.

The prisoner had an affecting interview with his wife,

the Hon. Mrs. Wall, the night before his death, from

whom he was painfully separated about eleven o'clock.

This disconsolate and affectionate lady, unremitting in
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her solicitude, caused Wall to write a note to Mr. Kirby,

the jailor, about nine o'clock, requesting that she might

be permitted to remain in the cell until eleven, thus

cordially manifesting her fond but delusive hopes to the

very latest moment. Mr. Kirby, with a feeling of

humanity, readily complied with this request. But no

tidings of mercy arrived, and at eleven o'clock she saw

the end of all her earthly joys. After many tender

embraces, the wife reluctantly departed, overwhelmed,

with grief and bathed in tears, while the unfortunate

husband declared that he could now, with Christian

fortitude, submit to his unhappy fate. During the

greater part of the night he slept but little.

When, the following Thursday morning.Wall ascended

the scafifold, accompanied by the Rev. Ordinary, there

arose three successive shouts from an innumerable

populace, the brutal but determined effusion of one

common sentiment, for the public indignation had

never been so high since the hanging of Mrs. Brown-

rigg, who had whipped her apprentices to death.

The wretched Wall bowed his head under this ex-

treme pressure of ignominy, and almost immediately

afterwards was, without signal, launched into eternity.

After hanging a full hour his body was cut down, put

into a cart, and immediately conveyed to a building in

Cowcross Street to be dissected. Wall was dressed in a

mixed-coloured loose coat, with a black collar, swan-

down waistcoat, blue pantaloons, and white silk stock-

ings. He appeared a miserable and emaciated object,

never having quitted the bed of his cell from the day of

condemnation till the morning of his execution.
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The body of the unfortunate governor was not ex-

posed to public view as usual in such cases. Mr. Bel-

four, Secretary to the Surgeons' Company, applied to

Lord Kenyon, Lord Chief Justice of the Court of

King's Bench, to know whether such exposure was

necessary; and finding that the forms of dissection only

were required, the body, after those forms had passed,

was consigned to the relations of the unhappy man
upon their paying fifty guineas to the Philanthropic

Society. The remains were interred in the churchyard

of St. Pancras.

The "Gentleman's Magazine" of 1802 thus refers to

the execution of Governor Wall :

—

"Thursday, Jan. 38, 1802.—This day Joseph Wall,

Governor of the island of Goree, after a trial at the Old

Bailey, which occupied the time of the court from nine

in the morning till near eleven at night, was, for the

wilful murder of Benjamin Armstrong, a sergeant in an

African corps, executed pursuant to his sentence. The

gallows-hunters behaved with great indecorum, hissing,

groaning, and shouting, even to his very last moments.

Mr. Wall was six feet four inches high, and of a genteel

appearance. He behaved with great steadiness and

composure during his long and painful trial, which lasted

fourteen hours. He was sixty-five years of age, but did

not look so old. He was respectably connected with

several families of distinction in Ireland. His brother.

Counsellor Wall, was a literary gentleman, who excited

great notice in his day, and was the author of several

literary productions; but what was most remarkable

was, that he was the first person who presumed to
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publish Parliamentary Reports with the real names of

the speakers prefixed. Dr. Johnson (in our Magazine)

dressed them in Roman characters; others gave them

as Orators in the Senate of Liliput. Mr. Wall laid the

foundation of a practice whichj we trusty for the sake of

Parliament and of the nation, will never be abandoned.^'

It is quite clear, from the periodicals and from the

squibs and verses about it at the time, that Wall's ex-

ecution was approved of by the public, and was looked

on as a praiseworthy act of retributive justice.
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Towards the close of the year 1802 the feeble Peace of

Amiens was evidently on the eve of. ending, and Europe

was in feverish excitement. The first Consul, Napoleon

Bonaparte, fast approached the zenith of his power:

already had the " gloom of his glory " arisen " and over-

shadowed the earth with his fame.'' Unlike his illus-

trious nephew. Napoleon III., he could not understand

England, nor England him, and so the war between

them was about to be revived more deadly and deter-

mined than before. England feared not (when did

England ever fear ?), but the British people were every-

where in a state of uncertainty and anxiety, natural upon

the momentous preparations for the renewed struggle.

Continual alarms of internal treachery magnified into

giant cases of treason, and exaggerated demonstrations

of loyalty were the order of the day. This political con-

dition must be fully understood to make us now-a-days

comprehend the extraordinary sensation caused by the

following criminal attempt of a half-crazy ofiScer and a

parcel of pauper miscreants, truly one of the most

miserable affairs that perhaps ever occupied a Royal

Commission sitting on a trial for high treason. The

chief conspirator, Despard, who had been a thorough
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gentleman and a soldier, and who had Nelson himself to

give him a character, must, from what he supposed was

the neglect, but what was no more probably than the

procrastination of Government, have lost his wits and

have become a dangerous lunatic, more fit for a mad-

house than the gallows.

One can hardly refrain from a smile on reading the

following amplification of Lord Ellenborough, when

passing sentence upon such poor and incapable con-

spirators:—"The object,'' said his lordship, "of the

conspiracy, in which you have borne your several very

active and criminal parts, has been to overthrow and

demolish the fundamental laws and established govern-

ment of your country ; to seize upon and destroy the

sacred person of our revered and justly beloved sove-

reign ; to murder and destroy the various members of

his royal house ; to extinguish and annihilate the other

branches of the legislature of this realm." Yet the

learned and able judge did no more than speak the sen-

timents and suspicions of the period. It was, indeed,

the then excitement of the public, and nowise any in-

trinsic importance, that has made this crime of Despard

historical. I here give it somewhat fuUy because the

interest really lies in details revealing the minuteness of

the capabilities of the prisoners, and the magnitude of

the proceedings against them.

The ancient and honourable family of Despard is to

this day of high standing and respectability in Ireland.

The first of the Despards who settled there was a com-

missioner sent by Queen Elizabeth for partitioning the

Irish lands. This Commissioner Despard and his father
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had fled from France in 1572 to escape the massacre of

St. Bartholomew. Their descendant, William Despard,

Esq., of Cranagh, in the Queen's County, was M.P. for

Bantry. His third son, William Despard, Esq., of Kil-

laghy, in the County of Tipperary, M.P. for Thomas-

town, married Frances, daughter and coheir of Daniel

Green, Esq., of Killaghy Castle, County Tipperary, and

was father (with other issue) of an eldest son, William,

his successor, and a second son, Francis Green. The

eldest son became William Despard, Esq., of Coubrane

and Cartoun, Queen's County, and Killaghy Castle,

County Tipperary, and married, May, 1733, Jane,

daughter of the Rev. Mr. Walsh, Rector of Blessington

and had (with another who died young) six sons, viz. :

—

1. William, who married and left a family; 3. Philip,

Captain 7th Fusiliers, who married and left a family;

3. Green, Captain R.N., who died unmarried ; 4. John,

a Lieut.-General in the Army, who married Harriet

Anne, daughter of Thomas Hesketh, Esq., and grand-

daughter of Sir Robert Hesketh, Bart., and had an only

child, Harriet Dorothea, wife of the late Vice-Admiral

Henry Francis Greville, C.B., kinsman of the Earl of

Warwick : she left, vrith other issue, a son, the present

Major-General H. L. F. Greville, R.A. ; 5. Andrew, a

colonel in the army, who died in 1840, aged 90; and

6. Edward Marcus, the unfortunate subject of this

trial. Edward Marcus Despard was born in 1750,

and as the above genealogical account shows, was the

youngest of six brothers, .all of whom, except the eldest,

had served their country either in the army or navy.

In 1766, he entered the army as an ensign, in the

5th regiment; in the same regiment he served as a
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lieutenant, and passing into the 79tli he was succes-

sively lieutenant, quartermaster, captain-lieutenant, and

captain. From his superior officers he received many-

marks of approbation, particularly from General Calcraft

of the 50th, General Meadows, and the Duke of Nor-

thumberland. He had been for twenty years detached

from any particular corps, and entrusted with important

offices. In 1779 he was appointed chief engineer to the

St. Juan expedition, and conducted himself so as to

obtain distinction and official praise. He also received

the thanks of the Council and Assembly of Jamaica for

the construction of public works there, and was in con-

sequence appointed by the Governor of Jamaica to be

Commander-in-Chief of the Island of Rattan and its

dependencies, and of the troops there, and to rank as

lieutenant-colonel and field engineer ; and he commanded

as such on the Spanish main, in Rattan, and on the

Musquito shore, and the Bay of Honduras. After this,

at Cape Graciosa Dios, he put himself at the head of

the inhabitants, who voluntarily solicited him to take

the command, and took from the Spaniards Black

River, the principal settlement of the coast For this

he received the thanks of the Governor, Council, and

Assembly of Jamaica, and of the Kiag himself. In

1783 he was promoted to the rank of colonel. In 1784

he was appointed first commissioner for settling and

receiving the territory ceded to Britain, by the sixth

article of the definitive treaty of peace with Spain, in

1783. He so well discharged his duty as a colonel that

he was appointed superintendent of his Majesty's affairs

on the coast of Honduras, which office he held much to

the advantage of the Crown of England, for he got from
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that of Spain some very important privileges . The clash-

ing interests, however, of the inhabitants of the coast pro-

duced much discontent, and the colonel was, by a party

of them, accused wrongly, as it turned out, to his

Majesty's ministers, of various misdemeanours. He
therefore came home, and demanded that his conduct

should be investigated; but after two years' constant

attendance on all the departments of Government, he

was at last told by the ministers that there was no

charge against him worthy of investigation, and that

his Majesty had thought pi'oper to abolish the office of

Superintendent at Honduras, otherwise he should have

been reinstated in it ; but he was then, and on every

occasion, assured that his services should not be for-

gotten, but in due time meet their reward. Well it

would have been for the colonel if he had rested satisfied

with this intimation and waited quietly for the promised

employment ; but official delay, the circumlocution of a

busy time, and the apparent spurns of his merit, which

he took too impatiently, seem to have somewhat turned

his brains. The colonel got irritated by continual dis-

appointments, and began to vent his indignation in a

public and unguarded manner.* He consequently was

* Mr. Timbs, F.S.A., in his interesting work, "A Century of Anec-

dote " thus refers to Colonel Despard :—" This gallant but unfortunate*

officer appears to have fallen into a sea of troubles through his devoted

loyalty. In the course of his service he was the companion and friend

of Lord Nelson, during his co-operation with whom, at the Siege of

Honduras in his zeal for the public cause, he advanced large sums of

money from his own resources, for the promotion of the operation of the

war. For this, as well as for his gallantry and ability, he was thanked by

Parliament, but not repaid. On his arrival in England, he pressed his
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looked on in the light of a suspicious character, and

was arrested and held for some time, in harsh confine-

ment, in Coldbath-fields gaol, under the Act the 38

George III., c. 36 (continued by subsequent acts).

elaims for repayment upon the Ministry ; and irritated by the delays

and difficulties thrown in his way by officials, he became enraged

beyond control. He appealed to the House of Commons, but in vain.

He then fell into pecuniary difficulties, grew excited to desperation,

wrote violent letters to ministers, and having joined the London Cor-

responding Society, was taken up under the Act for suspending the

writ of Habeas Corpus, and confine'd to Coldbath Fields Prison. There

the eminent Lord Cloncurry (then the Hon. Valentine Browne Law-

less, who himself was imprisoned in a similar way on suspicion in

the Tower in 1798) found Despard, who had served many years in

tropical climates, imprisoned in a stone cell, six feet by eight feet

furnished with a truckle-bed and a small table ; there was -no chair,

fire-place, or window, light being only admitted through » barred but

unglazed aperture over the door opening into a paved yard, at the time

covered with snow. Despard was confined, we believe, in the winter of

1797, and during his incarceration he had grown worn and'wan, and of

unsound mind. In talking over the condition of Ireland with Mr.

Lawless, the colonel said, ' he had not seen his country for thirty

years, he had never ceased thinking of it and of its misfortunes, and

the main object of his seeing Mr. Lawless was to disclose his discovery

of an infallible remedy for the latter—viz., a voluntary separation of

the sexes, so as to leave no future generation obnoxious to oppression.'

This plan of cure would, he said, defy the machination of the enemies

of Ireland to interrupt its complete success.

" In a few years after this conversation, this poor madman, at the

Oakley Arms public-house, in Lambeth, was apprehended."

In the " Life and Times of Lord Cloncurry," by Mr. W. J. Ktz-

patrick, I find the following additional particulars ;—" Some months

after the Hon. Valentine Lawless's visit to Despard, during the debates

in the House of Commons on the propriety of continuing the suspension

of Habeas Corpus, Mr. Courtney read a letter aloud from Mrs.

Catherine Despard.
"

' I think it necessary to state,' she writes, ' that he was confined

near seven months in a dark cell without fire or candle, chair, table.
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which empowered " His Majesty to secure and detain

such persons as his Majesty shall suspect are conspiring

against his person and Government." Imprisonment

increased rather than amended the rancour and restless-

ness of Despard's temper, and on his liberation he was

little better than a lunatic : he had become a wild revo-

lutionist, and, what was a strong sign of his mental

aberration, an infidel. He daily grew more and more

malignant against Government. Thus inflamed, he

endeavoured to inflame others, and at length brought

upon himself, and those poor ignorant wretches who

were seduced by his arguments, disgrace and death. A
madder or more miserable conspiracy than his never was

hatched. It was revealed to the public in the following

manner :—On the 16th of November, 1802, in conse-

quence of a search warrant, a numerous body of the

police-officers went to the Oakley Arms, Oakley-street,

knife, fork, a glazed window, or even a boot. I made several applica-

tions in person to Mr. Wickham, and by letter to the Duke of Portland,

all to no purpose. The 20th of last month he was removed iuto a

room with a fire, but not until his feet were ulcerated by the frost.

For the truth of this statement I appeal to the Hon. Mr. Lawless and

John Beeves, Esq., who visited him in prison, and at whose interces-

sion he was removed. The jailor will bear witness that he never made

any complaint of his treatment, however severe.'

"The sympathies of Valentine Lawless were, as usual, awakened.

He expressed the greatest commiseration for Despard's sufferings, and

resolved to provide for his wife and family at Lyons (his family seat,

in the County of Kildare), whenever circumstances suggested the pro-

priety of doing so, and certain other circumstances permitted it. We
trust it is not unpardonably anticipating to observe that Lawless (who

had succeeded as second Lord Cloncurry in 1799) did afford the

widowed Mrs. Despard a comfortable asylum within the bosom of his

own family at Lyons.

14
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Lambeth, where they apprehended Colonel Despard,

and near forty labouring men and soldiers, many of

them Irish. Next morning they were all brought up

before the magistrates in the Union Hall. The result

of the examination was, Ihat Colonel Despard was com-

mitted to the county gaol, and afterwards to Newgate

;

twelve of his low associates (six of whom were soldiers)

were sent to Tothill-fields Bridewell, and twenty to the

New Prison, Clerkenwell. Ten other persons who had

been found in a different room, and who appeared to

have no concern with the colonel's party, were instantly

discharged.

The colonel during all the preUminary examinations

was invariably silent.

The Privy Council, the more effectually to try the

prisoners, issued a special commission.

On the 31st of January, 1803, the special commission

was opened at the Sessions House at Newington. The

judges present were :—The Right Hon. Sir Edward Law,

Lord Ellenborough, Lord Chief Justice of the Coxat of

King's Bench ; the Hon. Sir Alexander Thomson, one

of the Barons of the Court of Exchequer ; the Hon. Sir

Simon Le Blanc, one of the Justices of the Court of

King's Bench ; and the Hon. Sir Alan Chambre, one of

the Justices of the Court of Common Pleas.

On the same day the Grand Jury met, among whom

were Lord Leslie, foreman. Viscount Cranley, Lord

William Russell, Sir Mark Parsons, and four other

baronets. The names of Sir Mark Parsons and Lord

"William Russell awake in themselves criminal recollec-

tions, for Sir Mark's father was hanged for felony in
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1760, and Lord William was murdered by Courvoisier

in 1840. This Grand Jury returned a true bill against

Edward Marcus Despard, John Wood, Thomas

Broughton, John Francis, Thomas Phillips, Thomas

Newman, Daniel Tyndall, John Doyle, James Sedg-

wick Wratten, William Lander, Arthur Graham,

Samuel Smith, and John Macnamara, for high treason.

The court then adjourned to the 5th of February

following, when it again met at the same place, the

Sessions House, Newington ; and, on the same judges

taking their seats, Edward Marcus Despard, John Wood,

Thomas Broughton, John Francis, Thomas Phillips,

Thomas Newman, Daniel Tyndall, John Doyle, James

Sedgwick Wratten, William Lander, Arthur Graham,

Samuel Smith, and John Macnamara were set to the

bar, and, being arraigned, severally pleaded " Not

guilty." Despard had already had assigned to him for

counsel Serjeant Best and Mr. Gurney. On the request

of the other prisoners, Mr. Jekyll and Mr. Howell were

assigned their counsel.

The prisoners'" counsel having signified that they

should separate in their challenges of the jury, the

Attorney-General stated that he should proceed first on

the trial of Colonel Despard. The court then adjourned

to the following Monday, the 7th February, when it met

again, and the trial of Despard began before the same

judges.

The counsel for the Crown were ;—The Attorney-

General, the Hon. Spencer Percival, afterwards First

Lord of the Treasury, and Chancellor of the Exche-

quer; the Solicitor-General, Sir Thomas Manners Sut-



316 CELEBRATED TRIALS.

ton, afterwards Lord Manners and Lord Chancellor of

Ireland; Serjeant Shepherd, afterwards Sir Samuel

Shepherd, Attorney-General, and Lord Chief Baron
of the Exchequer of Scotland ; Mr. Plumer, afterwards

Sir Thomas Plumer, Solicitor General, and successively

Vice-Chancellor of England and Master of the Rolls

;

Mr. Garrow, afterwards Sir WiUiam Garrow, Attorney-

General, and a Baron of the Exchequer ; the Common
Serjeant ; Mr. Wood, afterwards Sir George Wood, a

Baron of the Exchequer ; Mr. Fieldiijg, afterwards a

police-magistrate ; Mr. Abbott, afterwards Sir Charles

Abbott, Lord Chief Justice of the Court of King's

Bench, and Baron Tenterden. The solicitor for the

Crown was Joseph White, Esq., Solicitor for the Affairs

of his Majesty's Treasury. The counsel for Colonel Des-

pard were Serjeant Best, afterwards Sir William Draper

Best, Lord Chief Justice of the Court of Common Pleas,

and Baron Wynford ; and Mr. Gurney, afterwards Sir

John Gurney, a Baron of the Exchequer. The sohcitor

for Despard's defence was Mr. Palmer, of Barnard's Inn.

The indictment was opened by Mr. Abbott.

The Attorney-General, in addressing the jury, began

by enforcing the necessity of a patient attention to his

statement and a due consideration of the evidence.

" No one," he said, " would deny that, if there has been

a plot to overturn the Constitution and destroy our

Sovereign, the base conspirator should suffer his merited

punishment, but the nature of the charge should not

operate to his disadvantage ; the grand principle of our

law ought rather to be confirmed, 'that every man

should be considered innocent till he is found guilty.'

"
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The Attorney-General then adverted to the nature of

the crime of treason^ and expressed his expectation that,

if the charge were substantiated, the jury would pro-

nounce the prisoner guilty without the least hesitation

;

and, after many remarks to show that there was not the

least ground for suspecting the prosecution to have been

brought forward from any party motive or prejudice on

the side of Government, he concluded his preliminary

remarks with observing, that from the clearness of the

evidence, the trial could not be long. He then pro-

ceeded to state the counts in the indictment, which were

three in number, and charged the acts to have been done

with the intention of compassing the death of the king,

imprisoning his person, and dethroning him. To prove

the criminal intention, an overt act is necessary, and in

this indictment eight overt acts were stated, which were

divided into two classes : the four first charged the

seduction of his Majesty's troops, for the purpose of

assassinating and imprisoning him ; and the remainder,

plans for the accomplishing of these purposes. After

fully stating the law respecting treason and conspiracy,

the Attorney-General read over the names of the per-

sons included in the indictment, and observed that ten

of them, besides the prisoner, were apprehended at the

Oakley Arms on the 16th November. It appeared that,

in the last spring, a detachment of Guards returned

from Chatham, and shortly afterwards a conspiracy was

formed for overturning the Government ; a society was

established for the extension of liberty, of which two

men, named Francis and Wood, were very active mem-

bers ; they frequently attempted to seduce soldiers into
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the association, and sometimes with, success. Francis

administered unlawful oaths to those that yielded, and

among others were two named Blaine and Windsor,

giving them two or three copies of the oath that they

might be enabled to make proselytes in their turn.

Windsor soon after becoming dissatisfied gave informa-

tion to a Mr. Bownas, and showed him a copy of the oath.

This gentleman invited him to continue a member of

the association, that he might learn whether there were

any persons of consequence engaged in it. The prisoner

at the bar tendered this oath; it was found in the posses-

sion of Broughton, Smith, and others. It was printed

on the cards in these words :
—" Constitution ! the in-

dependence of Great Britain and Ireland ! an equalisa-

tion of civil, political, and religious rights ! an ample

provision for the families of the heroes who shall fall in

the contest ! a liberal reward for distinguished merit

!

These are the objects for which we contend, and to obtain

these objects we swear to be united."

The form of the oath was :

—" In the awful presence of

Almighty God, I, A. B., do voluntarily declare that I

will endeavour to the utmost of my power to obtain the

objects of this union—namely, to recover those rights

which the Supreme Being in His infinite bounty has

given to all men; that neither hopes nor fears, re-

wards nor punishments, shall induce me to give any

information, directly or indirectly, concerning the

business, or of any members of this or of any similar

society, so help me God !

"

The Attorney-General then commented on different

passages contained in this oath, and endeavoured to
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show that it could only bear a treasonable interpretation.

Proceeding in his statement, he observed that, about the

middle of summer, the conspirators began to think it

might be dangerous for them always to meet at the same

place. To avoid suspicion, they therefore went to various

pubhc-houses in Windmill-street, Oxford-street, St.

Giles's, Hatton Garden, Whitechapel, in the Borough,

about the Tower, and to the Oakley Arms in Lambeth.

To these meetings they invited soldiers, and treated

them ; toasts were given to answer the objects of the

association, such as " the Cause of Liberty," " Extension

of Rights," " the Model of France," &c. They now

increased greatly in audacity, and were betrayed by their

confidence into the greatest extravagances; some of

them proposed a day for attacking the Tower, and the

great blow was to have been struck on the 16th Novem-

ber, the day on which the king first intended to go to

Parliament.

" I shall hasten," continued the Attorney-General,

" in the statement of my evidence, to the later scenes

of this conspiracy ; because, during the early part of it,

excepting in the instances of endeavouring to administer

these unlawful oaths, the evidence will not bring Despard

very forward in the conspiracy. But when it appeared

to approach a little more to its maturity, the colonel

appears a more conspicuous character. The events of

the last -week previous to his arrest will furnish me, I

think, with no less than four opportunities of showing

him connected with these conspirators, inmost treason-

able communication upon the design. On the Tuesday

preceding the Tuesday on which they were arrested, on
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the 9th November^ he was at the same Oakley Arms, in

compauy with some of the same traitors in whose com-

pany he was found on the 16th. Broughton is a name

I particularly recollect, who, I think, was the person

that invited the witness whom I shall call to prove his

having been there, and represented that the time was

now approaching when it was intended that a great

stroke should be struck. You may recollect that his

Majesty had intended to meet his Parhament, the last

sessions, a week sooner than he actually did. It was

intended that he should have met Parliament on the

16th instead of the 23rd; and on the 16th it was the

intention of these conspirators, supposing his Majesty

had on that day gone down to the House, to have

carried into effect this plan of destroying him. On the

night of the 9th of November, I shall show the prisoner

to have been present amongst these conspirators. I

shall prove him likewise to have been present at a

meeting that will be very particularly deserving of your

attention on the Friday. The same Broughton will be

proved to have prevailed upon two persons, whom I

shall call to you as witnesses—Windsor was one of them,

and Emblin another—to go on the Friday to the Flying

Horse, at Newington, Broughton telling them that if

they went, they would meet a nice man there, and find

that things were in a fine train. They accordingly

went, and the nice man whom they found, and to whom

they were there introduced, was Colonel Despard, the

prisoner at the bar

" That meeting lasted about two hours ; and the plan

of carrying this treason into execution was the main
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subject of conversation. The mode in which the Tower

was watched and guarded was one topic of conversation,

with a view to see what facilities or difficulties might

attend an attack upon that place. The principal thing,

however, which will require your consideration, was the

plan of intercepting the king in his way down to the

Parliament House ; this was discussed. The difficul-

ties attending it—the mode in which these difficulties

were to be met with and got rid of—were parts of the

conversation supported by different persons. I think

it was Broughton who suggested that one good way

would be to shoot the horses of the coach, and then the

coach would necessarily stop ; upon which it was

observed by one of them that the Life Guards who were

surrounding the coach would cut down any man who

attempted to approach it; and on this occasion the

prisoner at the bar made use of expressions which will

be particularly spoken to, and will be particularly worthy

of your attention. Upon its being stated that the Life

Guards would resist any attempt that should be made

upon the coach, and cut down any man who should

approach it, and on its being asked who would be found

to do it, he said that if no one else would do it, he would

do it himself, accompanying it with an expression

strongly demonstrative of the turn and frame of his

mind at the moment, and of the desperate extent, to

which he meant to carry his treason ; accompanying his

expression by no less remarkable words than these :
" I

have well weighed the matter, and my heart is callous."

Gentlemen, this cannot be equivocal j callous, indeed,

must be the heart which meditated the plan that I

14 *
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charge against him ; and the expression could hardly he

used with reference to any other."

The Attorney- General then observed, that Govern-

ment was well aware of the proceedings of these people,

but would not interfere while danger was at a distance

;

however, when the schemes were nearly completed,

about thirty prisoners were arrested at the Oakley Arms,

and a sufficient body of evidence collected to prove them

guilty. The conspirators consisted of the lowest order

of the people, as journeymen, day-labourers, and common

soldiers, with the exception, however, of the prisoner at

the bar. Several were discharged; and Windsor, the

evidence, came after the arrest, and offered to deliver

himself up and communicate all information in his

power : on his testimony several others were taken

into custody. These were the principal points in the

speech of the Attorney-General ; but he continued for

some time to expatiate on the probable system of defence

for the prisoners, which he conceived would be princi-

pally an attack on the credibility of the witnesses : he

contended that an accomplice is competent ; observed

that there could not be a doubt of the guilt of some ofthe

prisoners; and that the papers were sufficient to prove

the conspiracy, independent of oral testimony. He
concluded thus :

—

" I trust you will have no extraordinary feeling that

should lead you to think that you are to endeavour to

extricate the prisoner by any strain of ingenuity or of

conscience in this case, which would not be properly

applicable to another. Undoubtedly the nature of the

charge is such as requires, as I stated, your most
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anxious attention. It is one of the blackest and most

mischievous that can come before you j but when it is

brought home to the prisoner, the effect of these con-

siderations is at an end. That he will even then, and

to the last, be entitled to the fullest possible measure of

justice at your hands, is that which unquestionably is

true. His title to justice he can never forfeit j it can-

not be forfeited in a court constituted as this is ; ad-

ministering English law by an English jury, imder the

direction of English judges ; but that there shall be any

feeling of humanity, which should be restlessly anxious

to extend itself in his favour beyond those bounds

within which both public and private duty confine it, is

that which the prisoner has no title to expect, is that

against which the public have a right to protest and

to reclaim. I fear I have troubled you too long ; I shall

now proceed to call the witnesses, and if I do lay before

you the evidence as I have opened it, confirmed as I

have stated that it will be confirmed, 1 apprehend your

duty to convict the prisoner, however painful the dis-

charge of that duty may be to your feelings, will be in-

dispensable."

Counsel then proceeded to call the witnesses for the

prosecution.

Mr. J. Stafford, clerk to the magistrates of Union

Hall, stated the arrest of the prisoners. Colonel Des-

pard at first refused to be searched, but afterwards,

submitted, though nothing was found on him. There

were three papers on the floor, which proved to be the

oath, &c., already mentioned. Several police-officers,

proved the presence of Colonel Despard at the Oakley

Arms.
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Thomas Windsor, the principal evidence, said he was

a private in the Guards, and that on his return from

Chatham in March, he received some papers from John

Francis which were similar to those already mentioned.

Francis told him the object of the party was to over-

turn tlie present tyrannical system of government. The

manner of taking the oath was by reading it secretly

and then kissing the card. One object of the members

was to raise subscriptions for delegates to go into the

country, and to pay for affidavits. The society was

divided into companies of ten men, commanded by

another who bore the title of colonel. Francis and a

person named Macnamara called themselves colonels.

Encouragements were given to get a number of recruits,

for which purpose cards were to be distributed through

the country ; afterwards, the witness was introduced by

Broughton to Colonel Despard, at Newington, when in

the course of conversation the colonel said that a regular

organization in the country was necessary, and he be-

lieved that it was general. The people were eveiywhere

ripe, and were anxious for the moment of the attack;

"and," added he, "I believe this to be the moment,

particularly in Leeds, Shefiield, Birmingham, and every

great town throughout the kingdom. I have walked

twenty miles d, day, and wherever I have been the

people are ripe." Colonel Despard then said that the

attack was to be made on the day when the king would

go to Parliament. He then repeated the words used by

the colonel respecting the callousness of his heart, and

stated that, after the destruction of the king, it was

proposed the mail coaches should be stopped as a signal
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to the people in the country that the revolt had taken

place in London. The colonel was cautious as to the

admission of new members. At another meeting the

colonel, accompanied by Heron, a discharged soldier,

and another person, observed, " We have been deceived

as to the number of arms in the Bank : there are only

six hundred stand there, and they have taken the

hammers to render them useless, as they must have

been apprised of our intention." They then returned

to a public-house, when the colonel said privately to the

witness, " Windsor, the king must be put to death the

day he goes to the House, and then the people will be

at liberty." He said he would himself make the attack

upon his majesty if he could get no assistance on that

(meaning the Middlesex) side of the. water. The

prisoner Wood said, that when the king was going to

the House, he would post himself as sentry over the

great gun in the park ; that he would load it and fire

at his majesty^s coach as he passed through the park.

Wood might in the course of his duty be sometimes

placed as a sentry over that gun.

Mr. Bownas proved the copy of the " constitution" and

oath given to him by Windsor.

Thomas Blaise, a private in the second battalion of

Guards, deposed that Wood had told him of the union

of several gentlemen who had determined to form an

independent constitution at the risk of their lives and

fortunes : he said the executive government had ap-

pointed Francis to be colonel of the first regiment of

National Guards. Macnaraara called upon Francis to

point out three colonels and one artillery officer, and
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charged him to do it with the utmost impartiality.

Francis then pointed out him (the witness) as a proper

man for a colonel. The commissions were to be dis-

tributed previous to the attack, when one of the persons,

named Pendril, observed, that if it had not been for four

or five cowards it would have taken place before that

day, adding that he himself could bring a thousand men
into the field, and if any man showed symptoms of

cowardice he would blow his brains outj if anybody

dared to betray the secret, that man, he said, should

have a dagger in his heart. The witness then deposed

to meeting with Colonel Despard at the Oakley Arms,

on which occasion he heard much conversation about

the best method of attacking the king : some said the

Parliament house must also be attacked, and after that

they must file away for the Tower. This witness, on

his cross-examination, admitted that he had been three

times tried by a court-martial for desertion, and accused

of theft,

William Francis, a private in the 1st Guards, de-

posed nearly to the same efiect as the preceding witness,

as to the nature of the oath which was read to him,

because he could not read himself; he said, at one time

there was an assemblage of people near the Tower, but

they were immediately dispersed by orders from Colonel

Despard, but he admitted that the oath was administered

to him by the colonel himself; at one meeting the

soldiers drew their bayonets, and said they were ready

to die in the cause. On his cross-examination, he

denied that he had ever been flogged, or had deserted.

John Council, who had been arrested at the Oakley
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Arms and admitted evidence, denied that his name was

John, and insisted that it was Patrick; he afterwards

admitted that he was advised by the prisoner to play

this trick on the counsel. He was dismissed.

Several other soldiers in the Guards gave evidence as

to the meeting of societies for overturing the Govern-

ment, under the name of " Free and Easy," which met

at different public-houses.

John Emblin, a watchmaker and a witness, who ap-

peared to be of a superior understanding, deposed that

he attended at the Oakley Arms on the suggestion of

Lander, but disapproved of the plans. He also agreed

in stating the plan of attack already mentioned, which

was explained to him by Bi-oughton, Graham, and

others. Colonel Despard informed him that a very con-

siderable force would come forward, particularly in all

the great towns : and said that he had been engaged in

this business for two years, and added, "I have travelled

twenty miles to-day ; everywhere I have been, the people

are ripe and anxious for the moment of attack." This

witness deposed to the plan of shooting the horses, as

well as to the remarkable expression of the colonel

before mentioned ; also to the conversation about seizing

the Bank, when it was agreed that the Bank should be

seized and the Tower taken. Various subordinate plans

were also detailed by the witness; amongst others,

Broughton told him, with an oath, that he was resolved

to load the great gun in the park with four balls or

chain-shots, and fire it at the king's coach as he re-

turned from the House.

Here the evidence for the Crown was closed.
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Serjeant Best then addressed the jury on behalf of the

prisoner^ and endeavoured to show that, from the nature

and spirit of our constitution, a person in his situation

is entitled to peculiar favour. From the Act the 36

Geo. III., c. 7, on which the indictment was partly

founded, he insisted that it is not by mere words

spoken, that an accused person is to be found guilty,

because a speech is subject to such serious misinter-

pretation. He laboured to show that words did not

constitute an overt act; yet he admitted that the

colonel was at some of the meetings, and that he might

have spoken obnoxious words ; but before he could be

convicted, it was necessary to prove that he knew the

meeting was of a treasonable nature. He denied that

the printed card or paper was at all connected with the

colonel, and cited the case of Layer and others (in the

sixth vol. of the "State Trials"), to prove that the

Crown did not content themselves with snch trivial

proofs as here adduced, and laid much stress on the

circumstance of no arms having been prepared for the

attack. His next object was to impeach the credibility

of the witnesses, the concurrent testimony of whom

was, in the present instance, of no more force than one.

The great improbability of the story was his next point

of argument, and he ridiculed the idea of fourteen or

fifteen in a cor&mon tap-room, with no fire-arms but

their tobacco-pipes, men of the lowest orders of society,

who were to seize the King, the Bank, the Tower, and

the members of both Houses of Parliament ; in short,

he considered the whole statement of the witnesses as

too absurd to merit attention, and that Colonel Despard,
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who was a gentleman and a soldier, could not have em-

barked in such impracticable schemes unless he was

bereft of reason. He then alluded to the past services

of the colonel, who, in a joint command with Lord

Nelson, had preserved one of our valuable colonies. It

was known that the colonel had been suspected by

Government; but though he had long been confined,

there was not at that time sufficient evidence against

him to go before a grand jury. He proceeded to com-

ment on the character of the witnesses, and concluded

thus :

—

" I am persuaded, that at this late hour of the night,

fatigued as I necessarily must be in passing through so

arduous a service, some observations must have escaped

me, and those which have occurred to me I have not

pressed with that force which the occasion demands at

my hands, but I have one consolation in the assistance

of my learned friend, who will soon follow me, and sup-

ply my defects ; or even if he should fail in doing that,

we have this further consolation, that everything that

can be urged in favour of the prisoner will be stated by

the noble and learnedjudge. Any defect of mine he will

supply, any inaccuracy he will correct. I have only to

remind you, that you are sittrag in a British court of

justice. It is one of the maxims of the country in which

we live—that maxim upon which everything dear and

valuable depends—that you are to administer justice in

mercy. You are sitting in a court of justice, which is a

member of the government of a free people ; you will

remember that it is one of the principles of freedom,

that men are not to be compelled to an adherence to
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the government by terror^ but to be attached to its laws

by love. I am perfectly persuaded, therefore, that if

you should agree with me presently in .paying this case

is not made out, and it is not to be made out by conjec-

ture, you are not to condemn unless all idea of innocence

be completely extinguished by the weight of the evi-

dence that has been produced upon the cause,—I say, if

you should agree with me in saying you do not see satis-

factory grounds for delivering over this gentleman to

that horrid death to which you assign him if you pro-

nounce him guilty, a verdict of acquittal will have a

greater effect than a verdict of guilty. Gentlemen, I

say we are attached to our constitution and laws by love,

and are not bound to adhere to them by fear ; that love

must necessarily be increased by such a circumstance as

this, that after so many hours of trial, by so respectable

a jury, men of consideration and consequence in the

country, this gentleman, after the attack which has been

made upon him, is delivered from it by your verdict. I

am persuaded that, if there are any deluded persons in

this country who fancy we have not attained that degree

of perfect freedom which is capable of being attained,

though I should hope what has lately passed would ope-

rate completely to remove that delusion, nothing will so

completely satisfy them of their mistake as a verdict

pronounced by you of not guilty, to-night. They will

know, that when a subject is attacked by a prosecution

not made out by fair and clear evidence, he is sure of

protection in the uprightness and integrity of the judge,

and the mercy of the jury who try the cause. They will

learn that true freedom consists in the just and humane
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administration of law, and will observe and cherish the

laws they find to be so administered. I at one time

intended to offer,evidence in contradiction of these wit-

nesses, but if I have shown them accomplices, and that

the case is only proved by their evidence, I have shown

them unworthy of contradiction, and the attempt could

only serve to increase the fatigue you have already un-

dergone; but I shall offer most material evidence : I

shall offer evidence of the character of this gentleman.

If courts of justice are intended to correct the morals

and confirm the virtuous inclination of those who attend

them—which is one great object of their institution

—

they cannot do it more effectually than by paying atten-

tion to the evidence of good character ; it is telling a

man that if, by the tenor of his life, he shall acquire a

good character, it shall afford him a shield in a court of

justice in the day of trial. The evidence of character

must have effect in another point of view. The Attorney-

General has said every man is to be supposed innocent

till proved guilty. It is much less likely that a man

who has maintained a good character should become on

a sudden the vilest of men, iiemo repente fit turpissimus,

than that one who has appeared less correct should be-

come criminal. I say, if this gentleman has borne a

good character, which 1 shall show he has, that the case

attempted to be made out against him is most improba-

ble. One would almost believe that the stream should

set back upon the fountain, than that a man who has

deserved well of his country should concur with such

miserable persons as you have heard to-day, in one of

the most miserable conspiracies for treason that I ever
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heard of. I have too good an opinion of the loyalty of

the country to give credit to this story. If the case is

made out, it is a most detestable and abominable treason.

If the case is made out^ no man but would with satis-

faction see the sentence of the law executed ; but remem-
ber the maxim of the Attorney- General, that, in propor-

tion as the crime is enormous, so ought the proof to be

clear. Gentlemen, I beg your pardon for troubling you
at such a length at this time of night."

Serjeant Best, confining his evidence for the prisoner

to witnesses for character, called, as a leading witness,.

no less a personage than Vice-Admiral Horatio, Lord

Viscount Nelson, K.B., who was examined by Mr.

Gurney as follows :

—

How long has your lordship known Colonel Despard ?

—It is twenty-three years since I saw him ; I became

acquainted with.him in the year 1779, at Jamaica. He
was, at that time, lieutenant in what were called the

Liverpool Blues. From his abilities as an engineer, I

know he was expected to be appointed

Lord EUenborough.—I am sorry to be obliged to in-

terrupt your lordship ; but we cannot hear what I dare

say your lordship would give with great effect, the his-

tory of this gentleman's military life, but you will state

what has been his general character ?

To this Lord Nelson answered :

—
"We went on the

Spanish Main together ; we slept many nights together

in our clothes upon the ground ; we have measured the

heights of the enemy's wall together. In all that period

of time, no man could have shown more zealous attach-

ment to his sovereign and his country than Colonel
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Despard did. I formed the highest opinion of him, at

that time, as a man and an ofiQcer, seeing him so willing

in the service of his sovereign. Haviag lost sight of him
for the last twenty-three years, if I had been asked my
opinion of him, I should have said, "If he is alive, he

is certaialy one of the brightest ornaments of the British

Army."

Vice-Admiral Lord Nelson was thus cross-examiaed

by Mr. Attorney- General:

—

What your lordship has been stating was in the years

1779 and 1780?—Yes.
Have you had much intercourse with Colonel Despard

since that time ?—I have never seen him since the 29th

of April, 1780.

Then as to his loyalty for the last twenty-three years

of his life your lordship knows nothiag ?—Nothing.

Two other distinguished witnesses spoke in favour of

the character of the Colonel—viz.. Sir Edward Clark, at

one time Governor of Jamaica, who had known the

Colonel for many years up to 1790, and Sir Evan Nepean,

Bart., Secretary to the Admiralty, who had been inti-

mate with him from 1784 until almost up to the time of

the trial. " I had," said Sir Evan, " so high an opinion

of him, that I invited him to my house. I considered

him a loyal man."

Mr. Gumey spoke to evidence in behalf ofthe prisoner,

and endeavoured to invalidate the testimony of the wit-

nesses ; his peroration was eloquent.

" Before I sit down," said he, " I must entreat your

serious attention to one observation more. There have

been many cases in the history of the criminal jurispru-
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dence of this country, which should impress caution on

the minds of jurymen : many in cases of other crimes

;

many in cases of treason. How many innocent men have

died in consequence of the credulity of jurors ? I will

refer you only to the supposed Popish plot in the reign

of Charles II., for which as many men as are indicted

here suffered unjustly; the juries by which they were

tried being deceived by the hard swearing of witnesses,

not more infamous than those whom you have heard to-

day : and yet those juries were countenanced by the

whole nation, the two Houses of Parliament leading the

way. So firm and general was the belief of that plot,

that to dispute or doubt its existence was deemed a mark

of disaffection to the Protestant cause. In a short time

the veil was torn off: the perjury, which had triumphed,

was discovered to be perjury, but it was too late ; the

dead could not be recalled from the grave; and the

jurors who had sent them there were left to the bitter

reflections of their consciences,—to the unavailing

lamentation of their credulity. But, though these per-

sons died unjustly, I trust they did not die in vain. Their

innocent blood speaks aloud to you not to foUow the

fatal example of your predecessors ; not to lend, as they

did, too easy faith to the testimony of wicked men. May

you attend to the warning voice, and pronounce a verdict

of acquittal, of which, I trust, you will never have reason

to repent.'"

Colonel Despard declined saying anything in his own

behalf.

The Solicitor-General replied on the part of the

Crown, after which Lord Ellenborough summed up.
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and stated the nature of overt acts ; he read, verbatim,

the whole of the evidence, commenting, as he pro-

ceeded, on the most striking parts.

The jury withdrew at about twenty minutes after

two o^clock on the Tuesday morning to consider their

verdict; they returned into court in about twenty-five

minutes with a verdict finding the prisoner—Guilty.

The foreman added, "My lord, we most earnestly

recommend the prisoner to mercy on account of the

high testimonials to his former good character and

eminent services."

At three o'clock the court adjourned to nine o'clock

on Wednesday morning, when it again met, and the

trial of John Wood, Thomas Broughton, John Francis,

Thomas Phillips, Thomas Newman, Daniel Tyndall,

John Doyle, James Sedgwick Wratten, William Lander,

Aj-thur Graham, Samuel Smith, and John Macnamara,

commenced and lasted till near eight o'clock the next

morning, when the jury found John Wood, Thomas

Broughton, John Francis, Thomas Newman, Daniel

Tyndall, James Sedgwick Wratten, William Lander,

Arthur Graham, and John Macnamara, guilty.

After which Edward Marcus Despard, John Wood,

Thomas Broughton, John Francis, Thomas Newman,

Daniel Tyndall, James Sedgwick Wratten, William

Lander, Arthur Graham, and John Macnamara, were

set to the bar.

Lord EUenborough then passed sentence of death

upon the prisoners in a rather high-flown speech.

After describing in the strongest manner the enormity

of the crime of which they had been convicted, and
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observing that such vile purposes^ however zealously

begun, generally terminated in schemes of treachery

against each other, he then proceeded :

—

" With respect to the wicked contrivers of abortive

treason now before me, it only remains for me to acquit

myself of my last official duty. As for you. Colonel

Despard, born, as you were, to better hopes, and

educated to nobler ends and purposes ; accustomed as

you have hitherto been to a different life and manners,

and pursuing with your former illustrious companions,

who have appeared on your trial, the paths of virtuous

and loyal ambition,—it is with the most sensible pain I

view the contrast formed by your present degraded con-

dition, and I wUl not now point out how much these

considerations enhance the nature of your crime. I

entreat of you, by those hopes of mercy which are

closed in this world, to revive in youi- mind a purpose

to subdue that callous insensibility of heart, of which,

in an ill-fated hour, you have boasted, and regain that

sanative affection of the mind which may prepare your

soul for that salvation which, by the infinite mercy of

God, I beseech of that God you may obtain. As to

you (naming the other convicts), sad victims of his

seduction and example, and of your own wicked pur-

poses
; you who fall a melancholy, but, I trust, an in-

structive, sacrifice, to deter others from the commission

of similar crimes, may you apply the little time you

have to live in the repentant contemplation of another

world. Warned by your example, may the ignorant

and unthinking avoid those crimes which bring you to

a shameful and untimely end ! May they learn duly
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to estimate tlie humble but secure blessings of industry

—^blessings which, in an evil hour, you have cast from

you ! The same recommendation offered to the leader

of your crimes, to prepare for the awful and near

termination of your existence, I earnestly impress upon

you; and I repeat for you my ardent invocation of

mercy in a future state which the interest of yovir

fellow-creatures will not suffer to be extended to you

here. The only thing now remaining for me is the

painful task of pronouncing against you, and each of

you, the awful sentence which the law denounces

against your crime, which is, that you, and each of you,

(here his lordship named the prisoners severally) be

taken to the place from whence you came, and from

thence you are to be drawn on hurdles to the place of

execution, where you are to be hanged by the neck, but

not until you are dead ; for, while you are still living,

your bodies are to be taken down, your bowels torn

out, and burnt before your faces
;
your heads are to be

then cut off, and your bodies divided each into four

quarters, to be at the king^s disposal; and may the

Almighty God have mercy on your soxils."

The whole of this sentence, which, as the punishment

of treason, disgraced our law even to a late period

(until altered by the 54 George III., c. 146), was too

disgusting and cruel to be completely carried out. The

warrant which directed the execution of the imfortunate

Despard and his associates remitted the disembowelling

and quartering. This warrant was sent to the keeper

of the new (Horsemonger Lane) gaol in the Borough at

six o'clock on Saturday evening, Feb. 19, and included

15
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seven prisoners ; three—Newman, Tyndall, and Lander

— having been respited. As soon as the warrant, which

ordered the execution for the following Monday, was

received, it was communicated to the unhappy persons

by the keeper of the prison, Mr. Ives, with as much

tenderness and humanity as the awful nature of the

case required. Colonel Despard observed that the time

was short
; yet he had not had from the first any strong

expectation that the recommendation of the jury would

be efiectual. The mediation of Lord Nelson and a

petition to the Crown were tried ; but Colonel Despard

was convinced, according to report, that they would be

unavailing. Soon after the arrival of the warrant all

papers, and everything he possessed, were immediately

taken from the colonel. The colonel's devoted wife, a

lady of Honduras, whom he had married while in his

command there, was fearfally affected when she first

heard his doom was sealed, but afterwards recovered

her fortitude. The colonel and Mrs. Despard sup-

ported themselves with great firmness at parting on the

Saturday ; and when she got into the coach that drove

her away she waved her handkerchief out of the window.

The other prisoners bore their,sad lot with equal for-

titude, but conducted themselves with less solemnity

than the colonel. Their wives and near relatives were

allowed to take a farewell of them on the same day ; and

the scene was truly distressing.

At daylight on Sunday morning, the drop, scaffold,

and gallows, on which they were to be executed were

erected on the top of the gaol. The Bow Street patrol

and many other peace ofiicers were on duty all day and
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nightj and the military near London were drawn up

close to the prison. Mrs. Despard took final leave of

her hushand at three in the afternoon, yet came again

at five o'clock, but it was thought advisable to spare

the colonel the pang of a second parting, and she was,

therefore, not admitted into his cell. She evinced

some indignation, and expressed a strong opinion with

respect to the cause for which her husband was to suifer.

After she had left the colonel at three o'clock, he walked

up and down his cell for some time, seemingly more

agitated than he had been at the actual moment of

taking leave of her. Between six and seven in the

evening he threw himself on the bed, and fell into a

short sleep. At eight he awoke and addressed one of

the officers of the prison, who was with him, in these

words:—"Me—they shall receive no information from

me; no, not for all the gifts, the gold, and jewels, in

the possession of the Crown ! " He then composed

himself, and remained silent. Seven shells or coffin®

to receive the bodies, were brought into the prison, and

also two large bags filled with sawdust, and the block on

which they were to be beheaded. At four o'clock the

next morning, February 21, the drum beat at the Horse

Guards as a signal for the troops to assemble. In fact,

the military force present on the occasion, like every

other proceeding of Government in this affair, was

most imposing. At six o'clock the Life-guards arrived,

and took their station at the end of the different roads

at the Obelisk, in St. George's Fields; whilst all the

officers from Bow Street, Queen's Square, Marlborough

Street, Hatton Garden, Worship Street, Whitechapel,
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Shadwell, and other localities attended. There were

parties of the Life-guards riding up and down the

roads. At half-past six the prison heU rang—the

signal for unlockiag the cells. At seven o^clock five of

the men—Broughton, Francis, Graham, Wood, and

Wratten—went into the chapel, with the Rev. Mr.

Winkworth. Macnamara, being of another persuasion,

and Despard, being in his craziness an infidel, did not

join them. The five attended to the prayers with great

earnestness, but at the same time without seeming to

lose that firmness they had displayed since their trial.

Before they received the sacrament, four of them con-

fessed they had done wrong, but not to the extent

charged against them by the evidence. The fifth,

Graham, said he was innocent of the charges brought

against him, but had attended two meetings at the insti-

gation of Francis. For some time the clergyman refused

to administer the sacrament to Francis, because he per-

sisted in declaring he had been guilty of no crime. The

clergyman said to him, " You admit 'you attended the

meetings." He replied, " Yes." " You knew they were

for the purpose of overturning the constitution of the

country. I by no means wish you to enter into par-

ticulars, I only wish you to acknowledge generally."

Francis answered, " I admit I have done wrong in

attending those meetings." The clergyman then asked

each of them how they found themselves? Francis,

Wood, Broughton, and Wratten said, "They were

never happier in their lives." Graham remained silent.

The sacrament was administered to them all.

Colonel Despard a^d Macnamara were then brought
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down from their cells, their irons knocked off, and their

arms bound with ropes. The sheriff asked Colonel

Despard if he could render him any service. The

colonel thanked him, and replied that he could not.

Upon the colonel coming out, he shook hands very

cordially with his solicitor, and returned him many
thanks for his kind attention; then, observing the

sledge and apparatus, he smilingly cried out, "Ha!
ha! what nonsensical mummery is this?" Notice

being given that all was ready, the colonel, who stood

the first, retired behind, and mentioned to Francis,

who was making way for him, to go before him. The

hurdle, being a body of a small cart, on which two

trusses of clean straw were laid, was drawn by two

horses.

When the melancholy procession began, which was

at half-past eight o'clock precisely, Macnamara was the

first that came out. Colonel Despard was the last that

appeared. He was dressed in a blue double-breasted

coat, with gilt buttons ; cream-coloured waistcoat, with

narrow gold-lace binding; a fiannel inside vest, with

scarlet top turned over
;
grey breeches, long boots, and

a brown surtout. He stepped into the hurdle with

much fortitude, having an executioner on the right and

on the left, and on the same seat, with drawn cutlasses.

He was thus conducted to the outer lodge, whence he

ascended the staircase leading to the place of execution.

As soon as the prisoners were placed on the hurdle,

St. George's bell tolled for some time. They were

preceded by the Sheriff, Sir R. Ford, the Protestant

clergyman, the Rev. Mr. Winkworth^ and a Catholic
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clergyman, the Rev. Mr. Griffith, who attended Macna-

mara, who was a Catholic. The coffins, or shells, which

had been previously placed in a room under the scaffold,

were then brought up and put on the platform on which

the drop was erected ; the bags of sawdust to catch the

blood when the heads were severed from the bodies

were laid beside them. The block was near the scaffold

;

there were about a hundred spectators on the platform,

among whom were some persons of distinction; the

greatest order,was observed. Macnamara was the first

on the platform, and when the cord was placed round

his neck he exclaimed, " Lord Jesus, have mercy upon

me! O Lord, look down with pity upon me!" The

poptdace were much struck by his appearance. Graham

came second : he looked pale and ghastly, but spoke

not. Wratten was the third : he ascended the scaffold

with much firmness. Broughton, the fourth, joined in

prayer with much earnestness. Wood was the fifth,

and Francis the sixth. They were all equally com-

posed.

Colonel Despard ascended the scaffold with great

firmness, and his countenance underwent not the

slightest change while the dread ceremony of fastening

the rope round his neck and placing the cap on his

head was performing ; he even assisted the executioner

in adjusting the rope : he looked at the multitude

assembled with perfect calmness. The Protestant cler-

gyman, who came upon the scaffold after the prisoners

were tied up, spoke to him a few words as he passed

;

the Colonel bowed and thanked him. The ceremony

of fastening the prisoners being finished^ the colonel
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advanced as near as he could to the edge of the scaffold,

and made the following speech to the multitude :

—

"Fellow Citizens,—I come here, as you see, after

having served my country—^faithfully, honourahly, and

usefully served it for thirty years and upwards—to suffer

death upon a scaffold for a crime of which I protest I

am not guilty. I solemnly declare that I am no more

guilty of it than any of you who may he now hearing

me. But though his Majesty's ministers know as well

as I do that I am not guilty, yet they avail themselves

of a legal pretext to destroy a man because he has been

a friend to truth, to liberty, and justice."

There was a considerable huzza from part of the popu-

lace the nearest to him, but who, from the height of the

scaffold from the ground, could not, for a certainty,

distinctly hear what was said. The colonel proceeded

:

" Because he has been a friend to the poor and dis-

tressed. But, citizens, I hope and trust, notwithstand-

ingmy fate, and the fate of those who no doubt will soon

follow me, that the principles of freedom, of humanity,

and of justice, will finally triumph over falsehood,

tyranny, and delusion, and every principle hostile to the

interests of the human race. And now, having said

this, I have little more to add "

The colonel's voice seemed to falter here ; he paused

a moment, as if he had meant to say something more,

and had forgotten it. He then concluded in the fol-

lowing manner :

—

" I have little more to add, except to wish you all

health, happiness, and freedom, whicli I have endea-

voured, as far as was in my power, to procure for you,

and for mankind in general."
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The colonel spoke in a firm and audible tone of voice

:

he left off sooner than was expected. There was no

public expression, either of approbation or disapproba-

tion, given when he had concluded his address. As soon

as the colonel ceased speaking, the Protestant clergyman

prayed with five of the prisoners, and the Catholic priest

with Macnamara. However, to the very last. Colonel

Despard obstinately refused all clerical assistance, nor

would he even join in the Lord's Prayer. The execu-

tioner pulled the caps over the faces of the unhappy

persons, and descended the scaffold. Most of them

exclaimed, " Lord Jesus, receive our souls ! " At seven

minutes before nine o'clock the signal was given, the

platform dropped, and they were all launched into eter-

nity. After hanging about half an hour till they were

quite dead, they were cut down. Colonel Despard was

first cut down, his body placed upon the sawdust, and

his head upon a block ; after his coat and waistcoat had

been taken off, his head was severed from his body by

persons engaged for the purpose. The executioner then

took the head by the hair, and carrying it to the edge of

the parapet on the right hand, and on the left, held it

up at each edge to the view of the populace, and ex-

claimed each time, "This is the head of a traitor,

Edward Marcus Despard."

Despard's remains were then put into the shell that

had been prepared for them. The other prisoners were

also cut down, their heads severed from their bodies,

and exhibited to the populace with the exclamation of

" This is the head of another traitor," adding the name.

The bodies were, like Despard's, put into their respec-

tive shells, and delivered to their friends for interment.
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The execution was over by ten o'clock, and the popu-

lace soon after dispersed quietly. The remains of the

six common men were deposited in one grave in the

vault under the Rev. Mr. Harper's chapel, in the London

Road, St. George's Fields. The body of Colonel Despard

was taken from Mount -street, Lambeth, on the 1st of

March, in a hearse drawn by four horses, followed by

three mourning coaches, with four gentlemen in each,

and was interred in the cemetery belonging to the parish

of St. Faith, on the south side of St. Paul's Cathedral.

A great crowd collected, and the City Marshal, with a

guard, was present, lest there should be any disturbance

;

but all went off peaceably.

The Times of Monday, Feb. 28, 1803, thus refers to

the burying of Despard's remains :
—" The interment of

Colonel Despard to-morrow will depend upon the arrival

of his son, who has been sent for to France to be present

,

on the occasion. This young gentleman is ofrespectable

character, and has been in Paris about three months,

with his wife. He was an ensign in Ireland, and was

left a comfortable maintenance by his grandfather."

The melancholy state of infidelity exhibited by Colonel

Despard on the scaffold formed a theme for the pulpit.

I find, among the reviews in the Gentleman's Magazine,

of 1804, the following notice :
—" A Sermon on the

depravity of the Human Heart, exemplified, generally,

in the conduct of the Jews, and particularly in that of

Lieutenant-Colonel Despard, previous to his execution

;

preached at St. George's, Hanover Square, Feb. 27,

1803, by the Rev. William Leigh, LL.D., morning

preacher at the aforesaid church, and rector of Little
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Plumsteadj Norfolk." In this sermon occur the fol-

lowing passages :

—

" The depravity of the human heart, from the creation

to the present moment, is the strongest proof of the

freedom of human agency and the origin of evil. Good

and evil are set before man, and his choice is unin-

fluenced, and free. ' But, alas ! how vain is the strength

of man ! How imperfect are his best resolutions ! How
prevalent his inclinations to commit sin ! and how sturdy

his self-justification after he has committed it ! ....
It is the miserable pride of modern reformers, to be

equally independent of God and of man ; to live without

fear, and to die without compunction. The circum-

stances which marked the last moments of Colonel

Despard, his refusal of the sacrament, his rejection of

all spiritual consolation, and that of his dying with a

lie in his mouth, are such as must fill every religious

mind with lamentation and horror.'^'

The trial of Colonel Despard presents coincidences

with that of Governor Wall, that preceded it. Both

Wall and Despard were men of family, and both came

from nearly the same part of Ireland; both, by their

own merit, rose to be colonels and governors of colonies,

and both were eventually hanged in London—the one

in the spring of 1 802, and the other in the spring of

1803, and formed melancholy but happily very rare in-

stances of military officers of rank suffering, for dis-

graceful offences, the extreme penalty of the law.

Another coincidence may be mentioned. The Hon.

Spencer Percival, who was the Attorney-General at this

trial, fell, in a few years afterwards, the victim of an
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assassin, Bellingliam, who was a kind of lunatic like

Despard, and had a similar real or ideal cause of griev-

ance—viz., inattention of the Government to the appli-

cation or complaint he was making.

The learned and popular writer whom I have already

quoted, Mr. Timbs, F.S.A., in his "Curiosities of

London," thus points out, near the now-called Victoria

Theatre, the scene of Despard's conspiracy :
" In Oakley

Street, at the Oakley Arms, November 16, 1802, Colonel

Edward Marcus Despard and thirty-two other persons

were apprehended on a charge of high treason ; and in

February following, the colonel, with nine of his asso-

ciates, were tried by a special commission at the Surrey

Sessions House ; and being all found guilty, seven, in-

cluding Despard, were executed February 21, on the top

of Horsemonger Lane Gaol.'^ Mr. Timbs further shows

the spot to have been part of, or proximate to, the noto-

rious "'Pedlar's Acre" scene of many a misdeed and

crime.

To the honour of the Despard family, it may be men-

tioned that its loyalty was no wise diminished by this,

to say the least of it, when one considers the obvious state

of his mind and the absurdity of his treason, very severe

measure of justice dealt out to the unhappy colonel.

His relatives continued to act gallantly and devotedly

in the service of their country. Of the sons of his

brother, Captain Philip Despard, one, at the age of

thirty-one, Lieut.-Colonel William Despard, 7th Fusi-

liers, fell at the Pyrenees in the Peninsular War ; and

another, Henry Despard, rose by his own merit to be

a general in the army and colonel of the 99th Regi-
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ment. Killaghy, the seat of the Despards, in the

County Tipperary, was sold by William Despard (father

of the colonel of the trial) to his brother, Francis

Green Despard, Esq., and the property descended even-

tually to Francis's great granddaughter, Catherine

Despard, wife of William Wright, Esq., who assumed

by royal licence, in 1838, the surname and arms of

Despard.



THE COURT-MARTIAL

OH

VICE-ADMIRAL CALDER.

The trial of that distinguished naval commander, Sir

Robert Calder, Bart., Vice-Admiral of the White, dif-

fered from those of Byng, SaekviUe, and Keppel, in

this, that it was not set on foot by an angry or partial

Government, but arose entirely from the over sensitive-

ness of the gallant admiral himself, who could not sub-

mit to some unfavourable remarks which were made on

his conduct for not pushing to the utmost the victory

he had gained. He had defeated, in a great naval

encounter, the combined fleets of France and Spain;

but he had not completely crushed the enemy. Unfor-

tunately, this occurred in the very centre of Nelson's

triumphs, when not only that hero, but the whole

British people might, to use Napoleon's term, be called

"the spoilt children of victory.'' Calder, it was ad-

mitted, had acted with courage and sagacity ; but he

had not shown the peculiar—the almost supernatural

daring of Nelson : hence the general murmur. Nelson

himself told him not to mind the outcry, but to fight on.

He unwisely did not follow, the advice, but called for a

court-martial, and brought upon himself a sad and un-



350 CELEBRATED TRIALS.

foreseen result. Before coming to the affair^ a word or

two of Calder's previous career is necessary. He was a

man of good birth and ancient lineage, being the second

son of Sir James Calder, third Baronet of Muirtoune,

the head of a very old family in Morayshire. He was

born at his father's house at Elgin, the 2nd July, 1745,

and, when fourteen years of age, was a midshipman in

the Royal navy. He rose in his profession with slow

but well-earned promotion, until he was looked on as

one of the bravest and safest officers of his day. He
won his earlier laurels under Kempenfelt, Roddam (his

brother-in-law), and Howe; and his conduct at the

battle of St. Vincent obtained for him knighthood, and

subsequently, in 1798, a baronetcy. Such was the sea-

man whose next victory was to be the cause of his un-

doing. Of the actual naval action and its consequences

in bringing about the trial, I take the following lucid

account from that excellent manual "British Naval

Biography :"

" Calder was selected, in 1 805, by Admiral the Hon.

(afterwards Sir) William Cornwallis (the illustrious

Marquess Cornwallis's youngest brother), who then

commanded the Channel fleet, to blockade the har-

bours of Ferrol and Corunna. The force entrusted

to him on this occasion was very iaadequate; for,

although there were then five French ships of the line

and three frigates, and five Spanish line-of-battle ships

and four frigates, all ready for sea, in these ports, yet

he had only seven sail allotted to him ; these, indeed,

were after^fards increased to nine; but although he

repeatedly requested two frigates and some smaller
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vessels^ they never were sent to him. He, however,

retained his station, notwithstanding the manoeuvres of

the Brest fleet ; and on being joined by Rear-Admiral

Stirling, on the 16th of July, with five sail of the line

from before Rochfort, together with a frigate and a

lugger, he proceeded to sea, for the express purpose of

intercepting the French and Spanish squadrons from the

West Indies, which were supposed to consist of no more

than sixteen capital ships. Soon after this the combined

fleet, of twenty sail of the line, seven frigates, and two

brigs, were descried ; while the English force amounted

to no more than fifteen ships of the line, two frigates, a

cutter, and a lugger.*

" Although the disparity on this occasion was suffi-

ciently startling, Sir Robert did not hesitate in deter-

mining to bring the enemy to action. This battle, which

gave rise to so much discussion, occurred in lat. 43° 30'

north, and long. 11° 17' west, or about 40 leagues from

Ferrol, on the 23nd of July. The British Vice-Admiral

formed his fleet in compact order, and made a signal to

attack the centre of the enemy ; upon which the Hero,

of 74 guns, that led the van squadron, fetched close up

under the lee of the combined fleet, so that when our

headmost ships had reached the enemy's centre, their

vessels tacked in succession, which obliged Sir Robert

to perform the same evolution. The battle that imme-

diately followed lasted upwards of four hours, and the

* The French and Spanish fleet (commanded by Villeneuve and

G-ravina) consisted of one of 90 guns, two of 84, four of 80, eleven of

74, and two of 64. The BngHsh, of three of 98 guns, two of 84, eight

of 74, and two of 64.
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enemy, notwithstanding their great superiority of num-

bers, and every advantage of wind and weather, lost two

large Spanish ships, the Rafael, of 84, and the Ferme,

of 76 guns.

" A heavy fog had prevailed during the greater part

of the day ; and a short time after the engagement com-

menced, it became so dense, that the English commander

was scarcely able to see his ships ahead or astern, by

which he was prevented from following up his advan-

tage. This, in all probability, saved the enemy from

total defeat. As it was, Sir B-obert did not judge it

prudent to hazard his fleet under such circumstances

;

and afraid, perhaps, of risking the advantage he had

already acquired, he brought-to, in order to cover his

prizes. The French and Spanish fleet could have re-

newed the engagement, during the two days that fol-

lowed, having the advantage of the windward, and the

British repeatedly, by hauling on the wind, incited

them to the conflict, but this M. Villeneuve as con-

stantly declined (and thus reserved himself for a worse

fate at Trafalgar). On the 24th the wind changed, by

which the British had the weather-gauge ; but Sir Robert

Calder, not thinking it advisable to assume oflensive

measures, the two hostile fleets separated.

" The viee-admiral was not only conscious that he had

done his duty in this afiair, but also merited the appro-

bation of his country. He had kept the sea with a very

inadequate force, instead of returning into port ; he had

successfully blockaded a greatly superior fleet for nearly

five months ; and at sea, he had fought a battle, and

captured two large ships, under circumstances where
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not to be defeated was equal to the honour of a victory.

The advantage lay so wholly on his side that the adver-

sary^ although repeatedly menacing a farther trial, had

been content to forego the opportunity, and at last to

sheer off. All this was rightly appreciated by his

commander-in-chief, Admiral CornwaUis, who sent him

back to Ferrol on the 17th, with twenty sail of the line.

But, unfortunately, a different estimate of these circum-

stances was formed at home. The nation had lately

been pampered with naval victories; the Lords of the

Admiralty murmured; and, because the enemy had

not been completely worsted, it was alleged that the

honour of the British flag had been sullied. Bitter

representations to this effect were set forth in the public

prints ; and when these reached the vice-admiral, their

effects on his honourable spirit may be easily imagined.

He immediately demanded a public trial from the Lords

of the Admiralty ; and, in spite of the solicitations of

Nelson, who besought him to remain, and share in

those approaching triumphs of the fleet by which every

calumny would be refuted, he returned to Spithead in

the Prince of Wales, on board of which a court-martial

assembled on the 23rd of December, 1805."

The officers who sat on the court-martial were George

Montagu, Admiral of the White, and Commander of

His Majesty's ships and vessels at Portsmouth and

Spithead, President. Vice-Admirals : John Holloway,

Bartholomew Samuel Rowley, and Edward Thorn-

borough. Rear-Admirals : Sir Isaac Coffin, Bart., and

John Sutton. Captains : James Bissett, Robert Dudley

OHver, John Irwin, James Athol Wood, John Seater,
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the Hon. Thomas Bladen Capelj and John Larmour.

M. Greethanij Deputy-Judge Advocate of the fleet,

conducted the prosecution.

The court being opened, Vice-Admiral Sir Rohert

Calder heing called in, entered, attended by the Deputy-

Marshal of the Admiralty.

The Order for the trial, dated the 15th of November,

1805, and directed to George Montagu, Esq., Admiral

of the White, and Commander-in-Chief of Her Majesty's

-ships and vessels at Portsmouth and Spithead, was read,

and was as follows :

—

By the Commissioners for Executing the Office of

Lord High Admiral of the United Kingdom of Great

Britain and Ireland, ^c.—^Whereas Sir Robert Calder,

Bart., Vice-Admiral of the Blue, hath, by his letter to

our Secretary, dated the 30th of September last, re-

quested, for the reasons therein mentioned, that an

inquiry may be made into his (the said vice-admiral's)

conduct, on the 23rd of July last, the day after his

engagement with the combined fleets of France and

Spain, or, upon the whole, or such part thereof (when

in presence of the enemy) as shall appear for the good

of His Majesty's service, and for enabling him to give

his reasons publicly for his conduct on that occasion

:

And whereas we have thought fit, in compliance with

the vice-admiral's request, and for the reasons mentioned

in his said letter, that a court-martial shall be assembled

for the purpose above-mentioned, and also for inquiring

into the whole of the said vice-admiral's conduct and

proceedings on the said 33rd of July last, and into his

subsequent conduct and proceedings untU he finally
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lost sight of the enemy^s ships : And to try him for

not having done his utmost to renew the said engage-

ment, and to take or destroy every ship of the enemy,

which it was his duty to engage : We send you here-

with. Sir Robert Calder's above-mentioned letter of the

30th of September last, and do hereby require and

direct you to assemble a court-martial, as soon as the

witnesses deemed necessary to be examined on this

occasion shall be ready, which court (you being Pre-

sident thereof) is hereby required and directed to

inquire into the conduct and proceedings of the said

Vice-Admiral Sir Robert Calder, with His Majesty's

squadron under his command, on the said 23rd of July

last, and also into his subsequent conduct and pro-

ceedings, until he finally lost sight of the enemy's ships,

and to try him for not having done his utmost to renew

the said engagement, and to take and destroy every

ship of the enemy, which it was his duty to engage

accordingly.

Given under our hands, the 15th of November,

1805.

Barham. J. Gambier. Philip Patton.

By command of their Lordships,

W. Marsden.

After the Members of the Court and the Deputy

Judge-Advocate of the fleet were severally sworn, the

President then said : Sir Robert Calder, one of your

witnesses, Captain Prowse, is absent, are you willing

that the court should proceed without him, or would

you wish the trial to be postponed? And Sir Robert
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Calder answering tliat lie wished the trial to proceed,

his letter of the 30th of September to the Secretary of

the Admiralty, desiring the inquiry, was then read, and

was as follows :

—

" Prince of Wales," off Cadiz,

" September 30, 1805.

" Sir,—Having learnt with astonishment, yesterday,

by the ships just arrived, and by letters from my friends

in England, that there has been a most unjust and

wicked endeavour to prejudice the public mind against

me as an oiBcer, and that my conduct on the 23rd of

last July, in particular, has been animadverted on, in

the most unjust and illiberal manner ; for such it must

be deemed, having been done at a time when I was

absent abroad, employed in the service of my king and

country.

"1 must, therefore, request you will be pleased to

move the Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty to

grant an inquiry into my conduct on the 23rd July

last, or upon the whole, or such part of it (when iu

presence of the enemy), as shall appear to their lord-

ships, for the good of His Majesty's service, and for the

purpose of enabling me to give my reasons, publicly,

for my conduct at that time, and to refute such unjust,

illiberal, and unfounded assertions, when I trust I shall

make it appear to the satisfaction of my King, country,

and friends, that no part of my conduct and character,

as an ofi&cer, will be found deserving of those imfavour-

able impressions, which, at present, occupy the public

mind, being conscious that everything in my power, as
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an officer, was done for the honour and welfare of my
king and country, after a very mature investigation of

aili the existing circumstances, and the very critical

situation I was placed in, with the squadron I had the

honour to command, at the time alluded to.

"I am. Sir,

" Your most obedient humble servant,

"E. Caldeb."

"William Marsden, Esq.,

" Admiralty."

The trial then proceeded : the witnesses were, of

course, chiefly the admirals and captains who had acted

under him in the engagement. The point at issue was

brief, and simply this : Did or did not the admiral do

his best to renew the battle which had already gone in

his favour ? The witnesses for the prosecution inferred,

rather than positively said, he did not ; the witnesses

for Calder, to a man, asserted that a renewal of the

fight was beyond his power.

The following are the mainly pertinent and interest-

ing portions of the evidence for the prosecution :

—

Eear-Admiral Charles Stirling, who in " the Glory,"

shared in the action, showed in his testimony a bias

against Calder. He was asked :

—

Q. Did the vice-admiral make any signal, or show

any disposition to endeavour to renew the action ?

A. I have before stated, that it appeared to me, that

the admiral's object was to keep company with the

crippled ships on that day ; and I saw no other signal

indicative of an intention to renew the combat, after he

had asked, if any of the ships wanted to lay to.
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Q. Did the vice-admiral take any steps to direct the

British fleet to bear up after the enemy on the 24th?

A. The British fleet continued standing from the

enemy from the time I before mentioned that -we were.

Q. Could the British fleet have pursued the enemy

with advantage on the 34th, they steering to the south-

ward and by east, and the wind being N. and by E. ?

A. I don't know any objection to the British fleet

following the enemy, if the admiral had thought proper

to do so.

Q. Did the vice-admiral at any time on the 24th show

any disposition to renew the action?

A. I think that question answered by the preceding

one.

Court.^That is a specific question.

A. We continued, as I said before, to steer from

the enemy.

Q. Did the vice-admiral, according to your remarks

and observations, do everything that might have been

done to renew the action, and to take and destroy every

ship which it was his duty to engage ?

A. We never attempted to renew the action, or laid

our heads towards the enemy, as I have said before ; it

appeared to me the admiral's object was to cover the

crippled ships.

Court.—At the time the British fleet bore down to

the crippled ships, in what state was the Windsor Castle ?

A. She appeared to have lost her fore-top-mast, and

not able to make saU.

Q. What other ships of the British fleet were unable

to keep company with the vice-admiral, had he endea-

voured to bring the enemy to action ?
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A. I don't know that any other ship was disabled.

Sir R. Calder cross-examined Admiral Stirling thus :

Q. Did you receive a letter from me^ on service^ after

the action?

A. Yes
J
I had two letters from Sir Robert Calder,

after the action, on service, of different dates.

Q. Did the first give any reason, and what, for stand-

ing to the northward, with the Windsor Castle and prizes.

A. I have the letter here.

Court.—That will be most satisfactory.

The letter was then read.

'' Prince of Wales,'' at Sea,

" 24it/i July, 1805.

" My dear Sir,—Permit me to return you my most

heartfelt thanks for your unremitting attentions, and

for the very gallant support you rendered me during

the whole of the action on the 33nd instant. Had the

weather been favourable, and we could have seen to have

made the necessary signals, to have availed ourselves of

some of the mistakes of the enemy, I am fully convinced

we should have made the victory much more complete.

I was obliged to stand to the northward thus far, in order

to cover the Windsor Castle, and the two captured ships.

I think they are now safe from the combined, as well as

the Rochefort squadron, and I am going back to Cape

Finisterre, in hopes of seeing Lord Nelson ; if 1 do not,

J. shall proceed off Ferrol, to see if any favourable oppor-

tunity should offer, when I may hope to attack the enemy

with advantage. Wishing us aU possible success,

" I am, my dear Stirling,

" Ever yours most truly and sincerely,

" (Signed) Robert Caldee."
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Sir Robert Calder produced a letter^ and said, is this

the answer to that letter?

A. It is not the answer, but is written in reply. I

sent, by the same conveyance, a letter to the vice-

admiral on public service.

Sir Robert Calder.—You wiU observe they are not

of the same date—one is the 24th, the other the 25th.

The letter from Rear-Admiral Stirling was then read.

" Glory, 2oth July, 1805,

"My dear Sir,—1 thank you much for your letter of

yesterday ; and can assure you, with great truth, I

meant, and do mean to give you all the support in my
power.

'' I hope you made a good tale to please John Bull, for

you had a good subject to write on ; and I think you

have convinced Mons. Bonaparte that he cannot always

get to sea and home again with impunity.

" Excuse haste, and believe me,

" Most truly yours,

" (Signed) Chas. Stirling."

" Sir Robert Calder, Bart.

A. I should not have written so to my commanding

officer, on public business : that was a private letter.

A conversation took place aboiit the reading the

public letter.

Sir Robert Calder.—" I have no wish that any paper

should be withheld; but, if the rear-admiral has any

objection, I do not wish this should be read."
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Rear-Admiral Stirling.—" I have no objection."

The letter was then read.

" Gloey," %4^th July, 1805.

"My dear Sir,—I congratulate you on the capture

of the two Spaniards from a force so very superior to

that opposed to it, and I think, if the three ships,

which at one time showed a disposition to support them,

had followed the intention, the consequence might have

been decisive.

"The great object I had in view was to obey your

orders, by keeping in a compact line, whilst the signal

for that purpose remained in force, and therefore, as the

Raisonable closed with you, my captain took care that

nothing could pass between her and this ship.

" On the surrender of the Spaniards, I directed the

Warrior to send and assist in taking possession, and

afterwards sent similar orders to the Thunderer, as, there

was no knowing, from the thickness of the weather,

what might otherwise be the consequence, if your atten-

tion was confined to the van. I lilcewise ordered the

Egyptienne, when I got sight of her, to get the prizes

on the same tack with us, and to tow them to leeward

of our line, which orders will, I hope, meet with your

approbation. I know not why there was a separation

in the night. Captain Linzee went in pursuance of his

instructions, and rejoined me before the morning.

" We had only one man killed, and four wounded

;

the fore-yard was grazed, which we have fished ^ and

what was otherwise hit, was not of any consequence.

" I have great pleasure of bearing testimony to the

16
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zeal of Captain Warren and Ms officers, and feel much

confidence from the good conduct of the crew belonging

to the ship -where my flag is flying, if our good fortune

should again lead us against the foes of our country.

" Believe me, with great esteem, dear Sir,

" Your most obedient humble servant,

" (Signed) Charles Stirling."

" Sir Robert Calder, Bart."

Rear-Admiral Stirling.—I believe that letter was

sent to the admiral on the 35th, and I had the honour

to wait upon him in the afternoon, by his permission
j

and to the best of my recollection that was my reason

for not returning an official answer. I do not recollect

any other communication with the admiral, from about

midnight of the 33nd.

Q. Did I not always place the British squadron

between the enemy and the Windsor Castle and prizes,

when they were in tow ?

A. The British fleet was always between them.

Q. Was not the British squadron always placed by

me between that of the enemy and the port of Ferrol,

while the enemy remained in sight ?

A. The British fleet was nearer to Ferrol than the

enemy, till they crossed our stern on the 24th.

Q. When they crossed our stern could the enemy

have fetched Ferrol ?

A. \Ao not think they could, as we had the wind.

Court.—What distance was the British fleet from

Rochefort, on the morning after the action ?

A. I don^t know ; the chart will tell. By my master^s
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reckoning, Cape Finisterre bore S.E. and by E. forty

leagues.

Rear-Admiral George Martin, who was captain of the

Barfleur in the action, was asked,

—

Considering the wind, and the relative situation of

the two fleets, during the 23rd of July, could the British

fleet have neared the enemy, and renewed the engage-

ment?

A. The enemy being rather abaft the beam, the

British fleet would have neared the enemy had they

tacked. But whether they could have renewed the

engagement, I cannot say. That must, in great mea-

sure, have depended on the enemy, they being to

windward.

Q. Did the vice-admiral make any signal, or show

any disposition to renew the action on that day ?

A. No.

Sir Robert Calder put in the foUowiag paper, which

was read:

—

" I admit I did not show any such disposition, except

by hauHng my wind when the enemy bore down, as by

doing so I must have separated myself from the crippled

ships and prizes."

Rear-Admiral Martin was further asked,

—

Did the vice-admiral, from your remarks and observa-

tion, do everything in his power, that he might have

done, from the morning of the 23rd, till you lost sight

of the enemy, to renew the engagement, and to take

and destroy every ship which it was his duty to

engage ?

A. I consider I have answered that question by
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saying on neither day did he stand towards the

enemy.

Sir Robert cross examined Admiral Martin :

—

Q. Could I have pursued the enemy on the morniag

of the 24th, without separating the rest of the squadron

from the Windsor Castle and prizes, and from the

frigates which had them in tow ?

A. Certainly not, without separating from the prizes;

and not under a press of sail, without separating from

the Windsor Castle.

Q. Did I not always place myself between the enemy

and the Windsor Castle and crippled ships, while in

tow?

A. It appeared to me to be the intention of Sir

Robert Calder to keep company with them, from the

time of the action, till they separated by signal.

Q. You understood that for their protection?

A. Certainly.

Q. Was not the British squadron always placed by

me between the enemy and the port of Ferrol, as long

as the enemy remained in sight ?

A. We certainly were between them ; but whether

the position was taken for that purpose or not, I can-

not say.

Captain PhUip Charles Durham, of the Defiance;

Captain Henry Inman, of the Triumph, who were also

both in the action, were the other two principal wit-

nesses ; their testimony did not add much to the weight

of the prosecution. After their evidence was given, the

court adjourned to Thursday, the 26th of December,

1805, when Sir Robert Calder delivered in his defence,
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and requested that it might be read by a friend (Mr.

Gaselee),* and the court intimating their consent, the

same was read. It opened thus :

—

"Mr. President, and Gentlemen of the Court,

—I appear before you in a singular, I may almost say

an unprecedented, situation. Ha'ving served my king

and country, not only without reproach, but, I may add,

with some degree of reputation, for upwards of forty-six

years, during which I have been more than once

honoufed with marks of approbation from my sove-

reign ; having for the last ten months been employed on

a most severe and critical service, without once being in

port ; and having in the course of it, with a very inferior

fleet, forced a superior one of the enemy, who had the

advantage of wind and situation, into action, and

obtained a decisive victory over them, I felt myself

impelled to solicit the present inquiry, for the purpose

of vindicating my honour and my character from a

variety of injurious and unfounded aspersions which

have been cast upon me, in consequence of the not

having renewed the engagement during the two days

that the enemy afterwards remained in sight. The

consciousness of my having done my duty, would, how-

ever, have induced me to treat these aspersions with

contempt, had they not become so general that I was

apprehensive that silence on my part would be con-

* This was Mr. G-aselee, an eminent advocate and lawyer, who became

eventually Sir Stephen Ghaselee, and a Judge of thp Court of Common

Pleas. He wa8 father of the present Serjeant Gaselee, M.P. for Ports-

mouth. Mr. Gaselee was virtually counsel for Sir Robert Calder, but

no counsel to speak for the accused are openly allowed at a court martial.
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strued into an acknowledgment of their truthj and an

admission of my own misconduct; I found myself,

therefore, under the necessity of applying to the Lords

of the Admiralty, to order an inquiry into my conduct,

that I might he enahled to state publicly the reasons

which actuated it throughout, and to refute the illiberal

and unfounded assertions which had been made against

me. To this they have been pleased to assent; and

although, in a subsequent letter of the 10th of

November to that which accompanies the order for

your assembling, I requested that the court might be

empowered ' to inquire into the whole of my conduct,

even prior to my falling in with the enemy, while in

their presence, and subsequent thereto,' they have

thought it right to confine it to the 23rd of July, and

my subsequent conduct and proceedings, until I finally

lost sight of the enemy's ships, and to direct me to be

tried for not having done my utmost to renew the

engagement, and to take and destroy every ship of the

enemy, which the charge asserts it was my duty to

engage. I consider this, therefore, as a declaration by

their lordships, that this is the only part of my conduct

upon which any particle of doubt can by possibility

attach, or of which any explanation can be requisite.

At the same time, however, I cannot but lament that

the inquiry is so limited; as it prevents my giving

evidence of the circumstances of the action, which I

have no doubt I should have proved to have been such

as to add to the reputation of the British navy.

" As to defending myself against this charge, I trust I

shall be able to satisfy the court and the public, that the
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not renewing the engagement, if it was practicable to

have done it, was not only justifiable, but the most

proper and prudent course, under all the circumstances,

to be adopted; and that the attempting to force a

renewal of the action, might not only have endangered

the safety of my own fleet, but eventually that of the

country itself; I shall request the indulgence of the

court, to be permitted to enter fully into all the cir-

cumstances, and to lay before them the particular situa-

tion in which I was placed, the orders I had from time

to time received, and the reasons which induced me not

to attempt a renewal of the action ; confident that when
I have done so, all the prejudices that have been hitherto

entertained, will be dissipated, and that by your judg-

ment I shall be restored to the good opinion of mj"^

country,—that country for which I have bled, and for

which I have conquered.

"Before,however, I enter into the particidar statement,

permit me to make an observation or two on the specific

charge, which is the principal object of your inquiry.

It does not range itself precisely within any of the

Articles of War, though it in part adopts the language

of one of them. It assumes as a principle, that it was

my duty to renew the engagement, and to endeavour to

take or destroy every ship of the enemy.

" I am ready to admit, that it is so much the duty of

an officer to engage the enemy wherever he meets with

them, that it is incumbent upon him to explain satis-

factorily why he does not ; but, in making that expla-

nation, it is not necessary for him to prove the physical

impossibility of doing so. It may be possible, and yet
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there may be very many reasons why he should not.

Indeedj the absurdity of a contrary position is such, that

it would be an idle waste of time to trouble the court

with many observations upon it.

" They will, however, permit me to observe, that mine

is not the only instance in which a British fleet has laid

in sight of that of the enemy without renewing the

engagement.

" In proof of this assertion, if it be necessary, I need

only recal to your memory, out of many others, the

example of two very great and gallant officers, who

after obtaining most brilliant victories over the enemy,

did not think themselves justified in bringing them a

second time to action, although they were in sight of

them fully as long as I was. The two meritorious

officers to whom I allude are. Earl Howe, in the action

of the 1st of June, 1794, and Earl St. Vincent, in that

of the 27th of February, 1797. Of the latter, I am

competent to speak from my own knowledge, having

had the honour to serve under his lordship as captain

of the fleet in that engagement.

" Of the propriety of the conduct of these noble lords,

in both instances, no doubt has at any moment been

entertained by any body. They certainly exercised a

sound discretion upon that occasion; but it may not

be improper for me to remark, that, although the

advantages they had acquired were certainly superior

to mine; that mine was a situation in which it was

in every respect more necessary to exercise that dis-

cretion, which, in every case, must be vested in the

commander of a squadron, to judge of the propriety or
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impropriety of offering battle to a superior fleet. In

the instances above-mentioned there was no other force

to contend with, no other quarter from which an attack

was to be apprehended, than the fleets which had been

already engaged. In mine, it behoved me to be par-

ticularly on my guard against the Ferrol and Rochefort

squadrons, consisting of twenty-one sail of the line,

both which, I had reason to believe, were out, and one

of which appears to have been actually at sea, and to

which the squadron opposed to me might easily have

given notice of their situation, as will be hereafter more

fully stated.

" With these observations I shall dismiss this part of

the case for the present, and proceed to lay before the

court a statement of the facts, to which I am to request

their serious attention.^'

The Vice-Admiral then went into a complete detail

of his conduct prior to, at, and after the action. He
thus referred to the actual battle :

—

"On the 32nd of July, about noon, the combined

squadrons came in sight. Their force, consisting of

twenty sail of the line, seven frigates, and two brigs
f

a much greater force than, as I before stated. Admiral

CornwaUis supposed them to consist of. And it appears,

from Lord Gardner's letter to me of the 6th of July,

that when seen off the Diamond Rock, at Martinique,

on the 16th of May, they consisted of sixteen sail of

the line, and six frigates.

" My force consisted of fifteen sail of the line, two

frigates, the Frisk cutter, and Nile lugger.

" Notwithstanding this superiority, and notwithstand-

16 *



370 CELEBRATED TRIALS.

itig they had the advantage of the wind, I forced them

to action. The general result of it you are already

acquainted with. As it is not particularly the object

of your inquiry, it is unnecessary to take up your time

with observations upon it.

" Amidst the numerous prejudices that have assailed

me, I have never yet heard the slightest insinuation to

my disadvantage, either as to the mode of the fleet

being carried into, or conducted in action. The victory

certainly was ours, and most decisively so. I have only

to lament that the weather did not afford an opportunity

of making it more complete. Such was the valour and

intrepidity of my second in command, and of every

officer and man of my squadron, that, but for the

weather, I am satisfied it would have been so. As it

was, there are but few instances, and those of modem
date, in which even equal numbers have been so

successful
"

His defence concluded thus :

—

" The question before you is a great and momentous

one,—it affects every officer who has been, or at any

time may be, in a situation of command. Miserable,

indeed, must be their condition if they are to be cen-

sured for the fair and honest exercise of the discretion

necessarily resulting from such a situation. I have

ever felt, that in my case, I have exercised it wisely

and beneficially ; I still feel so, and were I again placed

in the same situation, I should act in the same manner

;

unless this court, putting themselves in the situation I

then was, and considering all the circumstances that at

that time presented themselves to my consideration,
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and the various objects to which my attention was
necessarily directed, shall tell me I have acted errone-

ously. This I trust they will not do.

" If, in the discussion of this question, I may be
allowed to look to subsequent events, they, I think, will

fully justify the line of conduct I adopted. By it I was
enabled, after receiving a reinforcement, to pursue the

combined squadrons to Cadiz, and thereby perhaps to

have laid the foundation of that glorious victory (Tra-

falgar) which we have so recently celebrated. Believe

me, gentlemen, the circumstance of having, by the

various calumnies which have been spread, been put

under the necessity of soliciting the present enquiry,

and thereby been prevented from being a sharer in the

glories of that day, has been no small addition to the

various sufferings I have undergone.

" These sufferings, I trust, will now have had their

period, and the opinion of this court will, I flatter

myself, confirm me in that estimation with the pro-

fession and the public, which I have for so many years

enjoyed, and to restore me unsullied that fair fame and

reputation which has on this occasion been so cruelly

and unjustly attacked.^^

In support of the defence, the Gazette and several

ofi&cial letters were read, approving his conduct through-

out the encounter. Nine officers, the Hon. Captain

Qardner, the Hon. Captain Legg, Captain Boyles, Cap-

tain Lechmere, Captain Brown, Captain Cuming,

Captain Griffiths, Captain Elphinstone-Fleming, and

'Lieutenant Warrand, and the Rev. John Souter, chap-

lain of the Prince of Wales (Admiral Calder's ship).
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all witnesses of the engagement, spoke strongly in

favour of the Vice Admiral, and bore ont the view that

he could not renew the engagement. The evidence of

each is so nearly alike that I need here only give the

statement of one or two.

In Captain Lechmere's examination Sir Robert

Calder asked :

—

Q. Did the enemy ever chase or make any attempt

to force me to action on the 23rd of July ?

A. No.

Q. Could I have forced the enemy to action on the

23rd of July, if they had chosen to avoid it ?

A. No.

Q. Did the enemy appear to you to have sustained

any considerable damage to their masts and yards ?

A. None in their masts They shifted a top-sail-

yard or two, and that, I believe, was the utmost.

Q. Was the British fleet always kept between the

enemy and Ferrol as long as they continued in sight ?

A. Till the afternoon of the 34th we were always

nearer Ferrol, than the enemy was ?

Q. Could they then have fetched Ferrol ?

A. Certainly not, the wind was then N.E. and

byE.

Q. If I had gone towards the enemy on the 24th,

could I have overtaken them, if they had chosen to

avoid me, without approaching so near the shore be-

tween Ferrol and Cape Finisterre, as to have enabled

them to have communicated by land signals with

Ferrol ?

A. No.
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Captain W. Cuming, of the Prince of Wales, was
asked by Sir Robert Calder :

—
Q As you were near my person during the whole

time of the action of the 22nd, was any part of my
conduct to be attributed to fear, or a want of zeal for

his majesty's service?

A. Most certainly not.

Court.—Captain Cuming, what number of the British

ships appeared to you, on the morning of the 24th, in-

capable of sailing in line-of-battle or order of sailing ?

A. I imagine the whole, except the Windsor Castle,

might have been formed in line-of-battle.

Q. If the Windsor Castle had been taken in tow, con-

sidering the relative situation of the two fleets, could the

British squadron have renewed the action on the 24th,

the enemy declining so to do ?

A. Certainly not.

Q. Did the vice-admiral decline the action, either on

the 23rd or 24th, if the enemy had been inclined to renew

it?

A. He did not.

Sir R. Calder.—Mr. President, I conceive Captain

Cuming to be the only person competent to speak to

the question I put to him, or I should have no difficulty

in submitting the same to every captain in the fleet.

• Notwithstanding this testimony, and to the surprise

of most present and the public generally, the court

came to an adverse decision. Its judgment was this :

—

"The court is of opinion, that the charge of not

having done his utmost to renew the said engagement^
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and to take or destroy every ship of the enemy, has

been proved against the said Vice-Admiral Sir Robert

Calder, that it appears that his conduct has not been

actuated either by cowardice or disaffection, but has

risen solely from error in judgment, and is highly cen-

surable, and doth adjudge him to be severely repri-

manded ; and the said Vice-Admiral Sir Robert Calder

is hereby severely reprimanded accordingly/'

The Gentleman's Magazine of the time thus records

the effect of this judgment upon Calder

:

"Upon the sentence being pronounced. Sir Robert

Calder appeared deeply affected—^he turned round, and

retired without a word. He was accompanied by a great

number of friends, and, on descending from the deck

of the Prince of Wales into his barge, scarcely lifted

up his head, which was apparently bowed down by the

weight of the sentence upon him. He is in his sixtieth

year ; forty-six of which he has passed in the service

of his country."

This judgment of the court-martial has been since,

by most naval writers, looked on, ifnot as quite erroneous,

at least as extremely severe. One circumstance made

people the more regret it. It was passed at the very

time when there lay, encircled by a halo of victory,

in Greenwich Hospital, awaiting a State ceremonial,

the dead body of Nelson, who before he himself anni-

hilated at Trafalgar the very admirals and some of the

very vessels Calder encountered, had openly approved

of Calder's conduct. The public soon veered in Sir

Robert's favour, and the sentence did not prove popu-

lar. It was spoken against in Parliament, and it was
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everywhere felt that a true and valuable British com-

mander had been hardly dealt with. Restitution was

subsequently proferred to Calder in the appointment,

which he accepted, of admiral in command at Plymouth.

But the trial broke his spirit, and it was remarked that

he neverwasthesameenergetic man again. His amiability,

social manners, and sound good sense, however, lasted

to his death, and during his final retirement he con-

tinued to experience the greatest respect and attention

not only from the Admiralty, but from a host of friends

and from persons of all rank and station. He died at

Holt, near Bishops-Waltham, Hants, on the 31st Aug.

1816; and as he left no issue by his wife, Amelia,

daughter of John Mitchell, Esq., of Bayfield, Norfolk,

his own baronetcy became extinct. The baronetcy of

his family, however, continues, and is now held by his

nephew. Sir Henry Roddam Calder, the fifth Bart, of

Muirtoune.



TRIAL OF

GENERAL SIR ROBERT WILSON

AND OTHERS FOR THE ESCAPE OF

LAVALLETTE.

One of the most wonderful historic events that occurred

on the second Restoration of the Bourbons, in 1815,

was the escape from his condemned cell of Marie Cha-

mant. Count de Lavallette, through the means of his

devoted wife, Emile Louise, daughter of the Marquis of

Beauharnais, niece of the Empress Josephine, and cousin

in blood of Napoleon III. This escape was not without

parallel, for, just one hundred years before, by a similar

act of heroism, a wife, the Countess Winifred, of the noble

and illustrious house of Herbert, daughter of William,

Marquis of Powis, freed her husband, William Maxwell,

fifth Earl of Nithsdale, from the Tower of London, where

he lay under sentence of immediate death for joining in

the Rising of 1715. It is a curious fact that in either case

some suspicion has attached to the Sovereign then

reigning of not being altogether uncognisant of, or ad-

verse to, the successful attempt at issue. George I.,

satiated with Jacobite blood, and not so intent on
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punishment as his Government and adherents, may not

have secretly connived, but certainly did evince satisfac-

tion, at the happy result of Lady Nithsdale's daring act.

" It is," he exclaimed, " de very best ting a woman can

do for a man in his condition." A still stronger notion

exists, to the honour of Louis XVIIl., that a hint, if not

actual help, as to what Madame Lavallette was to do,

came from him. The fury of the supporters of the

House of Bourbon at the second Restoration was with-

out control. Labedoyere had been executed; and that

still worse piece of cruelty, a deed never forgotten by the

public, and eventually fatal to the Bourbon dynasty,

had been just consummated—^the consignment to a

traitor's death of Marshal Ney, "the bravest of the

brave." France already murmured ; and it is natural to

suppose that Louis's own good sense and humanity

revolted at continuing such slaughter. He dared not,

such was the violence of his party, openly interfere ; but

one cannot carefully read the whole aflfair of Lavallette

without being struck with some circumstances in it.

How was it, for example, that Louis XVIIL, after re-

fusing to see Mesdames Labedoyere and Ney, come to

beg their husbands' lives, admitted Madame Lavallette

on the same errand, to a personal and private interview,

where but little ever transpired of what passed ? How
was it that the gaoler, without bribe, acted so glaringly

in Lavallette's favour? How, too, did Lavallette live

so long sheltered in the Foreign Office ? And how was it

that the party who harboured him was never brought to

account ? Then there were the lenient sentence passed

on Wilson and his associates, and finally, the ready par-
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don granted, in a few years afterwards, by King Louis

to Lavallette himself. This curious question, however,

admits of more discussion than can be accorded to it

here. I pass from it, and from the oft-told story, (and

nowhere better told than in " Chamber's Miscellany "

and Sir Bernard Burke's " Romance ofthe Aristocracy,")

of the evasion from prison of Lavallette, as effected by his

wife. I pass over, also, his wonderful concealment in

the mansion of the Minister of Foreign Affairs, and I

come to the actual cause of the following trial, which is

connected with our army in this, that two of the accused

were British officers, and their object was effected through

the facilities then afforded by the British military occu-

pation of France.

Let us, therefore, take it that Lavallette, Postmaster

General under Napoleon, had, on news of the famous

return from Elba, violently, and, as far as the King's

Government was concerned, treasonably, resumed his

place at the head of the Post Office, and had stopped

the Bourbon proclamations and forwarded those of his

Imperial master. For this complicity, as it was termed,

with Napoleon against the royal authority and the safety

of the state, Lavallette was, on the 20th November, 1815,

tried and condemned to die, and his appeal to the Court

of Cassation was rejected. His wife on the eve of his

execution had got hira out of prison, and he lay pre-

cariously hidden in an apartment of the Foreign Office.

What followed cannot be better given than from Count

Lavallette's own narrative

:

" These," he writes, " are the particulars. The Princess

de Vaudemont, uneasy at knowing me to be still in



ESCAPE OF LAVALLETTE. 379

Paris, though she was not acquainted with the place of

my concealmentj looked about for persons who might

help me away. She spoke of her anxiety to Madame
de St. Aignan Caulaincourt, one of the cleverest women

born in France, whose kindness is inexhaustiblcj and

whose courage is unbounded : she proposed to the Prin-

cess to sound a young Englishman, Mr. Bruce, who

used to visit both their houses. Bruce, delighted at the

idea of saving an unfortunate man who had escaped the

scaffold in so wonderful a manner, accepted with en-

thusiasm the proposal of the ladies, and went immediately

to consult Sir Bobert Wilson on the subject.

" Sir Bobert shared his young friend's enthusiasm.

He had failed in his attempt to save Marshal Ney,

but he hoped to take his revenge in my case. He made

quite a military expedition of the business; and, as

Bruce was not in the army, it became necessary to find

one or two officers, independent men, of liberal opinions,

who might be disposed to play off a good trick on the

Government of the Bourbons. The road to Belgium, by

Valenciennes, was specially assigned to the English army,

and it was therefore chosen for my escape. They asked

no more than two days to finish their preparations. I

received a very particular instruction concerning my
dress; no mustacchios, and English wig; my beard

shaved very clean, after the manner of the officers of

that nation ; a great-coat, with buttons of the English

Guards ; the regimentals and hat were to be given to

me at the instant of our departure.

" We held a council, and, as it occurs in most cases,

our first steps were wrong. It was looked upon as very
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necessary to get my coat made by the tailor of an

English regiment, but he would want my measure ; my
friend Stanislaus took it with fine white paper; and

instead of the notches that the tailors are accustomed to

make, he wrote on it, ' Length of the forearm, breadth

of the breast,' &c., in a fine neat hand, and carried it

boldly to the tailor of the regiment of the Guards. He
quickly made the coat, however—not without observing

that the measure had not been taken by a tailor. M.

Bresson had been to buy me another great-coat at an

old clothes' shop, and was naturally obliged to measure

it on himself. He was tall and thin, so that in less than

forty-eight hours I had two coats, neither of which could

be of any service to me. I had no boots, and all our

speculations were useless in contriving to procure me a

pair. I was forced to put on a pair belonging to M.

Bresson : they were at least two inches longer than my

foot ; I could scarcely walk in them, and we all laughed

much at the awkward figure I cut. On the 9th of

January, 1816, at eight o'clock in the evening, I at last

took leave of my kind friends (at the Foreign Office)

.

" We stopped at the house, in the Rue de Helder,

near the Boulevard : there I' took leave of my friend

Chassenon. As I walked slowly up the stairs, I was

surprised at meeting Mademoiselle Dubourg. There

would have been too much danger in our appearing to

know each other. I afterwards learned that she was

going to M. Dupuis, my Reporting Judge, who lived on

the second floor of the house ; so that I was going to

pass the night under the same roof with the magistrate

who had, during my trial, examined me twice at length,
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and with great severity. This circumstancej however,

by no means troubled me. M. Dupuis was an

honourable man, to whom I had shown no reserve, who

was convinced of my innocence, and did not fear openly

to declare it with an energy that might be hurtful to

his fortune.

" When I reached the first floor, I saw before me a

gentleman of tall stature and noble features : it was

Sir Robert Wilson. He introduced me to two persons

who were expecting me in the parlour ; in one of whom
I recognized Mr Bruce, whom I had met sometimes the

preceding winter at the Duchess of St. Leu's, (Queen

Hortense) . Mr. Hutchinson, to whom the apartments be-

longed, was a Captain in the English Guards. He received

me in a friendly manner. We seated ourselves round a

bowl ofpunch. Our conversation turned on public affairs,

and we talked with as much ease and freedom as if we had

been together in London. These gentlemen did not

appear to entertain the least uneasiness in respect to

our next day's journey ; and at last, after sitting for

about an hour. Sir Robert and Mr. Bruce rose, and the

former shaking hands with me, said :
' Be up to-morrow

by six o'clock, and be very careful about your dress.

You will find here the coat of a captain in the Guards,

which you must put on. At eight o'clock, precisely, I

shall expect you at the door." "As for me," said

Bruce, " I am going to spend three days at the country

seat of the Princess de la Moskowa, for you will not

want me any longer. My wishes go along with you,

and I shall receive accounts from you of my friends."

When they were gone, Mr. Hutchinson oflfered me
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his bed ; but I had no desire to sleep, and I laid mj'self

down on a sofa.******
"At last, after having counted every hour of the

night, I heard six o'clock strike; I immediately set

about my toilet, and at eight o'clock precisely I found

Sir Robert Wilson in the street, dressed in his fuU regi-

mentals, and seated in a pretty gig. Mr. Hutchinson

soon appeared also on horseback, and we set off. The

weather was beautiful ; all the shops were open, every-

body in the street, and, by a singular coincidence, they

were just, at that moment, putting up in the Place de

Greve the gibbet, which, according to custom, is used to

execute in efSgy persons declared guilty in contumacy.

"We entered the Rue de Clichy, which leads to the

barrier of the same name. As I had on the regimentals

and cap of the Guards, the English soldiers we met

saluted us in the military manner. Two officers we saw

on the road appeared very much surprised at seeing

with Sir Robert one of their comrades with whom they

were unacquainted; but Mr. Hutchinson went up to

them and talked to them while we were approaching

the barrier. To the right and to the left were two

guard-houses, the one English and the other French.

The soldiers drew up under arms. Fortunately the

French were National Guards, and it was not probable

they could know me, as they did not belong to my quarter

of the town. We crossed the barrier with a slow step

;

and when we were out, I thanked Sir Robert with as

much gratitude as if we had crossed the barriers of the

kingdom. We went on thus to the village of La Cha-
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pelle. There we were obliged to take another horse, to

be able to go to Compiegne. This horse had been

baited at a large inn. When we approached the house,

we perceived four gendarmes standing in front of the

large door. Sir Robert went up to them : they separated

that we might pass ; and, to prevent them from paying

attention to us, Mr. Hutchinson began a conversation

with them. His inquiries were chiefly directed to the

number of stables and the quantity of forage and lodg-

ings that were to be found in the village ; from all which

they concluded that English troops were expected, and

one of them invited the English captain to accompany

me to the Mayor. " Not at present," he answered ; " I

am going forward to meet the waggons, and in two

hours I shall be back." The conversation could not

last long with an Englishman who knew but little of

our language. But the horse was quickly changed, and

we had the satisfaction, on going away, to exchange

salutes with the gendarmes. I then learned that the

man who had brought us thus far belonged to M. Auguste

de St. Aignan. On the road we met with several

gendarmes in pursuit of malefactors, or bearing military

correspondence. They all fixed their eyes on us with-

out suspecting anything. I had accustomed myself on

seeing them to shut my eyes, but with the precaution

of placing my hand on my pistol, fully resolved, if I

should be recognized and apprehended, to blow my

brains out, for it would have been too great a stupidity

to suffer myself to be brought back to Paris.

"We arrived at last at Compiegne. At the entrance

of the suburb stood a non-commissioned English officer,
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who, on seeing his general, turned to the right and

marched with gravity through several small streets, until

he stopped at a small house in a very lonely part of the

town. There we found an officer who received us very

well, and we waited for Sir Robert's carriage, which

Mr. Wallis was to bring from Paris with him. That

officer had ordered post horses for General Wallis,

brother-in-law to Sir Robert Wilson, who travelled

under his name. Mr. Wallis arrived about six o'clock,

after having been followed a great part of the way by

the gendarmes. We had not an instant to lose : the

carriage advanced rapidly. We experienced a great delay

at Cond^, in getting through the town, but it was

during the night. At last, next morning, at seven

o'clock, we arrived at Valenciennes, the last French

city on that frontier. I was beginning to feel more

easy, when the postmaster told us to go and have our

passports examined by the captain of the gendarmerie.

" You forgot, I suppose to read who we were," said Sir

Robert calmly, " let the captain come here if he chooses

to see us." The postmaster felt how wrong he had

acted ; and taking our passports, he went himself to get

them signed. As it was very long before he came back,

I began to be tormented by a most horrible anxiety.

Was I going to be wrecked in the harbour? Suppose

the officer of gendarmes were to come himself to verify

the signatures and to apprehend me ? Fortunately, the

weather was very cold, it was scarcely daylight, and the

officer signed the passports without rising from his bed.

We got out of the gate. On the glacis an officer of the

preventive service wanted to see whether we were in
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order j but having satisfied his curiosity, we went on

and stopped no more. We flew along the beautiful

Brussels rnad. From time to time I looked through the

black window, to see whether we were not pursued.

My impatience augmented at every turn of the wheels.

The postilions showed us at a distance a large house that

was the Belgium Custom House. I fixed my eyes on

that edifice, and it seemed to me as if it remained always

equally far off. I imagined that the postilion did not get

on. I was ashamed of my impatience, but it was im-

possible for me to curb it. At last we reached the fron-

tier : we were on the Belgian territories ; I was saved

!

I pressed the hands of Sir Robert, and expressed to

him with a deep emotion, the extent of my gratitude.

But he, keeping up his gravity, only smiled, without

answering me. About half an hour afterwards he

turned to me, and said in the most serious tone pos-

sible, "Now, pray tell me, my dear friend, why

did you not like to be guillotined ?" I stared at him

with astonishment, and made no reply. " Yes," he

continued, " they say that you had solicited, as a favour,

that you might be shot ?" " It is very true. When a

man is guillotined, they put him in a cart, with his

hands bound behind his back ; and when he is on the

scaffold, they tie him fast to a plank, which they lower

to let it slip thus under the knife." " Ah, I understand

;

you did not like to have your throat cut like a calf."

"We arrived at Mons at about three o'clock in the

afternoon, and we stopped at the best inn. While

dinner was preparing, I wrote a few letters, of which

Sir Robert was kind enough to take charge ; and after

17



386 CELEBRATED TRIALS.

having gone with me to buy some things I wanted^ and

having given me two letters, one for the King of Prussia

and the other for Mr. Lamb, the English resident in

Munich, we separated,—he to return to Paris, and I to

go farther into Germany and try to reach Bavaria."

M. LavaUette, once out of the French territory, crossed

a part of Germany, and entered Bavaria, the king of

which country received him with great cordiality, and

protected him against the French ministry, who insisted

upon his being delivered up to them. The ever kind

and hospitable Queen Hortense, Duchess of St, Leu,

the mother of Napoleon III., offered him her house ; and

her brother, the famous Prince Eugene de Beauharnais

lavished on him all the consolations of friendship.

In 1832, letters of pardon, granted by Louis XVIII.,

restored LavaUette to his native country ; but, alas

!

when he arrived in Paris, in the midst of the congratu-

lations that poured on him from all sides, one voice was

wanting to thoroughly cheer him. From that mo-

mentous hour, when, with such overpowering energy,

she had arranged his escape, and remained an hostage

in his place, his wife had not seen him. And now, on

his return, she knew him not. The unfortunate lady

had .lost her reason from the violent agitation consequent

on saving him, and from her subsequent lying in when

her infant died. M. de LavaUette was overwhelmed at

the sight of her. He wrote to King Louis XVIII. :

—

"Your Majesty has restored to me a country and a

home I prized more than life ; but all your royal favour

can never counter-balance this domestic misfortune.^^

LavaUette retired from public Ufe, and lived in complete
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seclusion^ which he only once left to go to London

in 1826, and support Sir Robert Wilson's election to

Parliament. He repaid his wife by his daily care of her,

and by unceasing and fond attention during the re-

mainder of his existence. He died in France in 1830

:

she survived him many years in a hopeless mental state,

and died not long ago. Their only child Josephine who

shared in the escape, was well married, and, I believe,

still survives.

To return to the Count's three rescuers. A letter

giving an account of the escape, written from Paris

by Sir Robert Wilson to Earl Grey in England, was in-

tercepted by the French police, and led to the arrest of

all the three gentlemen, viz. : General Sir Robert

Thomas Wilson himself. Captain John Hely-Hutchin-

son of the Guards, a member of the family of the Irish

Earls of Donoughmore, and Michael Bruce, Esq., a

Scotch gentlemen, and a scion, I am inclined to think,

of the Bruces of Stenhouse, county Stirling. Their

trial, which took place at the assize court in Paris, on

the 32nd April, 1816, created a great sensation and

attracted a very numerous auditory. It commenced at

eleven o'clock. The president was M. Deseze fils

;

and M. Hua, advocate-general, acted as public pro-

secutor. The counsel for the British prisoners was the

eminent Dupin, whose death occurred on the 10th of

Nov. 1865.

Sir Robert Wilson appeared in grand uniform, deco-

rated with seven or eight orders of different European

states, one of which was the cordon of the Russian order

of St. Anne. Captain Hutchinson wore the uniform of
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his military rank. When the accused were called upon

to give their names and qualities, Mr. Bruce said with

energy, I am an English citizen. The President ob-

served, that though relying on their correct knowledge

of the French language, they did not ask for an inter-

preter, yet the law of France willed that the accused

should not be deprived of any means of facilitating their

justification, even when unclaimed ; M. Robert was

accordingly named and sworn to that office. Four other

prisoners were, for aiding in the escape from prison,

tried at the same time, viz. : Eberle and Roquette,

gaolers ; Bonneville, Lavallette's valet de chambre ; and

a chair-porter, Guerin. The trial commenced by a

curious attempt to make the procedure of Prance

accord with that of England.

Mr. Bruce, speaking in French, said, that although he

and his countrymen had submitted to the law of France,

they had not lost the privilege of invoking the law of

nations. Its principle was reciprocity ; and as in Eng-

land French culprits enjoyed the rights of demanding a

jury composed of half foreigners, it appeared to them

that the same right, or favour, could not be refused to

them in France. The decision of several eminent

lawyers of their own nation had strengthened them in

this opinion ; but the justice which had been already

shown them by the Chamber of Accusation, had deter-

mined them to renounce this right, and they abandoned

themselves without reserve to a jury entirely composed

of Frenchmen. That, however, no precedent might be

drawn from their case against such of their countrymen

who might hereafter be in the same situation, they
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had made special declaration of the purpose of their

renunciation.

M. Dupin moving the court that this declaration

might be entered on the record/ the Advocate-General

expressed his astonishment at a claim in Prance^ for an

offence committed in France, of the privileges of a

foreign legislature; and opposed entering the declara-

tion. After some argument on the subject, the court

pronounced the following decision :
" Because every

offence committed in a territory is an object of its

peculiar jurisdiction, and because the exception de-

manded by the prisoners is not allowed by any construc-

tion of the criminal code of France, the court declares

that there is no ground for recording, at the request of

the English prisoners, the declaration now made by

them ; the court therefore orders the trial to proceed."

The act of accusation drawn up by the Procureur-

General was then read, which took up more than two

hours. The Advocate-General briefly recapitulated the

facts in the charge, distinguishing them as they ap-

plied to the different prisoners ; and remarked that the

Chamber of Accusation had already absolved the three

Englishmen from the offence of having conspired against

the legitimate government of France. After the inter-

rogatories of some of the prisoners, the president ad-

dressed himself to Mr. Bruce. To the question of

whether it was not to him that the first overture was

made of transporting Lavallette out of France : he

replied, " If possible I would have effected his escape

alone ; for I could not refuse a man who had put his

life into ray hands. I, however, obtained his consent to
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confide his secret to one of my friends. I spoke to one

friend, who gave me a message to another. I will not

name these friends.

Some of the interrogatories and answers that followed

are curious :

—

President.—BrucCj have you been in Paris some time?

Bruce.—Thirteen months.

President.—You have had communication with the

Due de Vincennes ?

Bruce.—That is true, Monsieur le President; but I

do not see what my friendship with the Duke has to do

with the escape of M. de Lavallette.

President.—You have manifested a great interest for

Marshal Ney ?

Bruce.—That is also true, and I am far from blush-

ing at it.

President.—It is to you that the condemned Lavallette

addressed himself for the means of leaving Paris and

France?

Bruce.—The 31st December, or the 1st January, I

received an anonymous letter, in which the nobleness

of my character was extolled, but I do not know

whether I merited all the compliments that were paid

to me. It went on to say: the confidence that I in-

spired determined the author of the letter to inform

me that M. Lavallette was still in Paris, and that I

could save him. I did not doubt the person who re-

mitted that letter to me : I thought that in an affair of

that nature one could not too much avoid indiscretion.

The adventure of the escape of M. Lavallette appeared

to me to have in it something of romance, and, indeed.
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something of the miraculous. I interested myself in-

tensely about him, and I was easily determined to serve

him. I know not if I were wrong, but I thought that

honour and humanity would not permit me to do other-

wise. I would not have placed any one in my confi-

dence, but that I feared in acting alone to compromise

him who confided his life to me. I informed a friend,

whom I will not name, unless he thinks it proper for me
to do so. We thought that it would be advisable to com-

municate to another friend. We arranged between the

three the measures that we should take. On the even-

ing of the 7th January M. de Lavallette went to the

apartment of the second friend. I remained with him till

twelve o^clock. I shook hands with him and quitted.

President.—Tell us what passed in the apartment of

Captain Hutchinson from the moment of the arrival of

the condemned Lavallette.

Bruce.—I have not mentioned Captain Hutchinson's

name.

President.—But you have made it public by the in-

ference and it is so from the interrogatories in which

your two friends have inade themselves known ?

Bruce.—We have made our interrogatories public

because it was important for us to destroy the scandal

that was spread regarding our conduct (at this moment

Captain Hutchinson requested Mr. Bruce to mention

his name). My friend, continued Mr. Bruce, has

authorised me to mention his name ; I can now admit

that it was in Captain Hutchinson's apartment that

M. de Lavallette passed the night of the 7th to the

8th of January.
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President.—^Did you not obtain a wig for tte con-

demned Lavallette ?

Bruce.—I had nothing whatever to do with the wig

of M. de Lavallette; the measure of the wig that was

found in my house concerned a friend who was at

Constantinople.

President, to Captain Hutchinson.—It was in your

apartment that Lavallette was received on the 7th

January ?

Hutchinson.—Yes, sir.

President.—After Lavallette entered your lodging did

not an unknown person present himself at your door to

give to the condemned man two pistols that he had for-

gotten to take with him ?

Hutchinson.—My servant came to me and announced

that somebody desired to speak to me. I went out to

prevent the unknown person from entering. I perceived

in his pocket a double-barrelled pistol.^

The first idea that struck me was, that all was dis-

covered, and I prepared to defend myself. I seized the

pistol, the stranger did not resist, he only said to me,

" You are, then, one of otir friends ;" I replied in the

affirmative; but from precaution I would not permit

him to enter my chamber.

President.—When Lavallette left Paris you accom-

panied him to Compi^gne?

Hutchinson.—I did.

President.—That which you did was only to oblige

your friend ?

Hutchinson.—Not at all, sir. I was not moved by

anything but a feeling of humanity.
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President, to Wilson.—General Wilson, had you pre-

viously known Lavallette ?

- General Wilson.—I had never seen M. de Lavallette

hefore this event, nor had I the least knowledge of him.

President.—You are charged with having conducted

him out of France ?

General Wilson.—Yes.

President.—It was you who asked Captain Hutchin-

son to receive the condemned Lavallette ?

General Wilson.—My friend Captain Hutchinson has

done nothing but under my influence.

President.—In conducting Lavallette, you passed by

Compi^gne, and you arrived at the frontier—you took

under false names for Lavallette and yourself two pass-

ports, that you had the caution to get examined by

competent authorities.

General Wilson.—That is true.

President.—Do you know that Lavallette was con-

demned to capital punishment ?

General Wilson.—^Without doubt.

President.—Are you aware that Lavallette was con-

demned as an accomplice of Bonaparte, in having

joined a rebellious faction that brought back the

usurper ?

General Wilson.—I know the history of the return of

Napoleon, but I did not look upon M. Lavallette as

having taken part in a conspiracy, because I always was

convinced that no previous plot had existed to induce

Bonaparte to re-enter Prance. His coming was spon-

taneous. Moreover, where it was a matter between my

two friends and myself of saving M. de Lavallette,
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humanity spoke only to our hearts, and we were not at

all directed by any political bias.

This open confession rendered superfluous, with

respect to them, the testimony of any witnesses; the

appearance of Madame Lavallette was, however, too

interesting to be passed over. At her entrance, a

general murmur of feeling or curiosity was heard, and

the three gentlemen saluted her with a profound bow.

Overpowered by her emotions, she was scarcely able to

articulate ; at length, being told by the President that

she was summoned only on account of some of the

accused, who had invoked her testimony, she said, " I

declare that the persons who have called me contributed

in no respect to the escape of M. Lavallette (meaning

from prison) ; no one was in my confidence : I alone did

the whole.'' Being desired to say whether she had

ever seen or known the English gentlemen, she looked

at them for a moment, and declared that she had never

known or seen them before.

At a subsequent audience, April 24th, 1816, M.

Dupin spoke for the English gentlemen, and his defence

was a splendid piece oforatory. The case he reduced to

the two propositions :—1. There was no act of complicity

between the accused persons and the principal culprit.

3. The fact imputed to them cannot be considered as a

crime, nor as an offence. Part of his peroration was

as follows:—"In ancient Athens, where the people

were remarkable for their frivolity, but where the Are-

opagus was noted for its justice, a young man was con-

demned to death for having killed a dove, which,

pursued by a hawk, flew to him for safety. It was
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adjudged that he who was without pity, could never be

a good citizen. And shall we, in the nineteenth century,

see men condemned for saving the life of another who

put his fate into their hands? .... No, this cannot

be under the government of a prince whose justice,

clemency, and benevolence recommend him equally to

the love and the fidelity of his people. Under the rule

of a descendant of St. Louis, humanity is amalgamated

with Christian charity. This is indeed so, for the

ministers of our altars present to us as the triumph of

charity the act of that, holy personage, St, Vincent de

Paul, who did not think he offended the laws of his

country when he effected the escape of a poor suffering

wretch from the galleys, by himself taking his seat and

his chains. These sublime feats of humanity do not

fall beneath your jurisdiction. Courts of justice are

instituted to punish the crimes, not to proceed against

the virtues, of men." He concluded with an earnest

recommendation of the accused to the court as foreign-

ers and Englishmen.

The proceedings having closed. Sir Robert Wilson

rose, and with dignified confidence delivered an address

in French. Having acknowledged that he had been

interested in the fate of Lavallette, on political grounds,

he declared that such considerations had a very inferior

influence on his determination.

"The appeal" (said he) "made to our humanity, to

our personal character, and to our national generosity
;

the responsibility thrown upon us of instantly deciding

on the life or death of an unfortunate man, and, above all,

of an unfortunate foreigner—this appeal was imperative
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and did not permit us to calculate his other claims to

our good will. At this cry of humanity we should have

done as much for an ohscure, unknown individual, or

even for an enemy who had fallen into misfortune.

Perhaps we were imprudent, hut we would rather incur

that reproach, than the one we should have merited hy

basely abandoning him, who, full of confidence, threw

himself into our arms : and these very men who have

calumniated us, without knowing either the motives or

the details of our conduct—^these very men, I say,

would have been the first to stigmatize us as heartless

cowards, if, by our refusal to save M. Lavallette, we had

abandoned him to certain death. We resign ourselves

with security to the decision of the jury; and if you

should condemn us for having contravened your positive

laws, we shall not at least have to reproach ourselves for

having violated the eternal laws of morality and

humanity.^'

Mr. Bruce delivered, in French, a speech of the same

general tenor ; his language was animated, and his tone

firm and manly.

" Gentlemen (he concluded) I have confessed to you,

with all frankness and honour, the whole truth with

regard to the part which I took in the escape of M. La-

vallette j and notwithstanding the respect which I enter-

tain for the majesty of the laws, notwithstanding the

respect I owe to this tribunal, I cannot be wanting in

the respect I owe to myself so far as to affirm, that I

feel not the least compunction for what I have done. I

leave you, gentlemen, to decide upon my fate and I

implore nothing but justice."
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The President concisely summed up the evidence,

and gave his charge with great impartiality and much
eloquence. The jury retired to deliberate, and in about

two hours returned with a verdict of guilty against

Messrs. Wilson, Bruce, and Hutchinson, and not guilty

as to the other prisoners, except Eberle the gaoler, whom
they convicted of the minor offence of negligence.

The President then read the article of the penal code

applicable to the charge proved against the three British

subjeqts, in which the punishment prescribed was im-

prisonment for a term not exceeding two years, nor less

than three months ; and without hesitation he pro-

nounced for the shortest allowable term.

Each of the three British subjects was accordingly

sentenced to three months' imprisonment and the

costs of the trial. Eberle, the gaoler, was sentenced to

two years^ imprisonment, and after that, to be ten years

under the surveillance of the police. The President

announced to the convicted that they had three days

allowed to appeal to the Court of Cassation. Bruce,

Hutchinson, and Wilson, would make no appeal against

the judgment and passed their three months of im-

prisonment at the Conciergerie. It was intimated that

Louis XVIII. would willingly have respited them, had

they asked his pardon, but this they respectfully declined

to do. On their return to England, all parties, Tory,

Whig and Radical, received them with enthusiasm. The

nobility and fashionable world feted them, and the public

lavished praises on them. The Prince Regent, wishing

to act with official strictness, deprived Hutchinson of

bis appointment as Captain in the Guards, but on his
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fellow officers exclaiming against such harshness, he

restored him to his regiment and rank.

Mr. Bruce was entertained by the Countess of Bess-

borough at a dejeuner where he met the Duke of

Wellington, and received his Grace's congratulations.

The electors of Southwark, to mark their sense of Sir

Robert Wilson's noble conduct, returned him as their

representative to Parliament. Sir Robert, who was a

clever writer, as well as a good soldier and an active

politician, died in 1849, after a chequered but h%nour-

able public career. Captain Hutchinson, who for many

years after the trial was known by the sobriquet of

" Lavallette Hutchinson," died in 1851, third Earl of

Donoughmore, which title he inherited from his uncle,

the eminent General Lord Hutchinson, second Earl of

Donoughmore, who took the command at the close of

the victory of Alexandria, after Sir Ralph Abercromby

had been borne, mortally wounded, from the field.

The Lavalette name is at this day of important note

in France, the Marquis of Lavalette being the present

able and popular Minister of the Interior there. It

appears, however, that he is no relative of the Count of

the escape, and has had naught in common with him

but the name, and hardly even that, for it would seem,

the count spelt its second syllable with the double U,

where the Marquis has but one. In here acknow-

ledging the communication I have had the honour to

receive from M. le Marquis, whose obliging amiability

fully tallies with that ready and cordial attention one is

ever sure to receive from high officials in France, as well

as in England,—I must add that I should be very glad
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indeed, if I, or rather some one more competent than

myself, could take advantage of the Marquis's courtesy,

and, by thoroughly searching all French archives re-

lating to the subject, bring out the full details and the

whole truth of this most mysterious and most interesting

affair—the escape of Lavallette.

Lewis and Sou, Pr'.ntera, Swnn Buildings, Moorgate Street.
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